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Services, which is managed by S&P Global Marketing Intelligence on behalf of The American Bankers Association.  CUSIP numbers have 
been assigned by an independent company not affiliated with us, the underwriters or Novant, and are included solely for the convenience of 
the holders of the Bonds.  No representation is made as to the correctness of the CUSIP number either as printed on the Bonds or as contained 
herein.  No assurance can be given that the CUSIP numbers for the Bonds will remain the same after the date of issuance and delivery of the 
Bonds. 

 



 

 

You should rely only on the information contained in this official statement.  We have not, and 
the underwriters have not, authorized any person who offers or sells the Bonds to provide you with 
information in addition to or inconsistent with the information contained in this official statement, or to 
represent anything else about us, Novant, the other members of the Combined Group, or the Bonds.  If 
anyone provides you with additional or inconsistent information, you should not rely on it.   

Unless we specify an earlier date, the information appearing in this official statement is current as 
of the date of this official statement shown on the front cover.  The Combined Group’s business, financial 
condition, results of operations or prospects may have changed since that date.  

The underwriters have provided the following sentence for inclusion in this official statement. 
The underwriters have reviewed the information in this official statement in accordance with, and as part 
of, their respective responsibilities to you under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and 
circumstances of this transaction, but the underwriters do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of 
such information. 

Regions Bank, as bond trustee and master trustee, has not reviewed, provided or undertaken to 
determine the accuracy of any of the information contained in this official statement and makes no 
representation or warranty, express or implied, as to any matters contained in this official statement, 
including, but not limited to, (i) the accuracy or completeness of such information, (ii) the validity of the 
Bonds or the Series 2019A Obligation or (iii) the tax-exempt status of the Bonds. 

We are not, and the underwriters are not, offering to sell the Bonds or soliciting an offer to buy 
the Bonds in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale of the Bonds is not permitted. 

By placing an order for the Bonds with an underwriter, you agree that if you are allocated Bonds, 
the underwriters may disclose your identity as an initial purchaser of the Bonds to us unless you advise 
your sales representative otherwise. 

For purposes of compliance with Rule 15c2-12 of the United States Securities and Exchange 
Commission, as amended, and in effect on the date hereof, this preliminary official statement constitutes 
our official statement that has been deemed final by us and Novant as of its date except for the omission 
of no more than the information permitted by Rule 15c2-12. 

In reliance upon exemptions, we are not (1) registering the Bonds under the Securities Act 
of 1933, as amended, or any state securities laws or (2) qualifying the Trust Agreement under the 
Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended.  Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor 
any other federal or state securities commission or regulatory authority has recommended, 
approved or disapproved the Bonds or determined if this official statement is adequate, accurate or 
complete.  Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.   

In connection with this offering, the underwriters may overallot or effect transactions that 
stabilize or maintain the market price of the Bonds at a level above that which might otherwise 
prevail in the open market.  The underwriters may discontinue any such stabilizing at any time. 

* * * * * 
Certain statements included or incorporated by reference in this official statement constitute 

“forward-looking statements.” Such statements are generally identifiable by the terminology used such as 
“plan,” “project,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “believe,” “estimate,” “budget” or other similar words.  
The achievement of certain results or other expectations contained in such forward-looking statements 
involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results, 



 

   

performance or achievements described to be materially different from any future results, performance or 
achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.  Novant does not plan to issue 
any updates or revisions to those forward-looking statements if or when its expectations, or events, 
conditions or circumstances on which such statements are based, occur. 
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

 
$306,985,000 

NORTH CAROLINA MEDICAL CARE COMMISSION 
Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds 

(Novant Health Obligated Group) 
Series 2019A 

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY 

This introduction and summary highlights selected information appearing elsewhere in this 
official statement and may not contain all of the information that is important to you.  You should 
carefully read this official statement, including the appendices, before making an investment decision.  

In this official statement, the terms “we,” “our” and “us” mean the North Carolina Medical 
Care Commission. 

Issuance of the Bonds 

We are issuing our Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds (Novant Health Obligated Group) 
Series 2019A, which we refer to as the “Bonds,” pursuant to 

 the Health Care Facilities Finance Act, Chapter 131A of the North Carolina General 
Statutes, which we refer to as the “Act,” and 

 a trust agreement between us and Regions Bank, as bond trustee, which we refer to as the 
“Trust Agreement.” 

You should review the information under the heading “DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS” for a 
description of certain terms and provisions of the Bonds. 
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Loan of the Bond Proceeds to Novant; Use of the Bond Proceeds by Novant 

We will lend the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to Novant Health, Inc., a North Carolina 
nonprofit corporation, which we refer to as “Novant,” pursuant to a loan agreement between us and 
Novant, which we refer to as the “Loan Agreement.” 

In the Loan Agreement, Novant will promise to make loan repayments equal to the principal of 
and interest on the Bonds. 

Novant will use the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to: 

 finance part of the cost of additional health care facilities, which we refer to as the 
“Project” and are described in more detail below under the heading “THE PLAN OF 
FINANCE,”  

 refund a portion of certain outstanding indebtedness incurred by Novant, which is 
referred to as the “2017 Bank Revolving Credit Facility,” the proceeds of which were 
used to finance on an interim basis a portion of the Project, and 

 pay certain expenses of issuing the Bonds. 

Issuance of the Series 2019A Obligation 

In the Loan Agreement, Novant will agree to issue a promissory note to us as further evidence of 
its obligation to make the loan repayments.  We refer to this promissory note as the “Series 2019A 
Obligation.”  Novant will issue the Series 2019A Obligation pursuant to: 

 its amended and restated master trust indenture, which we refer to as the “Master 
Indenture,” and 

 a supplement to the Master Indenture that specifically provides for the issuance of the 
Series 2019A Obligation, which we refer to as “Supplemental Master Indenture No. 28.” 

Master Indenture; Combined Group; Master Obligations 

The Master Indenture authorizes the creation of a “Combined Group,” which consists of the 
“Obligated Group” and “Restricted Affiliates.” 

Each member of the Obligated Group may issue notes, bonds or other forms of debt under the 
Master Indenture, which are referred to in the Master Indenture as “Master Obligations.” 

Members of the Obligated Group are jointly and severally liable for the payment of all Master 
Obligations, including the Series 2019A Obligation.  As of the date of this official statement, the 
members of the Obligated Group are: 

 Novant; 
 Forsyth Memorial Hospital, Inc., which we refer to as “Forsyth”; and 
 The Presbyterian Hospital, which we refer to as “Presbyterian.” 

Restricted Affiliates may not issue Master Obligations under the Master Indenture and are not 
directly obligated to pay Master Obligations issued under the Master Indenture, including the Series 
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2019A Obligation; however, the members of the Obligated Group have promised in the Master Indenture 
to cause the Restricted Affiliates to provide funds to the members of the Obligated Group to pay such 
Master Obligations. 

As of the date of delivery of the Bonds, Novant will have designated 12 of its affiliates as 
Restricted Affiliates under the Master Indenture.  As of the date of this official statement, Forsyth and 
Presbyterian have not designated any Restricted Affiliates.  You should read “SECURITY AND 
SOURCES OF PAYMENT—Combined Group; Restricted Affiliates” for more information about the 
Restricted Affiliates.   

Only the members of the Combined Group are directly or indirectly liable for amounts due under 
the Series 2019A Obligation. 

Under certain circumstances, a member of the Combined Group may withdraw from the 
Combined Group and thereby cease to be directly or indirectly liable to pay Master Obligations issued 
under the Master Indenture.  However, so long as the Series 2019A Obligation and the Bonds are 
outstanding, Supplemental Master Indenture No. 28 prohibits: 

 Novant, Forsyth and Presbyterian from withdrawing from the Obligated Group, and 

 Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center, LLC and Presbyterian Medical Care Corp. from 
withdrawing from the Combined Group (unless the portion of the Bonds used to finance 
facilities operated by Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center, LLC or Presbyterian 
Medical Care Corp., as applicable, has been repaid).   

The outstanding Master Obligations issued under the Master Indenture are, and the Series 2019A 
Obligation will be, general, unsecured obligations of the members of the Obligated Group; however, 
members of the Combined Group may pledge collateral as security for Master Obligations issued under 
the Master Indenture if such pledge is otherwise permitted under the Master Indenture. 

Outstanding Master Obligations 

Novant has previously issued Master Obligations under the Master Indenture relating to other 
bonds we have issued for their benefit, taxable bonds issued by Novant and certain other long-term debt 
of Novant.  The following Master Obligations previously issued by Novant are outstanding: 

 
Name of Bonds 

Related  
Master Obligation 

Original 
Principal Amount 

Outstanding 
Principal Amount 

North Carolina Medical Care 
Commission Variable Rate Demand 
Health Care Facilities Revenue 
Bonds, Series 2004A, which we refer 
to as our “2004A Bonds” 
 

Series 2004A 
Master Obligation 

$110,000,000 $110,000,000 

North Carolina Medical Care 
Commission Variable Rate Demand 
Health Care Facilities Revenue 
Bonds, Series 2004B, which we refer 
to as our “2004B Bonds” 
 

Series 2004B 
Master Obligation 

$25,000,000 $25,000,000 
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Name of Bonds 

Related  
Master Obligation 

Original 
Principal Amount 

Outstanding 
Principal Amount 

North Carolina Medical Care 
Commission Variable Rate Demand 
Health Care Facilities Revenue 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2008A, 
which we refer to as our “2008A 
Bonds” 
 

Series 2008A 
Master Obligation 

$70,000,000 $34,755,000 

North Carolina Medical Care 
Commission Variable Rate Demand 
Health Care Facilities Revenue 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2008B, 
which we refer to as our “2008B 
Bonds” 
 

Series 2008B 
Master Obligation 

$75,090,000 $39,845,000 

North Carolina Medical Care 
Commission Variable Rate Demand 
Health Care Facilities Revenue 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2008C, 
which we refer to as our “2008C 
Bonds” 
 

Series 2008C 
Master Obligation 

$50,870,000 $24,065,000 

Novant Health, Inc. Taxable Bonds, 
Series 2009A, which we refer to as 
the “2009A Bonds” 
 

Series 2009A 
Master Obligation 

$350,000,000 $250,000,000 

North Carolina Medical Care 
Commission Health Care Facilities 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2010A, which 
we refer to as our “2010A Bonds” 

Series 2010A 
Master Obligation 

$264,165,000 $264,165,000 

North Carolina Medical Care 
Commission Health Care Facilities 
Revenue and Revenue Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2013A, which we refer 
to as our “2013A Bonds” 

Series 2013A 
Master Obligation 

$152,400,000 $128,970,000 

Industrial Development Authority of 
the County of Prince William Health 
Care Facilities Revenue and Revenue 
Refunding  Bonds, Series 2013B, 
which we refer to as our “2013B 
Bonds” 

Series 2013B 
Master Obligation 

$146,365,000 $140,350,000 

Novant Health, Inc. Taxable Bonds, 
Series 2013C, which we refer to as 
the “2013C Bonds” 

Series 2013C 
Master Obligation 

$250,000,000 $250,000,000 
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Name of Bonds 

Related  
Master Obligation 

Original 
Principal Amount 

Outstanding 
Principal Amount 

2017 Bank Revolving Credit Facility1 2017 Bank 
Revolving Credit 
Facility Master 
Obligation 
 

$200,000,000 $135,000,000 

     
1 To be prepaid on the date of delivery of the Bonds using $112,300,000 of the proceeds of the Bonds and 
$22,700,000 of Novant’s own funds.  The 2017 Bank Revolving Credit Facility will remain available for 
future draws after the issuance of the Bonds. 

 

The total outstanding principal amount of such Master Obligations is $1,402,150,000. 

 
Novant also has issued three Master Obligations, which are referred to as the “Series 2008A Bank 

Obligation,” the “Series 2008B Bank Obligation” and the “Series 2008C Bank Obligation” to the bank 
purchasers of the 2008A Bonds, the 2008B Bonds and the 2008C Bonds, respectively.  These Master 
Obligations mainly evidence the same liabilities as the Series 2008A Master Obligation, the Series 2008B 
Master Obligation and the Series 2008C Master Obligation, respectively. 

You should read Appendix A for more information on the Combined Group’s long-term debt. 

Security and Sources of Payment for the Bonds 

Our obligation to pay the Bonds is limited.  We will be obligated to pay principal of and 
interest on the Bonds only from the revenues and other funds we pledge for the payment thereof, 
which will include the payments under the Loan Agreement and the Series 2019A Obligation to be 
made or funded by Novant and the other members of the Combined Group.  Neither the State of 
North Carolina nor any political subdivision thereof will pledge its faith and credit or taxing power 
as security for the payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds.  Before you invest in the Bonds, 
you should carefully review the discussion below under the heading “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF 
PAYMENT.” 

Payment of the Bonds will depend upon the ability of Novant and the other members of the 
Combined Group to generate revenues sufficient to provide for the payment of the Bonds and their other 
debt while paying their operating and other expenses.  Novant and its affiliates own and operate an 
integrated healthcare delivery system that serves North Carolina, South Carolina and Virginia.  You 
should read Appendix A for more information about Novant and its affiliates, including their governance 
and management, facilities, services and operations and certain financial information. 

Bondholders’ Risks 

Before you invest in the Bonds, you should carefully review the discussion of certain risks 
associated with the Bonds and the Combined Group’s business found below under the heading 
“BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS.” 



 

6 

Financial Statements 

You should review the consolidated financial statements of Novant and its affiliates as of and for 
the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, which are included in Appendix B.   

Because some of Novant’s affiliates are not members of the Combined Group, the audited 
consolidated financial statements in Appendix B include supplemental combining information for the 
members of the Combined Group and the other affiliates of Novant.  Appendix A contains summary 
financial information for the Combined Group derived from the audited consolidated financial statements 
and supplemental combining information included in Appendix B. 

The financial statements as of 2018 and 2017 and for each of the two years in the period ended 
December 31, 2018, included in Appendix B to this official statement, have been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent accountants, as stated in their report appearing in Appendix 
B.   

Continuing Disclosure 

Novant has agreed in the Loan Agreement to provide certain information on an ongoing basis as 
required by Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission.  Novant’s agreement to provide 
continuing disclosure is described in more detail below under the heading “CONTINUING 
DISCLOSURE.” 

Definitions 

Many terms used in this official statement, whether capitalized or not, are defined in the Trust 
Agreement, the Loan Agreement and the Master Indenture.  You can find complete definitions of those 
terms in Appendix C under the heading “DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS.” 

Bond Trustee and Master Trustee 

Regions Bank will serve as the trustee under the Trust Agreement and is referred to in that 
capacity as the “Bond Trustee.”  Regions Bank also serves as the trustee under the Master Indenture and 
is referred to in that capacity as the “Master Trustee.”   

Limitation of Summaries; Obtaining Copies of Documents 

This official statement summarizes certain provisions of the Bonds, the Trust Agreement, the 
Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture and the Series 2019A Obligation.  We have not included or 
summarized all of the provisions of those documents in this official statement.  You should read those 
documents if you want to understand all of their provisions, which define your rights if you purchase a 
Bond.  You can obtain a copy of the Trust Agreement, the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture and the 
Series 2019A Obligation from Novant, any of the underwriters shown on the cover page of this official 
statement, or the Bond Trustee. 
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THE ISSUER 

General 

We were created primarily as a result of the findings of the North Carolina Hospital and Medical 
Care Commission, a special commission appointed by the North Carolina General Assembly in 1944 to 
study the critical shortages in general hospital facilities and trained medical personnel in the State of 
North Carolina and to make recommendations for improvements in these areas.  Among the 
recommendations made was that the North Carolina General Assembly provide for a permanent state 
agency that would be responsible for the maintenance of high standards in North Carolina’s hospitals and 
for the administration of a medical student loan fund and a statewide hospital and medical care program. 

We were established in 1945 and, pursuant to our enabling legislation, were given the power, 
among others, to make a survey of the hospital resources in North Carolina and formulate a statewide 
program for construction and maintenance of local hospitals, health centers and related facilities and to 
receive and administer federal and state funds appropriated for such purposes. 

In 1946, Congress passed the Hospital Survey and Construction Act (Hill-Burton) to provide 
funds for the construction and renovation of health care facilities, and we were designated as the agency 
empowered to administer the program within North Carolina.  Under this program, also known as the 
Hill-Burton program, health facility construction in North Carolina has totaled more than $500 million, of 
which 40% was provided by federal sources, 5% by North Carolina and 55% by local sponsors.  Of the 
more than 500 Hill-Burton projects approved by us between 1946 and 1976, 241 were general hospital 
projects, including 80 completely new facilities. 

Pursuant to the Executive Organization Act of 1973, we were incorporated into the Department of 
Human Resources.  Effective August 28, 1997, the Department of Human Resources was renamed the 
Department of Health and Human Services.  Three of our members are nominated by the North Carolina 
Medical Society, one by the North Carolina Pharmaceutical Association, one by the North Carolina State 
Nurses’ Association, one by the North Carolina Hospital Association and one by The Duke Endowment.  
Each nomination is subject to the Governor’s approval.  In addition, ten Commission members, one of 
whom must be a dentist, are appointed by the Governor. 

Today we have the duty and power to promulgate, adopt, amend and rescind rules in accordance 
with the laws of the State regarding the regulation and licensing or certification, as applicable, of 
hospitals, hospices, free standing outpatient surgical facilities, nursing homes, adult care homes, home 
care agencies, home health agencies, nursing pools, facilities providing mammography/pap smear 
services, free standing abortion clinics, ambulances and emergency medical services personnel. 

In 1975, the North Carolina General Assembly enacted the Act, which enables us to issue 
tax-exempt revenue bonds to finance construction and equipment projects for nonprofit and public 
hospitals, nursing homes, continuing care facilities for the elderly and related facilities. 

Our Outstanding Debt 

As of March 31, 2019, we had issued revenue bonds or notes to finance 629 projects, refundings 
or conversions.  The total authorized principal amount of all such financings was $25,527,238,111, and 
the total outstanding principal amount of all such financings as of March 31, 2019 was $6,066,947,181.  
Each such issue is payable solely from revenues derived from the respective corporate entity or entities 
receiving such financing and any other credit support provided therefor is separately secured, and is 
separate and independent from all other series of bonds as to source of payment and security.  
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Membership 

We currently consist of 17 members.  Our current membership is as follows:   

NAME TERM 
PRINCIPAL 
OCCUPATION RESIDENCE 

John A. Fagg, M.D. 
Chairman 

2003-2019 Physician Winston-Salem 

Joseph D. Crocker 
Vice Chairman 

1988-2020 Director of Poor and Needy 
Division of the Kate B. Reynolds 
Charitable Trust 

Winston-Salem 

Robert S. Alphin, M.D. 2015-2019 Anesthesiologist Raleigh 

Paul R.G. Cunningham, M.D. 2017-2021 Physician Grimesland 

Charles H. Hauser 2014-2020 Chief Executive Officer of 
Physician Discoveries 

Winston-Salem 

Linwood B. Hollowell, III 2017-2021 Director, Health Care Division 
The Duke Endowment 

Charlotte 
 

Eileen C. Kugler, R.N. 
M.S.N., M.P.H., F.N.P. 

2010-2022 Retired, Manager of Practice, North 
Carolina Board of Nursing 

Leland 

Albert F. Lockamy, Jr., R.Ph. 1986-2022 Retired Pharmacist Raleigh 

Ashley Lloyd, D.D.S. 2019-2020 Dentist Raleigh 

John J. Meier, IV, M.D. 2017-2021 Physician Raleigh 

Karen Moriarity 2017-2021 President and CEO, Carillon Assisted 
Living 

Raleigh 

Stephen T. Morton 2018-2022 CEO, Navion Senior Living Durham 

J. William Paugh 2016-2020 Retired Hospital Administrator Goldsboro 

Devdutta G. Sangvai, M.D. 2015-2019 Physician Durham 

Robert E. Schaaf, M.D. 2005-2022 Physician Raleigh 

Patrick D. Sebastian 2016-2020 State Strategist, Majority Strategies Raleigh 

Jeffrey S. Wilson 2017-2021 Chief Operating Officer, Liberty 
Healthcare Management 

Wilmington 

 
Our Staff  

The Division of Health Service Regulation of the Department of Health and Human Services 
employs a staff of approximately 579 persons (including registered architects, professional engineers and 
consultants in the fields of emergency medicine, hospital administration, nursing service and 
administration, dietetics and nutrition, laboratory design and operation and medical records), the services 
of whom are available to and used by us.  The Division of Health Service Regulation provides all 
necessary administrative and clerical assistance to us. 
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Certain Administrative Officers 

S. Mark Payne was appointed to the position of Secretary for the North Carolina Medical Care 
Commission in February 2016 and to the position of Director for the Division of Health Service 
Regulation in January 2016.  Mr. Payne is an accomplished corporate attorney and compliance officer 
with extensive experience providing business-focused legal advice and developing and implementing 
business process to achieve strategic objectives.  He has served in varied roles including Vice President 
and Chief Ethics & Compliance Officer and Compliance Counsel for Blue Cross Blue Shield of North 
Carolina and Senior Counsel for Blue Cross Blue Shield, Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of North 
Carolina, and CIGNA Corporation.  Mr. Payne is a licensed attorney in North Carolina.  He earned his 
law degree from Cumberland School of Law at Samford University and he holds a Bachelor of Arts 
degree from Covenant College. 

Geary W. Knapp, JD, CPA, Assistant Secretary, Audit Manager and Advisor.  As Audit Manager 
and Advisor, Mr. Knapp is responsible for the areas of (1) financial and operational auditing and 
compliance, (2) assistance and consultation to the Construction Section during project development and 
completion and (3) evaluation of and counseling of projects during the process of financing through us.  
He served as an Assistant State Auditor with the Office of State Auditor from 2014 until 2017.  In 2017, 
Mr. Knapp was named our Audit Manager and Advisor.  Prior to his state service, Mr. Knapp practiced 
law with a regional law firm for 13 years, primarily in the litigation field.  Mr. Knapp has a bachelor’s 
degree in Business Administration from the University of North Carolina and a MBA and Juris Doctorate 
from Campbell University.  Mr. Knapp is a Certified Public Accountant and licensed attorney in North 
Carolina. 

Steven C. Lewis, Chief, Construction Section, Division of Health Service Regulation, North 
Carolina Department of Health and Human Services.  Mr. Lewis is responsible for the review of plans 
and specifications for projects seeking assistance under the Act to insure that they meet the minimum 
standards of construction and design development by the Construction Section for that purpose.  
Mr. Lewis has been with the Construction Section of the Division of Health Service Regulation since 
1994 and has served successively as a Building System Engineer (1994-2007) and Assistant Chief (2007-
2010).  In March 2010, he assumed the position of Chief of the Construction Section.  Mr. Lewis has a 
B.S.E. degree in Engineering, Mechanics and Materials from the University of North Carolina at 
Charlotte and is experienced in the areas of design, maintenance and mechanical engineering. 

Kathy C. Larrison, Auditor, North Carolina Medical Care Commission, North Carolina 
Department of Health and Human Services.  As our Auditor, Ms. Larrison is responsible for continuous 
review and audit of projects financed through us to ensure financial, legal and operational compliance 
with the bond and note covenants.  She joined our staff in September 2004, after serving 17 years at an 
acute care hospital in the capacities of Staff Accountant, Controller and Chief Financial Officer.  She has 
a Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting from Campbell University. 

Crystal M. Watson-Abbott, Auditor, North Carolina Medical Care Commission, North Carolina 
Department of Health and Human Services.  As our Auditor, Ms. Watson-Abbott is responsible for 
continuous review and audit of projects financed through us to ensure financial, legal and operational 
compliance with the bond and note covenants.  She joined our staff in August 2010, after serving five 
years for a local C.P.A. firm providing auditing and reimbursement consulting services for various 
healthcare entities in the capacities of staff auditor, reimbursement specialist and senior reimbursement 
specialist and two years as Director of Social Services for a nursing home. She has a B.S.W. in Social 
Work and a M.S.A. in Accounting from East Carolina University. 



 

10 

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT 

The following summary of certain terms and provisions of the Trust Agreement, the Loan 
Agreement, the Master Indenture and the Series 2019A Obligation does not purport to be complete and is 
subject to, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, all the terms and provisions of the Trust 
Agreement, the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture and the Series 2019A Obligation.   

This summary should be read together with the discussion of the “Risks Relating to the Bonds” 
under the heading “BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS.” 

Loan Agreement and Series 2019A Obligation 

Our obligation to pay the Bonds is limited.  We will be obligated to pay principal of and 
interest on the Bonds only from the revenues and other funds we pledge for the payment thereof.  
Neither the State of North Carolina nor any political subdivision thereof will pledge its faith and 
credit or taxing power as security for the payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds.   

In the Loan Agreement, Novant will promise to: 

 make loan repayments to us equal to the principal of and interest on the Bonds, and  

 issue the Series 2019A Obligation to us as further evidence of its obligation to make the 
loan repayments. 

We will pledge the following revenues and other funds to the Bond Trustee as security for the 
payment of the Bonds: 

 All of our right, title and interest in the Loan Agreement, including our right to receive 
the loan repayments from Novant, but not our rights  

 
o to indemnification and to payment of certain fees and expenses,  
o to give certain consents, and  
o to receive certain documents, information and notices, 

 
 All of our right, title and interest in the Series 2019A Obligation and our rights under the 

Master Indenture as owner of the Series 2019A Obligation, and 
 

 All money and securities held by the Bond Trustee in the funds and accounts established 
under the Trust Agreement.  

The Obligated Group 

The Master Indenture authorizes the creation of an Obligated Group.  Each member of the 
Obligated Group may issue notes, bonds or other forms of debt under the Master Indenture, which are 
referred to in the Master Indenture as “Master Obligations.” Members of the Obligated Group are jointly 
and severally liable for the payment of all Master Obligations issued under the Master Indenture, 
including the Series 2019A Obligation.  As of the date of this official statement, Novant, Forsyth and 
Presbyterian are the only members of the Obligated Group under the Master Indenture.   
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The Master Indenture does not limit the ability of any member of the Obligated Group to 
withdraw from the Obligated Group if the ratio of income available for debt service of the 
Combined Group to the annual debt service requirement of the Combined Group (which we refer 
to as the “Coverage Ratio”) for the most recently ended fiscal year of Novant for which audited 
financial statements are available is at least 2.00.  If a member of the Obligated Group withdraws from 
the Obligated Group, then it is no longer jointly and severally liable for the payment of the Series 2019A 
Obligation or any other Master Obligation issued under the Master Indenture.  In Supplemental Master 
Indenture No. 28, however, Novant, Forsyth and Presbyterian will promise not to withdraw from the 
Obligated Group so long as the Series 2019A Obligation or any Bonds are outstanding. 

The provisions of the Master Indenture regarding admission to and withdrawal from the 
Obligated Group are discussed in Appendix C under the headings “SUMMARY OF THE MASTER 
INDENTURE —Admission of Obligated Group Members,” “—Withdrawal of Obligated Group 
Members” and “—Additional Conditions to the Admission or Withdrawal of a Person to the Obligated 
Group.”  You should also read “SUMMARY OF SUPPLEMENTAL MASTER INDENTURE NO. 28” 
in Appendix C. 

Combined Group; Restricted Affiliates 

In addition to the Obligated Group, the Master Indenture also authorizes the creation of a 
Combined Group, which consists of the Obligated Group and other entities designated by any member of 
the Obligated Group, which are referred to in the Master Indenture as “Restricted Affiliates.” 

Restricted Affiliates are not directly obligated to pay Master Obligations issued under the Master 
Indenture, including the Series 2019A Obligation.  Instead, Novant and each other member of the 
Obligated Group has promised in the Master Indenture to cause each of its Restricted Affiliates to pay, 
loan or otherwise transfer to it: 

 amounts needed to pay debt service on all Master Obligations which were issued for the 
benefit of such Restricted Affiliate or the proceeds of which were loaned or otherwise 
made available to such Restricted Affiliate, and 

 other amounts needed to enable Novant or such other member of the Obligated Group to 
pay debt service on all other Master Obligations. 

As of the date of the delivery of the Bonds, Novant will have designated the following 12 
affiliates of Novant as Restricted Affiliates under the Master Indenture:   

 Medical Park Hospital, Inc.; 
 Community General Health Partners, Inc., doing business as Novant Health Thomasville 

Medical Center; 
 Presbyterian Medical Care Corp., doing business as Novant Health Matthews Medical 

Center; 
 Carolina Medicorp Enterprises, Inc.; 
 Forsyth Medical Group, LLC; 
 Foundation Health Systems Corp.;  
 Novant Medical Group, Inc.;  
 Salem Health Services, Inc.;  
 Brunswick Community Hospital, LLC;  
 Prince William Health System;  
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 Prince William Hospital Corporation; and 
 Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center, LLC. 

 
As of the date of this official statement, Forsyth and Presbyterian have not designated any 

Restricted Affiliates.  

The Master Indenture requires Novant and each other member of the Obligated Group to cause its 
Restricted Affiliates to comply with the covenants and restrictions in the Master Indenture that are 
applicable to Restricted Affiliates.  For example, Novant and each other member of the Obligated Group 
must cause its Restricted Affiliates to establish, charge and collect rates, fees and charges for their 
services and goods and use of their property sufficient for the Combined Group to maintain the required 
Coverage Ratio of at least 1.20 during each fiscal year. 

The ability of Novant and the other members of the Obligated Group to require a Restricted 
Affiliate to make payments or to comply with covenants of the Master Indenture may be restricted by a 
variety of factors.  See the discussion of the “Risks Relating to the Bonds” under the heading 
“BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS.”     

In order for an entity to become a Restricted Affiliate, Novant or any other member of the 
Obligated Group must: 

 either: 

o  “control” such Restricted Affiliate in the manner described below, or 

o have entered into an agreement with such Restricted Affiliate that, in the 
judgment of counsel to such member of the Obligated Group, is sufficient to 
assure that such Restricted Affiliate will be required to comply with the terms 
and conditions of the Master Indenture applicable to it, which we refer to as a 
“Commitment Agreement,” and  

 designate such entity as a Restricted Affiliate in a resolution of  

o the governing body of such member of the Obligated Group, and 

o the governing body of Novant.  

Under the Master Indenture, “control” is described as the power to direct the management, 
policies, disposition of assets and actions of an entity, directly or indirectly, to the extent required to cause 
a Restricted Affiliate to comply with the terms and conditions of the Master Indenture applicable to it.  
Such control can be exercised through the ownership of a majority of voting securities or partnership 
interests, or by contract, membership, reserved powers or the power to appoint members, trustees or 
directors or otherwise. 

With respect to each of the Restricted Affiliates, except Medical Park Hospital, Inc., Community 
General Health Partners, Inc., Prince William Health System and Prince William Hospital Corporation, 
Novant requires compliance by such Restricted Affiliates with the covenants and restrictions contained in 
the Master Indenture by replacement of the members of the governing body of such Restricted Affiliates, 
if necessary.  Each of Medical Park Hospital, Inc., Community General Health Partners, Inc., Prince 
William Health System and Prince William Hospital Corporation have executed a Commitment 
Agreement with Novant which forms the basis for such organization constituting a Restricted Affiliate 



 

13 

and pursuant to which it agrees to comply with the covenants and restrictions contained in the Master 
Indenture. 

After any entity is designated as a Restricted Affiliate, the governing body of the member of the 
Obligated Group that controls and so designated such Restricted Affiliate and the governing body of 
Novant by resolution may, subject to the limitations described below, at any time thereafter declare that 
such entity is no longer designated as a Restricted Affiliate.  If a Restricted Affiliate is released, then it is 
no longer indirectly liable for the payment of the Series 2019A Obligation or any other Master Obligation 
issued under the Master Indenture. 

The Master Indenture does not otherwise limit the ability of Novant or any other member 
of the Obligated Group to release a Restricted Affiliate if the Coverage Ratio for the most recently 
ended fiscal year of Novant for which audited financial statements are available is at least 2.00.  In 
Supplemental Master Indenture No. 28, however, Novant will promise that Novant Health Mint Hill 
Medical Center, LLC and Presbyterian Medical Care Corp. will not cease to be a member of the 
Combined Group so long as the Series 2019A Obligation and the Bonds are outstanding (unless the 
portion of the Bonds used to finance facilities operated by Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center, LLC 
or Presbyterian Medical Care Corp., as applicable, has been repaid).    

The provisions of the Master Indenture regarding designation and release of Restricted Affiliates 
are discussed in Appendix C under the heading “SUMMARY OF THE MASTER INDENTURE—
Control of Restricted Affiliates” and in the definition of “Restricted Affiliate” under “DEFINITIONS OF 
CERTAIN TERMS.”  You should also read “SUMMARY OF SUPPLEMENTAL MASTER 
INDENTURE NO. 28” in Appendix C. 

Limitation on Liens; Negative Pledge 

Except for certain liens described in the Master Indenture, no member of the Obligated Group 
will, or will permit any of its Restricted Affiliates to, create or incur or permit to be created or incurred or 
to exist, any lien on any “Principal Property” to secure debt of any member of the Combined Group.  The 
Master Indenture also contains restrictions on sale and leaseback transactions of Principal Property.    

The Master Indenture defines “Principal Property” as any facility or property of a member of the 
Combined Group which the governing body of Novant by board resolution: 

 determines is a material part of the primary operations of any member of the Combined 
Group; and  

 designates as a Principal Property. 

The Master Indenture does not limit the power of Novant or the other members of the Combined 
Group to create liens on any facility or property that is not a Principal Property.  After any facility or 
property is designated as a Principal Property, the governing body of Novant, by board resolution, may at 
any time thereafter declare that such facility or property is no longer designated as a Principal Property, 
without the consent of any holder of any debt evidenced by a Master Obligation, such as the Bonds.   

The provisions of the Master Indenture regarding liens on Principal Properties and sale and 
leaseback transactions of Principal Properties are discussed in Appendix C under the heading 
“SUMMARY OF THE MASTER INDENTURE—Liens” and “— Limitation on Sale and Leaseback 
Transactions.” 
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Rate Covenant 

The Master Indenture requires Novant and each other member of the Obligated Group to, and  to 
cause each of its Restricted Affiliates to, establish, maintain and collect such rates, fees and charges for 
the use of and services furnished by or through its facilities as will produce a Coverage Ratio equal to at 
least 1.20 in each fiscal year. The Coverage Ratio is calculated based on actual debt service of the 
Combined Group during each fiscal year, not the maximum annual debt service of the Combined Group.  

The provisions of the Master Indenture regarding the rate covenant are discussed in Appendix C 
under the heading “SUMMARY OF THE MASTER INDENTURE—Rate Covenant.” 

Liquidity Covenant 

The Master Indenture requires Novant and each other member of the Obligated Group to conduct 
their business, and to cause each of their Restricted Affiliates to conduct their business, so that, on the last 
day of each fiscal year and the last day of the second quarter of each fiscal year, which we refer to each as 
a “Liquidity Testing Date,” the Combined Group, on a consolidated or combined basis, has not less than 
75 days of cash on hand.   

If the number of days cash on hand as of a Liquidity Testing Date is less than 75, the Obligated 
Group is required to deliver to the Master Trustee a management report setting forth the reasons for such 
deficiency and adopting a specific plan setting forth the steps to be taken to achieve 75 days of cash on 
hand no later than the next succeeding Liquidity Testing Date.  If the Combined Group has not achieved 
75 days of cash on hand by the next succeeding Liquidity Testing Date, the Obligated Group is required 
to obtain and deliver to the Master Trustee a new management consultant’s report setting forth the reasons 
for such deficiency and a specific plan setting forth the steps designed to achieve 75 days of cash on hand 
by the second succeeding Liquidity Testing Date.   

So long as the members of the Obligated Group continue to retain a management consultant and 
so long as each member of the Obligated Group follows, and causes each of its Restricted Affiliates to 
follow, the management consultant’s recommendations and plan to the fullest extent feasible, the failure 
to have 75 days of cash on hand as of any Liquidity Testing Date is not an event of default under the 
Master Indenture.   

Failure of the Combined Group to have at least 50 days of cash on hand as of any Liquidity 
Testing Date is an event of default under the Master Indenture. 

The provisions of the Master Indenture regarding the liquidity covenant are discussed in 
Appendix C under the heading “SUMMARY OF THE MASTER INDENTURE—Liquidity Covenant.” 

Reverter Clause 

If Novant ceases to use Forsyth Medical Center for hospital purposes, the land and improvements 
constituting Forsyth Medical Center will revert to Forsyth County, North Carolina and revenues 
generated from that facility will not be available to pay amounts due under the Loan Agreement and the 
Series 2019A Obligation.  See “THE HEALTH SYSTEM—Facilities Operated by the Members of the 
Combined Group – Hospitals” in Appendix A hereto. 
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BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS 

Before you invest in the Bonds, you should carefully review the following discussion of the risks 
involved and the information contained elsewhere in this official statement. 

Risks Relating to the Bonds 

The Bonds are payable by us only from payments under the Loan Agreement and the Series 
2019A Obligation made or funded by Novant and the other members of the Combined Group and 
any money and securities held by the Bond Trustee in the funds and accounts established under the 
Trust Agreement. 

Payment of the Bonds will depend upon the ability of Novant and the other members of the 
Combined Group to generate revenues sufficient to provide for the payment of the Bonds and their other 
debt while paying their operating and other expenses. 

Novant and its affiliates own and operate an integrated healthcare delivery system that serves 
North Carolina, South Carolina and Virginia. You should read Appendix A for more information about 
Novant and its affiliates, including their governance and management, facilities, services and operations 
and certain financial information. 

Neither Novant nor we can represent or assure that Novant and the other members of the 
Combined Group will be able to generate revenues sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the 
Bonds.  You should read the discussion of “Risks Relating to the Combined Group’s Business” below. 

Only Novant and the other members of the Combined Group are or will be directly or indirectly 
obligated to make payments due under the Loan Agreement and the Series 2019A Obligation. 

Novant will be directly obligated to make the loan repayments due under the Loan Agreement. 

As further evidence of its obligation to make the loan repayments, Novant will issue to us the 
Series 2019A Obligation under the Master Indenture, which we will assign to the Bond Trustee as 
security for the payment of the Bonds.  Because the members of the Obligated Group under the Master 
Indenture are jointly and severally liable for the payment of all Master Obligations issued under the 
Master Indenture, including the Series 2019A Obligation, the members of the Obligated Group will be 
directly obligated to make the payments due under the Series 2019A Obligation, which correspond to the 
loan repayments due under the Loan Agreement.  As of the date of this official statement, Novant, 
Forsyth and Presbyterian are the only members of the Obligated Group; however, any future member of 
the Obligated Group also will be jointly and severally liable for the payment of all Master Obligations 
issued under the Master Indenture, including the Series 2019A Obligation. 

Restricted Affiliates are not directly obligated to pay Master Obligations issued under the Master 
Indenture, including the Series 2019A Obligation.  Instead, each member of the Obligated Group has 
promised in the Master Indenture to cause each of its Restricted Affiliates to pay, loan or otherwise 
transfer to it amounts necessary to pay debt service on all Master Obligations issued under the Master 
Indenture, including the Series 2019A Obligation.  As a result of this promise, Restricted Affiliates are 
indirectly obligated to make the payments due under the Series 2019A Obligation. 

Neither the Bond Trustee nor you will have any claim against any Restricted Affiliate.  The filing 
of a bankruptcy case by or against a Restricted Affiliate is not an event of default under the Master 
Indenture, the Trust Agreement or the Loan Agreement.  Moreover, unless a Restricted Affiliate has a 
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contractual obligation to pay money to Novant or other member of the Obligated Group that it can use to 
pay the Bonds, no member of the Obligated Group will have a claim against such Restricted Affiliate in a 
bankruptcy case filed by or against such Restricted Affiliate. 

As of the date of delivery of the Bonds, Novant will have designated 12 of its affiliates as 
Restricted Affiliates, as described under “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT—Combined 
Group; Restricted Affiliates.”    

The members of the Combined Group have not pledged any collateral as security for the payments 
due under the Loan Agreement and the Series 2019A Obligation. 

Neither Novant nor any other member of the Combined Group has pledged any of its real or 
personal property, such as land, buildings, equipment, accounts receivable or investments, to secure 
payments due under the Loan Agreement and the Series 2019A Obligation.  As of the date of this official 
statement, neither Novant nor any other member of the Combined Group has pledged any of its real or 
personal property as security for other Master Obligations issued under the Master Indenture. 

Novant and the other members of the Combined Group can pledge property as security for other 
Master Obligations issued under the Master Indenture without pledging such property as security for the 
Series 2019A Obligation, if such pledge is otherwise permitted under the Master Indenture. If this occurs, 
such pledged property may not be available to satisfy any money judgment you may obtain or claim you 
may have in bankruptcy if the Bonds are not paid when due. 

Bankruptcy or other applicable law may limit your ability to collect from the members of the 
Combined Group. 

As a practical matter, bankruptcy or other applicable law may limit your ability to collect from 
the members of the Combined Group.  For example, a creditor or the trustee in a bankruptcy case of a 
member of the Combined Group could ask a court to declare that the obligations of such member of the 
Combined Group with respect to the Bonds are not enforceable because they are a “fraudulent 
conveyance.” Federal and state fraudulent conveyance law provides that a liability incurred by a co-
obligor may be avoided if, for example, (1) the co-obligor did not receive “fair consideration” or 
“reasonably equivalent value” in exchange for its liability and (2) the liability renders the co-obligor 
insolvent.  It is possible that a court would agree. 

An action to enforce a charitable trust and to see to the application of its funds could be brought 
against any member of the Combined Group that is a charitable nonprofit corporation if honoring its 
requirements with respect to the Bonds would result in:   

 such member of the Combined Group not having sufficient assets to carry out its 
charitable purposes, or 

 cessation or discontinuation of any material portion of the health care or related service 
previously provided by such member of the Combined Group. 

An action to enforce a charitable trust could arise on the court’s own motion or pursuant to a 
petition of the state attorney general or such other persons who have interests different from those of the 
general public. 
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The liabilities of a member of the Combined Group also may not be enforceable to the extent that 
such payments are:  

 requested to be made from assets which are donor-restricted or which are subject to a 
direct, express or charitable trust which does not permit the use of such assets for such 
payments, or 

 made with respect to a liability that is not consistent with the governmental purposes of 
such member of the Combined Group or was incurred for the benefit of an entity that is 
not governmental or tax-exempt. 

Even though the liabilities of a member of the Combined Group with respect to the Loan 
Agreement and the Series 2019A Obligation may not be enforceable for the reasons discussed above, the 
accounts of all members of the Combined Group will be combined for financial reporting purposes and 
will be used to determine whether the Combined Group meets various covenants and tests contained in 
the Master Indenture.   

The Master Indenture does not limit the amount of debt that the members of the Combined Group 
can incur. 

The Master Indenture does not limit the amount of debt that Novant and the other members of the 
Combined Group may incur.  Novant and the other members of the Obligated Group may issue additional 
Master Obligations under the Master Indenture for which the members of the Combined Group will be 
directly or indirectly liable.  Novant and the other members of the Combined Group also may incur 
additional debt that is not evidenced by a Master Obligation issued under the Master Indenture.  Novant 
and the other members of the Combined Group also may pledge collateral to secure other Master 
Obligations issued under the Master Indenture or other debt if the pledge of such collateral is permitted 
under the Master Indenture. 

The Master Indenture allows members of the Combined Group to transfer assets or to merge and 
to change the membership of the Combined Group under certain conditions. 

If the Coverage Ratio for the most recently ended fiscal year of Novant for which audited 
financial statements are available is at least 2.00, then the Master Indenture permits: 

 the members of the Combined Group to transfer property, plant and equipment, cash and 
investments and receivables to any entity which is not a member of the Combined Group,  

 the members of the Combined Group to merge (except for certain nonfinancial 
conditions) with an entity that is not a member of the Combined Group, or 

 any entity to be admitted to or withdraw from the Combined Group. 

Because this test is based on past financial performance, Novant and the other members of the 
Combined Group could take these actions even if they would lead to a payment default on the Bonds or 
cause the Coverage Ratio during the current fiscal year to be less than the required 2.00. 

Even if the Coverage Ratio for the most recently ended fiscal year of Novant for which audited 
financial statements are available is less than 2.00, the members of the Combined Group may transfer 
property, plant and equipment, cash and investments and receivables and may merge (subject to certain 
nonfinancial conditions) and any entity may be admitted to or withdraw from the Combined Group if: 
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 the Bonds and all other bonds we have issued or which have been approved by the Local 
Government Commission of North Carolina that are secured by a Master Obligation 
issued under the Master Indenture are rated investment grade by each rating agency 
maintaining a rating on the Bonds and any such other bonds, or 

 the Local Government Commission of North Carolina and we approve the transaction. 

Such transactions could have a material adverse effect on the Combined Group’s financial 
condition and result in a reduction in the ratings of the Bonds. 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Master Indenture that permit an entity to withdraw from the 
Combined Group, Novant, Forsyth and Presbyterian will promise in Supplemental Master Indenture No. 
28 not to withdraw from the Obligated Group so long as the Series 2019A Obligation or any Bonds are 
outstanding.   

The Master Indenture does not limit the ability of Novant and the other members of the Combined 
Group to make acquisitions or engage in joint ventures or affiliations. 

Novant regularly evaluates potential acquisitions, joint ventures and affiliations as part of its 
overall strategic planning and development process.  In addition to relationships with hospitals and 
physicians, Novant may pursue investments, ventures, affiliations, development and acquisitions of other 
health care related entities.  These may include providers of home health care, long-term care entities or 
operations, pharmaceutical providers and other health care enterprises that support the overall operations 
and mission of the Combined Group.  In addition, Novant may pursue transactions with third-party 
payors, third-party administrators and other health insurance related businesses.  Because of the rapid 
integration occurring throughout the health care industry, Novant will consider such arrangements where 
there is a perceived strategic or operational benefit.  All such initiatives may involve significant capital 
commitments and/or capital or operating risk.  The Master Indenture does not limit the ability of Novant 
and the other members of the Combined Group to make acquisitions or engage in joint ventures or 
affiliations.  Such transactions could have a material adverse effect on the Combined Group’s financial 
condition and result in a reduction in the ratings of the Bonds. 

Risks Relating to the Combined Group’s Business 

The impact of national healthcare reform on the Combined Group is uncertain. 

On March 23, 2010, President Obama signed into law H.R. 3590, entitled the “Patient Protection 
and Affordable Care Act,” and on March 30, 2010, President Obama signed into law H.R. 4872, entitled 
“The Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010.”  We refer to both of these acts as the 
“ACA.” 

The ACA has significantly changed, and continues to change, how health care services are 
covered, delivered, and financed in the United States.  One of the primary goals of the ACA was to 
provide or make available, or subsidize the premium costs of, health care insurance for otherwise 
uninsured (or underinsured) consumers who fall below certain income levels. The ACA sought to achieve 
that objective by a number of means, including (1) creating state organized insurance markets in which 
individuals and small employers could purchase health care insurance; (2) providing income-based 
subsidies for premium costs to individuals and families; (3) mandating that individual consumers obtain 
and certain employers provide a minimum level of health care insurance; (4) establishing insurance 
reforms, such as prohibiting denials of coverage for pre-existing conditions; and (5) expanding existing 
public programs such as Medicaid.  To fund Medicaid expansion, the ACA includes a broad array of 
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quality improvement programs, cost efficiency incentives, and enhanced fraud and abuse enforcement 
measures, each designed to generate savings in the Medicare and Medicaid programs.   

The ACA and its implementation have been, and remain, politically controversial.  Accordingly, 
the ACA has continually faced legal and legislative challenges, including repeated repeal efforts, since its 
enactment.  Novant cannot predict the impact any major modification or full or partial repeal of the ACA, 
or any replacement health care reform legislation, might have on the Combined Group’s business or 
financial condition, though such effects could be material.  In particular, any legal, legislative or 
executive action that reduces federal health care program spending, increases the number of individuals 
without health insurance, reduces the number of people seeking health care, or otherwise significantly 
alters the health care delivery system or insurance markets could have a material adverse effect on the 
Combined Group’s business or financial condition.   

The future of the ACA is uncertain. President Trump and certain Congressional leaders have 
included a repeal of all or a portion of the ACA in their respective legislative agendas, and Congress has 
introduced several bills to repeal and replace the ACA.  The legislative proposals to repeal or replace the 
ACA have to date focused largely on reorganizing the health exchange system created under the ACA and 
reorganizing the individual, corporate and public funding obligations associated with health coverage 
enrollment. Changes to the health insurance market, including enrollment restrictions and access to 
coverage, benefit design, coverage terms and reimbursement, all present financial risk to hospitals.  While 
no bills fully repealing the ACA have passed both chambers of Congress, a tax reform bill passed in 
December 2017 (which we refer to as the “Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017”) effectively repeals a key 
provision of the ACA known as the “individual mandate,” which required most Americans to maintain 
“minimum essential” health insurance coverage or pay a yearly tax penalty to the federal government 
(which we refer to as the “Individual Mandate”).  Novant cannot predict the effect of any repeal of the 
ACA or any of its provisions, the likelihood of any future bills repealing or amending the ACA or other 
health care reform bills becoming law, or the subsequent effects of any such laws, though such effects 
could materially impact the Combined Group’s business or financial condition. 

On December 14, 2018, a federal U.S, District Court judge in Texas ruled the entire ACA is 
unconstitutional because of the repeal of the Individual Mandate.  While such ruling will be appealed, it 
has caused greater uncertainty regarding the status of the ACA.  It is not possible to predict whether the 
ACA will be further modified in any significant respect, wholly repealed or ultimately be declared 
unconstitutional by the United States Supreme Court. 

In addition to legislative repeal or replacement efforts, ACA implementation and the ACA 
insurance exchange markets could be significantly impacted by executive branch actions.  To date, 
President Trump has issued three executive actions directly aimed at the ACA: (1) one requiring federal 
agencies with responsibilities under the ACA to “exercise all authority and discretion available to them to 
waive, defer, grant exemptions from, or delay” parts of the law that place “unwarranted economic and 
regulatory burdens” on states, individuals or health care providers, (2) a second instructing federal 
agencies to make new rules allowing the proliferation of “association health plans” and short-term health 
insurance, which plans have fewer benefit requirements than those sold through ACA insurance 
exchanges, and (3) a third ordering the federal government to withhold ACA cost-sharing subsidies 
currently paid to insurance companies in order to reduce deductibles and co-pays for many low-income 
people.  These executive orders have the potential to significantly impact the insurance exchange market 
by causing a reduction in the number of healthy individuals in the ACA health insurance exchanges, a 
reduction in the number of plans available on the health insurance exchanges, and/or an increase of 
insurance premiums.  Additionally, President Trump has issued two broad executive orders aimed at de-
regulation: (1) one requiring federal agencies to remove two previously implemented regulations for 
every new regulation added; and (2) another directing each federal agency to set up a “regulatory reform 
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task force” to review existing regulations and eliminate those which are costly or unnecessary.  Novant 
cannot predict the likelihood or effect of any current or future executive actions on the Combined Group’s 
business or financial condition, though such effects could be material. 

To the extent the ACA remains law, it is difficult to predict the full impact of the ACA or other 
healthcare reform measures on the Combined Group’s future revenues and operations at this time due to 
uncertainty regarding a number of material factors, including: (1) the number of uninsured individuals to 
ultimately obtain and retain insurance coverage as a result of the ACA, (2) the percentage of any newly 
insured patients covered by Medicaid versus a commercial plan, (3) the pace at which insurance coverage 
expands, (4) future changes in the reimbursement rates and methods, (5) the percentage of individuals in 
the health insurance exchanges who select the high deductible plans, (6) the extent to which the enhanced 
program integrity and fraud and abuse provisions lead to a greater number of civil or criminal actions, (7) 
the extent to which the ACA tightens health insurers’ profits, causing the plans to reduce reimbursement 
rates, (8) the extent of lost revenues, if any, resulting from ACA quality initiatives, (9) the success of any 
clinical integration efforts or programs in which the Combined Group participates, and (10) changes in 
the implementation of provisions of the ACA by the Trump administration. 

The Combined Group receives almost all of its revenues from government and managed care 
payors who are likely to continue to seek to reduce what they pay to the Combined Group. 

The members of the Combined Group strive to be paid appropriately for the services they 
provide, but third-party payors continue to require or ask them to accept lower rates of payment even as 
medical costs continue to rise. 

The Combined Group receives a substantial portion of its revenues from the Medicare and 
Medicaid programs.  For example, 56.7% of the Combined Group’s fiscal year 2018 total gross patient 
charges came from Medicare and Medicaid.  Medicare is a federal health insurance system established in 
1965.  Under Medicare, the federal government pays physicians, hospitals and other providers for 
services provided to eligible elderly and disabled persons.  Medicare consists of four parts: Part A, which 
covers inpatient hospital, skilled nursing, hospice and certain home health agency services; Part B, which 
covers hospital outpatient, physician, diagnostic, certain home health and other services furnished by non-
hospital providers and hospital outpatient departments; Part C, also known as “Medicare Advantage,” 
which provides Medicare coverage through a managed care model; and Part D, which makes certain 
prescription drug plans available to Medicare beneficiaries. 

Medicaid is a joint federal-state program administered by the states that provides hospital and 
medical benefits to qualifying individuals who are unable to afford health care.  Under Medicaid, the 
federal government provides grants to states that have medical assistance programs that are consistent 
with (or have secured waivers from) federal standards.   

Because the federal government funds the Medicare program and participates in the Medicaid 
program, the rapidly rising cost of health care has put pressure on the federal budget.  In addition to 
ongoing and future payment reform measures resulting from the ACA and other health care reform 
efforts, the Medicare and Medicaid programs are subject to: (1) other statutory and regulatory changes, 
administrative rulings, interpretations and determinations concerning patient eligibility requirements, 
funding levels, and the method of calculating payments or reimbursement rates, (2) requirements for 
utilization review, and (3) federal and state funding restrictions.  Any of these factors could materially 
decrease payments from these government programs in the future.  Additionally, such factors may affect 
the cost of providing services to patients and the timing of reimbursement.  Any resulting material 
adverse effect to the Combined Group’s business or financial condition could be exacerbated if Novant is 
not able to effectively manage operating costs. 
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The State of North Carolina and the Commonwealth of Virginia have sought, and may in the 
future seek, one or more “State Medicaid Waivers” from the federal government.  A State Medicaid 
Waiver is a request that the federal government waive certain Medicaid program requirements so that the 
state can test new ways to deliver or pay for care in its Medicaid program.   

The changes proposed in the waiver application submitted by the State of North Carolina would 
transition North Carolina’s Medicaid program from a largely fee-for-service system to a system based on 
capitated contracts operated by prepaid health plans.  The prepaid health plans will include both 
commercial plans and “provider-led entities.”  The initial capitated contracts may be awarded on 
staggered terms of three to five years, to prevent gaps in coverage if a contract is terminated.  
Implementation of the new managed care approach is currently targeted to begin in the fourth quarter of 
2019.  The State of North Carolina has made public, through the proposal process, its intent to mandate 
certain “rate floors” for hospitals during the first three years of Medicaid managed care.  In February 
2019, the State of North Carolina announced the four entities who have received statewide contracts to 
participate as prepaid health plans in the North Carolina Managed Medicaid Program:  AmeriHealth 
Caritas North Carolina, Inc., Blue Cross and Blue Shield of North Carolina, UnitedHealthcare of North 
Carolina, Inc. and WellCare of North Carolina, Inc.  One provider-led entity, Carolina Complete Health, 
was awarded a regional contract.   

As part of its Medicaid expansion, the Commonwealth of Virginia will apply for a waiver in 
order to impose non-standard requirements on enrollees, such as work requirements for able-bodied 
adults, and to impose assessments on private acute care hospitals in amounts calculated to cover part of 
the non-federal share of the cost of Medicaid expansion.  Novant cannot predict whether such request will 
be approved or otherwise move forward, as the legality of State Medicaid Waiver work requirements are 
currently in doubt.  On June 29, 2018, a U.S. District Court judge blocked a Medicaid work requirement 
in Kentucky as violative of the Medicaid program’s purpose of providing health care to the most 
vulnerable Americans.  If Kentucky’s work requirement is ruled unlawful after exhaustion of the judicial 
appeal process, any State Medicaid Waivers which include work requirements will likely be revoked, 
required to be altered, or not renewed.    

The North Carolina State Health Plan, a division of the N.C. Department of State Treasurer, 
provides health care coverage to more than 720,000 teachers, state employees, retirees and their 
dependents.  To attempt to reduce plan costs, the State Health Plan Board of Trustees has proposed 
changing the plan’s provider reimbursement strategy, effective January 1, 2020, from a commercial-based 
payment model to a reference-based payment model.  Providers would be reimbursed based on applicable 
Medicare rates plus a margin to Medicare at varying rates depending upon the services and location where 
such services are provided.  If this proposal is implemented, it could have a material adverse effect on the 
financial performance of the Combined Group.    

The revenues of the Combined Group may also be impacted by reductions in government 
reimbursement to other health care providers such as physicians.  For example, reductions in government 
reimbursement may lead physicians to seek additional compensation and benefits from the Combined 
Group, as well as engage in commercial ventures such as ambulatory surgery and imaging centers which 
could further increase competitive pressures on the Combined Group.  Reductions in physician 
reimbursement also could make the predicted nationwide shortage of physicians discussed below worse, 
which could result in decreased use of programs and services at the Combined Group’s facilities. 

The Combined Group also receives a substantial portion of its revenues from managed care 
payors.  For example, 33.2% of the Combined Group’s fiscal year 2018 total gross patient charges came 
from managed care payors.  Because government reimbursement does not cover the Combined Group’s 
costs of providing medical care, an even greater portion of the Combined Group’s operating income (its 
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total operating revenues minus its total operating expenses) is derived from managed care revenues.  
Managed care companies and employers also are increasing their efforts to control health care costs.  For 
example, purchasers are shifting more costs to patients and limiting what costs are covered.  The 
Combined Group believes this trend will continue and that payment increases may not keep up with costs 
and increased use of the Combined Group’s facilities.  The Combined Group’s operating income could be 
significantly reduced if increases in managed care payments do not keep up with costs. 

Further increases in the Combined Group’s volume of indigent care and uninsured and 
underinsured patients could adversely affect the Combined Group’s financial condition. 

In recent years, members of the Combined Group have increased their provisions for 
uncollectible accounts and indigent care because of higher volumes of indigent care, uninsured and 
underinsured patients.  The Combined Group believes this trend is due to a combination of broad 
economic factors, including higher unemployment levels, lack of adequate increases in state Medicaid 
budgets, increasing numbers of individuals and employers who choose not to purchase insurance and 
insurers requiring patients to pay higher co-payments and deductibles.  Additionally, many of these 
patients are being admitted through the Combined Group’s emergency departments and often require 
more costly care, resulting in higher billings, which have lower collection rates.  As discussed above, 
however, the ACA, by encouraging and mandating healthcare coverage for individuals, may reduce the 
amount of uncompensated care the Combined Group provides. 

The Combined Group receives reimbursement under the Medicaid program for care provided to 
many, but not all, of its indigent patients.  Medicaid is designed to reimburse healthcare providers such as 
the Combined Group at less than actual cost and has not kept pace in recent years with the industry’s 
rapidly rising cost of personnel, supplies and technology. 

Because the Combined Group serves a disproportionate share of low income patients with special 
needs, it has received additional Medicaid reimbursement payments from the State of North Carolina and 
the Commonwealth of Virginia.  Under these programs, the Combined Group is eligible for additional 
reimbursement payments based on the cost deficits and treatment of a disproportionate share of indigent 
patients.  The reimbursement payments are subject to final settlement based upon upper payment limits 
for Medicaid and uncompensated care.  The ACA reduced disproportionate share payments by 75% 
commencing October 1, 2013, but a portion of the 75% reduction was distributed back to hospitals based 
on the percentage of the population that remained uninsured and the amount of uncompensated care 
provided.  These payments were increased thereafter to account for the national rate of consumers who do 
not have health care insurance and are provided uncompensated care.  Commencing October 1, 2013, a 
state’s Medicaid disproportionate share hospital allotment from federal funds was also reduced.  
Elimination of, or reductions in the amount of, the Medicaid disproportionate share payments the 
Combined Group has historically received could adversely affect the results of its operations. 

The Combined Group also provides care, without charge or at discounted rates, to uninsured 
patients who meet certain criteria under the Combined Group’s charity care policy.  Key elements used to 
determine eligibility include a patient’s demonstrated inability to pay based upon family size and 
household income relative to federal income poverty guidelines.  In addition, the Combined Group’s 
policy provides discounts for any patient, relative to such patient’s income level, who experiences 
catastrophic related illnesses or injury. 

The underinsured population in North Carolina has grown due in part to the prevalence of 
agriculture and small employers in the economic base.  The underinsured include those at risk for high 
levels of out-of-pocket expenditures due to catastrophic coverage only and persons insured by plans that 
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contain high co-payments or deductibles.  Small companies and lower-wage industries are increasingly 
offering such plans as a means to control employer health costs.  

The Combined Group’s business and financial results could be adversely affected by violations of 
the extensive and complex regulations that apply to its business. 

The healthcare industry is subject to extensive federal, state and local laws and regulations.  
These laws and regulations require that hospitals meet various requirements, including those relating to 
the adequacy of medical care, equipment, personnel, physician relationships, operating policies and 
procedures, billing patients for services, filing of Medicare and Medicaid reports, payments for services 
and supplies, maintenance of adequate records, privacy, building codes and environmental protection.  It 
is, for example, illegal to offer, pay, solicit or receive a payment in return for referring, ordering, 
recommending or arranging for the referral of any product or service covered by Medicare, Medicaid or 
other government health care programs.  Current federal law also prohibits any physician from referring 
certain Medicare or Medicaid covered designated health services to a provider of such services with 
which the physician (or his/her immediate family member) has a financial relationship, unless excepted 
by statute or regulation.  These laws and regulations are extremely complex, contain numerous 
ambiguities and are subject to questions of interpretation.  The Combined Group often finds there is little 
or no clear and consistent regulatory or judicial interpretation of these laws and regulations to guide it.  
Moreover, routine modification of the laws and regulations creates additional uncertainty when trying to 
comply with applicable laws and regulations. 

If the Combined Group fails to comply with applicable laws and regulations, it could be subject 
to civil or criminal penalties, including the loss of its licenses to operate its hospitals and its ability to 
participate in the Medicare and Medicaid programs.  A determination that any member of the Combined 
Group has violated these laws, or even a public announcement that it is being investigated for possible 
violations of these laws, could harm its business reputation and materially adversely affect its business, 
financial condition, or results of operations. 

In the future, different interpretations or enforcement of these laws and regulations could result in 
allegations that some of the Combined Group’s current practices are improper or illegal or could require it 
to make changes in its facilities, equipment, personnel, services, capital expenditure programs or 
operating expenses. 

The healthcare industry is subject to regular and ongoing federal and state civil and criminal 
enforcement efforts. 

The hospital industry is subject to regular, ongoing inquiries, audits and investigations relating to 
issues such as referrals of patients, physician recruiting practices, Medicare and Medicaid cost reporting, 
coding and billing practices, physician ownership and joint ventures involving hospitals.  This includes 
the Medicare Recovery Audit Contractor Program (“RAC”) implemented by the Centers for Medicare 
and Medicaid Services to use recovery audit contractors on a contingent fee basis to identify improper 
payments for services provided to beneficiaries by various Medicare and Medicaid providers, including 
hospitals, since October 2007. 

Federal and state government agencies have engaged in coordinated civil and criminal 
enforcement efforts.  In addition, the Office of Inspector General of the United States Department of 
Health and Human Services, which is responsible for investigating fraud and abuse, and the United States 
Department of Justice periodically establish enforcement initiatives focusing on specific patient billing 
practices or other suspected areas of abuse.  To the extent that these enforcement activities are part of the 
overall effort by federal and state governments to control and reduce health care costs, the Combined 
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Group expects these enforcement activities will take on additional importance and may become more 
intense. 

The members of the Combined Group cooperate with audits, inquiries and investigations 
whenever they receive requests for information from government agencies.  Future audits, inquiries and 
investigations have the potential to result in claims and lawsuits, the results of which cannot be predicted.  
The ultimate resolution of these claims and lawsuits, individually or in the aggregate, have the potential to 
result in a material adverse effect on the businesses of the Combined Group (both in the near and long 
term), financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 

The revocation or loss of exemptions from income, franchise, sales and property taxation could 
materially adversely affect the financial condition of the Combined Group. 

Certain members of the Combined Group are exempt from federal income taxation because they 
have been determined to be charitable nonprofit organizations described in Section 501(c)(3) of the 
Internal Revenue Code.  The members of the Combined Group that have such federal tax-exempt status 
and are qualified to do business in North Carolina also are exempt from North Carolina income and 
franchise taxation and receive refunds of certain North Carolina sales and use taxes, and the property used 
by such members of the Combined Group for charitable hospital purposes is exempt from North Carolina 
ad valorem property taxation.  The members of the Combined Group that have such federal tax-exempt 
status and are qualified to do business in Virginia also are exempt from Virginia income taxation and 
from certain Virginia sales and use taxes, and the property used by such members of the Combined Group 
for charitable hospital purposes is exempt from Virginia ad valorem property taxation. 

The federal tax-exempt status of these members of the Combined Group is subject to audit by the 
Internal Revenue Service.  If an audit reveals that any of these members of the Combined Group has 
violated the provisions of federal tax law applicable to tax-exempt organizations, the IRS could assess 
monetary penalties against, or revoke the tax-exempt status of, such member of the Combined Group.  A 
loss of federal tax-exempt status would be likely to materially adversely affect the financial condition of 
the Combined Group. 

In recent years the federal and state governments have begun to scrutinize the amount of tax 
benefits received by charitable nonprofit hospitals in light of the amount of community benefits provided 
by such organizations.  As described above under “The impact of national healthcare reform on the 
Combined Group is uncertain,” the ACA imposes additional requirements for tax-exempt hospitals, 
including obligations to conduct a community needs assessment every three years and adopt an 
implementation strategy to meet those identified needs.  The passage or adoption of additional laws or 
regulations requiring the members of the Combined Group to increase the amount of community benefits 
they provide, revoking their exemptions from income, franchise, sales or property taxation in whole or in 
part, or placing additional restrictions on tax-exempt bonds issued for their benefit, could materially 
adversely affect the financial condition of the Combined Group. 

The Combined Group’s business could be adversely affected by the rising cost and decreasing 
availability of malpractice and general liability insurance. 

In recent years, the dollar amounts being sought and recovered in malpractice and general 
liability suits have increased nationwide, resulting in substantial increases in malpractice and general 
liability insurance premiums.  The Combined Group’s insurance costs have increased over the past 
several years. 
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The Combined Group self-insures portions of professional and general liability coverage and 
maintains excess loss policies for professional and general liability coverage.  The Combined Group 
funds its self-insurance program annually based upon actuarial estimates.  These estimates are based on a 
number of factors, including amount and timing of historical payments, severity of individual cases, 
anticipated volume of services provided and discount rates for future cash flows.  Changes in these factors 
resulting in increases in these estimates could adversely affect the Combined Group’s business. 

The excess professional and general liability insurance the Combined Group purchases is subject 
to policy aggregate limitations.  If such policy aggregate limitations are partially or fully exhausted in the 
future, or actual payments of claims materially exceed projected estimates of claims, its business, 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows could be materially adversely affected. 

Physicians, including those who practice at the Combined Group’s facilities, face significant and 
sometimes prohibitive increases in malpractice insurance premiums and limitations on availability, which 
could cause those physicians to limit their practices.  That, in turn, could reduce use of programs and 
services at the Combined Group’s facilities. 

The nationwide shortage of nurses and other skilled technicians and the predicted future shortage 
of physicians could adversely affect the Combined Group’s costs and its ability to operate its 
business. 

In recent years, the hospital industry has suffered from an increasing scarcity of nurses and some 
skilled clinicians to staff its facilities.  Factors underlying this industry trend include an increase in the 
proportion of the population that is elderly, an increase in the tendency to institutionalize senior citizens 
as opposed to providing nursing care in the home, a decrease in the number of persons entering the 
nursing profession and an increase in the number of nurses specializing in home health care.  These 
factors may intensify in years to come, aggravating the shortage of skilled personnel. 

Because of this nationwide shortage of nurses and skilled technicians, the Combined Group may 
need to pay higher than anticipated salaries to such personnel or to hire such personnel on a temporary 
basis through outside agencies at a higher cost.  As competition for such employees intensifies, staffing 
shortages could have the continued effect of significantly increasing the Combined Group’s personnel 
costs and could have a material adverse effect on the financial results of the Combined Group and on its 
ability to sustain minimum staffing levels necessary to maintain licensure, certification and accreditation.  
Although the Combined Group has achieved adequate nurse and skilled technician staffing levels to date 
through the use of employed and contract personnel, there is no assurance that qualified candidates will 
be available to the Combined Group in the future. 

Over the next ten to twenty years, a nationwide shortage of physicians is expected to emerge as a 
result of several factors, including increases in the general population, the additional amount of health 
care needed for an aging population (particularly the so-called “baby boomers”), more physicians 
reaching retirement age and the expansion of health care coverage resulting from the ACA described 
above.  Medical schools across the country are being encouraged to increase enrollment to combat this 
expected shortage.  A future shortage of physicians in the Combined Group’s service area could reduce 
use of programs and services at the Combined Group’s facilities and materially adversely affect its 
financial condition. 
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The Combined Group may not be able to offer new services, facilities or equipment without a 
certificate of need. 

The State of North Carolina and the Commonwealth of Virginia have adopted certificate of need 
laws that regulate various types of activities and expenditures made by or on behalf of health facilities 
including hospitals.  The purpose of certificate of need laws is to prevent unnecessary duplication of 
expensive health care services and equipment in an effort to contain health care costs.  Before undertaking 
certain types of activities or expenditures, the Combined Group is required to obtain a certificate of need.  
The Combined Group cannot assure you that it will receive certificates of need for future activities.  The 
failure to receive certificates of need could have an adverse effect on the Combined Group’s business.   

Although the certificate of need laws limit the Combined Group’s ability to offer new services, 
facilities or equipment, they also limit the ability of other healthcare providers to do so.  If the certificate 
of need laws were repealed and all healthcare providers were free to offer new services, facilities or 
equipment without regard to need or cost and without being required to treat all patients regardless of 
ability to pay, the Combined Group’s business could be adversely affected. 

The loss of currently held licenses, certifications or accreditations could adversely affect the 
operations or financial condition of the Combined Group. 

On a regular basis, health facilities are subject to numerous legal, regulatory, professional and 
private licensing, certification and accreditation requirements.  These include, but are not limited to, 
requirements relating to state licensing agencies, private payors and The Joint Commission.  Renewal and 
continuance of certain of these licenses, certifications and accreditations are based on inspections, 
surveys, audits, investigations or other reviews, some of which may require or include affirmative action 
or response by the facility.  These activities generally are conducted in the normal course of business of 
health facilities.  The loss of any currently held licenses, certifications or accreditations could result in a 
reduction in third-party payments that would materially adversely affect the operations or financial 
condition of the Combined Group. 

The members of the Combined Group face a variety of risks associated with being large employers. 

Hospitals are major employers, combining a mix of professional, quasi-professional, technical, 
clerical, housekeeping, maintenance, dietary and other types of workers in a single operation.  The 
members of the Combined Group bear a wide variety of risks in connection with their employees.  These 
risks include strikes and other related work actions, contract disputes, discrimination claims, personal tort 
actions, work-related injuries, exposure to hazardous materials, interpersonal torts (such as between 
employees, between physicians or management and employees, or between employees and patients), and 
other risks that may flow from the relationships between employer and employee or between physicians, 
patients and employees.  Many of these risks are not covered by insurance, and certain of them cannot be 
anticipated or prevented in advance. 

None of the employees of the Combined Group is represented by a labor union, and management 
of the members of the Combined Group is not aware of any efforts by any labor union to organize any 
employees of the members of the Combined Group.  Health care facilities, however, have been subjected 
to an increasing amount of union organizational efforts.  Unionization of the Combined Group’s 
employees could have an adverse effect on the Combined Group’s financial condition. 
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The Combined Group is obligated to pay debt service on variable rate bonds that are subject to 
certain risks. 

The Combined Group has approximately $234 million in outstanding variable rate bonds, which 
represent approximately 17.0% of its total outstanding debt as of the date of this official statement.  These 
variable rate bonds are described in more detail in Appendix A and in Note 13 to the financial statements 
included in Appendix B. 

All of the Combined Group’s variable rate bonds expose the Combined Group to two primary 
risks: 

 “interest rate risk” – the risk that the interest rate on the variable rate bonds will increase, 
and 

 “bank renewal risk” – the risk that the existing bank liquidity support for, or ownership 
of, the Combined Group’s variable rate bonds will not be able to be renewed or replaced 
on reasonable terms.  

The 2004A Bonds and the 2004B Bonds are variable rate demand bonds that bear interest at a 
rate that is reset weekly by the remarketing agent for such series at the lowest rate necessary to enable 
them to be remarketed at par; however, based on market conditions, the interest rate on these bonds can 
increase to a maximum of 12%.  The 2008A Bonds, the 2008B Bonds and the 2008C Bonds, which were 
privately placed with banks for specified holding periods, bear interest at a percentage of the one-month 
London Interbank Offered Rate plus a fixed spread.  There is no limit on the interest rate on these bonds 
while they are held by the banks.  To attempt to manage the interest rate risk on these variable rate bonds, 
Novant has entered into certain interest rate swaps. 

The 2004A Bonds and the 2004B Bonds are subject to optional tender by the holders on seven 
days’ notice.  To obtain the most favorable interest rates on the 2004A Bonds and the 2004B Bonds, 
Novant has entered into standby bond purchase agreements (which are referred to as “SBPAs” or 
“liquidity facilities”) with highly-rated banks pursuant to which such banks have agreed, subject to the 
terms and conditions of the liquidity facilities, to purchase tendered bonds that are not remarketed.  
Because banks are only willing to enter into SBPAs for a limited period of time, Novant must regularly 
renew or replace these facilities.  Because the 2008A Bonds, the 2008B Bonds and the 2008C Bonds are 
subject to tender by the banks at the end of their specified holding periods, Novant must regularly extend 
the existing banks’ holding periods or find replacement banks.  To manage bank renewal risk, Novant 
seeks to renew or replace bank facilities or purchases as far in advance as reasonable of stated expiration 
dates or holding periods.  Novant has been able to renew or replace bank facilities and purchases on 
reasonable terms; however, there is no assurance that Novant will continue to be able to do so. 

Because the Combined Group’s variable rate demand bonds are subject to optional tender on 
seven days’ notice and must be supported by credit or liquidity facilities from highly rated banks, the 
2004A Bonds and the 2004B Bonds expose the Combined Group to certain other risks: 

 “remarketing risk” – the risk that the remarketing agent will not be able to remarket the 
bonds on the tender date, which could occur as a result of general market conditions or 
disruptions, a material adverse change in the Combined Group’s financial condition (e.g., 
evidenced by a reduction in its long-term debt ratings) or if the bank providing the SBPA 
is downgraded; and 
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 “bank downgrade risk” – the risk that the credit ratings of the bank providing the SBPA 
will be downgraded, which could result in higher interest rates or a failed remarketing. 

If the 2004A Bonds or the 2004B Bonds cannot be remarketed and are purchased pursuant to the 
SBPAs, they will bear interest at higher rates and will be subject to being repaid on an accelerated basis 
until they can be remarketed.  There is no assurance that the 2004A Bonds or 2004B Bonds will be able to 
be remarketed after they are purchased pursuant to a SBPA.   

The Combined Group has been able to obtain and maintain SBPAs from highly rated banks to 
support its variable rate demand bonds; however, there is no assurance that the Combined Group will 
continue to be able to do so. 

The Combined Group’s tax-exempt variable rate bonds are hedged with interest rate swaps, which 
expose the Combined Group to additional risks.  

The Combined Group has approximately $234 million of outstanding tax-exempt variable rate 
bonds that are hedged with interest rate swaps.  These interest rate swaps are described in more detail in 
Appendix A and in Note 15 to the financial statements included in Appendix B. 

Novant entered into these interest rate swaps to attempt to manage the interest rate risk on the 
Combined Group’s tax-exempt variable rate bonds; however, being a party to these swap agreements 
exposes Novant to additional risks, including: 

 “basis risk” – the risk that floating rate payments received by Novant under the swap 
agreements will be less than the interest payments the Combined Group will be required 
to make on the related variable rate bonds, 

 
 “tax risk” – the risk that a decrease in marginal income tax rates will affect the 

relationship between the SIFMA Municipal Swap Index, which is an index based on tax-
exempt variable rate obligations, and the London Interbank Offered Rate, which is a 
taxable lending rate, and result in reduced cash flows to Novant,  

 
 “termination risk” – the risk that the swap agreements will terminate at a point in time 

when Novant would be required to make a termination payment to the swap providers, 
and 

 
 “credit risk” – the risk that the swap agreements will terminate at a point in time when 

Novant is entitled to receive a termination payment from the swap providers that the 
swap providers do not pay.  

 
To reduce the interest rate risk and bank renewal risk associated with its tax-exempt variable rate 

bonds described above, the Combined Group may from time to time desire to refinance all or some of its 
variable rate bond debt with fixed rate debt.  While the interest rate swap agreements relating to the 
Combined Group’s tax-exempt variable rate bonds described above do not have collateral posting 
requirements, such agreements are subject to certain early termination provisions under which one or 
more of the transactions may be terminated prior to their respective stated maturity dates.  Upon 
termination, Novant or the swap provider may owe a termination payment to the other, depending upon 
market conditions and the events that cause the termination.  The ability of the Combined Group to 
restructure its variable rate bonds may be limited if it will be required to make substantial swap 
termination payments.  
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Construction delays could adversely affect revenues from the facilities operated by the Combined 
Group. 

Proceeds of the Bonds will be used in part for several substantial construction projects.  While the 
members of the Combined Group believe that funds available will be sufficient to cover all costs of 
constructing and equipping such projects, delays in the construction and/or completion of such projects 
may impose financial burdens on the members of the Combined Group and reduce revenue produced by 
the facilities of the members of the Combined Group. 

Costly Information Technology, Electronic Medical Record System, or Medical Technology 
Upgrades May be Required by Law or Otherwise Necessary to Remain Competitive. 

The ability to adequately price and bill health care services and to accurately report financial 
results depends on the operability of a health care provider’s electronic medical record (which we refer to 
as “EMR”) system and other information technology (which we refer to as “IT”) systems, and the 
integrity of the data stored within such systems.  EMR and IT systems require an ongoing commitment of 
significant resources to maintain and protect existing systems and to develop new systems to keep pace 
with evolving regulatory standards and technological advances.  There can be no assurance that such 
efforts will be successful or that operational or regulatory issues will not arise.  From time to time health 
care providers may choose to upgrade or change EMR systems.  Any such upgrades or changes have the 
potential to disrupt operations and create regulatory issues, such as data privacy issues.   

Medical discoveries and advancements, including the development of new drugs, devices or 
procedures also may add significantly to the Combined Group’s cost of providing services, requiring 
costly new medical technology with no or little offsetting increase in reimbursement from private or 
governmental payors.  Moreover, medical advancements also may render obsolete certain health care 
services, thereby either increasing expense or reducing revenues.  The implementation of new medical 
technology cannot be predicted but may have a material adverse effect on the Combined Group’s business 
or financial condition. 

Unanticipated Catastrophic Events Could Adversely Affect Revenues. 

Cyber Attacks.  The Combined Group relies on IT systems, including EMR systems, to process, 
transmit and store sensitive and confidential data, including personally identifiable information of its 
patients and employees, and proprietary and confidential business performance data.  Although Novant 
routinely monitors and tests the security of its IT systems and processes and implements appropriate 
security measures, IT systems are often subject to computer viruses, cyber-attacks by hackers, or breaches 
due to employee error or malfeasance.  Cyber-attacks specifically targeting health systems have been 
occurring more frequently.  Any breach or cyber-attack that compromises patient data could result in 
negative press and substantial fines or penalties for violation of the Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability Act or similar state privacy laws that may harm the Combined Group’s business or 
financial condition.  Although Novant is not currently aware of having experienced a material security 
breach, the Combined Group’s IT security measures may not be sufficient to prevent cyber-attacks in the 
future.  As cybersecurity threats continue to evolve, the Combined Group may not be able to anticipate 
certain attack methods in order to implement effective protective measures, and may be required to 
expend significant additional resources to continue to modify and strengthen security measures, 
investigate and remediate identifiable vulnerabilities, or invest in new technology designed to mitigate 
security risks.  Additionally, the Combined Group’s IT systems routinely interface with and rely on third 
party systems that are also subject to the risks outlined above and may not have or use appropriate 
controls to protect confidential information.  A breach or attack affecting a third-party service provider 
could harm the Combined Group’s business or financial condition.  Although the Combined Group has 
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insurance against some cyber risks and attacks, it may not be sufficient to offset the full impact of a 
material loss event. 

Facility Damage.  Health care facilities are highly dependent on the condition and functionality of 
their physical facilities.  Damage from natural causes, severe weather, fire, deliberate acts of destruction, 
terrorism or various facility system failures may have a material adverse impact on the Combined 
Group’s business and financial condition, especially if insurance is inadequate to cover resulting property 
and business losses.   

Infectious Disease Outbreak.  If an outbreak of an infectious disease such as influenza, the Zika 
virus or Ebola virus were to occur nationally or in the Combined Group’s service area, its business or 
financial condition could be adversely affected.  The treatment of a highly contagious disease at one of 
the Combined Group’s facilities may result in a temporary shutdown or diversion of patients.  In addition, 
unaffected individuals may decide to defer elective procedures or otherwise avoid medical treatment, 
resulting in reduced patient volumes and operating revenues.   

DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS 

The following summary of certain provisions of the Trust Agreement and the Loan Agreement 
does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, all the 
provisions of the Trust Agreement and the Loan Agreement. 

Denominations, Principal, Maturity, Interest, Payments and Book-Entry Only System 

We will issue the Bonds as registered bonds in denominations of $5,000 or any whole multiple 
thereof.   

The Bonds will be dated the date of their original delivery.  Interest on each Bond will accrue 
from that original delivery date or, in the case of any Bond authenticated after the original delivery date, 
from the most recent interest payment date or from the date to which interest has been paid if any bond 
interest is in default.   

Interest on the Bonds will be paid on each May 1 and November 1, beginning November 1, 2019 
(each of which we refer to as an “Interest Payment Date”), at the rates set forth on the inside cover page 
of this official statement.  Such interest will be paid to each person in whose name a Bond is registered at 
the close of business on each April 15 and October 15 (each of which we refer to as a “Regular Record 
Date”).  The Bonds will mature, subject to the redemption provisions set forth below, on November 1 in 
the years and amounts set forth on the inside cover page of this official statement. 

Any interest on a Bond that is not paid on time will be considered defaulted interest and will 
cease to be payable to the person who is the registered owner of the Bond as of a Regular Record Date.  
Such defaulted interest will be paid to the person in whose name the Bond is registered as of a special 
record date or in any other lawful manner determined by us in accordance with the Trust Agreement.  

All Bonds will be registered initially in the name of Cede & Co, as nominee of The Depository 
Trust Company (which we refer to as “DTC”).  You should review Appendix E for information about 
payment of principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds while the DTC book-
entry only system is in effect.  If the book-entry only system is ever discontinued,  
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 the principal or redemption price of the Bonds will be payable upon presentation and 
surrender thereof at the corporate trust office of the Bond Trustee for delivery of Bonds, 
and  

 interest will be paid by check mailed by the Bond Trustee (or by wire transfer of 
immediately available funds if so requested by a registered owner of at least $1,000,000 
of Bonds) to the registered owners of the Bonds on the Regular Record Date. 

Redemption 

Optional Redemption.  Novant may direct us to redeem the Bonds in whole or in part on any date 
on or after November 1, 2029, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds 
to be redeemed, plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

Mandatory Redemption.  We must redeem the Bonds maturing on November 1, 2049 and bearing 
interest at the rate of 4.00% per annum in part by lot on November 1 in the years and amounts set forth 
below at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed, plus 
accrued interest to the redemption date: 

Year Amount 
2047 $38,525,000 
2048 40,015,000 

  2049* 41,155,000 
  

*Final maturity. 

We must redeem the Bonds maturing on November 1, 2049 and bearing interest at the rate of 
3.125% per annum in part by lot on November 1 in the years and amounts set forth below at a redemption 
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest to the 
redemption date: 

Year Amount 
2047 $7,895,000 
2048 8,195,000 

  2049* 8,910,000 
  

*Final maturity. 

We must redeem the Bonds maturing on November 1, 2052 in part by lot on November 1 in the 
years and amounts set forth below at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 
Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest to the redemption date: 

Year Amount 
2050 $51,990,000 
2051 54,070,000 

  2052* 56,230,000 
  

*Final maturity. 

Before the 45th day preceding each November 1, the Bond Trustee may apply the amounts 
accumulated for each mandatory sinking fund redemption of the Bonds to the purchase of such Bonds at a 
price (including any brokerage and other charges) not exceeding the principal amount thereof, plus 
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accrued interest to the date of purchase.  If the principal amount of the Bonds so purchased exceeds the 
amount of the Bonds required to be redeemed on the following November 1, future sinking fund 
payments may be reduced by the amount of such excess in the years and amounts designated by Novant. 

Extraordinary Redemption. 

Insurance Proceeds and Condemnation Awards.  Novant may direct us to redeem Bonds, in whole 
or in part on any date at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be 
redeemed, plus accrued interest to the redemption date, from amounts received by Novant as insurance 
proceeds or condemnation awards after the occurrence of any of the following events to all or any part of 
any portion of the property owned by any member of the Combined Group constituting land, buildings or 
equipment: 

 damage or destruction by fire or casualty, or 

 loss of title or use as a result of the failure of title or eminent domain proceedings or 
proceedings in lieu thereof,  

if such damage, destruction, loss of title or loss of use causes such land, building or equipment to be 
impracticable to operate, as evidenced by an officer’s certificate filed with the Bond Trustee and us.  

Change of Law.  Novant may direct us to redeem Bonds, in whole on any date at a redemption 
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest to the 
redemption date, upon the occurrence of any of the following events: 

 changes in the Constitution of the United States of America or of the State of North 
Carolina, or  

 legislative or administrative action, or failure of administrative action by the United 
States of America or the State of North Carolina or any agency or political subdivision of 
either, or 

 any judicial decision, 

but only to such extent that, in the opinions of the Board of Trustees of Novant and an independent 
management consultant, both filed with us and the Bond Trustee, (i) the Loan Agreement is impossible to 
perform without unreasonable delay or (ii) unreasonable burdens or excessive liabilities not being 
imposed as of the date of the Loan Agreement are imposed on Novant.  

Selection of Bonds to be Redeemed.  If less than all of the outstanding Bonds are to be called for 
optional redemption or extraordinary redemption, the maturities to be redeemed shall be selected by  
Novant.  If less than all of the Bonds within a maturity are to be called for redemption, selection of the 
Bonds to be redeemed shall be made pursuant to DTC’s procedures if the book-entry only system is in 
effect and shall be made by the Bond Trustee by lot otherwise. 

Notice of Redemption.  The Bond Trustee will give notice of any redemption to all registered 
owners of Bonds being redeemed at least 30 days, and no more than 60 days, before the date of 
redemption.  Failure to send a redemption notice to any registered owner or any defect in any notice 
mailed will not affect the redemption of the Bonds of any other registered owner.  While the book-entry 
only system is in effect, all redemption notices will be sent to DTC as discussed in Appendix E.  



 

33 

Conditional Redemption.  In the case of any optional redemption, the redemption notice may state 
that  

 it is conditioned on the deposit with the Bond Trustee, no later than the redemption date, 
of moneys, “Defeasance Obligations” or a combination of both sufficient to pay the 
redemption price of the Bonds to be redeemed, or  

 Novant retains the right to rescind such notice on or prior to the scheduled redemption 
date. 

If such moneys or Defeasance Obligations are not deposited or the notice is rescinded, such notice and 
optional redemption shall not be effective and the Bonds to be redeemed will remain outstanding.  If the 
redemption does not occur, the Bond Trustee will promptly give notice by electronic means to DTC. 

Effect of Calling for Redemption.  If on the redemption date the Bond Trustee holds money, 
“Defeasance Obligations” or a combination of both sufficient to pay the redemption price of the Bonds to 
be redeemed, plus accrued interest to the redemption date, in trust for the registered owners of the Bonds 
to be redeemed, then interest on such Bonds will cease to accrue and such Bonds will no longer be 
deemed to be outstanding or secured under the Trust Agreement.  Furthermore, the registered owners of 
such Bonds will have no rights with respect thereto except to receive payment of the redemption price 
plus accrued interest to the redemption date.   

“Defeasance Obligations” are limited to certain types of investments as described in Appendix C 
under the heading “DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS.” 

Registration, Transfer and Exchange 

If the book-entry only system is in effect, transfers and exchanges will occur as described in 
Appendix E.   

If the book-entry only system is not in effect, a registered owner may transfer or exchange Bonds 
in accordance with the Trust Agreement.  A registered owner must furnish an appropriate assignment to 
the Bond Trustee in connection with any transfer or exchange.  We and the Bond Trustee may require the 
registered owner requesting exchange or transfer to pay a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other 
governmental charge imposed in connection with such exchange or transfer. 

Neither the Bond Trustee nor we are required to transfer or exchange any Bond that has been 
selected for redemption in whole or in part.  Moreover, neither the Bond Trustee nor we are required to 
issue, transfer or exchange Bonds within 15 days before the date of mailing a notice of redemption of 
Bonds. 

Acceleration 

The principal of the Bonds may be accelerated if an event of default under the Trust Agreement 
occurs, including our failure to pay the principal of or interest on the outstanding Bonds when due and 
payable.  For a description of the events of default and the circumstances under which acceleration may 
occur and other remedies available to the Bond Trustee and the registered owners of the Bonds, you 
should read “SUMMARY OF THE TRUST AGREEMENT—Events of Default” and “—Remedies on 
Default” in Appendix C. 
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PLAN OF FINANCE 

Novant will use the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to 

 finance part of the cost of the Project,  

 refund the 2017 Bank Revolving Credit Facility, and 

 pay certain expenses of issuing the Bonds.  

The Project consists of  

 constructing and equipping a replacement Novant Health Charlotte Orthopedic Hospital 
in Charlotte, North Carolina, consisting of approximately 32 inpatient beds;  

 constructing and equipping additions to Novant Health Clemmons Medical Center in 
Clemmons, North Carolina, consisting of approximately 36 new inpatient beds and three 
operating rooms;  

 constructing and equipping a new health care facility to be known as Novant Health Mint 
Hill Medical Center in Charlotte, North Carolina, consisting of approximately 36 
inpatient beds, four operating rooms, an endoscopy room, an emergency room and 
laboratory facilities;  

 constructing and equipping a two-story addition to Novant Health Matthews Medical 
Center in Matthews, North Carolina;  

 renovating and equipping multiple floors and the roof at the Novant Health Presbyterian 
Medical Center in Charlotte, North Carolina, including the adolescent behavioral health 
unit and the behavioral health gym;  

 constructing and equipping an expansion of the Novant Health Huntersville Medical 
Center in Huntersville, North Carolina, including approximately 48 inpatient beds, an 
operating room and additional parking; and 

 acquiring and installing medical, computer, office and capital equipment for use at 
Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center, Novant Health Huntersville Medical Center, 
Novant Health Matthews Medical Center, Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center and 
Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center.  

Novant has received all required certificates of need for the Project from the State of North 
Carolina. 

You can find additional information about the Project in Appendix A under the heading 
“FINANCIAL AND UTILIZATION INFORMATION – Capital Projects to be Financed with Proceeds 
from the Bonds.” 

On the date of delivery of the Bonds, a portion of the proceeds of the Bonds will be applied, 
together with other funds, to refund the 2017 Bank Revolving Credit Facility. 
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ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 

The estimated sources and uses of funds in connection with the plan of finance are as follows: 

Sources  

Par Amount of Bonds ..............................................................  $306,985,000 
 Plus net original issue premium ...................................... 20,583,106 
Novant Equity Contribution .................................................... 22,700,000 

TOTAL SOURCES OF FUNDS.............................................  $350,268,106 

Uses  
Costs of the Project .................................................................  $212,700,000 
Refunding of 2017 Bank Revolving Credit Facility ............... 135,000,000 
Costs of Issuance1.................................................................... 2,568,106 

TOTAL USES OF FUNDS .....................................................  $350,268,106 

   
  

____________________ 
 
1 Includes underwriters’ discount, legal fees and expenses, trustee fees and expenses, rating agency 

fees, printing costs and other costs of issuance of the Bonds. 
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ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 

The following table sets forth, for each fiscal year of Novant ending December 31, beginning 
with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019, through and including the fiscal year ending December 
31, 2052, total debt service on the Bonds and all other long-term debt of the Combined Group.  In some 
cases, totals in the following table may not foot due to rounding.  

Fiscal Year 
Ending 

December 31, 

The Bonds5 
Other Long 

Term Debt1,2,3,4 
Total Debt 

Service Principal Interest Total 
2019 -     $    3,685,199   $    3,685,199  $   61,922,569  $     65,607,768 
2020  -     12,060,650   12,060,650  63,214,460  75,275,110 
2021 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  59,507,260  71,567,910 
2022 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  61,259,404  73,320,054 
2023 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  62,369,326  74,429,976 
2024 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  62,320,387  74,381,037 
2025 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  59,831,664  71,892,314 
2026 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  59,956,564  72,017,214 
2027 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  60,787,071  72,847,721 
2028 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  60,698,869  72,759,519 
2029 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  60,758,297  72,818,947 
2030 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  60,593,150  72,653,800 
2031 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  60,503,251  72,563,901 
2032 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  60,388,432  72,449,082 
2033 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  60,243,850  72,304,500 
2034 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  56,929,835  68,990,485 
2035 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  35,819,825  47,880,475 
2036 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  35,818,750  47,879,400 
2037 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  35,814,438  47,875,088 
2038 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  35,796,050  47,856,700 
2039 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  36,027,063  48,087,713 
2040 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  75,335,000  87,395,650 
2041 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  75,331,438  87,392,088 
2042 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  75,340,313  87,400,963 
2043 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  325,335,138  337,395,788 
2044 -    12,060,650   12,060,650  64,412,100  76,472,750 
2045 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  64,407,700  76,468,350 
2046 -     12,060,650   12,060,650  64,403,750  76,464,400 
2047  $  46,420,000   12,060,650   58,480,650  -  58,480,650 
2048  48,210,000   10,272,931   58,482,931  -  58,482,931 
2049  50,065,000   8,416,238   58,481,238  -  58,481,238 
2050  51,990,000   6,491,600   58,481,600  -  58,481,600 
2051  54,070,000   4,412,000   58,482,000  -  58,482,000 
2052  56,230,000   2,249,200   58,479,200  -  58,479,200 

Total5  $306,985,000  $373,225,367  $680,210,367  $1,895,125,954  $2,575,336,321 
    
1  See “Outstanding Bonds and Other Debt; Interest Rate Swaps” in Appendix A. Excludes the 2009A Bonds and the 2017 Bank Revolving Credit 
Facility to be repaid from proceeds of the Bonds and other available funds of Novant. 
2  There is a scheduled balloon payment of $250 million on some of the Combined Group's existing debt due in 2043. Although this balloon 
payment is represented above, it is currently expected to be refinanced in advance of its actual due date, although no assurances can be given that 
such refinancing will occur. 
3  Principal payments on this debt are shown in the year of maturity, or the year when scheduled mandatory redemption is required, as the case 
may be. Novant’s variable rate demand bonds are subject to optional and mandatory tender prior to maturity or scheduled redemption and, if they 
are not successfully remarketed, Novant could be required to repay or refinance this debt earlier. 
4  Interest requirements on variable rate debt are estimated. The estimated interest rates on variable rate debt range from 3.62% to 3.80%, taking 
into account the interest rate swaps that hedge Novant’s tax-exempt variable rate bonds. 
5  Totals may not foot, due to rounding. 
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

This section summarizes certain provisions of the Loan Agreement and does not purport to be 
complete.  It is subject to, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, all the provisions of the Loan 
Agreement. 

Annual Information 

For the benefit of the beneficial owners of the Bonds, Novant has agreed in the Loan Agreement 
to provide the following to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (which we refer to as the 
“MSRB”): 

 By not later than 120 days after the end of each fiscal year of Novant (currently 
December 31), commencing with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019, audited 
consolidated financial statements of Novant and its affiliates (accompanied, if any 
affiliate of Novant is not a member of the Combined Group, by supplementary combining  
information for Novant and its affiliates that are members of the Combined Group and, if 
any member of the Combined Group is not an affiliate of Novant for accounting 
purposes, by audited consolidated financial statements for such member of the Combined 
Group and its affiliates and supplementary combining information for such member of 
the Combined Group and its affiliates that are members of the Combined Group).  We 
refer to these financial statements as “Audited Financial Statements.”  If the Audited 
Financial Statements are not available by 120 days after the end of such fiscal year, 
Novant and any other members of the Combined Group that are not affiliates of Novant 
will provide their unaudited financial statements for such fiscal year and then replace 
them with the Audited Financial Statements within 15 days after the Audited Financial 
Statements become available for distribution. 

 By not later than 120 days after the end of each fiscal year of Novant, commencing with 
the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019, the financial and statistical data as of a date 
not earlier than the end of the preceding fiscal year for the type of information included in 
the tables under the following captions in Appendix A to this official statement, to the 
extent such items are not included in the Audited Financial Statements referred to above 
and to the extent that such information relates to the Combined Group: 

o “FINANCIAL AND UTILIZATION INFORMATION—Summary of Historical 
Utilization Information,” “– Supplemental Financial Ratios,” “– Coverage Ratio” 
and “– Third-Party Reimbursement and Sources of Payment.”  

Material Event Notices 

For the benefit of the beneficial owners of the Bonds, Novant also has agreed in the Loan 
Agreement to provide the following to the MSRB: 

 In a timely manner not in excess of ten business days after the occurrence of the event, 
notice of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds: 

o principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

o non payment related defaults, if material; 
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o unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 

o unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 

o substitution of any credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

o adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed 
or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-
TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of 
the Bonds, or other material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds;   

o modification to the rights of the beneficial owners of the Bonds, if material; 

o bond calls (except with respect to mandatory sinking redemptions), if material, 
and tender offers; 

o defeasances; 

o release, substitution or sale of any property securing repayment of the Bonds, if 
material;  

o rating changes; 

o bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of any member of the 
Obligated Group, which shall be considered to occur when any of the following 
occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for any 
member of the Obligated Group in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code 
or in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or 
governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the 
assets or business of any member of the Obligated Group, or if such jurisdiction 
has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and officials or officers 
in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental 
authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, 
arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having 
supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of any 
member of the Obligated Group; 

o the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving any 
member of the Obligated Group or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets 
of any member of the Obligated Group, other than in the ordinary course of 
business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the 
termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than 
pursuant to its terms, if material;  

o appointment of a successor or additional Bond Trustee or the change of name of 
the Bond Trustee, if material;  

o incurrence of a financial obligation (as defined below) of any member of the 
Obligated Group, if material, or agreement to covenants, events of default, 
remedies, priority rights or other similar terms of a financial obligation of a 
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member of the Obligated Group, any of which affect the beneficial owners of the 
Bonds, if material; and 

o default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other 
similar events under the terms of a financial obligation of any member of the 
Obligated Group, any of which reflect financial difficulties. 

 In a timely manner, notice of its failure to provide the required annual financial 
statements and other annual financial and statistical data described above on or before the 
date specified. 

As used above, “financial obligation” means a debt obligation, a derivative instrument entered 
into in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt 
obligation, or a guarantee of either.  The term “financial obligation” does not include municipal securities 
as to which a final official statement has been provided to the MSRB consistent with Rule 15c2-12 issued 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (which we refer to as “Rule 15c2-12”).   

Electronic and Other Methods 

Novant must provide the documents referred to above to the MSRB in an electronic format as 
prescribed by the MSRB and accompanied by identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB.  
Novant may discharge its undertakings described above by transmitting the documents referred to above 
to any entity and by any method authorized by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. 

Failure to Comply 

If Novant fails to comply with the undertaking described above, the Bond Trustee or any 
beneficial owner of any outstanding Bonds may take action to protect and enforce the rights of all 
beneficial owners with respect to such undertaking, including an action for specific performance.  If 
Novant does not cure such failure and it becomes an event of default under the Loan Agreement, the 
Bond Trustee also may exercise any other remedy available to it upon the occurrence of an event of 
default. 

On February 4, 2019, Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (which we refer to as “Moody’s”) 
upgraded the credit rating of Novant from “A1” to “Aa3.”  Novant failed to file notice of such upgrade in 
a timely manner with the MSRB.  Except as described above, Novant is not aware of any failure to 
comply in any material respect with any of its previous continuing disclosure undertakings under Rule 
15c2-12 for the previous five years.  

Modification of Undertaking 

Novant has reserved the right to modify from time to time the information to be provided to the 
extent necessary or appropriate in its judgment, provided that: 

 any such modification may only be made in connection with a change in circumstances 
that arises from a: 

o change in legal requirements,  
 
o change in law, or  
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o change in the identity, nature, or status of the Combined Group; 

 the information to be provided, as modified, would have complied with the requirements 
of Rule 15c2-12 as of the date of this official statement, after taking into account any 
amendments or interpretations of Rule 15c2-12, as well as any changes in circumstances; 
and  

 any such modification does not materially impair the interests of the beneficial owners of 
the Bonds, as determined by either the Bond Trustee or bond counsel, or by the 
approving vote of the owners of a majority in principal amount of outstanding Bonds in 
accordance with the terms of the Trust Agreement. 

If Novant’s annual financial information contains any modified operating data or financial 
information, Novant must explain, in narrative form, the reasons for the modification and the impact of 
the change in the type of operating data or financial information being provided. 

Termination of Undertaking 

The undertaking described above will terminate upon payment, or provision having been made 
for payment, in a manner consistent with Rule 15c2-12, in full of the principal of and interest on all of the 
Bonds. 

Quarterly Information 

In addition to the continuing disclosure undertaking described above, Novant has agreed in the 
Loan Agreement to provide to the MSRB, within 60 days after the end of each fiscal quarter, unaudited 
financial statements of the members of the Combined Group for such fiscal quarter and certain key 
statistics and ratios of the Combined Group, as set forth in the quarterly “Novant Health Financial and 
Statistical Report.”     

LITIGATION 

Issuer 

There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation at law or in equity before or by any 
court, public board or body pending or, to our knowledge, threatened against or affecting us in which an 
unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect 

 the transactions contemplated by, or the validity or enforceability of, the Bonds, the Trust 
Agreement or the Loan Agreement, or  

 the tax-exempt status of interest on the Bonds. 

Combined Group 

There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation at law or in equity before or by any 
court, public board or body pending or, to the best knowledge of Novant, threatened against or affecting it 
or any other member of the Combined Group in which an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would 
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 materially adversely affect the combined financial condition of the members of the 
Combined Group (except as described under “Litigation” in Appendix A hereto), 

 adversely affect the transactions contemplated by, or the validity or enforceability of, the 
Bonds, the Trust Agreement, the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture or the Series 
2019A Obligation, or 

 adversely affect the tax-exempt status of interest on the Bonds.   

LEGAL MATTERS 

The Bonds are being offered subject to the approval of their validity by Robinson, Bradshaw & 
Hinson, P.A., Charlotte, North Carolina, bond counsel.  You can find the proposed form of their 
approving opinion in Appendix D.   

Certain legal matters relating to this offering, other than the validity of the Bonds, will be passed 
upon: 

 for Novant and the other members of the Combined Group by Womble Bond Dickinson 
(US) LLP, Raleigh, North Carolina, and 

 for the underwriters by McGuireWoods LLP, New York, New York. 

TAX TREATMENT 

Opinion of Bond Counsel 

The opinion of bond counsel will state that under existing law interest on the Bonds 

 is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes, 

 is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax, and  

 is exempt from State of North Carolina income taxes.   

In rendering the foregoing opinion, bond counsel will rely on the opinion of Womble Bond 
Dickinson (US) LLP, Raleigh, North Carolina, counsel to the Combined Group, with respect to the status 
of Novant, Forsyth, Presbyterian and Presbyterian Medical Care Corp. under Section 501(c)(3) of the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (which we refer to as the “Code”).  The tax exemption of 
interest on the Bonds is dependent upon, among other things, the status of each of these members of the 
Combined Group as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, and therefore bond 
counsel’s conclusion that interest is excludable from gross income for purposes of federal income tax 
exemption is dependent, in part, upon the opinion of Womble Bond Dickinson (US) LLP. 

The Code and the regulations promulgated under the Code contain a number of requirements that 
must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds in order for interest on the Bonds to be and 
remain excludable from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation.  Examples include:   
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 the requirement that each of Novant, Forsyth, Presbyterian and Presbyterian Medical 
Care Corp. maintain its status as an organization exempt from federal income taxation by 
reason of being described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code;  

 the requirement that we rebate certain excess earnings on proceeds and amounts treated 
as proceeds of the Bonds to the United States Treasury;  

 restrictions on investment of such proceeds and other amounts; and  

 restrictions on the ownership and use of the facilities financed with proceeds of the 
Bonds.   

The foregoing is not intended to be an exhaustive listing of the post-issuance tax compliance 
requirements of the Code, but is illustrative of the requirements that must be satisfied by us, Novant and 
the other members of the Combined Group using the proceeds of the Bonds after the issuance of the 
Bonds to maintain the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from income for federal income taxation 
purposes.  Failure to comply with certain of such requirements may cause interest on the Bonds to be 
included in gross income retroactively to the date of issuance of the Bonds.  We and Novant have 
covenanted to comply with, and Novant has covenanted to cause its Restricted Affiliates to comply with, 
these requirements.  The opinion of bond counsel delivered on the date of issuance of the Bonds will be 
conditioned on the compliance with such requirements, and bond counsel has not been retained to monitor 
compliance with requirements such as those described above after the issuance of the Bonds. 

Bond counsel’s opinions are based on existing law, which is subject to change.  Such opinions are 
further based on factual representations made to bond counsel as of the date of such opinion.  Bond 
counsel assumes no duty to revise or supplement its opinions to reflect any facts or circumstances that 
may thereafter come to bond counsel’s attention, or to reflect any changes in law that may thereafter 
occur or become effective.  Moreover, bond counsel’s opinions are not a guarantee of a particular result, 
and are not binding on the Internal Revenue Service or the courts; rather, such opinions represent bond 
counsel’s professional judgment based on its review of existing law and in reliance on the representations 
and covenants that it deems relevant to such opinions. 

Original Issue Discount 

The original issue discount in the selling price of the Bond maturing on November 1, 2049 
(bearing interest at a rate of 3.125% per annum), to the extent properly allocable to each owner of such 
Bond, is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes with respect to such owner.  The 
original issue discount is the excess of the stated redemption price at maturity of such Bond over its initial 
offering price to the public, excluding underwriters and other intermediaries, at which price a substantial 
amount of the Bonds of such maturity were sold. 

Under Section 1288 of the Code, original issue discount on tax-exempt bonds accrues on a 
compound basis.  The amount of original issue discount that accrues to any owner of a Bond during any 
accrual period generally equals (1) the issue price of such Bond plus the amount of original issue discount 
accrued in all prior accrual periods, multiplied by (2) the yield to maturity of such Bond (determined on 
the basis of compounding at the close of each accrual period and properly adjusted for the length of the 
accrual period), minus (3) any interest payable on such Bond during such accrual period.   

The amount of original issue discount so accrued in a particular accrual period will  

 be considered to be received ratably on each day of the accrual period,  
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 be excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes, and  

 increase the owner’s tax basis in such Bond.   

If you purchase a Bond at an original issue discount, you should consult your tax advisors regarding the 
determination and treatment of original issue discount for federal income tax purposes, and with respect 
to state and local tax consequences of owning such Bonds. 

Premium Bonds 

The Bonds maturing on November 1 in the years 2049 (bearing interest at a rate of 4.00% per 
annum) and 2052 have been sold at initial public offering prices that are in excess of the amount payable 
at maturity.  An amount equal to the excess of the purchase price of a Bond over its stated redemption 
price at maturity constitutes premium on such Bond.  You must amortize any premium over such Bond’s 
term using constant yield principles, based on the Bond’s yield to maturity.  As premium is amortized, 
your basis in such Bond and the amount of tax-exempt interest received will be reduced by the amount of 
amortizable premium properly allocable to you.  This will result in an increase in the gain (or decrease in 
the loss) to be recognized for federal income tax purposes on sale or disposition of such Bond prior to its 
maturity.  Even though your basis is reduced, no federal income tax deduction is allowed.  If you 
purchase a Bond at a premium, whether at the time of initial issuance or after initial issuance, you should 
consult your tax advisors with respect to the determination and treatment of premium for federal income 
tax purposes, and with respect to state and local tax consequences of owning such Bonds. 

Other Tax Consequences 

You should be aware that ownership of the Bonds may result in collateral federal, state or local 
tax consequences to certain taxpayers, including, without limitation, financial institutions, property and 
casualty insurance companies, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, 
certain S corporations with “excess net passive income,” foreign corporations subject to the branch profits 
tax, life insurance companies and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued 
indebtedness to purchase or carry or have paid or incurred certain expenses allocable to the Bonds.  Bond 
counsel expresses no opinion regarding any such collateral tax consequences.  You should consult your 
tax advisors regarding collateral tax consequences 

UNDERWRITING 

The Local Government Commission of North Carolina, with our approval and Novant’s approval, 
has entered into a purchase agreement with the underwriters shown on the cover page of this official 
statement.  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the purchase agreement, the underwriters have 
agreed to purchase the Bonds at a price of $325,910,386.89 which equals the aggregate principal amount 
of the Bonds, plus net original issue premium of $20,583,105.90 and less underwriters’ discount of 
$1,657,719.01.   

The underwriters must purchase all of the Bonds if any of the Bonds are purchased.  Novant has 
agreed to indemnify us, the Local Government Commission of North Carolina and the underwriters as to 
certain matters in connection with the Bonds.    

The underwriters may offer and sell the Bonds to certain dealers (including dealer banks and 
dealers depositing the Bonds into investment trusts) and others at prices lower than the public offering 
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prices shown on the inside cover page of this official statement.  From time to time the underwriters may 
change the initial public offering prices or yields shown on the inside cover page of this official statement. 

J.P. Morgan Securities LLC (which we refer to as “JPMS”), one of the underwriters of the Bonds, 
has entered into negotiated dealer agreements (which we refer to as a “Dealer Agreement”) with each of 
Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. (which we refer to as “CS&Co.”) and LPL Financial LLC (which we refer to 
as “LPL”) for the retail distribution of certain securities offerings at the original issue prices. Pursuant to 
each Dealer Agreement, each of CS&Co. and LPL may purchase Bonds from JPMS at the original issue 
price less a negotiated portion of the selling concession applicable to any Bonds that such firm sells. 

Wells Fargo Securities is the trade name for certain securities-related capital markets and 
investment banking services of Wells Fargo & Company and its subsidiaries, including Wells Fargo 
Bank, National Association, which conducts its municipal securities sales, trading and underwriting 
operations through the Wells Fargo Bank, NA Municipal Products Group, a separately identifiable 
department of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, registered with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission as a municipal securities dealer pursuant to Section 15B(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934. 

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, acting through its Municipal Products Group (which we 
refer to as “Wells Fargo Bank”), one of the underwriters of the Bonds, has entered into an agreement 
(which we refer to as the “WFA Distribution Agreement”) with its affiliate, Wells Fargo Clearing 
Services, LLC (which we refer to as “Wells Fargo Advisors”), for the distribution of certain municipal 
securities offerings, including the Bonds.  Pursuant to the WFA Distribution Agreement, Wells Fargo 
Bank will share a portion of its underwriting compensation with respect to the Bonds with Wells Fargo 
Advisors.  Wells Fargo Bank has also entered into an agreement (which we refer to as the “WFSLLC 
Distribution Agreement”) with its affiliate, Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, for the distribution of municipal 
securities offerings, including the Bonds.  Pursuant to the WFSLLC Distribution Agreement, Wells Fargo 
Bank pays a portion of Wells Fargo Securities, LLC’s expenses based on its municipal securities 
transactions.  Wells Fargo Bank, Wells Fargo Securities, LLC and Wells Fargo Advisors are each wholly-
owned subsidiaries of Wells Fargo & Company. 

PNC Capital Markets LLC, one of the underwriters of the Bonds, may offer to sell to its affiliate, 
PNC Investments, LLC (which we refer to as “PNCI”), securities in PNC Capital Markets LLC’s 
inventory for resale to PNCI’s customers, including securities such as the Bonds.  PNC Capital Markets 
LLC may share with PNCI a portion of the fee or commission paid to PNC Capital Markets LLC if any 
Bonds are sold to customers of PNCI. 

The underwriters and their respective affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in 
various activities, which may include securities sales and trading, commercial and investment banking, 
advisory, investment management, investment research, principal investment, hedging, market making, 
brokerage and other financial and non-financial activities and services.  Certain of the underwriters and 
their respective affiliates have, from time to time, performed, and may in the future perform, various 
investment banking services for us for which they received or will receive customary fees and expenses. 

In the ordinary course of their various business activities, the underwriters and their respective 
affiliates, officers, directors and employees may purchase, sell or hold a broad array of investments and 
actively trade securities, derivatives, loans, commodities, currencies, credit default swaps and other 
financial instruments for their own account and for the accounts of their customers. Such investment and 
trading activities may involve or relate to the securities and instruments of Novant or other members of 
the Combined Group (directly, as collateral securing other obligations or otherwise) and/or to persons and 
entities with relationships with Novant or other members of the Combined Group. 
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The underwriters and their respective affiliates may also communicate independent investment 
recommendations, market color or trading ideas and/or publish or express independent research views in 
respect of such assets, securities or instruments and may at any time hold, or recommend to clients that 
they should acquire, long and/or short positions in such assets, securities and instruments. 

RATINGS 

Moody’s has assigned a rating of “Aa3” to the Bonds.  S&P Global Ratings (which we refer to as 
“S&P”) has assigned a rating of “AA-” to the Bonds.  Fitch Ratings (which we refer to as “Fitch”) has 
assigned a rating of “AA-” to the Bonds.  These ratings reflect the views of Moody’s, S&P and Fitch.  
Novant has furnished Moody’s, S&P and Fitch with certain materials and information not included in this 
official statement.   You should contact Moody’s, S&P and Fitch to obtain an explanation of the 
significance of their respective ratings. 

We cannot assure you that these ratings will remain in effect for any given period of time.  
Moody’s, S&P or Fitch may lower, suspend or withdraw its rating.  The underwriters are not obligated to 
notify you if Moody’s, S&P or Fitch lowers, suspends or withdraws its rating.  If Moody’s, S&P or Fitch 
lowers, suspends or withdraws its rating, the market price of the Bonds could be adversely affected. 

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS 

You should be aware of the following relationships among us, Novant and the other members of 
the Combined Group, and members of the financing team for the Bonds: 

 Robinson, Bradshaw & Hinson, P.A., bond counsel, has served, is serving and expects to 
serve in the future as counsel to the underwriters or their affiliates in matters unrelated to 
the Bonds.  

 McGuireWoods LLP, underwriters’ counsel, has served, is serving and expects to serve in 
the future as 

o our bond counsel for other unrelated bonds we issue,  

o counsel to Novant and other members of the Combined Group in matters 
unrelated to the Bonds, and  

o counsel to the bond trustee and the master trustee in matters unrelated to the 
Bonds. 

 Womble Bond Dickinson (US) LLP, counsel to the members of the Combined Group, has 
served, is serving or expects to serve in the future as 

o our bond counsel for other unrelated bonds we issue, and 

o counsel to the underwriters or their affiliates in matters unrelated to the Bonds. 

 PNC Capital Markets LLC is one of the underwriters for the Bonds, and its affiliate, PNC 
Bank, National Association, serves as Syndication Agent and a lender for the 2017 Bank 
Revolving Credit Facility.  You should refer to “INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY – 
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Outstanding Master Obligations” and Appendix A for more information on the 2017 
Bank Revolving Credit Facility.  Novant intends to pay the outstanding balance of the 
2017 Bank Revolving Credit Facility on the date the Bonds are issued, using 
approximately $112 million of proceeds from the issuance of the Bonds and $23 million 
of its own funds to do so.   

 One or more of the underwriters or their affiliates has served, is serving and expects to 
serve as advisor or counterparty to Novant and other members of the Combined Group in 
hedging transactions unrelated to the Bonds. 

 One or more affiliates of the underwriters have served, are serving and expect to serve as 
lenders to Novant and other members of the Combined Group in lending transactions 
unrelated to the Bonds. 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Novant has furnished all information in this official statement relating to Novant and its affiliates, 
including the other members of the Combined Group.   

Any statements in this official statement involving matters of opinion, whether or not expressly 
stated as an opinion, are intended to be opinions and not facts. 

Our staff and we assume no responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of any representation 
or statement herein except for information with respect to us included under the captions “THE ISSUER” 
and “LITIGATION—Issuer.” 

We have duly authorized the execution and delivery of, and Novant has approved, this official 
statement. 

NORTH CAROLINA MEDICAL CARE 
COMMISSION 
 
 
 
By: /s/ Joseph D. Crocker   

Joseph D. Crocker 
Vice Chairman 

Approved: 
 
NOVANT HEALTH, INC., on its own 
behalf and on behalf of the other 
members of the Combined Group 
 
 
 
By:  /s/ Fred Hargett  

Fred Hargett 
Chief Financial Officer 
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INTRODUCTION 

Novant Health, Inc. 

Novant Health, Inc. (“Novant” or “Novant Health”) is a North Carolina non-profit corporation 
created on July 1, 1997, when Carolina Medicorp, Inc. merged with and into Presbyterian Health Services 
Corp., which then changed its name to Novant Health, Inc. 

All capitalized terms used in this Appendix A, but not otherwise defined herein, have the meanings 
assigned to them in the forepart of this official statement. 

The Health System 

Novant Health and its affiliates operate an integrated health care delivery system (the “Health 
System”) that serves North Carolina, South Carolina and Virginia.  The Health System provides a full 
continuum of health care services.  In addition to acute inpatient care, the Health System also provides 
behavioral health services and outpatient services such as diagnostic imaging, outpatient surgery and 
physical, occupational and speech therapies.  To facilitate governance and management of the Health 
System, Novant divides its primary market presence into four principal geographic areas:  1) the Greater 
Winston-Salem Market, which consists of Forsyth County, North Carolina and six contiguous counties; 2) 
the Greater Charlotte Market, which consists of Mecklenburg County, North Carolina and eight contiguous 
counties; 3) the Eastern Carolina Market, which consists of Brunswick County, North Carolina and two 
contiguous counties; and 4) the Northern Virginia Market, which consists of Prince William County, 
Virginia and two contiguous counties.  In addition, Novant operates in other geographic markets, including 
Raleigh/Durham/Chapel Hill, North Carolina. 

The Health System consists of two flagship tertiary care hospitals:   

• Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center (Winston-Salem, North Carolina), and  
• Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center (Charlotte, North Carolina).   
 

The Health System’s other acute care hospitals located in North Carolina are as follows: 

• Novant Health Medical Park Hospital, 
• Novant Health Thomasville Medical Center, 
• Novant Health Kernersville Medical Center, 
• Novant Health Clemmons Medical Center, 
• Novant Health Matthews Medical Center, 
• Novant Health Huntersville Medical Center, 
• Novant Health Brunswick Medical Center, 
• Novant Health Rowan Medical Center, 
• Novant Health Charlotte Orthopedic Hospital, and 
• Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center. 
  

On January 1, 2016, Novant Health and The Rector and Visitors of the University of Virginia on 
behalf of its Medical Center formed a joint operating company (the “Novant Health-UVA Health JOC”) 
for the purpose of delivering advanced health care to northern Virginia through the operation of the assets 
of Prince William Health System (“PWHS”) and Culpeper Medical Center.  Novant Health is a 60% owner 
of the Novant Health-UVA Health JOC, with UVA Health System owning the remaining 40%.  The three 
acute care facilities located in Virginia and operated by the Novant Health-UVA Health JOC are as follows: 
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• Novant Health UVA Health System Prince William Medical Center,  
• Novant Health UVA Health System Haymarket Medical Center, and  
• Novant Health UVA Health System Culpeper Medical Center. 

 
See “The Health System” below for additional information regarding the North Carolina and 

Virginia hospitals. 

In August 2018, Novant Health formed a joint venture with Access Clinical Partners, d/b/a 
GoHealth Urgent Care (“GoHealth”) for the purpose of developing, owning and operating urgent care 
clinics throughout the Health System’s geographic markets.  To date, Novant Health and GoHealth have 
opened 10 clinics in both the Charlotte and Winston-Salem metropolitan areas.  The joint venture plans to 
open an additional five clinics by the end of 2019 in Novant’s existing markets in North Carolina.  These 
clinics are staffed by Novant Health providers and offer patients additional access points for care. 

The Health System also includes MedQuest, Inc., a Delaware for-profit corporation, and MedQuest 
Associates, Inc., a South Carolina for-profit corporation and a subsidiary of MedQuest, Inc., that provides 
management services to, among others, the North Carolina imaging centers owned by Foundation Health 
Systems Corp. or its affiliates (collectively, “MedQuest”).  MedQuest owns and/or manages 44  outpatient 
diagnostic imaging centers, 37 of which are located in the immediate three-state region of North Carolina, 
South Carolina and Virginia.  In North Carolina, MedQuest manages, but does not own, 23 imaging centers, 
22 of which are owned by non-profit affiliates of Novant Health and one center owned by an unaffiliated 
third party. The 21 centers located outside North Carolina are owned and managed by MedQuest.  
MedQuest’s centers offer services such as magnetic resonance imaging (“MRI”), computed tomography 
(“CT”), nuclear medicine, ultrasound, mammography, bone densitometry, fluoroscopy and x-ray. 

The Health System also includes an employed physician group, Novant Health Medical Group, 
Inc., which, as of March 31, 2019, consisted of 1,597 physicians and 986 mid-level providers (e.g., 
physician assistants and nurse practitioners) located at 524 sites across North Carolina, South Carolina and 
Virginia. 

Map 

A map showing the general locations and geographic reach of the Health System’s principal 
facilities is set forth below.  The map does not include every facility of the Health System. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 
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The Combined Group 

The Master Indenture authorizes the creation of a Combined Group, which consists of the Members 
of the Obligated Group and Restricted Affiliates designated as such by a Member of the Obligated Group 
in accordance with the Master Indenture.  As of the date of this official statement, Novant Health and its 
two affiliates that operate tertiary care hospitals, Forsyth Memorial Hospital, Inc. and The Presbyterian 
Hospital, both of which are North Carolina nonprofit corporations, are the Members of the Obligated Group.  
The Members of the Obligated Group are jointly and severally liable for the payment of all Master 
Obligations issued under the Master Indenture.  A Member of the Obligated Group may withdraw as an 
Obligated Group Member under the circumstances and conditions described in the forepart of this official 
statement under the caption “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT” and in Appendix C to this 
official statement under the caption “SUMMARY OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Withdrawal of 
Obligated Group Members.” 

As of the date of delivery of the Bonds, Novant Health will have designated 12 of its affiliates as 
Restricted Affiliates, including Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center, LLC, a North Carolina limited 
liability company, which will be designated as a Restricted Affiliate on the date the Bonds are issued. Unless 
otherwise noted herein, the information presented in this Appendix A about the Combined Group does not 
include Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center, LLC. Seven of these Restricted Affiliates, Medical Park 
Hospital, Inc. d/b/a Novant Health Medical Park Hospital, Community General Health Partners, Inc. d/b/a 
Novant Health Thomasville Medical Center, Presbyterian Medical Care Corp. d/b/a Novant Health 
Matthews Medical Center, Brunswick Community Hospital, LLC d/b/a Novant Health Brunswick Medical 



 

 
A-4 

Center, PWHS, Prince William Hospital d/b/a Novant Health UVA Health System Prince William Medical 
Center, and Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center, LLC, operate or maintain a significant investment in 
hospitals. The other five Restricted Affiliates, Carolina Medicorp Enterprises, Inc., Forsyth Medical Group, 
LLC, Foundation Health Systems Corp., Novant Health Medical Group, Inc. f/k/a Presbyterian Regional 
Healthcare Corp. and Salem Health Services, Inc., provide, or invest in subsidiaries or joint ventures which 
provide, health care and ancillary services.  The Restricted Affiliates are not directly obligated to pay Master 
Obligations, but the Members of the Obligated Group have covenanted in the Master Indenture to cause the 
Restricted Affiliates to provide funds to the Members of the Obligated Group to pay Master Obligations.  
All of the Members of the Combined Group, except Salem Health Services, Inc., are exempt from federal 
and North Carolina income taxation. 

Novant Health Huntersville Medical Center and Novant Health UVA Health System Haymarket 
Medical Center, both acute care hospitals, are operated by The Presbyterian Hospital and Prince William 
Hospital, respectively.  Presbyterian Orthopaedic Hospital, LLC has been merged into The Presbyterian 
Hospital and is now known as Novant Health Charlotte Orthopedic Hospital.  Novant Health Kernersville 
Medical Center and Novant Health Clemmons Medical Center, both acute care hospitals, are operated by 
Forsyth Memorial Hospital, Inc.   

Other Affiliates 

Certain affiliates of Novant Health are not Members of the Combined Group.  The principal Novant 
Health affiliates that are not Members of the Combined Group include:  (1) MedQuest, acquired in 2007; 
(2) Rowan Health Services Corp., which operates Novant Health Rowan Medical Center and affiliates, of 
which Novant Health became the sole member in 2008; and (3) six non-profit foundations which support 
Novant Health hospitals and the communities they serve. 

The consolidated financial statements of Novant Health and its affiliates set forth in Appendix B to 
this official statement include affiliates of Novant Health that are not Members of the Combined Group.  
The supplemental schedules attached to such consolidated financial statements provide the financial results 
of the Members of the Combined Group and separately show the financial results of the affiliates that are 
not Members of the Combined Group. Since Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center, LLC has not 
previously been a Member of the Combined Group, and will not become a Member of the Combined Group 
until the date of issuance of the Bonds, Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center, LLC is not included as a 
Member of the Combined Group in the supplemental schedules attached to the consolidated financial 
statements in Appendix B to this official statement.  See “Summary of Historical Financial Information” 
below. 

The chart below illustrates the organizational structure of Novant Health and certain of its affiliates, 
including the other Members of the Combined Group. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 
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*Shading indicates Members of the Combined Group.   
 

GOVERNANCE 

Novant Health is the ultimate parent corporation of the Combined Group and is the sole member 
of Novant Health Triad Region, LLC (“Triad Region LLC”) and Novant Health Southern Piedmont Region, 
LLC (“Southern Piedmont Region LLC”).  Triad Region LLC and Southern Piedmont Region LLC are 
intermediate holding companies that were formed to simplify governance and management of the Health 
System.  This regional holding company structure enables Novant Health to offer regional board 
representation to hospitals and health systems considering joining the Health System.  Even though the 
regional holding companies own the membership interests and stock of most of the nonprofit and for-profit 
affiliates of Novant Health, the Novant Health Board of Trustees retains the right to elect and remove the 
trustees and directors of such affiliates, except certain third parties have limited rights with respect to the 
appointment and removal of the trustees of certain Members of the Combined Group as described under 
“Members of the Combined Group” below.  Because the regional holding companies only serve to facilitate 
governance and management and own no assets other than membership interests and stock in affiliates of 
Novant Health, they are not Members of the Combined Group. 

Members of the Combined Group 

Novant Health maintains control over the management and policies of all of the Members of the 
Combined Group through restrictive charter and bylaw provisions that reserve to Novant Health the power 
to select the board of trustees or directors for each Member of the Combined Group, as well as the power 
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to control the finances and other activities of the Combined Group.  With respect to Forsyth Memorial 
Hospital, Inc. d/b/a Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center, Medical Park Hospital, Inc. d/b/a Novant Health 
Medical Park Hospital, Community General Health Partners, Inc. d/b/a Novant Health Thomasville Medical 
Center, PWHS and Prince William Hospital d/b/a Novant Health UVA Health System Prince William 
Medical Center, however, certain third parties have limited rights with respect to the appointment and 
removal of trustees.  Therefore, to augment such control and to ensure that Medical Park Hospital, Inc., 
Community General Health Partners, Inc., PWHS and Prince William Hospital qualify as Restricted 
Affiliates, Novant Health has entered into a Commitment Agreement with each of them whereby Novant 
Health has the power to require each of them to comply with the provisions of the Master Indenture 
applicable to Restricted Affiliates, such as providing funds to Novant Health to pay Master Obligations so 
long as each of them is designated a Restricted Affiliate under the Master Indenture.   

Novant Health Board of Trustees 

The business and affairs of Novant Health are managed by a Board of Trustees (the “Novant Health 
Board”).  The Novant Health Board consists of 17 voting members, plus the chairpersons of each regional 
holding company and the emeritus trustee, who serve ex-officio as non-voting members.  All of the voting 
members are elected by the Novant Health Board as a whole, except for Novant Health’s Chief Executive 
Officer who serves ex-officio as a voting member, the chairpersons of each regional holding company who 
are nominated and appointed by their respective boards, and one member appointed by the Forsyth County 
Board of Commissioners (the “County Trustee”).  The Board of Trustees of PWHS has the right to nominate 
one of its members to serve on the Novant Health Board (the “PWHS Trustee”), subject to approval of 
Novant Health’s Nominating Committee and the Novant Health Board as a whole.  With the exception of 
the ex-officio members and the County Trustee, members of the Novant Health Board serve staggered 
three-year terms and may serve up to three consecutive terms.  The current members of the Novant Health 
Board, their terms of office and their principal occupations are as follows: 

Name 
Term Expires 
December 31, Principal Occupation 

G. Patrick Phillips 
(Chairman) 

2019 (Retired) President 
Bank of America, N.A.   
Charlotte, NC 

Robert M. Barr, MD 
(Vice Chairman) 

2020 Radiologist 
Mecklenburg Radiology Associates, P. A. 
Charlotte, NC 

Laura A. Schulte 
(Secretary/ Treasurer) 

2021 (Retired) Executive 
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 
Charlotte, NC 

Carl S. Armato 
(President) 

2019 President & Chief Executive Officer 
Novant Health, Inc. 
Winston-Salem, NC 

Brandon T. Adcock 2021 Co-Founder & President 
Adaptive Health 
Charlotte, NC 

Deborah M. Ally 2021 (Retired) President & CEO 
United Way of Gaston County 
Gastonia, NC 



 

 
A-7 

Name 
Term Expires 
December 31, Principal Occupation 

James F. Amos 2020 (Retired) 35th Commandant 
U. S. Marine Corps 
USA 

Alvaro G. de Molina 2020 (Retired) Chief Financial Officer 
Bank of America, N.A.   
Charlotte, NC 

Christine P. Katziff 2020 Corporate General Auditor 
Bank of America, N.A.   
Charlotte, NC 

Viola A. Lyles 2021 Mayor 
City of Charlotte 
Charlotte, NC 

Ian A. McDonald1 2020 (Retired) Executive 
BAE Systems 
Charlotte, NC 

B. Dawn Moose, MD 2021 Radiation Oncologist 
Piedmont Radiation Oncology, PA 
Winston-Salem, NC 

Daniel W. Murphy, M.D. 2021 Gastroenterologist 
Piedmont Gastroenterology Specialists 
Winston-Salem, NC 

T. David Neill 2021 President 
Bob Neill, Inc. 
Winston-Salem, NC 

David R. Plyler2 2019 Commissioner 
Forsyth County Board of Commissioners 
Winston-Salem, NC 

Elwood L. Robinson, Ph.D. 2021 Chancellor 
Winston-Salem State University 
Winston-Salem, NC 

Larry D. Stone 2020 (Retired) Chief Operating Officer 
Lowe’s, Inc. 
Mooresville, NC 

Joia M. Johnson Ex-Officio General Counsel and Corporate Secretary 
Hanesbrands, Inc. 
Winston-Salem, NC 

R. Lee Myers Ex-Officio Attorney at Law 
Myers Law Firm, PLLC 
Charlotte, NC 
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Name 
Term Expires 
December 31, Principal Occupation 

James H. Hance, Jr. Ex-Officio 
(Emeritus Trustee) 

(Retired) Vice Chairman & CFO 
Bank of America, N.A.   
Charlotte, NC 

____________________ 
1 Mr. McDonald serves as the PWHS Trustee. 
2 Mr. Plyler serves as the County Trustee. 

Management 

Principal management personnel of Novant Health and its affiliates are as follows: 

CARL S. ARMATO (54), is the President and Chief Executive Officer of Novant Health.  Since 
joining Novant Health in 1998 as the Vice President of Finance and Operations for the physician divisions 
in both Charlotte and Winston-Salem, Mr. Armato has also served as Senior Vice President of Materials 
Management and Logistics for Novant Health.  In 2003, he was appointed as Chief Operating Officer of 
Presbyterian Healthcare and then promoted to President and Chief Executive Officer of Presbyterian 
Healthcare in January 2004.  In 2008, the Health System promoted him to President of Novant Health 
Markets and in 2011 as Chief Operating Officer of Novant Health.  The Board of Trustees appointed him 
to his current position in January 2012.  Prior to joining Novant Health, Mr. Armato was vice president of 
operations for First Care Physicians and director of finance for the General Health System in Baton Rouge, 
Louisiana.  He was also a senior tax/audit consultant for Ernst & Young in the Baton Rouge office.  Mr. 
Armato holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration - Accounting from the University of 
Southwestern Louisiana and a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Norwich University of 
Vermont.  He is a certified public accountant licensed in Louisiana and North Carolina.  He is a member of 
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the North Carolina Society of Certified Public 
Accountants, the State Board of CPAs of Louisiana and the Healthcare Financial Management Association.  
Mr. Armato serves on the Vizient Board of Directors, the Mid-Atlantic Affiliate Board of Directors of the 
American Heart Association/American Stroke Association, and the Charlotte Executive Leadership 
Council.  He is actively involved in a number of community programs and has authored two books, It’s 
Never Just Another Monday, and A Future With Hope (An Inspiring Guide to Overcoming Diabetes). 

TANYA BLACKMON (59), is the Chief Diversity and Inclusion Officer of Novant Health.  Ms. 
Blackmon joined Novant Health in 1992, as the Director of Inpatient Discharge Planning. During her tenure 
with Novant Health, she has held a wide variety of leadership roles including Director of Clinical 
Improvement and Community Care Services, Chief Operating Officer of Novant Health Charlotte 
Orthopedic Hospital, and President of Novant Health Huntersville Medical Center.  Along with her role as 
Chief Diversity and Inclusion Officer of Novant Health, she is currently serving as a trustee of Charlotte 
Mecklenburg Community Foundation Board and a Board of Trustees member with Queens University.  She 
is a former delegate for the American Hospital Association Regional Policy Board and has previously 
served as a member of the North Carolina Hospital Association Policy Development Committee and a board 
member of the Charlotte Mecklenburg Medic Board of Commissioners.  Ms. Blackmon holds a Master of 
Science in Business Administration from Queens College in Charlotte, North Carolina, a Master of Social 
Work from the University of South Carolina in Columbia, South Carolina and a Bachelor of Science in 
Social Work from North Carolina A&T State University. 

JESSE CURETON (59), is the Chief Consumer Officer of Novant Health, overseeing strategic 
planning, marketing and public relations, community engagement, the foundations/outreach, corporate 
health and other business functions.  In 2013, he led the unifying of Novant Health under a rebranding 
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initiative that showcases Novant Health’s commitment to building a culture of wellness and consumer 
engagement.  Previously, Cureton had a long tenure with Bank of America.  During his twenty-five year 
financial industry career, he successfully lead the local merger efforts in North Carolina for US Trust and 
Bank of America, developed training for over 2,000 wealth management advisors in Premier Banking and 
Investments, and implemented tactics that greatly improved staff satisfaction, retention and productivity.  
He currently serves as a board member of Queens University of Charlotte, University of North Carolina 
Board of Visitors, Charlotte Center City Partners, Foundation for the Carolinas, Bechtler Museum, and is 
chair of the Charlotte Regional Business Alliance.  He is also one of the founders of the ONE Charlotte, an 
initiative bringing partners together to address some of our community’s most critical challenges: investing 
in neighborhoods in need, and removing barriers to education, employment and healthcare. 

FRANK EMORY (61), is the Executive Vice President and Chief Legal Officer of Novant Health, 
overseeing Compliance, Legal, External Affairs, Internal Audit, Risk Management and Privacy for Novant 
Health.  Prior to assuming his current role on January 1, 2019, Mr. Emory served as a partner, Co-Head of 
the Litigation and Labor Group and managing partner of the Charlotte office of Hunton Andrews Kurth 
LLP, an international law firm with approximately 1,000 lawyers.  He also practiced in the firm’s 
Washington, D.C. office.  Mr. Emory was an Angier B. Duke Scholar, Duke University’s most prestigious 
academic scholarship.  He was the president of the student government and studied in Oxford, England.  
Mr. Emory attended the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill School of Law on a Morehead Law 
Fellowship.  He currently serves as the Chair of the Board of the Economic Development Partnership of 
North Carolina and served as Chair of the Charlotte Chamber of Commerce in 2012, the same year that 
Charlotte hosted the Democratic National Convention and the CIAA Centennial Conference.  Mr. Emory 
is a past president of the Mecklenburg County Bar and was honored by the MCB with the Pro Bono 
Attorney of the Year Award in 2008.  He received the Citizen Lawyer of the Year Award from the North 
Carolina Bar Association in 2010, is a Fellow of the American Bar Foundation and a Permanent Member 
of the Judicial Conference of the Fourth Circuit.  Mr. Emory was the first African American and youngest 
Chair of the Charlotte-Mecklenburg Planning Commission.  He also served for eight years on the North 
Carolina Board of Transportation.  He also served as Vice Chair of the Board of Directors of the North 
Carolina Blumenthal Performing Arts Center and served on the Executive Committee of the Duke 
University Board of Trustees. 

ERIC ESKIOGLU (53), is the Chief Medical Officer of Novant Health.  Dr. Eskioglu joined 
Novant Health in 2015 to lead neurosciences across the system with the goal of creating a world-class 
experience for patients regardless of their entry point.  For Physicians Regional Healthcare System (PRHS) 
in Florida, Dr. Eskioglu served as the executive medical director for the PRHS Comprehensive Stroke 
Center and as the medical director of the Neurovascular and Stroke Institute and Neuro Intensive Care Unit.  
While in these roles, he spearheaded the development of the system’s neurosciences initiative and led the 
establishment of the only comprehensive stroke center in southwest Florida.  Dr. Eskioglu has also served 
as the medical director for endovascular/vascular neurosurgery with Cerebrovascular Specialists of Florida, 
Lee Memorial Hospital System. Other roles include assistant professor of neurological surgery and assistant 
professor of radiology at Vanderbilt University Medical Center.  Prior to his career in medicine, Dr. 
Eskioglu worked as an aerospace engineer at the AlliedSignal Aerospace Inc. and Boeing Company.  Dr. 
Eskioglu earned his medical degree from the University of Kansas in 1999. During medical school, he also 
completed a two-year fellowship at the National Institutes of Health with Pfizer Clinical Research Scholars 
program.  His neurosurgical residency training took place at Vanderbilt University Medical Center.  He 
also completed an endovascular/vascular neurosurgery fellowship at the University of Florida.  He has an 
aerospace and mechanical engineering degree from the University of Arizona. 

FRED HARGETT (45), is the Chief Financial Officer of Novant Health.  Mr. Hargett joined the 
Health System in 2003 and most recently served as Executive Vice President of Finance for Novant Health.  
Prior to that, Mr. Hargett held the position of Senior Vice President of Financial Planning. Before joining 
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Novant Health, Mr. Hargett served as manager of healthcare consulting at Ernst & Young in Charlotte, 
North Carolina.  At Ernst & Young, he led engagements in strategic planning, business development and 
financial forecasting.  Mr. Hargett graduated with a Bachelor of Science in Public Health, a Bachelor of 
Science in Business Administration and a Master of Accounting from the University of North Carolina at 
Chapel Hill.  He is a certified public accountant licensed in North Carolina.  In addition, he is a member of 
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the North Carolina Association of Certified Public 
Accountants and the Healthcare Financial Management Association.  Mr. Hargett is the recipient of the 
2013 CFO of the Year award given by the Triad Business Journal. 

JEFF LINDSAY (51), is the Chief Operating Officer of Novant Health. In this role, Mr. Lindsay 
is responsible for operational performance and strategic growth of the Health System.  Mr. Lindsay has 
worked in healthcare for more than twenty years and has been part of Novant Health since 1996. Mr. 
Lindsay holds a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration and Political Science from Auburn 
University and a Master of Science in Health Administration from the University of Alabama at 
Birmingham. Prior to accepting his current role in 2014, Mr. Lindsay most recently served as President of 
Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center and Chief Executive Officer of the Winston-Salem and eastern 
North Carolina markets. He began his career at Novant Health as Vice President of Cardiovascular Services 
and since served in a numerous leadership positions, including President of Novant Health Huntersville 
Medical Center, President of Novant Health Rowan Medical Center and Chief Operating Officer of the 
Triad region.  He serves on the North Carolina Hospital Association as past board chair and is currently 
chairman of the board for the Winston-Salem Chamber of Commerce.  He also serves as a board member 
of the Winston-Salem Alliance, Winston-Salem Business Inc. and the Winston-Salem Foundation.  In 
addition, Mr. Lindsay is currently serving on the board of the Winston-Salem Symphony and the Arts 
Council of Winston-Salem and Forsyth County. 

DENISE MIHAL, RN (55), is the Chief Nursing and Clinical Operations Officer of Novant Health.  
Ms. Mihal leads clinical operations for all Novant Health hospitals, working directly with our facility 
nursing officers, surgical services, and trauma and emergency services leaders.  She also oversees clinical 
operations for our central staffing and scheduling office, case management, as well as clinical and patient 
education.  Ms. Mihal began her career in healthcare as a registered nurse in intensive care.  She joined 
Novant Health in 2000 as the administrator of Presbyterian Orthopedic Hospital in Charlotte.  She has 
served in a variety of roles since then, including chief operating officer of our greater Winston-Salem and 
Eastern markets and for Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center, president of Novant Health Huntersville 
Medical Center and president of Novant Health Brunswick Medical Center.  She has a Bachelor of Science 
in Nursing from William Paterson University, and a Master of Business Administration from Rutgers 
University. 

PAM OLIVER, MD (45), serves as President of Novant Health Physician Network and is 
responsible for medical group operations, Care Connections, clinic quality and safety initiatives as well as 
provider education, enrollment and engagement efforts.  Dr. Oliver is a board-certified ob-gyn and has been 
practicing at Novant Health WomanCare since 2005.  She has served in various leadership roles, including 
as submarket leader for specialty practices in the greater Winston-Salem market, physician service line 
leader of women’s services for the greater Winston-Salem market and senior physician executive for 
Novant Health Physician Network, supporting clinical and business strategy across the system.  Dr. Oliver 
received her undergraduate degree in biology and her medical degree from the University of North Carolina 
at Chapel Hill, where she was a Morehead Scholar and Board of Governors’ scholarship recipient.  She also 
earned her master’s degree in public health (maternal and child health concentration) from the UNC School 
of Public Health while enrolled in medical school.  Dr. Oliver currently serves as chair for the Forsyth 
County Infant Mortality Reduction Coalition.  She is a member of the Board of Visitors for the University 
of North Carolina at Chapel Hill and also serves on the Morehead-Cain Scholarship Fund Board.  In 
addition, she has served on the Summit School board of trustees since 2015. 
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JANET SMITH-HILL (54), serves as the Chief Human Resources Officer of Novant Health and 
is responsible for providing strategic HR planning; HR function management; team member/talent value 
proposition and engagement; social capital optimization; culture alignment; strategic workforce planning; 
talent acquisition; talent, performance, and succession management; learning and development; executive 
compensation with staff responsibilities for the Compensation and Leadership Committee of the board; 
physician and general compensation; retirement program management; and total well-being programming.  
She partners with the CEO and executive team to devise and execute forward-thinking, strategically and 
culturally aligned solutions for short-term performance and in support of long-term sustainability of the 
organization.  Ms. Smith-Hill held a number of leadership roles in nursing administration before 
transitioning to Human Resources in 2001.  Her professional and civic activities include: Charlotte area 
CHRO forum; CHRO Advisory Council with Press Ganey 2016-17; Fellow, CHRO Academy, Deloitte 
University 2015-16; Healthcare Workforce Advisory Council, AMN Healthcare 2013-14; VHA Human 
Resources Executive Affinity Group speaker 2013; Society of Human Resources Management 2008 – 
present; American Society for Healthcare Human Resources Administration 2013; Executive Women 
International; Women’s Leadership Conference speaker 2014; Susan B. Komen Charlotte Chapter 
Nominating Committee Board 2013-14; and has held numerous leadership roles within the faith community 
for 30+ years, currently serving at Galilee Church.  Ms. Smith-Hill graduated from the University of North 
Carolina at Chapel Hill with a Bachelor of Science in Nursing in 1986.  In 1995 she received her Master of 
Science in Nursing from the University of North Carolina at Greensboro. 

ANGELA YOCHEM (48), is the Chief Digital Officer of Novant Health.  Ms. Yochem develops 
the strategic vision for how Novant Health uses technology to engage patients, empower team members 
and improve the healthcare experience for the communities we serve.  She leads the implementation of 
digital solutions across the system including experimentation, design, development, operations, support, 
virtual health, and partnerships.  Ms. Yochem previously served as chief information officer and executive 
vice president for a multi-billion dollar retail organization with more than 4,000 locations, where she created 
new digital retail channels and transformed the tech capability.  Ms. Yochem has also served as chief 
information officer, digital product line executive and executive team member of a multi-billion dollar 
global logistics company spanning 140 countries, global chief technology officer for one of the world’s 
largest pharmaceutical companies and a senior executive for one of the world’s largest technology 
companies, where she built revenue-generating technology services.  Ms. Yochem received her master’s 
degree in computer science at the University of Tennessee, where she is an advisory board member.  She 
has served on several company boards, from SEC-registrants to venture-backed start-ups, focusing on 
growth, enterprise risk, audit and governance.  Ms. Yochem remains an entrepreneur in residence and a 
mentor/advisor for international and domestic venture firms, and serves as a board member for a Charlotte-
based non-profit focused on promoting literacy in the community.  Ms. Yochem holds three United States 
Patents and is a published author with Addison-Wesley and Prentice-Hall. 

ANN CAULKINS (57), is the Senior Vice President and President of the Novant Health 
Foundations.  In this role, Ms. Caulkins designs and implements plans for sustainable and integrated 
philanthropy across all of Novant Health’s hospital communities.  Prior to her role at Novant Health, Ms. 
Caulkins most recently served as the President and Publisher of The Charlotte Observer from 2006-2018.  
Before coming to Charlotte, she was President and Publisher of The State newspaper in Columbia, South 
Carolina.  She spent five years in Lexington, Kentucky at The Herald-Leader, first as Advertising Director 
and then as Senior Vice President of Sales and Marketing.  She began her career at The Fort Worth Star-
Telegram in 1984.  Ms. Caulkins serves on the CrossRoads Charlotte, The Fletcher School, and The 
Charlotte Mecklenburg Library Foundation Boards.  She is a member of The Women’s Impact Fund, 
International Women’s Forum, Women Executives, and the National Association of Corporate Directors.  
She is a native of Shreveport, Louisiana, and is a graduate of Baylor University with a Bachelor of Arts in 
Communications. 
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KEVIN GRIFFIN (47), joined Novant Health in 2012 as the Senior Vice President of Financial 
Planning & Analysis.  Mr. Griffin’s responsibilities primarily include debt capital markets and merger and 
acquisition transactions, along with various other strategic analysis projects.  From 2007 to October 2012, 
Mr. Griffin was a Managing Director of Fennebresque & Co., LLC, a boutique investment banking firm 
located in Charlotte, North Carolina.  From 2003 through 2007, he was a Partner at McColl Partners, LLC, 
where he originated and executed middle market merger and acquisition transactions.  Prior to McColl 
Partners, Mr. Griffin worked in the mergers and acquisitions and corporate finance divisions of Lazard Ltd, 
JPMorgan and Bank of America.  Mr. Griffin’s investment banking experience consists primarily of 
executing and originating mergers and acquisitions and corporate finance transactions.  Mr. Griffin received 
a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration from the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill and 
a Master of Business Administration, with honors, from the University of Chicago Booth School of 
Business.  Mr. Griffin also serves on the board of directors for Main Street Capital Corporation, a publicly 
traded investment company headquartered in Houston, Texas. 

WAYNE F. MORGAN, CFA (60), is a Senior Vice President and Chief Investment Officer of 
Novant Health.  Prior to joining Novant Health as Chief Investment Officer in 2007, Mr. Morgan was the 
founder and president of Tanglewood Asset Management LLC, an SEC registered investment advisory firm 
that was subsequently purchased by Novant Health.  From 1997 to 2002, Mr. Morgan served as a Senior 
Vice President and Head of Fixed Income for Wachovia Asset Management and previously was the Director 
of Investments for the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill.  Mr. Morgan graduated from the 
University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill with a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration and a 
Master of Business Administration with honors.  He is a member of the CFA Institute, the North Carolina 
Society of Financial Analysts and Beta Gamma Sigma National Business Honor Society, and serves on the 
UNC Greensboro Investment Fund Investment Committee, the Triangle Community Foundation 
Investment Committee and the board of directors of ACM Financial Trust. 

SCOTT MYERS (56), is Senior Vice President of Finance and Corporate Controller of Novant 
Health.  Mr. Myers has been with Novant Health since 1994 and his responsibilities include financial 
reporting, accounting, tax, disbursements, reimbursement and insurance.  Prior to joining Novant Health, 
Mr. Myers worked in public accounting.  Mr. Myers graduated with a Bachelor of Science in Accounting 
and Bachelor of Science in Economics from High Point University and a Master of Business Administration 
from the University of North Carolina at Greensboro Bryan School of Business.  He is a certified public 
accountant licensed in North Carolina and a member of the North Carolina Association of Certified Public 
Accountants and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 

ALFRED E. PILONG, JR. (57), is the Senior Vice President and Chief Executive Officer of 
Novant Health University of Virginia Health System.  Prior to joining Novant Health in 2019, Mr. Pilong 
served as the President of Munson Medical Center and the Chief Operating Officer for Munson Healthcare.  
Before joining Munson Medical Center, Mr. Pilong was the President of the 445-bed Winchester Medical 
Center in Winchester, Virginia and the Senior Vice President of the multi-hospital Valley Health System.  
Mr. Pilong has a bachelor’s degree in pharmacy from Rutgers University.  He worked as a pharmacist and 
later a professor of pharmacy, before transitioning into hospital administration.  He has a master’s degree 
in divinity from Alliance Theological Seminary in Nyack, New York and a master’s degree in business 
administration from St. Joseph’s University in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.  Mr. Pilong is a fellow of the 
American College of Healthcare Executives and board certified in Healthcare Management by the 
American College of Health Care Executives. 

ROBERT H. SEEHAUSEN JR. (61), is the Senior Vice President of Business Development and 
Sales of Novant Health’s hospitals and physician groups and has been with Novant Health since 1998.  In 
his role, Mr. Seehausen is responsible for system-wide payor relationships, strategic planning, pricing 
strategy and a 1,000 member independent physician network called ChoiceHealth.  Prior to joining Novant 
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Health, he worked in a variety of capacities including neonatal disease management with Paidos Health 
Management, physician practice management with Health Partners, Inc. and was one of the founders of 
Tiber Group, a healthcare strategic consulting firm.  Additional corporate experience includes work with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Lutheran General Health System (Advocate) and Accenture.  He earned a 
master’s degree in management from the Kellogg Graduate School of Management at Northwestern 
University and a bachelor’s degree in economics from Carleton College.  Mr. Seehausen serves on the 
board and is the treasurer of the North Carolina Health Insurance Risk Pool, Inclusive Health, and he also 
chairs its finance committee.  He is also a member of the provider advisory board of an international 
commercial and Medicare Advantage insurance carrier.  Mr. Seehausen is a hospital representative on the 
North Carolina Industrial Commission and represents Novant Health at the North Carolina Hospital 
Association’s Managed Care Committee.  He is also the past president of the North Carolina Healthcare 
Information and Communication Alliance. 

CEDRIC A. TERRELL (45), is the Senior Vice President and Chief Pharmacy Executive of 
Novant Health.  Dr. Terrell has accountability for the executive leadership and oversight of the appropriate 
use of medicines throughout the healthcare continuum.  He provides executive leadership for pharmacy 
services comprised of acute and ambulatory clinical/operational pharmacy practice, retail, mail order/home 
delivery operations, specialty pharmacy services, and call center operations.  Dr. Terrell is currently a 
member of the American Society of Health System Pharmacists and participates as an advisory to multiple 
healthcare board entities.  He earned his Doctorate of Pharmacy from Florida A&M University, College of 
Pharmacy and his Masters in Healthcare Management from Simmons College. 

MARK WELCH (55), is the Supply Chain Senior Vice President of Novant Health.  Mr. Welch 
began his career at Novant Health in 2005 as the leader of Supply Chain operations.  Since then, he has 
served as the Vice President of the Novant Health Logistics Center, then named Vice President of the 
Strategic Sourcing Division. He was selected as the Senior Vice President of Novant Health Supply Chain 
in 2015 to oversee all non-labor spend, Supply Chain Logistics, Operations, Procurement, Sourcing and 
Clinical Supply Chain Engagement. In addition, Mr. Welch currently serves as one of key operational 
leaders for the MNS Network LLC, a collaboration of three large integrated networks working together to 
reduce supply chain costs.  Mr. Welch also currently serves as Executive Chair for Vizient’s Largest 
Integrated Supply Chain Network.  Mr. Welch has been employed in the hospital industry since 1995.  Prior 
to Novant Health, Mr. Welch worked as an administration officer for a community hospital in West 
Virginia, with operational responsibilities for radiology, ancillary services, and supply chain.  Prior to that, 
he was an owner-operator of a successful construction company in Ohio.  Mr. Welch earned his business 
administration degree from Ohio State University.  He also holds a master’s degree in healthcare 
administration from Pfeiffer University. 

THE HEALTH SYSTEM 

Facilities Operated by the Members of the Combined Group 

The portion of the Health System operated by the Members of the Combined Group includes two 
tertiary care hospitals, 11 additional acute care hospitals, five outpatient surgery centers and a physician 
medical group. 

Novant Health has organized the system into four markets: Greater Winston-Salem Market, Greater 
Charlotte Market, Northern Virginia Market and the Eastern Carolina Market.  The two flagship hospitals, 
Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center and Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center, are located in the 
Winston-Salem and Charlotte, North Carolina markets, respectively. 
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The hospitals operated by the Members of the Combined Group have 2,311 total licensed beds.  
Each of these hospitals is licensed by the Division of Health Service Regulation of the North Carolina 
Department of Health and Human Services or the Virginia Department of Health, as applicable, and is 
approved as a provider by the Medicare and Medicaid programs. 

Greater Winston-Salem Market 

There are five acute care facilities in the Greater Winston-Salem Market, anchored by Novant 
Health Forsyth Medical Center.  Additionally, there are two ambulatory surgery centers, three outpatient 
imaging centers and 199 physician practice locations. 

Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center1 is an 859-bed tertiary care hospital located in Winston-
Salem, North Carolina that offers a full continuum of emergency, medical, surgical, rehabilitative and 
behavioral health services. Some of the honors and specialized services found at Novant Health Forsyth 
Medical Center include: 

• Forsyth Cardiac and Vascular Center has been recognized as a Cardiac Center of Excellence by 
both United Health Care and Blue Cross Blue Shield of North Carolina and has received an 
accreditation as a Chest Pain Center by the Society of Chest Pain Centers.  Forsyth Cardiac and 
Vascular Center was also the first program in the Carolinas to receive National Certification for its 
Congestive Heart Failure program.  Forsyth Cardiac and Vascular Center has developed a complete 
service continuum, comprising aggressive prevention programs with leading edge diagnostic and 
treatment technology, followed by a rehabilitation program recognized for its success rates.  Novant 
Health Forsyth Medical Center has been named a certified chest pain center by the Chest Pain 
Society and is the first in North Carolina to obtain advanced heart failure certification from The 
Joint Commission. 

• The Novant Health Derrick L. Davis Cancer Center (“DLDCC”) offers a wide range of services for 
the prevention, early detection and treatment of virtually every form of cancer, including breast, 
prostate, colon, lung, gynecologic cancers and malignant/ non-malignant hematology.  State-of-
the-art technology, such as SpaceOAR (hydrogel for radiation treatment to the prostate), minimally 
invasive robotic surgery techniques for prostatectomies and gynecology oncology hysterectomies, 
and phase 1 clinical trial options are offered, providing a variety of options for cancer care. DLDCC 
is one of the largest cancer centers in North Carolina.  DLDCC is accredited as a network cancer 
program with the Commission on Cancer with American College of Surgeons and was the first 
program in North Carolina to receive this designation.  DLDCC is also a National Accreditation 
Program for Breast Centers (“NAPBC”) and certified at the highest level by the American College 
of Radiology. 

• Forsyth Stroke and Neurovascular Center combines state-of-the-art technology with leading edge 
research and internationally recognized medical staff to provide comprehensive, neuro-
interventional coverage 24 hours a day, seven days a week. One of the few non-academic medical 
centers in the southeast providing such depth of coverage, the center offers an interdisciplinary 
treatment approach for individuals with brain, spine and other nervous system conditions. 
Diagnostic and therapeutic care is facilitated by two MRI scanners, four multi-slice CT scanners 

                                                      
1  As required by North Carolina law, the deed by which Forsyth County, North Carolina (the “County”) conveyed 
Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center to Carolina Medicorp, Inc. in 1984 contains a reverter clause which provides 
that title to Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center will revert to the County if the land and buildings shall cease to be 
used for hospital purposes.  The deed to Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center also stipulates that Novant must 
provide emergency medical care to any citizen of the County, regardless of ability to pay. 



 

 
A-15 

(including two 64-slice scanners) and three angiography suites. The center was one of the first in 
North Carolina to receive a Comprehensive Stroke Center Certification from The Joint 
Commission, is one of the busiest stroke centers offering cutting edge research trials only available 
to a dozen other centers in the United States and Canada. Additionally, Novant Health Forsyth 
Medical Center, through research, supports an initiative aimed at reducing excessively high rates 
of stroke, stroke disabilities and stroke deaths that disproportionately occur in the southeastern 
region of the United States. 

• The Maya Angelou Center for Women’s Health and Wellness at Novant Health Forsyth Medical 
Center was created to provide individualized care for women in all life-stages. In keeping with Dr. 
Angelou’s strong, inspiring spirit, the center reaches out to promote women’s and girls’ health and 
wellness locally, nationally and internationally.  The center was the region’s first hospital to have 
a da Vinci robotic surgical system dedicated to performing minimally invasive surgical procedures 
for women, receiving the designation as a Center of Excellence in Minimally Invasive Gynecology 
in 2012, making the center one of the first in North Carolina to receive such a designation. It also 
established the region’s first Women’s Heart Center, a comprehensive center for heart care, 
combining prevention, early diagnosis, research and education.  The center operates the largest 
birthing center in North Carolina and is the Regional Perinatal Referral Center for the 20 northwest 
counties of North Carolina. It also achieved Baby-Friendly designation in 2017 by Baby Friendly 
USA, a joint collaboration between the World Health Organization and the United Nations 
Children’s Fund.  The center extends care outside of the community through prenatal care at clinics 
such as Novant Health Today’s Woman and through in-home nurse visits for new mothers with a 
program called Forsyth Connects. 

• Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center was the first in North Carolina to be recognized for both 
nationally-certified heart failure program, as well as a nationally-certified stroke program.  Both 
programs are awarded by The Joint Commission. 

Novant Health Thomasville Medical Center is a 146-bed facility located in Thomasville, North 
Carolina that offers a full range of inpatient and outpatient services, birthing rooms and an emergency 
department.  The hospital’s specialty programs include The Triad Heartburn Treatment Center, The Total 
Joint Center, The Spine Center, Geriatric Behavioral Health, The Chest Pain Center and The Sleep 
Disorders Center. 

Novant Health Medical Park Hospital is a 22-bed hospital located in Winston-Salem, North 
Carolina that specializes in elective, outpatient and short-stay surgical procedures. 

Novant Health Kernersville Medical Center is a 50-bed community hospital located in Kernersville, 
North Carolina that provides surgery, emergency care, diagnostic testing, inpatient care, heart and cancer 
care and other medical services. 

Novant Health Clemmons Medical Center is a 36-bed community hospital located in Clemmons, 
North Carolina.  The facility first opened in 2013 with an emergency department and two operating rooms.  
In 2017, an expansion was completed that added an additional three operating rooms along with 36 medical 
surgical beds and six observation beds.  This community hospital now provides 24/7 emergency care, 
surgery, imaging and diagnostic testing, and advanced orthopedic services. 

Greater Charlotte Market 

As of March 31, 2019, there are five acute care facilities in the Greater Charlotte Market, anchored 
by Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center.  In October 2018, Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center 
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was opened, bringing the Greater Charlotte Market total from four to five acute care facilities.  Additionally, 
there are three ambulatory surgery centers, four outpatient imaging centers and 287 physician practice 
locations. 

Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center is a 636-bed tertiary care facility located in Charlotte, 
North Carolina.  Some of the honors and specialized services at Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center 
include: 

• Novant Health Heart & Vascular Institute and Innovation Center combines leading-edge 
cardiovascular research and treatment with community health and wellness education, patient 
education, support programs and rehabilitation services to care for complex cardiovascular disease. 
Incorporating the nationally recognized Belk Heart Center, Preventive Cardiology Center and the 
Chest Pain Center, the Heart & Vascular Institute provides comprehensive cardiovascular care. 
This comprehensive approach goes beyond traditional cardiac diagnosis and treatment, and 
provides a method of care designed to improve all aspects of heart health. The Heart & Vascular 
Institute offers comprehensive cardiovascular services including advanced cardiac surgery for 
complex coronary and valvular disease, a high volume structural heart disease and transcatheter 
aortic valve replacement program and a state-of-the-art electrophysiology program offering care in 
complex ablations. The Institute also supports a multidisciplinary approach to the care of patients 
with vascular disease offering advanced diagnostic and therapeutic modalities including both 
endovascular and surgical therapies. In addition to maintaining the American Heart Association 
Gold+ rating for STEMI care, American Heart Association Gold rating for NSTEMI care, NCDR 
Platinum Performance Achievement ACTION Registry Award for AMI care, and Gold+ rating for 
care of the Heart Failure patient, Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center maintains 
accreditation from the Society of Cardiovascular Patient Care for Chest Pain, showing that it meets 
the highest national standards for the care of patients. 

• Novant Health Cancer Center is one of the largest in the Carolinas and nationally accredited with 
commendation as a network cancer program by the Commission on Cancer of the American 
College of Surgeons. An innovator in the industry, Novant Health Cancer Center was the first in 
the region to offer a nurse navigator program, as well as a multidisciplinary cancer clinic which 
brings together medical, surgical and radiation oncologists and a team of specialized support staff 
to collaboratively review a patient’s case and develop a recommended plan of care. Ongoing 
clinical trials through a system-wide collaboration offer patients access to the latest treatment 
options. The Cancer Center also offers advanced technology like intensity-modulated radiation 
therapy stereotactic radiosurgery, High Dose Radiation brachytherapy and imaging with a Positron 
Emission Tomography scanner.  The Cancer Center is home to one of the largest robot-assisted 
urologic and gynecologic cancer programs in the region, and the Novant Health Breast Center is 
nationally accredited by the NAPBC recognizing Novant Health’s multidisciplinary, integrated and 
comprehensive breast care services. In 2015, Novant Health became the seventh affiliate clinic of 
the St. Jude Children’s Research Hospital.  Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center is also 
committed to advancing survivorship and wellness services, clinical research, cancer education and 
early detection programs in the community. 

• The Neurosciences Institute and Innovation Center is comprised of industry-leading clinicians and 
care across the entire spectrum of brain and spine needs.  Novant Health Presbyterian Medical 
Center is home to one of two comprehensive stroke centers, a status that only five other systems in 
the nation currently hold.  The stroke program at Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center was 
the first facility in Charlotte, North Carolina to achieve comprehensive stroke status. In addition to 
stroke, Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center is home to an array of subspecialists in the 
practice of Neurology and Neurosurgery.  Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center performs 
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pediatric neurosurgeries under the expertise of Charlotte’s only fellowship trained pediatric 
neurosurgeon and is developing a functional neurosurgery program with the only fellowship trained 
functional neurosurgeon in the Charlotte region. The facility is staffed 24/7 by neurocritical care 
trained neurologists and endovascular neurosurgeons, maintaining the capacity to treat the highest 
acuity emergent brain and nervous system needs. 

• Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center for Women’s Health offers comprehensive services 
for women of every age. The center, which opened in September 2004, provides care for women 
in a state-of-the-art setting. The Women’s Center has 49 licensed obstetric beds (labor & delivery, 
ante partum and post-partum rooms) and has 38 licensed Level IV (highest State of North Carolina 
designation) neo-natal intensive care beds. The Maternity Center takes patients and their families 
through every step of the childbirth process, from preconception planning to birth and neonatal 
intensive care services to parenting education.  The Nursing Mother’s Place is the largest 
breastfeeding program in the area and the Osteoporosis Center provides testing, counseling and 
education for women at risk of developing osteoporosis. 

• Novant Health Hemby Children’s Hospital is a regional leader dedicated to family-centered care 
for children.  One of the hospital’s main goals is to make a child’s hospital stay as comfortable as 
possible.  Family rooms feature a parent bed, private bathroom, kitchen area with microwave, and 
multimedia entertainment center.  A child-life staff coordinates individual and group play, either in 
the large colorful playroom or in the child’s own room.  Arts and crafts, games and music are some 
of the activities that help children and families cope with the stress of hospitalization and illness.  
A pediatric intensive care unit is staffed by pediatric intensivists and a team of specially trained 
pediatric registered nurses. 

• Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center was honored as one of the 50 best hospitals in America 
by Becker’s Hospital Review.  Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center joined two other 
hospitals in the Carolinas on the “best in the nation” list for 2011, which included nationally 
renowned medical centers such as Johns Hopkins, Cleveland Clinic and Mayo Clinic. 

Novant Health Charlotte Orthopedic Hospital, located on the campus of Novant Health 
Presbyterian Medical Center, is a 48-bed specialty orthopedic and spine hospital.  As one of the few 
hospitals in the nation dedicated solely to orthopedic and spine injuries and diseases, Novant Health 
Charlotte Orthopedic Hospital has received national recognition with five disease specific Joint 
Commission certifications, rated 33rd in overall quality nation-wide by CareChex, and named Top 100 
Orthopedic Programs nationally by Becker’s Hospital Review. Orthopedic specialists use advanced 
technology to diagnose and treat injuries and diseases of the bones, spine and joints.  For spine surgery, 
total joint replacement or sports medicine services, Novant Health Charlotte Orthopedic Hospital provides 
expert diagnosis, treatment and rehabilitation quickly and effectively.  The medical team includes board-
certified orthopedic surgeons, physiatrists, anesthesiologists, physician assistants, certified registered 
nurses, physical therapists, occupational therapists, radiology and surgical technologists.  Novant Health 
Charlotte Orthopedic Hospital offers the most advanced technologies available in a seven room orthopedic 
surgery suite and five -room outpatient surgery center, three specialized patient care units and a full-service 
diagnostic imaging department.  A cutting-edge replacement facility was completed in 2017 and was 
designed around the entire patient care continuum, starting with a pre-op surgical wellness clinic, moving 
to new, state-of-the-art operating rooms, 32 new patient rooms and a rehabilitation gym for post-operative 
care. 

Novant Health Matthews Medical Center is a 157-bed acute care facility located southeast of 
Charlotte in Matthews, North Carolina.  Built in 1994 to accommodate the population growth in the area, 
Novant Health Matthews Medical Center offers a full range of medical services, including inpatient and 



 

 
A-18 

outpatient surgery, radiology, laboratory, emergency services and cardiac catheterization.  The emergency 
department, including a chest pain emergency room, features two entrances, one for patients arriving by 
ambulance and one for ambulatory patients.  Novant Health Matthews Medical Center also offers services 
for cardiology, cancer, rehabilitation and sleep medicine.  The Family Maternity Center is a 23-bed unit 
with rooms consisting of appealing decor and amenities such as a recliner, refrigerator, multimedia 
entertainment center, balcony and jacuzzi. Novant Health Matthews Medical Center is also home to the 
Health Library, the region’s most comprehensive resource library for health and medical information 
available to the community.  A recent expansion added a fifth floor to the hospital, with an additional 23 
patient rooms, nine observation beds and three hospice beds. 

Novant Health Huntersville Medical Center is a 93-bed acute care facility located north of Charlotte 
in Huntersville, North Carolina. Opened in November 2004, services provided include an emergency 
department that is staffed 24 hours a day, seven days a week. The state-of-the-art surgery center is equipped 
with six operating rooms and four endoscopy suites. The facility also offers intensive care services, 
comprehensive cardiac services including a heart catheterization lab, labor and delivery, medical-surgical 
services and Level II neo-natal intensive care services. An adjacent medical office building for physician 
practices also allows for hospital access at all hours. A new 48-bed medical tower is currently under 
construction and is slated to open in late June 2019.  When construction is completed, the number of acute 
care beds will total 139. 

Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center is a 36-bed acute care facility located east of Charlotte in 
Mint Hill, North Carolina. Opened in October 2018, services provided include an emergency department, 
inpatient and outpatient surgery and diagnostic and imaging services.  The center also includes a 
freestanding medical office building and a physician plaza for general and specialized inpatient and 
outpatient care. 

Northern Virginia Market 

As of March 31, 2019, there are two acute care facilities in the Northern Virginia Market: 

Novant Health UVA Health System Prince William Medical Center is a 130-bed facility located in 
Manassas, Virginia that provides inpatient services in maternity, surgery, cancer, pediatrics, behavioral 
health and other specialties.  In addition to its emergency department, the hospital campus also features 
comprehensive outpatient services including surgery, diagnostics, physician offices and fitness center. 

Novant Health UVA Health System Haymarket Medical Center is a 60-bed acute care hospital 
located in Haymarket, Virginia, approximately ten miles from Novant Health UVA Health System Prince 
William Medical Center, which opened in early 2014. The facility offers emergency services, surgery, 
cancer treatment, imaging and surgical services. 

Eastern North Carolina Market 

Novant Health Brunswick Medical Center is a 74-bed acute care hospital located in Bolivia, North 
Carolina that offers maternity care, 24/7 emergency services, intensive and progressive care units, surgery, 
outpatient diagnostic testing and other community healthcare programs.  Formerly known as Brunswick 
Community Hospital, the new and larger replacement medical center, located in the heart of Brunswick 
County, opened in the summer of 2011. 
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Outpatient Surgical Centers 

The Members of the Combined Group operate five outpatient surgical centers.  A description of 
each of these facilities is set forth below: 

Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center Hawthorne Outpatient Surgery Center (“Hawthorne”) is a 
hospital-based ambulatory surgical facility operated by Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center and is 
located in Winston-Salem, North Carolina.  The facility consists of four operating rooms and one procedure 
room.  Approximately 7,800 surgical procedures in multiple specialties are performed annually at 
Hawthorne.  Post-operative observation is provided on-site or at Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center or 
Novant Health Medical Park Hospital if more intensive care is required. 

Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center Outpatient Orthopedic Surgery Center (“OSC”) is a 
hospital-based ambulatory orthopedic surgical facility operated by Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center 
and is located in Winston-Salem, North Carolina.  Opened in February 2003, OSC features two state-of-
the-art operating rooms and provides post-operative recovery on site, with observation services available at 
Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center or Novant Health Medical Park Hospital if more intensive recovery 
is needed. OSC is considered an off-site location of Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center operating room 
suites.  Outpatient orthopedic surgery is the focus of this facility, and it performs approximately 2,000 cases 
annually. 

Novant Health Midtown Surgery Center (“MSC”) is a hospital-based ambulatory surgical facility 
operated by and located adjacent to Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center in Charlotte, North 
Carolina.  Opened in 2005, MSC features four procedure rooms and two endoscopic suites and provides 
post-operative recovery on site. MSC is considered an off-site location of the Novant Health Presbyterian 
Medical Center operating room suites, and it performs approximately 5,800 cases annually. 

Novant Health Charlotte Outpatient Surgery Center (“COSC”) is a hospital-based ambulatory 
surgical facility operated by and located adjacent to Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center in 
Charlotte, North Carolina.  Formerly Presbyterian’s “Same Day Surgery Center,” the facility reopened in 
February 2012 as a state-of-the-art center for ophthalmic, general and pediatric surgery.  COSC has six 
operating rooms, as well as one pediatric endoscopy procedure room.  Post-operative observation is 
provided on site.  Approximately 8,800 cases are performed annually at this facility. 

Novant Health Center City Outpatient Surgery Center is a hospital-based ambulatory surgical 
facility located on the campus of Novant Health Charlotte Orthopedic Hospital and features five operating 
rooms and two procedure rooms.  This state-of-the-art facility opened in 2017 and specializes in orthopedic 
surgery, general surgery, gynecology and urology.  Approximately 1,800 cases were performed at this 
facility in 2018. 

Other Facilities and Services 

The Health System also includes facilities operated by affiliates of Novant that are not Members of 
the Combined Group.  These facilities include two acute care hospitals, Novant Health Rowan Medical 
Center, a 268-bed acute care facility located in Salisbury, North Carolina, and Novant Health UVA Health 
System Culpeper Medical Center, a 70-bed community hospital located in Culpeper, Virginia. 

The Health System also includes Novant Health Inpatient Rehabilitation Hospital.  Opened in 2018, 
it is a 68-bed state-of-the-art facility jointly owned by Novant Health and Encompass Health.  This facility 
replaces the inpatient rehabilitation unit previously located in Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center. 
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The Health System also includes MedQuest, which owns and/or operates 45 freestanding outpatient 
imaging centers in the United States, the majority of which are located in the immediate three-state region 
of North Carolina, South Carolina and Virginia.  MedQuest also has centers in Alabama, Florida, 
Mississippi and Maryland.  In addition, there are a fleet of 16 mobile MRI units, six mobile mammography 
units and one mobile PET CT unit.  MedQuest centers offer services such as MRI, CT, nuclear medicine, 
ultrasound, mammography, bone densitometry (DEXA), fluoroscopy, and x-rays.  Ambulatory care is 
another fundamental aspect of Novant’s strategy in existing and new markets.  Providing ambulatory care 
in core markets allows Novant Health to provide patients with more diverse and convenient service options 
than hospital-based care alone. By focusing on the development and acquisition of ambulatory centers in 
new markets, Novant Health expects to be able to deliver high quality care to a larger patient base 
throughout a more diverse service area.   

The Health System also operates a number of free-standing surgery centers in each of the markets.  
There are four wholly-owned, freestanding facilities: (1) Novant Health Ballantyne Outpatient Surgery 
(Charlotte, North Carolina; two operating rooms, one procedure room), (2) Novant Health Huntersville 
Outpatient Surgery (Huntersville, North Carolina; two operating rooms, one procedure room), (3) Novant 
Health Kernersville Outpatient Surgery (Kernersville, North Carolina; two operating rooms, one procedure 
room), and (4) Novant Health Brunswick Endoscopy Center (Bolivia, North Carolina; two endoscopy 
suites).   

In addition, the Health System operates four surgery centers through joint venture agreements: (1) 
Matthews Surgery Center (Matthews, North Carolina; two operating rooms, one procedure room), (2) 
SouthPark Surgery Center (Charlotte, North Carolina; six operating rooms), (3) Prince William Surgery 
Center (Manassas, Virginia; four operating rooms, three procedure rooms), and (4) Haymarket Surgery 
Center (Haymarket, Virginia; two operating rooms, two procedure rooms).   

Managed Care Portfolio 

Through its Business Development and Sales Department, Novant Health maintains a 
comprehensive portfolio of managed care and value-based care agreements for facilities and physicians 
across all markets.  Novant Health contracts with multiple market channels, including commercial, Health 
Exchange, Medicare Advantage, Medicaid, workers compensation and behavioral health on a system-wide 
basis.  Contract terms are aligned across the Health System to the degree different market practices permit.  
The majority of Novant Health’s contracts are multi-year agreements that are renegotiated on a schedule 
designed to minimize revenue disruption. 

The managed care portfolio is overseen by a team of relationship directors, pricing strategists and 
financial analysts.  All of the relationship directors and several of the financial analysts have payor industry 
experience.  Much of this team has been in place for more than five years, led by a Senior Vice President 
with 20 years tenure with Novant Health.  Novant Health combines a retail charge strategy, managed by 
the Pricing Strategy team, in combination with wholesale contracted rates to remain sensitive to market 
conditions and pricing trends.  Novant utilizes a comprehensive pricing strategy, updated annually, which 
specifies the yield targets and price points by market.  The Business Development and Sales Department 
has developed a variety of tools, in conjunction with regional finance and revenue recovery teams, to 
monitor revenue yield, identify discrepancies and take corrective actions with payors. 

Acquisitions, Divestitures and Other Strategic Relationships 

From time to time, the Health System engages in discussions with unaffiliated third parties 
regarding potential acquisitions, divestitures, joint ventures or other arrangements that could impact the 
Health System’s services and the markets in which it operates.  Management is currently evaluating certain 
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options, none of which would be expected to have an adverse effect on the financial position, operating 
results or cash flows of the Members of the Combined Group. 

Physician Network 

As of March 31, 2019, the Health System’s employed physician network included 1,597 full and 
part-time physicians and 986 mid-level providers such as physician assistants and nurse practitioners 
located at 524 sites in 32 counties across North Carolina, northern South Carolina and Virginia.  
Approximately 37% of the employed physicians are primary care physicians, specializing in family 
medicine, internal medicine and pediatrics.  The remainder practice in various specialties such as 
cardiology, orthopedic surgery, pulmonology, infectious disease, endocrinology, neurology, neurosurgery, 
OB/GYN, oncology and pediatric oncology.  The physician network serves patients through a wide variety 
of care delivery sites, including primary care clinics, a staff model medical clinic, occupational medicine 
facilities, urgent care clinics, hospitalist services and specialty clinics. 

Novant Medical Group, Inc., which is a Member of the Combined Group, holds the sole 
membership interest in Forsyth Medical Group, LLC and Carolina Medicorp Enterprises, Inc., other 
Members of the Combined Group.  

The physicians of Novant Medical Group, Inc. are located in and around Alexander, Ashe, 
Brunswick, Cabarrus, Catawba, Davidson, Davie, Durham, Forsyth, Gaston, Guilford, Iredell, Lincoln, 
Mecklenburg, Rockingham, Rowan, Rutherford, Stanly, Stokes, Surry, Union, Wake, Wilkes and Yadkin 
Counties in North Carolina; Lancaster and York Counties in South Carolina; and Culpeper, Fairfax, 
Fauquier, Loudoun, Manassas City and Prince William Counties in Virginia. The following table 
summarizes all network providers in the Health System’s employed physician group as of March 31, 2019: 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 
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Specialty Providers Specialty Providers 
Anesthesiology 1 Pain Medicine 3 
Audiology 1 Pediatric Cardiology 3 
Bariatric Surgery 6 Pediatric Critical Care 4 
Cardiothoracic Surgery 5 Pediatric Endocrinology 2 
Cardiovascular Disease 64 Pediatric Gastroenterology 3 
Child and Adolescent Psychiatry 6 Pediatric Hematology and 

Oncology 
6 

Clinical Cardiac Electrophysiology 8 Pediatric Infectious Diseases 4 
Colon and Rectal Surgery 9 Pediatric Neurology 5 
Counseling 19 Pediatric Pulmonology 2 
Critical Care Medicine 4 Pediatric Sleep Medicine 1 
Dermatology 9 Pediatric Sports Medicine 2 
Developmental-Behavioral Pediatrics 2 Pediatrics 173 
Emergency Medicine 3 Physical Medicine and 

Rehabilitation 
10 

Endocrinology, Diabetes and 
Metabolism 

20 Physical Therapy 14 

Family Medicine 299 Physician Assistant 419 
Gastroenterology 6 Plastic Surgery 2 
General Surgery 34 Podiatric Medicine 9 
Geriatric Medicine 3 Psychiatry 64 
Gynecologic Oncology 7 Psychology 13 
Gynecology 8 Pulmonary Disease 22 
Hematology 1 Radiation Oncology 5 
Hematology and Oncology 33 Registered Dietitian 25 
Hepatobiliary and Pancreas Surgery 2 Rheumatology 8 
Hospice and Palliative Medicine 6 Sleep Medicine 2 
Hospitalist 264 Social Worker 38 
Infectious Diseases 13 Sports Medicine 1 
Internal Medicine 114 Surgical Oncology 1 
Interventional Cardiology 13 Thoracic Surgery 3 
Maternal and Fetal Medicine 6 Urgent Care 12 
Medical Oncology 5 Urogynecology 2 
Neurological Surgery 15 Urology 20 
Neurology 70 Vascular Neurology 2 
Neuropsychology 1 Vascular Surgery 11 
Nurse Midwife 15 Wound Care and Hyperbaric 

Medicine 
6 

Nurse Practitioner 455 Total Mid-level Providers 986 
Obstetrics and Gynecology 116 Total Physicians 1,597 
Orthopedic Surgery 41 Total Practice Sites 524 
Otolaryngology 2   

 
Medical Staff 

In addition to the employed physician network, the Combined Group had a medical staff of 2,335 
physicians with admitting privileges, representing a broad range of medical and surgical specialties, as of 
March 31, 2019.  Of the admitting physicians, approximately 95% are board-certified.  Overall, the average 
age of the medical staff is 48.6 years. 
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FINANCIAL AND UTILIZATION INFORMATION 

Summary of Historical Utilization Information 

The table below summarizes certain information concerning utilization of the principal inpatient 
facilities and the physician network of the Combined Group during the fiscal years ended December 31, 
2016, 2017 and 2018, and the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2019. 

 Fiscal Year Ended 
December 31, 

Three Months Ended
March 31, 

 2016 2017 2018 2018 2019 
Total Combined Group      
Licensed beds 2,301 2,409 2,311 2,359 2,311 
Beds in service 1,667 1,700 1,768 1,845 1,892 
Adjusted patient days (excluding newborn) 1,060,494 1,078,907 1,119,644 282,621 287,464 
Adjusted discharges (excluding newborn) 226,445 235,366 243,829 60,271 61,511 
Emergency room visits 456,012 454,892 456,911 115,580 119,379 
Surgical cases 95,004 96,216 99,951 24,414 25,246 
Physician office visits (excluding inpatient 
facilities) 

4,232,185 4,523,799 4,856,243 1,213,255 1,349,019 

      
Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center           
Licensed beds 921 927 859 927 859 
Beds in service 711 719 734 759 765 
Average daily census 633 640 646 677 668 
Percentage occupancy of licensed beds 69% 69% 75% 73% 78% 
Percentage occupancy of beds in service 89% 89% 88% 89% 87% 
Patient days (excluding newborn) 231,839 233,515 235,639 60,937 60,150 
Adjusted patient days (excluding newborn) 353,961 363,594 371,389 93,428 93,203 
Average length of stay (days) 5.7 5.7 5.9 6.0 5.9 
Discharges (excluding newborn) 40,701 40,913 39,834 10,180 10,301 
Adjusted discharges (excluding newborn) 62,140 63,704 62,782 15,608 15,961 
Emergency room visits 87,800 85,225 84,972 20,929 22,687 
Surgical cases 25,248 25,500 25,832 6,299 6,474 
Newborn births 6,499 6,425 6,514 1,543 1,652 
   
Novant Health Thomasville Medical Center  
Licensed beds 146 146 146 146 146 
Beds in service 83 81 83 88 88 
Average daily census 73 71 72 77 75 
Percentage occupancy of licensed beds 50% 49% 49% 53% 51% 
Percentage occupancy of beds in service 88% 88% 87% 88% 85% 
Patient days (excluding newborn) 26,842 25,876 26,329 6,894 6,709 
Adjusted patient days (excluding newborn) 66,902 65,244 66,031 16,680 16,858 
Average length of stay (days) 6.0 5.5 5.4 5.3 5.2 
Discharges (excluding newborn) 4,564 4,749 4,954 1,253 1,211 
Adjusted discharges (excluding newborn) 11,375 11,974 12,424 3,032 3,043 
Emergency room visits 33,957 33,875 34,041 8,567 9,259 
Surgical cases 4,816 4,643 4,680 1,085 1,229 
Newborn births 695 663 644 123 146 
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 Fiscal Year Ended 
December 31, 

Three Months Ended
March 31, 

 2016 2017 2018 2018 2019 
 
Novant Health Kernersville Medical Center  
Licensed beds 50 50 50 50 50 
Beds in service 29 34 38 45 45 
Average daily census 24 27 30 37 36 
Percentage occupancy of licensed beds 48% 54% 60% 74% 72% 
Percentage occupancy of beds in service 83% 79% 79% 82% 80% 
Patient days (excluding newborn) 8,719 9,715 10,955 3,301 3,269 
Adjusted patient days (excluding newborn) 24,032 26,936 30,019 8,486 8,584 
Average length of stay (days) 3.3 3.4 3.4 3.7 3.6 
Discharges (excluding newborn) 2,591 2,862 3,251 908 902 
Adjusted discharges (excluding newborn) 7,142 7,935 8,908 2,334 2,369 
Emergency room visits 32,541 33,590 35,997 8,988 10,020 
Surgical cases 4,221 4,404 4,368 1,205 967 
   
Novant Health Clemmons Medical Center  
Licensed beds – 36 36 36 36 
Beds in service – 12 15 17 17 
Average daily census – 10 12 13 13 
Percentage occupancy of licensed beds – 28% 33% 36% 36% 
Percentage occupancy of beds in service – 83% 80% 76% 76% 
Patient days (excluding newborn) – 1,490 4,219 1,170 1,208 
Adjusted patient days (excluding newborn) – 2,973 9,011 2,482 2,407 
Average length of stay (days) – 2.0 2.0 2.2 2.0 
Discharges (excluding newborn) – 748 2,118 566 618 
Adjusted discharges (excluding newborn) – 1,492 4,524 1,201 1,231 
Emergency room visits 15,680 17,860 20,062 5,271 5,721 
Surgical cases 1,153 2,023 3,298 814 857 
   
Novant Health Medical Park Hospital  
Licensed beds 22 22 22 22 22 
Beds in service 21 20 18 18 18 
Average daily census 9 8 7 7 8 
Percentage occupancy of licensed beds 41% 36% 32% 32% 36% 
Percentage occupancy of beds in service 43% 40% 39% 39% 44% 
Patient days (excluding newborn) 3,298 3,045 2,711 662 688 
Adjusted patient days (excluding newborn) 16,288 15,944 14,748 3,816 3,835 
Average length of stay (days) 3.6 3.1 3.0 3.2 3.0 
Discharges (excluding newborn) 902 964 890 209 220 
Adjusted discharges (excluding newborn) 4,455 5,048 4,842 1,205 1,226 
Surgical cases 9,700 9,744 9,510 2,419 2,353 
   
Novant Health Presbyterian Medical 
Center  
Licensed beds 629 618 636 618 636 
Beds in service 440 453 480 508 530 
Average daily census 386 399 422 451 469 
Percentage occupancy of licensed beds 61% 65% 66% 73% 74% 
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 Fiscal Year Ended 
December 31, 

Three Months Ended
March 31, 

 2016 2017 2018 2018 2019 
Percentage occupancy of beds in service 88% 88% 88% 89% 88% 
Patient days (excluding newborn) 141,360 145,593 153,891 40,596 42,226 
Adjusted patient days (excluding newborn) 282,286 295,493 310,658 79,166 81,649 
Average length of stay (days) 5.3 5.2 5.4 5.8 5.5 
Discharges (excluding newborn) 26,933 27,316 28,697 7,238 7,481 
Adjusted discharges (excluding newborn) 53,783 55,440 57,930 14,115 14,465 
Emergency room visits 92,014 90,968 90,636 23,005 23,816 
Surgical cases 22,919 22,997 23,628 5,876 5,709 
Newborn births 5,097 5,250 5,467 1,287 1,345 
   
Novant Health Charlotte Orthopedic 
Hospital  
Licensed beds 32 98 48 48 48 
Beds in service 31 23 21 22 24 
Average daily census 29 21 19 20 21 
Percentage occupancy of licensed beds 91% 21% 40% 42% 44% 
Percentage occupancy of beds in service 94% 91% 90% 91% 88% 
Patient days (excluding newborn) 10,507 7,807 6,921 1,801 1,905 
Adjusted patient days (excluding newborn) 15,922 11,512 10,357 2,666 2,886 
Average length of stay (days) 3.4 2.5 2.2 2.2 2.2 
Discharges (excluding newborn) 3,044 3,065 3,082 779 802 
Adjusted discharges (excluding newborn) 4,613 4,520 4,612 1,153 1,215 
Surgical cases 7,481 7,349 8,537 1,929 2,426 
  
Novant Health Matthews Medical Center  
Licensed beds 146 157 157 157 157 
Beds in service 121 119 132 131 145 
Average daily census 105 100 111 110 121 
Percentage occupancy of licensed beds 72% 64% 71% 70% 77% 
Percentage occupancy of beds in service 87% 84% 84% 84% 83% 
Patient days (excluding newborn) 38,301 36,486 40,590 9,858 10,917 
Adjusted patient days (excluding newborn) 89,623 84,690 92,247 21,738 23,709 
Average length of stay (days) 3.8 3.6 3.6 3.6 3.8 
Discharges (excluding newborn) 10,135 10,849 11,385 2,863 2,837 
Adjusted discharges (excluding newborn) 23,716 25,182 25,874 6,313 6,161 
Emergency room visits 49,353 49,304 49,830 12,699 12,009 
Surgical cases 5,625 5,619 5,618 1,363 1,417 
Newborn births 2,221 2,233 2,306 583 516 
   
Novant Health Huntersville Medical Center  
Licensed beds 91 91 93 91 93 
Beds in service 72 83 91 92 97 
Average daily census 61 68 74 76 80 
Percentage occupancy of licensed beds 67% 75% 80% 84% 86% 
Percentage occupancy of beds in service 85% 82% 81% 83% 82% 
Patient days (excluding newborn) 22,250 24,879 27,092 6,839 7,219 
Adjusted patient days (excluding newborn) 59,086 66,140 70,285 17,298 18,329 
Average length of stay (days) 3.3 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.4 
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 Fiscal Year Ended 
December 31, 

Three Months Ended
March 31, 

 2016 2017 2018 2018 2019 
Discharges (excluding newborn) 6,664 7,461 8,100 1,962 2,100 
Adjusted discharges (excluding newborn) 17,697 19,835 21,014 4,963 5,332 
Emergency room visits 37,882 39,227 39,692 9,999 10,330 
Surgical cases 4,771 5,087 5,377 1,245 1,432 
Newborn births 1,459 1,633 1,734 405 446 
   
Novant Health UVA Health System Prince 
William Medical Center  
Licensed beds 130 130 130 130 130 
Beds in service 87 81 77 79 78 
Average daily census 86 81 77 79 78 
Percentage occupancy of licensed beds 66% 62% 59% 61% 60% 
Percentage occupancy of beds in service 99% 100% 100% 100% 100% 
Patient days (excluding newborn) 31,607 29,652 27,956 7,070 7,016 
Adjusted patient days (excluding newborn) 81,560 73,717 68,111 16,720 16,690 
Average length of stay (days) 4.3 4.2 4.2 4.2 4.0 
Discharges (excluding newborn) 7,445 7,064 6,644 1,676 1,734 
Adjusted discharges (excluding newborn) 19,211 17,562 16,187 3,964 4,125 
Emergency room visits 50,294 47,110 44,479 11,603 11,181 
Surgical cases 3,221 2,658 2,551 567 672 
Newborn births 1,472 1,259 1,012 270 223 
   
Novant Health UVA Health System 
Haymarket Medical Center  
Licensed beds 60 60 60 60 60 
Beds in service 18 21 24 27 26 
Average daily census 18 21 24 27 26 
Percentage occupancy of licensed beds 30% 35% 40% 45% 43% 
Percentage occupancy of beds in service 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 
Patient days (excluding newborn) 6,629 7,614 8,732 2,435 2,358 
Adjusted patient days (excluding newborn) 25,548 28,388 32,831 8,643 8,257 
Average length of stay (days) 2.8 3.0 3.5 2.8 2.8 
Discharges (excluding newborn) 2,398 2,570 3,131 878 839 
Adjusted discharges (excluding newborn) 9,242 9,582 11,772 3,116 2,938 
Emergency room visits 24,446 24,975 25,666 6,468 6,305 
Surgical cases 1,477 1,567 1,713 398 471 
Newborn births 610 771 949 269 234 
   
Novant Health Brunswick Medical Center  
Licensed beds 74 74 74 74 74 
Beds in service 54 54 55 59 59 
Average daily census 43 41 41 45 42 
Percentage occupancy of licensed beds 58% 55% 55% 61% 57% 
Percentage occupancy of beds in service 80% 76% 75% 76% 71% 
Patient days (excluding newborn) 15,764 15,141 15,036 4,026 3,755 
Adjusted patient days (excluding newborn) 45,286 44,276 43,957 11,498 11,057 
Average length of stay (days) 3.5 3.4 3.4 3.6 3.2 
Discharges (excluding newborn) 4,550 4,477 4,433 1,144 1,170 
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 Fiscal Year Ended 
December 31, 

Three Months Ended
March 31, 

 2016 2017 2018 2018 2019 
Adjusted discharges (excluding newborn) 13,071 13,092 12,960 3,267 3,445 
Emergency room visits 32,045 32,758 31,536 8,051 8,051 
Surgical cases 4,372 4,625 4,839 1,214 1,239 
Newborn births 475 509 489 120 135 
   
Novant Health Medical Group, Inc.  
Practice locations 384 450 500 429 505 
Physicians (excludes Midlevel Providers) 1,420 1,487 1,550 1,467 1,505 
Physician office visits  4,232,185 4,523,799 4,856,243 1,213,255 1,349,019 

 

Summary of Historical Financial Information 

Set forth below is a historical, comparative summary of the combined revenues and expenses of 
the Members of the Combined Group for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2016, 2017 and 2018 and the 
three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2019. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]  
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Fiscal Year Ended 

December 31, 
Three Months Ended 

March 31, 
 2016 2017 2018 2018 2019 
  
 (dollars in thousands) 
Operating revenues      
Net patient service revenues $ 3,658,019 $3,870,098 $ 4,203,329 $ 1,011,793 $ 1,108,179 
Other revenue 184,251 150,419 152,203 25,610 31,051 

Total operating revenues 3,842,270 4,020,517 4,355,532 1,037,403 1,139,230 
      
Operating expenses      
Salaries and employee benefits 2,041,824 2,276,240 2,447,707 604,682 680,835 
Supplies and other 1,233,763 1,266,288 1,343,438 318,573 360,742 
Depreciation and amortization 

expense 199,297 200,057 213,492 50,439 51,058 
Interest expense 66,792 59,598 60,653 14,600 16,453 

Total operating expenses 3,541,676 3,802,183 4,065,290 988,294 1,109,088 
      
 Operating income 300,594 218,334 290,242 49,109 30,142 
      
Non-operating income 

(expense)      
Investment income (loss) 132,406 268,987 (139,243) (8,030) 174,804 
Income tax expense (1,090) (5,112) (515) − −
Gain on extinguishment of debt 6,304 − − − −
Other net periodic pension costs 28,252 (2,793) (16,021) − (342) 

Excess of revenues over 
expenses 466,466 479,416 134,463 41,079 204,604 

      
Other changes in net assets 
without donor restrictions      
Change in funded status of 

defined benefit plans 979 (573) 2,281 − −
Unrealized gain on derivative 

financial instruments 5,564 7,330 9,788 6,834 844 
Formation of Novant Health 

UVA Health System (6,236) − − − −
Capital contributions (to) from 

unrestricted affiliates (238,924) (14,759) 17 2,391 (5,873) 
Purchase of noncontrolling 

interest − (9,800) − − −
Other changes in net assets 

without donor restrictions 4,567 (795) (4,091) 1 (10) 
Increase in net assets without 

donor restrictions $ 232,416 $ 460,819 $ 142,458 $  50,305 $ 199,565 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Summary of Historical Utilization Information and 
Summary of Historical Financial Information for Members of the Combined Group 

Three Months ended March 31, 2019 compared with Three Months ended March 31, 2018 
(amounts in thousands) 

For the three months ended March 31, 2019, the excess of revenues over expenses was $204,604, 
which was a $163,525 increase from the three months ended March 31, 2018.  Operating income was 
$30,142 in 2019, a decrease of $18,967 from the prior year.  The operating margin decreased to 2.6% for 
2019 compared to 4.7% for 2018.  The operating cash flow margin decreased to 8.6% from 11.0% in the 
prior year.  Total non-operating results were $174,462 compared to ($8,030) in the prior year, primarily 
due to increases in investment income as a result of improved market performance. 

Total operating revenues were $1,139,230 in 2019, representing an increase of $101,827 or 9.8% 
from the prior year.  The increase was a result of volume growth, favorable product mix and rate increases. 

Total operating expenses were $1,109,088 in 2019, representing an increase of $120,794 or 12.2% 
from the prior year. Salaries and employee benefits increased 12.6% to $680,835 primarily due to annual 
wage and market adjustments and increases in health insurance and retirement plan costs as well as 
increases in the number of employees related to new facilities and volume increases.  Supplies and other 
expenses increased 13.2% to $360,742, primarily due to inflationary increases and volume growth.  
Depreciation and amortization expense increased 1.2% to $51,058 as a result of capital expenditures.  
Interest expense increased 12.7% to $16,453 due to the changes in variable interest rates and changes in the 
fair value of interest rate swaps. 

Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2018 compared with Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2017 
(amounts in thousands) 

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, the excess of revenues over expenses was $134,463, 
which was a $344,953 decrease from the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017.  Operating income was 
$290,242 in 2018, an increase of $71,908 from the prior year.  The operating margin increased to 6.7% for 
2018 compared to 5.4% for 2017.  The operating cash flow margin increased to 13.0% from 11.9% in the 
prior year.  Total non-operating results were $(155,779) compared to $261,082 in the prior year, primarily 
due to decreases in investment income as a result of declines in market performance. 

Total operating revenues were $4,355,532 in 2018, representing an increase of $335,015 or 8.3% 
from the prior year.  The increase was a result of increased patient volumes, rate increases and favorable 
managed care contract changes, offset by payor mix declines. 

Total operating expenses were $4,065,290 in 2018, representing an increase of $263,107 or 6.9% 
from the prior year. Salaries and employee benefits increased by 7.5% to $2,447,707 primarily due to 
increases in employees, annual wage and market adjustments and increases in health insurance and 
retirement plan costs.  Supplies and other expenses increased 6.1% to $1,343,438, primarily due to 
inflationary increases and increases in patient volumes.  Depreciation and amortization expense increased 
6.7% to $213,492 due to increased capital expenditures primarily for construction projects.  Interest expense 
increased 1.8% to $60,653 due to changes in variable interest rates. 
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Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2017 compared with Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2016 
(amounts in thousands) 

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, the excess of revenues over expenses was $479,416, 
which was a $12,950 increase from the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016.  Operating income was 
$218,334 in 2017, a decrease of $82,260 from the prior year.  The operating margin decreased to 5.4% for 
2017 compared to 7.8% for 2016.  The operating cash flow margin decreased to 11.9% from 14.7% in the 
prior year.  Total non-operating results were $261,082 compared to $165,872 in the prior year, primarily 
due to increases in investment income as a result of improved market performance, partially offset by an 
increase in other net periodic pension costs. 

Total operating revenues were $4,020,517 in 2017, representing an increase of $178,247 or 4.6% 
from the prior year.  The increase was a result of increased patient volumes, rate increases and favorable 
managed care contract changes, offset by payor mix declines. 

Total operating expenses were $3,802,183 in 2017, representing an increase of $260,507 or 7.4% 
from the prior year.  Salaries and employee benefits increased by 11.5% to $2,276,240 primarily due to 
annual wage and market adjustments and increases in health insurance and retirement plan costs.  Supplies 
and other expense increased 2.6% to $1,266,288 due to inflationary increases and increases in patient 
volumes.  Depreciation and amortization expense increased 0.4% to $200,057 primarily due to additions of 
property and equipment.  Interest expense decreased 10.8% to $59,598 primarily due to debt payoffs that 
occurred in 2016. 

Supplemental Financial Ratios 

The following table presents three liquidity and leverage ratios for the Combined Group: (1) Days’ 
Cash on Hand, as defined in the Master Indenture (see Appendix C), (2) the ratio of “Debt,” defined as all 
outstanding long-term debt, including the current portion thereof, of the Combined Group, to 
“Capitalization,” defined as Debt plus the net assets without donor restrictions of the Combined Group, and 
(3) the ratio of “Cash,” as defined in clause (i) of the definition of Days’ Cash on Hand in the Master 
Indenture (see Appendix C), to Debt.  These ratios are not measures of operating performance or liquidity 
defined by generally accepted accounting principles and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures 
presented by other companies. 

Combined Group Supplemental Historical and Pro Forma Financial Ratios 

 
Fiscal Year Ended  

December 31 
Three Months Ended 

March 31, 

 2016 2017 2018 2019 
Pro Forma1 

2019 
Days’ Cash on Hand 241 267 228 208 209 
Debt to Capitalization 31.7% 28.9% 27.6% 27.4% 26.7% 
Cash to Debt 162.0% 191.1% 178.7% 178.4% 185.2% 

   
1  Pro forma ratios assume that long-term debt will be reduced by $46.515 million in principal amount, reflecting the 
issuance of the Bonds in the principal amount of $306.985 million, the payment of the outstanding principal amount 
of the 2009A Bonds at maturity on November 1, 2019 ($250.0 million), and the repayment of draws on the Revolving 
Credit Facility (as defined below) made prior to March 31, 2019 ($103.5 million) on the date of delivery of the Bonds.  
Pro forma ratios also assume that cash will be reduced by $96.336 million, reflecting additional unrestricted cash of 
$176.364 million from proceeds of the Bonds, less cash used for the repayment of debt ($272.7 million), consisting 
of the payment of the 2009A Bonds at maturity on November 1, 2019 ($250.0 million) and the repayment of draws 
on the Revolving Credit Facility ($22.7 million).  Pro forma ratios exclude anticipated draws on the Revolving Credit 



 

 
A-31 

Facility between April 1, 2019 and the date of delivery of the Bonds in the amount of $31.5 million and the repayment 
of such amount with proceeds of the Bonds on the date of delivery thereof.     
 
Outstanding Bonds and Other Debt; Interest Rate Swaps 

Outstanding Debt.  The following table presents the Combined Group’s debt related to bonds 
issued by the North Carolina Medical Care Commission and the Prince William County Industrial 
Development Authority and other long-term and short-term debt as of March 31, 2019 and pro forma 
outstanding debt following the issuance of the Bonds and related refinancing or repayment of certain 
outstanding debt.  For more information regarding the outstanding long-term debt of Novant Health and its 
affiliates, including the Combined Group, see Note 13 in Appendix B to this official statement and 
“ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS” in the front part of this official statement. 

Novant Health Combined Group 
Bonds and Other Debt 

Outstanding 
Principal Amount 

as of March 31, 2019 
(in thousands) 

Pro Forma 
Principal 
Amount 

(in thousands) 
Long-Term Debt – Fixed Rate:   
North Carolina Medical Care Commission Series 2019A $               – $    306,985 
North Carolina Medical Care Commission Series 2013A 128,970 128,970 
Prince William County IDA Series 2013B 140,350 140,350 
Novant Health Taxable Series 2013C 250,000 250,000 
North Carolina Medical Care Commission Series 2010A 264,165 264,165 
Novant Health Taxable Series 2009A1 250,000 – 
Subtotal $ 1,033,485 $ 1,090,470 
   
Long-Term Debt – Variable Rate:   
North Carolina Medical Care Commission Series 2008A $      34,755 $      34,755 
North Carolina Medical Care Commission Series 2008B 39,845 39,845 
North Carolina Medical Care Commission Series 2008C 27,010 27,010 
North Carolina Medical Care Commission Series 2004A 110,000 110,000 
North Carolina Medical Care Commission Series 2004B 25,000 25,000 
Subtotal $    236,610 $    236,610 
   
Other Debt:   
Revolving Credit Facility2 $    103,500 $               – 
   
TOTAL $ 1,373,595 $ 1,327,080 

   
1 Assumes 2009A Bonds will be paid at maturity on November 1, 2019. 
2 Amount, including additional borrowings after March 31, 2019, to be prepaid on the date of delivery of the Bonds 
using $112.3 million of the proceeds of the Bonds and $22.7 million of Novant’s own funds.  The Revolving Credit 
Facility will remain available for future draws after the issuance of the Bonds.   
 

Intercompany Loan to MedQuest.  Novant Health acquired MedQuest in November 2007.  In 
January 2008, Novant Health loaned MedQuest, its wholly-owned subsidiary, substantially all of the 
proceeds of a bank credit facility pursuant to a credit agreement between Novant Health and MedQuest.  
Amounts loaned to MedQuest pursuant to the credit agreement bear interest at 5.85% and repayment is 
secured by a first lien on the assets of MedQuest.  MedQuest used the proceeds of this loan to refinance 
existing indebtedness and secured annual debt service savings in excess of $25 million.  In 2009, Novant 
Health refinanced the bank credit facility with the proceeds from the issuance of Novant Health’s Taxable 
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Series 2009A Bonds and Taxable Series 2009B Bonds.  Although MedQuest is not a Member of the 
Combined Group, the credit agreement requires MedQuest to make principal and interest payments to 
Novant Health, which is an additional source of funds Novant Health can use to pay principal and interest 
on the debt of the Combined Group. 

During 2009, Foundation Health Systems Corporation (“FHSC”), a Member of the Combined 
Group, purchased substantially all of the North Carolina assets of MedQuest.  As part of the transaction, 
Novant Health loaned to FHSC $184.7 million pursuant to a credit agreement that bears interest at 5.85%.  
The credit agreement between Novant Health and MedQuest was reduced by this amount.  The FHSC loan 
was converted to equity in February 2019.  The amount of the MedQuest debt outstanding as of March 31, 
2019 is $54 million. 

Variable Rate Bonds.  The Combined Group has approximately $237 million in outstanding 
variable rate bonds, $135 million of which are variable rate demand bonds (Series 2004A and Series 
2004B). The Series 2004A Bonds and Series 2004B Bonds are supported by a standby purchase agreement 
(“SBPA”) issued by JPMorgan Chase Bank National Association. The SBPA expires on January 31, 2021.  
In March 2011, the bond documents related to the Series 2008A, B and C Bonds were amended to provide 
for the conversion of such Bonds to bank direct purchase index floating rate bonds and such Bonds were so 
converted at that time. In December 2017, the Series 2008A, B and C Bonds were refinanced, with the 
direct purchase agreements having a seven year term that will expire in December 2024. As of March 31, 
2019, the Series 2008A, B and C Bonds have an outstanding principal balance of approximately $102 
million.  For a discussion of certain risks related to variable rate bonds, see “BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS” 
in the front part of this official statement. 

Interest Rate Swaps.  To attempt to manage the interest rate risk associated with certain tax-
exempt variable rate bonds issued by the North Carolina Medical Care Commission, Novant 
Health has entered into three interest rate swap agreements.  None of the three interest rate swap 
agreements described below require collateral postings. 

Novant Health has two interest rate swap agreements to hedge the variable interest rates of the 
Series 2008A, B and C Bonds. The aggregate notional amount related to these swaps is $101.610 million 
as of March 31, 2019.  Under these swap agreements, Novant Health receives a variable rate which is tied 
to 68% of One-Month LIBOR and pays a fixed rate of 3.679% and 3.621% for $74.600 million and $27.010 
million notional amounts, respectively.  These swaps have been designated as cash flow hedges and are 
carried on the balance sheet at fair value. At the time the contracts were entered into, these swaps were 
assessed for effectiveness and qualified for hedge accounting. These contracts have been assessed for 
effectiveness on an ongoing basis at each quarter end using the hypothetical derivative method. In the fourth 
quarter of 2018, the hedging relationship ceased to be highly effective and hedge accounting was 
discontinued. 

Novant Health also has a floating-to-fixed swap agreement to hedge the floating rate of the Series 
2004A Bonds and Series 2004B Bonds.  The notional amount related to this swap is $135 million as of 
March 31, 2019.  Under this swap agreement, Novant Health receives a variable rate which is tied to 64.8% 
of One-Month LIBOR plus 12 basis points and pays a fixed rate of 3.8%.  At the time this contract was 
entered into, the swap was assessed for effectiveness and qualified for hedge accounting.  The contract has 
been assessed for effectiveness on an ongoing basis at each quarter end using the hypothetical derivative 
method. In the first quarter of 2019, the hedging relationship ceased to be highly effective and hedge 
accounting was discontinued. 

These swap agreements were entered into in accordance with Novant Health’s derivative policy 
which allows the use of derivatives to hedge for capital financings and not for investment or speculative 
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purposes.  Novant Health maintains comprehensive policies approved by the Novant Health Board that 
govern the issuance or any activity related to interest rate swaps and other derivative instruments.  For more 
information regarding these interest rate swaps, see Note 15 in Appendix B to this official statement.  For 
a discussion of certain risks related to these interest rate swaps, see “BONDHOLDER’S RISKS” in the 
front part of this official statement. 

Revolving Credit Facility.  On June 13, 2013, Novant Health entered into a $200 million senior 
revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”).  In March 2017, the Revolving Credit Facility 
was amended and draws are available through March 27, 2022.  The Revolving Credit Facility bears interest 
at variable rates. As of the date of this official statement, a principal balance of $135 million is outstanding 
under the Revolving Credit Facility.  Novant Health intends to pay the outstanding principal balance of the 
Revolving Credit Facility on the date that the Bonds are issued, using approximately $112 million of 
proceeds from the issuance of the Bonds and $23 million of its own funds to do so.  The Revolving Credit 
Facility will remain available for future draws after the issuance of the Bonds. PNC Bank, National 
Association serves as Syndication Agent and a lender for the Revolving Credit Facility.  See “CERTAIN 
RELATIONSHIPS” in the front part of this official statement. 

Additional Debt.  Novant Health has guaranteed the payment of the indebtedness of certain equity 
method investees.  See Note 21 in Appendix B to this official statement for additional information.  See 
“Capital Expansion Plans” below for a discussion of other long-term debt expected to be incurred to finance 
capital expenditures expected to be made during the period 2019 to 2023. 

Coverage Ratio 

The following table presents the Combined Group’s historical Coverage Ratio for the fiscal years 
ended December 31, 2016, 2017 and 2018 and a pro forma Coverage Ratio based on 2018 financial results.  
Subject to the qualifications noted below for the pro forma Coverage Ratio, the Coverage Ratio measures 
how many times the Combined Group’s Income Available for Debt Service (as such term is defined in the 
Master Indenture) covers the Long-Term Debt Service Requirement (as such term is defined in the Master 
Indenture).  This ratio is not a measure of operating performance or liquidity as defined by generally 
accepted accounting principles and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other 
companies. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 
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Combined Group Historical and Pro Forma Coverage Ratio 
(dollars in thousands) 

 Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 
 2016 2017 2018 
Excess of revenues over expenses $466,466 $479,416 $134,463
Plus:  
Depreciation and amortization 199,297 200,057 213,492
Interest expense 66,792 59,598 60,653
Unrealized (gains) losses on investments (88,675) (150,271) 285,851
Income Available for Debt Service $643,880 $588,800 $694,459
Long-Term Debt Service Requirement $102,346 $  87,247 $  88,340
Historical Coverage Ratio 6.29 6.75 7.86
Pro Forma Long-Term Debt Service Requirement1 − − $  85,776
Pro Forma Coverage Ratio2 − − 8.10

   
1 The Pro Forma Long-Term Debt Service Requirement (a) takes into account the issuance of the Bonds in the 
aggregate principal amount of $306,985,000 and 12 months of interest thereon at the rates set forth on the inside cover 
of this official statement and (b) excludes debt service on the 2009A Bonds and the Revolving Credit Facility during 
the fiscal year ended on December 31, 2018.     
2 Calculated as Income Available for Debt Service divided by the Pro Forma Long-Term Debt Service Requirement 
(subject to the qualifications described in footnote 1 above).   
 
Capital Projects to be Financed or Refinanced with Bond Proceeds 

The proceeds from the issuance of the Bonds will be used primarily for expenditures related to six 
capital projects: Novant Health Charlotte Orthopedic Hospital Replacement, Novant Health Clemmons 
Medical Center Expansion, Novant Health Matthews Medical Center Expansion, Novant Health Mint Hill 
Medical Center construction, Novant Health Huntersville Medical Center Expansion, and Novant Health 
Presbyterian Medical Center Infrastructure.  Total expenditures related to these projects and other minor 
projects and to be funded with proceeds of the Bonds are expected to be $325 million.  Of that amount, the 
Combined Group has spent approximately $258 million through May 31, 2019. 

The following table outlines the expected use of proceeds for repayment of the Revolving Credit 
Facility, reimbursement to the Combined Group and remaining construction costs: 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 
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Use of Bond Proceeds 
(dollars in thousands) 

 
Cash 

Reimbursements 

Revolving 
Credit 
Facility 

Repayments 

Deposit to 
Construction 

Fund Total 

Charlotte Orthopedic Hospital Replacement $            − $ 53,755 $             − $53,755 
Clemmons Medical Center Expansion − 27,595 − 27,595 
Matthews Medical Center Expansion − 19,404 − 19,404 
Mint Hill Medical Center 88,290 4,999 4,326 97,615 
Huntersville Medical Center Expansion 37,293 − 17,017 54,310 
Presbyterian Medical Center Infrastructure 19,292 − 46,482 65,774 
Other Projects − 6,547 − 6,547 
     
TOTAL $ 144,875 $ 112,300 $ 67,825 $ 325,000 

 
Novant Health Charlotte Orthopedic Hospital Replacement is construction of an 89,000 square 

foot inpatient replacement facility for the existing Novant Health Orthopedic Hospital campus.  The new 
facility consists of a bed tower with 32 inpatient beds, seven operating rooms and three specialized care 
units focused on specialty care for orthopedic and spine cases.  The hospital opened in the fall of 2017. 

Novant Health Clemmons Medical Center Expansion includes the addition of a 36-bed inpatient 
unit and bed tower and one additional operating room.  The 99,000 square foot expansion was completed 
in the summer of 2017. 

Novant Health Matthews Medical Center Expansion includes the addition of a 25,800 square foot, 
two story addition to the existing facility.  The expansion added new services focused on women’s health 
to include 20 additional beds, triage rooms and classrooms, as well as renovated procedure suites and 
nursery.  The project was completed in the summer of 2016. 

Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center is a new 120,000 square foot acute care facility, which 
opened in October 2018.  The facility is comprised of 36 inpatient beds, four operating rooms and one 
endoscopy suite.  In addition, this facility includes 10 observation beds, a 16 bay emergency department, 
laboratory and imaging.  Also located on the campus of this facility is a medical office building that houses 
multiple physician practices to support the facility. 

Novant Health Huntersville Medical Center Expansion is an expansion and renovation of 
this facility to add an additional 48 acute care beds and one additional operating room.  Construction 
is currently underway and is expected to be completed by the end of June 2019. 

Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center Infrastructure is the demolition and renovation of 
patient rooms and support spaces on four floors of Towers A, B and C.  This includes updating medical 
rooms, team member lounges and physician spaces.  In addition, the HVAC systems for Towers A, B and 
C will be replaced and modernized.  Renovations are expected to be completed by the end of September 
2019. 

Capital Expansion Plans 

During the five-year period from 2019 to 2023, Novant Health expects to make capital expenditures 
of approximately $2.0 billion for improvements to various facilities throughout its regions, including 
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acquiring and installing capital equipment.  The following table highlights Novant Health’s capital plans 
for the Health System and includes projects that are currently under construction and projects that will begin 
construction during the five year period.  No assurances can be given that the actual costs of such projects 
will be consistent with the allocated capital set forth below. 

Type of Improvement Allocated Capital 
Large Projects $ 1,075,000,000 
Market 500,000,000 
Technology Enabled 125,000,000 
Facility 100,000,000 
Imaging 100,000,000 
Contingency 100,000,000 
TOTAL $ 2,000,000,000 

 
Novant Health and its affiliates continually examine and, in some cases, pursue potential 

opportunities for growth both inside and outside of its current service areas.  In some cases, these expansions 
require applying for and obtaining Certificates of Need (North Carolina), Certificates of Public Need 
(Virginia), or other regulatory approvals.  Certificates of Need (“CON”) and Certificates of Public Need 
(“COPN”) applications have been filed or announced in the case of several expansion projects currently 
being pursued, but there can be no assurance that such CONs or COPNs will be obtained or that such 
projects will be undertaken in any such event.  Furthermore, such expansion projects could be undertaken 
by affiliates that are not Members of the Obligated Group or Restricted Affiliates. 

Certificates of Need 

In normal course of business, Novant Health will seek to compete for assets regulated by CON in 
North Carolina and South Carolina, and COPN in Virginia.  Novant Health focuses its efforts predominantly 
on its existing markets of Greater Charlotte, Greater Winston-Salem, Eastern North Carolina and Northern 
Virginia.  Novant Health may from time to time consider applying for regulated assets in contiguous 
markets. 

On March 30, 2019, Novant Health was awarded a CON to construct Novant Health Ballantyne 
Medical Center in Charlotte, North Carolina.  Novant Health Ballantyne Medical Center is being designed 
to have 36 acute care beds, two operating rooms and a single procedure room when initially opened.  The 
facility will have the flexibility to add additional operating rooms, procedure rooms and acute care beds as 
the need arises.  Concurrently, Novant Health was awarded a CON to construct and operate an additional 
operating room and 12 additional acute care beds at Novant Health Huntersville Medical Center. 

Pension Plan and Other Post-Retiree Benefits 

Certain Novant Health affiliates participate in the Pension Restoration Plan of Novant Health, Inc. 
(the “Novant Health Plan”), a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all of the 
affiliates’ employees of record as of December 1998. Participation is limited to vested employees as of 
December 31, 1998. Effective January 1, 2008 and July 1, 2009, Novant Health assumed two 
noncontributory defined benefit plans, the Pension Plan for the Employees of Rowan Regional Medical 
Center (the “Rowan Plan”) and the Prince William Hospital Corporation Cash Balance Pension Plan (the 
“Prince William Plan”), respectively. Participation in the Rowan Plan was closed to new entrants and the 
accrued benefits were frozen as of December 31, 2003. Participation in the Prince William Plan was closed 
to new entrants and the accrued benefits were frozen as of April 1, 2010. The assets of the plans are 
primarily invested in fixed income securities (both U.S. Government and corporate debt) and cash and cash 
equivalents. 
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On February 20, 2018, the Novant Health Board of Trustees decided to cease all future accruals 
and terminate the Novant Health Plan effective April 30, 2018. This termination resulted in a curtailment 
which decreased the pension liability by $5,900,000. Also, Novant Health recorded an additional 
$3,637,000 in pension expense related to plan amendments as a result of the plan termination. Both of these 
items were recorded in other net periodic pension costs in the consolidated statements of operations and 
changes in net assets. The Novant Health Board of Trustees also decided to terminate the Rowan Plan and 
the Prince William Plan as of April 30, 2018. The termination of these two plans did not have an impact on 
the consolidated financial statements. 

Final settlement of the plan termination will occur in the second half of 2019, at which point Novant 
Health expects to record additional expense in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net 
assets.  The amount is dependent primarily on lump sum take rates and changes in discount rates between 
year-end and the final termination of the plans.  Upon termination, if required, Novant Health will provide 
additional funding to the plans.  As Novant Health moves to plan termination accounting, a deviation in the 
annuity purchase rate and plan benefit discount rate of 25 basis points would require additional estimated 
expense between $2,000,000 and $13,300,000 to be recorded in the consolidated statements of operations 
and changes in net assets.  Any additional expense would be recorded in other net periodic pension costs in 
the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets. 

Certain Novant Health affiliates have supplemental retirement income plans covering highly 
compensated employees. These are nonqualified plans which are not subject to ERISA funding 
requirements. As such, Novant Health intends only to fund the plans in amounts equivalent to the plans’ 
annual benefit payments. During 2013, Novant Health implemented a new supplemental retirement income 
plan that covers certain highly compensated employees. This plan acts as a defined contribution plan and 
annual funding requirements are determined under provisions of the plan. Some of these plans are non-
qualified deferred compensation plans which provide certain individuals meeting specific criteria with the 
ability to defer compensation. The assets of these plans are held in a rabbi trust, which restricts access to 
the assets. The assets of these plans, along with the associated liabilities, are recorded as current and long-
term assets limited as to use, accrued liabilities, and employee benefits and other liabilities on the 
consolidated balance sheets. 

Novant Health also provides fixed dollar amounts for health care and life insurance benefits to 
certain retired employees. Covered employees may become eligible for these benefits if they meet minimum 
age and service requirements, and if they are eligible for retirement benefits. Novant Health has the right to 
modify or terminate these benefits. 

Third Party Reimbursement and Sources of Payment 

The following table presents the sources of gross patient charges of the Combined Group’s acute 
care hospitals by type of payor, expressed as a percentage of total gross charges, for the three fiscal years 
ended December 31, 2016, 2017 and 2018 and for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2019.  Gross 
patient charges is not a measure of operating performance or liquidity as defined by generally accepted 
accounting principles and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies.   
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 Fiscal Year Ended 
December 31, 

Three Months Ended 
March 31, 

 2016 2017 2018 2018 2019 
Medicare 44.6% 45.1% 45.4% 46.8% 46.8% 
Medicaid 12.1 11.7 11.3 11.2 11.0 
Managed Care 34.6 33.6 33.2 32.0 32.4 
Commercial and Other 3.4 3.8 4.0 4.4 3.9 
Direct from Patient 5.3 5.8 6.1 5.6 5.9 
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 
SERVICE AREA FOR THE MEMBERS OF THE COMBINED GROUP 

Primary and Secondary Service Areas 

The Health System and its affiliates serve North Carolina, South Carolina and Virginia.  The total 
market area for the Members of the Combined Group is divided into four main markets:  1) the Greater 
Winston-Salem Market, which consists of Forsyth County, North Carolina and six contiguous counties; 2) 
the Greater Charlotte Market, which consists of Mecklenburg County, North Carolina and eight contiguous 
counties; 3) the Eastern Carolina Market, which consists of Brunswick County and two contiguous counties; 
4) and the Northern Virginia Market which consists of Prince William County, Virginia and two contiguous 
counties.  The Greater Winston-Salem and Greater Charlotte Markets encompass two of the three largest 
metropolitan areas in North Carolina.  The Health System also operates in other geographic markets 
including Raleigh/Durham/Chapel Hill, North Carolina.  The Members of the Combined Group, however, 
do not have a significant presence in these markets. 

The primary service area for the Greater Winston-Salem Market is Forsyth County, the primary 
service area for the Greater Charlotte Market is Mecklenburg County, the primary service area for the 
Eastern Carolina Market is Brunswick County and the primary service area for the Northern Virginia 
Market is Prince William County.  The secondary service area for the Greater Winston-Salem Market 
includes Davidson, Davie, Stokes, Surry, Wilkes and Yadkin Counties, all of which are in North Carolina.  
The secondary service area for the Greater Charlotte Market includes Cabarrus, Gaston, Iredell, Lincoln, 
Rowan and Union Counties in North Carolina and Lancaster and York Counties in South Carolina.  The 
secondary service area for the Eastern Carolina Market includes Columbus and New Hanover Counties in 
North Carolina.  The secondary service area for the Northern Virginia Market includes Fauquier and Fairfax 
Counties in Virginia. 

The following maps provide a graphic representation of the Combined Group’s service area: 
Greater Winston-Salem Market (1); Greater Charlotte Market (2); Eastern Carolina Market (3); and 
Northern Virginia Market (4): 
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North Carolina and South Carolina 

 

Virginia 
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Patient Origin Data 

The following table summarizes the most recently available patient origin data indicating the 
distribution of acute care patient discharges by county of residence for calendar years 2015, 2016, 2017 and 
2018 and for the three months ended March 31, 2019. 

Combined Group Patient Origin by County 

Greater Winston-Salem Market Patient Origin 

County of Origin 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Three Months 
Ended March 

31, 2019 
Forsyth 50.4% 49.5% 49.8% 49.5% 51.1% 
Davidson 11.9 12.1 12.1 12.6 12.2 
Davie 4.9 5.1 4.5 4.3 4.1 
Stokes 6.3 6.5 6.5 6.4 6.1 
Surry 5.5 5.4 5.5 5.6 5.8 
Wilkes 2.1 2.1 2.1 2.1 2.1 
Yadkin 4.2 4.2 4.1 4.2 4.2 
Subtotal 85.3% 84.9% 84.6% 84.7% 85.6% 
Other 14.7% 15.1% 15.4% 15.3% 14.4% 
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 
Greater Charlotte Market Patient Origin  

County of Origin 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Three Months 
Ended March 

31, 2019 
Mecklenburg 63.5% 63.8% 64.1% 63.6% 64.0% 
Cabarrus 2.5 2.7 2.7 2.9 2.7 
Gaston 4.0 3.6 3.8 3.7 3.6 
Iredell 2.7 2.6 2.7 2.9 2.8 
Lancaster, South 
Carolina 

1.5 1.7 1.7 1.6 1.7 

Lincoln 2.1 1.9 2.1 2.3 2.3 
Rowan 1.2 1.0 1.1 1.3 1.7 
Union 12.0 12.6 12.5 12.5 12.7 
York, South 
Carolina 3.2 3.0 3.1 2.8 3.1 
Subtotal 92.7% 92.9% 93.8% 93.6% 94.6% 
Other 7.3% 7.1% 6.2% 6.4% 5.4% 
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 



 

 
A-41 

Eastern Carolina Market Patient Origin  

County of Origin 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Three Months 
Ended March 

31, 2019 
Brunswick 88.8% 88.8% 90.1% 90.7% 92.3% 
Columbus 2.2 2.6 2.8 2.5 2.8 
New Hanover 1.3 1.2 1.1 1.1 0.7 
Subtotal 92.3% 92.6% 94.0% 94.3% 95.8% 
Other 7.7% 7.4% 6.0% 5.7% 4.2% 
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 
Northern Virginia Market Patient Origin  

County of Origin 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Three Months 
Ended March 

31, 2019 
Prince William 83.6% 80.3% 79.3% 79.2% 80.1% 
Fairfax 2.8 2.5 2.5 2.3 2.0 
Fauquier 5.8 6.8 6.6 7.3 8.1 
Subtotal 92.2% 89.6% 88.4% 88.8% 90.2% 
Other 7.8% 10.4% 11.6% 11.2% 9.8% 
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 
Population in Service Area 

The Members of the Combined Group draw patients from a service area that included a total 
estimated population of approximately 5.7 million in 2018.  The population in this service area is projected 
to increase 3.1% from 2018 to 2020 and by 14.1% from 2020 to 2030.  The following table summarizes 
census data in 2010, estimated population in 2018 and projected population in 2020 and 2030:  

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 
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Combined Group Population by County 

  Estimated Projected 
County 2010 2018 2020 2030 
Greater Winston-Salem Market     
Forsyth 350,670 377,523 385,208 423,006 
Davidson 162,878 167,762 169,834 180,208 
Davie 41,240 43,193 44,209 49,280 
Stokes 47,401 46,604 46,595 46,574 
Surry 73,673 73,117 73,117 73,116 
Wilkes 69,340 69,907 70,494 73,431 
Yadkin 38,406 38,477 38,944 39,952 
Greater Winston-Salem Market Subtotal 783,608 816,583 828,401 885,567 
Greater Charlotte Market:     
Mecklenburg 919,628 1,093,708 1,138,473 1,354,203 
Cabarrus 178,011 209,303 217,144 260,271 
Gaston 206,086 221,607 224,998 241,359 
Iredell 159,437 179,330 185,517 216,472 
Lancaster, South Carolina 76,652 95,380 95,870 117,700 
Lincoln 78,265 84,608 87,395 99,369 
Rowan 138,428 142,342 144,278 153,970 
Union 201,292 232,814 242,474 295,739 
York, South Carolina 226,073 274,118 277,300 332,540 
Greater Charlotte Market Subtotal 2,183,872 2,533,210 2,613,449 3,071,623 
Eastern Carolina Market:     
Brunswick 107,431 136,126 143,157 176,429 
Columbus 58,098 56,505 56,475 56,474 
New Hanover 202,667 233,595 241,782 282,723 
Eastern Carolina Market Subtotal 368,196 426,226 441,414 515,626 
Northern Virginia Market:     
Prince William1 454,096 521,627 546,044 657,764 
Fairfax2 1,256,530 1,346,040 1,391,157 1,511,468 
Fauquier 65,203 70,150 70,302 78,259 
Northern Virginia Market Subtotal 1,775,829 1,937,817 2,007,503 2,247,491 

TOTAL 5,111,505 5,713,836 5,890,767 6,720,307 
 
Sources: 2010 census data per www.census.gov. Estimated 2018, Projected 2020 and Projected 2030 figures from 
North Carolina State Office of Budget and Management, South Carolina Office of Research and Statistics, Welden 
Cooper Center for Public Service – University of Virginia. 
1  Prince William County includes the independent cities of Manassas and Manassas Park. 
2  Fairfax County includes the independent cities of Fairfax, Alexandria and Falls Church. 

Income and Employment in Service Area 

The following is a summary of selected income data for the primary and secondary service areas 
of the Members of the Combined Group: 
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Combined Group Median Household Income by County  
and Per Capita Income by County 

County 

2017  
Median Household 

Income 

2017  
Per Capita 

Income 

Greater Winston-Salem Market:   
Forsyth $50,803 $28,640 
Davidson 47,595 24,231 
Davie 58,147 29,234 
Stokes 48,748 23,500 
Surry 43,023 22,533 
Wilkes 42,453 21,798 
Yadkin 46,885 23,038 

Greater Charlotte Market:   

Mecklenburg $65,750 $35,669 
Cabarrus 62,167 29,143 
Gaston 50,016 24,937 
Iredell 56,559 30,393 
Lancaster, South Carolina 57,667 26,425 
Lincoln 57,042 27,359 
Rowan 47,541 23,838 
Union 77,875 32,754 
York, South Carolina 62,620 30,387 

Eastern Carolina Market:   

Brunswick $56,227 $29,707 
Columbus 37,639 21,849 
New Hanover 53,692 31,708 

Northern Virginia Market:   

Prince William $100,431 $38,225 
Fairfax County 117,989 52,976 
Fauquier 96,835 43,067 
   

  
Sources: https://www.ers.usda.gov for household income and www.census.gov for per capita income. 
 

The following is a summary of selected employment data for the primary and secondary service 
areas of the combined Greater Winston-Salem, Greater Charlotte and Eastern Carolina Markets as of 
December 31 for years 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017: 
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Employment Statistics 
Greater Winston-Salem, Greater Charlotte, and Eastern Carolina Markets Combined 

Year Labor Force Employed Unemployed 
Rate of 

Unemployment 

2014 1,750,687 1,642,199 108,488 6.4% 
2015 1,792,378 1,693,451 98,927 5.7 
2016 1,837,153 1,748,016 89,137 5.0 
2017 1,883,644 1,801,923 81,721 4.4 

  
Source: USDA website 

The following is a summary of selected employment data for the primary and secondary service 
areas of the Northern Virginia Market as of December 31 for years 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017: 

Employment Statistics  
Northern Virginia Market 

Year Labor Force Employed Unemployed 
Rate of 

Unemployment 

2014 909,659 869,569 40,090 4.7% 
2015 902,284 868,496 33,788 4.0 
2016 907,894 877,162 30,732 3.5 
2017 927,973 898,699 29,274 3.3 

  
Source: USDA website 

 

The following is a summary of average annual comparative unemployment rates for the Greater 
Winston-Salem Market, Greater Charlotte Market, Eastern Carolina Market, Northern Virginia Market, 
the State of North Carolina, the Commonwealth of Virginia, and the United States for the periods shown: 

Average Annual Unemployment Rates 

 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 
Greater Winston-Salem Market 8.0% 6.1% 5.4% 4.7% 4.2% 
Greater Charlotte Market 8.2 6.3 5.6 4.9 4.3 
Eastern Carolina Market 9.2 7.4 6.7 5.9 5.2 
State of North Carolina 8.0 6.3 5.7 5.1 4.6 
Northern Virginia Market 5.0 4.7 4.0 3.5 3.3 
Commonwealth of Virginia 5.7 5.2 4.5 4.1 3.8 
United States 7.4 6.2 5.3 4.9 4.4 

  
Source:  USDA website 
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COMPETITION IN SERVICE AREA 

General 

There are 43 acute care hospitals in the primary and secondary service areas of the Members of the 
Combined Group, providing approximately 9,100 licensed beds.  The Health System provides 2,685 of 
these licensed beds, or approximately 29.5% of the total.  Members of the Combined Group provide 2,311 
of the licensed beds, or approximately 25.4% of the total in the primary and secondary service area of the 
Members of the Combined Group. 

Atrium Health, Wake Forest Baptist Health and Wake Forest University have signed a 
memorandum of understanding regarding the creation of a new academic healthcare system and the 
development of a second Wake Forest School of Medicine campus in Charlotte, North Carolina.   

Greater Winston-Salem Market 

North Carolina Baptist Hospital (“NCBH”) is the only other hospital providing acute care services 
in the Greater Winston-Salem Market’s primary service area.  NCBH is an 885-bed tertiary care teaching 
facility located in Winston-Salem, North Carolina, approximately one and one-half miles from Novant 
Health Forsyth Medical Center.  NCBH is part of Wake Forest Baptist Health, an integrated academic 
health system that includes the Wake Forest School of Medicine.  NCBH and the Wake Forest School of 
Medicine (collectively known as Wake Forest University Baptist Medical Center) are located on the same 
campus and act as a regional referral center for much of central and western North Carolina.  As a referral 
center for the region, NCBH serves a large area without maintaining a majority of the market share in any 
one county.  In Forsyth County, NCBH had a 32.2% market share for the nine months ended September 
30, 2018.  

Wake Forest University Health Sciences (“WFUHS”) and Forsyth Memorial Hospital, Inc. have 
previously entered into agreements providing that (a) all routine deliveries in Forsyth County, as well as 
certain aspects of WFUHS’s obstetrics and perinatal teaching programs, are to be consolidated at Novant 
Health Forsyth Medical Center and (b) WFUHS is the exclusive provider of professional physician and 
medical director services in the areas of Maternal Fetal Medicine, OB Anesthesia, Pediatric Ophthalmology 
and Neonatology at Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center.  In early July 2018, WFUHS announced its 
intention to start its own birthing services at NCBH in Winston-Salem, which services are expected to begin 
sometime in 2019.  WFUHS also provided notice in May 2019 of termination of the prior agreements, but 
has committed to continue to provide professional physician and medical director services at Novant Health 
Forsyth Medical Center through June 30, 2020. 

In response, Novant Health has begun the process of identifying other potential providers to ensure 
the continuation of all services currently provided in the Women’s Center following the departure of the 
WFUHS physicians.  These efforts include contracting with an OB Hospitalist service to begin in 
September 2019, hiring a maternal fetal medicine specialist to begin work in the fall of 2019 and issuing a 
request for proposals to OB Anesthesia groups to provide these services at Novant Health Forsyth Medical 
Center.  Novant Health expects that the scope of obstetrical and perinatal services performed at Novant 
Health Forsyth Medical Center will not change.  However, the volume of deliveries and other obstetrical 
and perinatal services performed at Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center could be negatively impacted 
due to increased competition from NCBH. 

The following table reflects the combined inpatient market share of the hospitals in the Greater 
Winston-Salem Market operated by the Members of the Combined Group, which are Novant Health Forsyth 
Medical Center, Novant Health Medical Park Hospital, Novant Health Thomasville Medical Center, Novant 
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Health Clemmons Medical Center and Novant Health Kernersville Medical Center and their principal 
competitors in the primary service area for calendar years 2015, 2016 and 2017 and for the nine months 
ended September 30, 2018. 

Greater Winston-Salem Market Primary Service Area – Forsyth County 

Name of Hospital 2015 2016 2017 

Nine Months 
Ended 

September 
30, 2018 

Novant Greater Winston-Salem 
Market Hospitals 60.2% 59.3% 59.4% 59.5% 
North Carolina Baptist Hospital 33.2 33.0 32.4 32.2 
Others 6.6 7.7 8.2 8.3 

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 
  
Source:  Truven 

In the Greater Winston-Salem Market’s secondary service area there are seven other acute care 
hospitals:  Hugh Chatham Memorial Hospital, Pioneer Community Hospital of Stokes, WFBH - Wilkes 
Medical Center, WFBH - Lexington Medical Center, WFBH - Davie Medical Center, Northern Hospital of 
Surry County and WFBH – High Point Medical Center. 

The following table reflects the combined inpatient market share of the hospitals in the Greater 
Winston-Salem Market operated by Members of the Combined Group and their principal competitors in 
the primary and secondary service areas for calendar years 2015, 2016 and 2017 and for the nine months 
ended September 30, 2018. 

Greater Winston-Salem Market Primary and Secondary Service Area – 
Forsyth and Six Contiguous Counties 

Name of Hospital 2015 2016 2017 

Nine Months 
Ended 

September 
30, 2018 

Novant Greater Winston-Salem Market 
Hospitals 46.3% 49.4% 47.1% 47.5% 
Wake Forest Baptist Hospitals 34.8 39.5 33.6 33.5 
Others 18.9 19.1 19.3 19.0 

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 
  
Source:  Truven 

Greater Charlotte Market 

There are several tertiary care hospitals located within the Greater Charlotte Market’s primary and 
secondary service areas.  Atrium Health owns and operates several hospitals in Mecklenburg and outlying 
counties, with Carolinas Medical Center in Charlotte as the flagship hospital.  In Mecklenburg County, 
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Atrium Health owns Carolinas Medical Center, as well as three community hospitals:  Atrium-Health 
University City, Carolinas Medical Center - Mercy, and Atrium-Health Pineville.  Atrium Health also leases 
and manages several hospitals in contiguous counties and those extending to the west. Atrium Health 
maintains physician referral relationships throughout the Carolinas.  As of the nine months ended 
September 30, 2018, Atrium Health had a 60.1% market share in Mecklenburg County and 58.5% of the 
licensed acute beds in that county (1,316 compared to the Novant Health’s Greater Charlotte Market 
hospitals’ 934 total licensed acute beds).  Combined, the Atrium Health and Novant Greater Charlotte 
Market hospitals hold almost all of the market share in Mecklenburg County. 

The following table reflects the combined market share of the Health System’s hospitals in the 
Greater Charlotte Market that are operated by Members of the Combined Group, which are Novant Health 
Presbyterian Medical Center, Novant Health Matthews Medical Center, Novant Health Huntersville 
Medical Center and Novant Health Charlotte Orthopaedic Hospital, and their principal competitors in the 
Greater Charlotte Market’s primary service area for calendar years 2015, 2016 and 2017 and for the nine 
months ended September 30, 2018. Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center is not included in the combined 
market share because it opened in October 2018. 

Greater Charlotte Market Primary Service Area – 
Mecklenburg County 

Name of Hospital 2015 2016 2017 

Nine 
Months 
Ended 

September 
30, 2018 

Atrium Health Hospitals  60.4% 61.4% 61.2% 60.1% 
Novant Greater Charlotte Market 
Hospitals 

36.3 34.8 34.9 36.0 

Others1 3.3 3.8 3.9 3.9 

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 
  
1  Includes Novant Health Rowan Medical Center, which is operated by an affiliate of Novant that is not a Member 
of the Combined Group.   
Source:  Truven 

In the Greater Charlotte Market’s secondary service area, there are many community and tertiary 
care hospitals competing for referrals.  Largest among these hospitals are Atrium Health’s Carolinas 
HealthCare System NorthEast in Concord, Cabarrus County, North Carolina; CaroMont Regional Medical 
Center, Gastonia, Gaston County, North Carolina; and Piedmont Medical Center, Rock Hill, York County, 
South Carolina.  Each of the hospitals in the region derives the majority of its patients from its home county. 

The following table reflects the combined market share of the Health System’s hospitals in the 
Greater Charlotte Market and their principal competitors in the Greater Charlotte Market’s primary and 
secondary service areas for calendar years 2015, 2016 and 2017 and for the nine months ended September 
30, 2018. 
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Greater Charlotte Market Primary and Secondary Service Areas – 
Mecklenburg County and Eight Contiguous Counties 

Name of Hospital 2015 2016 2017 

Nine 
Months 
Ended 

September 
30, 2018 

Atrium Health Hospitals  53.6% 53.6% 53.6% 52.7% 
Novant Health Greater Charlotte Market 
Hospitals 

22.7 22.0 22.1 22.8 

CaroMont Health 9.3 9.7 9.6 10.0 
Others1 14.4 14.7 14.7 14.5 

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 
__________________________ 

1Includes Novant Health Rowan Medical Center, which is operated by an affiliate of Novant that is not a Member of 
the Combined Group. 
Source:  Truven 

Eastern Carolina Market 

There are three other hospitals located in the Eastern Carolina Market’s primary and secondary 
service areas.  New Hanover Regional Medical Center, located in Wilmington, North Carolina, is a 700-
bed tertiary facility and is the primary market share holder in both the Eastern Carolina Market’s primary 
and secondary service areas.  Dosher Memorial Hospital (“Dosher”) is a 25-bed community hospital located 
in Southport, North Carolina.  Dosher is the only other hospital located in the Eastern Carolina Market’s 
primary service area of Brunswick County.  Columbus Regional Medical Center is a 154-bed hospital 
located in the Eastern Carolina Market’s secondary service area.  Columbus Regional Medical Center has 
been managed by Atrium Health since 2007.  Grand Strand Regional Medical Center (“GSRMC”) is a 369-
bed tertiary care facility located in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina.  Though located outside the Eastern 
Carolina Market’s primary and secondary service areas, GSRMC draws patients from such service areas. 

The following table reflects the inpatient market share of Novant Health Brunswick Medical 
Center, a Member of the Combined Group, and its principal North Carolina competitors in the Eastern 
Carolina Market primary service area for calendar years 2015, 2016 and 2017 and for the nine months 
ended September 30, 2018. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 
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Eastern Carolina Market Primary Service Area – Brunswick County 

Name of Hospital 2015 2016 2017 

Nine 
Months 
Ended 

September 
30, 2018 

New Hanover Regional Medical Center 53.4% 53.6% 54.8% 51.8% 
Novant Health Brunswick Medical Ctr. 31.5 30.8 29.6 30.8 
J. Arthur Dosher Memorial Hospital 6.1 6.0 6.3 6.8 
Others 9.0 9.6 9.3 10.6 

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 
_________________ 
Source:  Truven 

The following table reflects the combined market share of Novant Health Brunswick Medical 
Center and its North Carolina competitors in the Eastern Carolina Market’s primary and secondary service 
areas for calendar years 2015, 2016 and 2017 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. 

Eastern Carolina Market Primary and Secondary Service Area – 
Brunswick and Two Contiguous Counties 

Name of Hospital 2015 2016 2017 

Nine 
Months 
Ended 

September 
30, 2018 

New Hanover Regional Medical Center 69.7% 69.9% 70.6% 68.8% 
Columbus Regional Medical Center 9.3 8.4 8.2 8.5 
Novant Health Brunswick Medical Center 10.2 10.3 10.0 10.5 
Others 10.8 11.4 11.2 12.2 

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 
__________________ 
Source:  Truven 

Northern Virginia Market 

Sentara Northern Virginia Medical Center (“SNVMC”) is the only other hospital providing acute 
care services in the Northern Virginia Market’s primary service area of Prince William County.  SNVMC 
is a 183-bed hospital located in Woodbridge, Virginia, approximately 15 miles from Prince William 
Hospital.  There are several acute care facilities located in Fairfax County, Virginia and surrounding areas 
that draw patients from Prince William County.  Inova Health (“Inova”), an integrated health system 
headquartered in Falls Church, Virginia, owns and operates five acute care hospitals in the Washington, 
D.C. metropolitan area that draw patients from Prince William County.  Two Inova acute care facilities are 
located in Fairfax County:(1) Inova Fairfax Hospital, a 923-bed regional medical center located in Falls 
Church, Virginia, is a regional referral center and Inova’s flagship hospital; and (2) Inova Fair Oaks 
Hospital, a 182-bed acute care community hospital located in Fairfax, Virginia.  The Inova acute care 
facilities located outside Fairfax County are Inova Alexandria Hospital, a 318-bed community hospital 
located in Alexandria, Virginia, Inova Mount Vernon Hospital, a 237-bed hospital located in Alexandria, 
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Virginia, and Inova Loudoun Hospital, a 183-bed community hospital located in Leesburg, Virginia.  
Reston Hospital Center (“Reston”), a 187-bed hospital located in Reston, Virginia, is the only other acute 
care facility in Fairfax County apart from the Inova facilities. Unlike the Inova facilities, Reston does not 
draw a significant number of patients from Prince William County.  Fauquier Hospital, a 97-bed community 
hospital located in Warrenton, Virginia, is the only acute care facility in Fauquier County, Virginia. 
Fauquier Hospital is located approximately 20 miles from Prince William Hospital. 

The following table reflects the inpatient market share of Prince William Hospital, a Member of 
the Combined Group, and its principal competitors in the Northern Virginia Market primary service area 
for calendar years 2015, 2016 and 2017 and for the first nine months ended September 30, 2018. 

Northern Virginia Market Primary Service Area – Prince William County 

Name of Hospital 2015 2016 2017 

Nine 
Months 
Ended 

September 
30, 2018 

Inova Hospitals1 27.2% 28.4% 28.8% 30.3% 
Sentara Northern Virginia Medical 
Center 

28.4 28.2 27.7 26.9 

Prince William Hospital2 24.6 23.4 23.0 22.2 
Others3 19.8 20.0 20.5 20.6 

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 
___________________ 
1  Includes Inova hospitals in Fairfax County as well as Inova hospitals in surrounding areas. 
2  Includes Novant Health UVA Health System Prince William Medical Center and Novant Health UVA Haymarket 
Medical Center. 
3  Includes Novant Health UVA Health System Culpeper Medical Center which is an affiliate of Prince William 
Hospital but not a Member of the Combined Group. 
Source:  Truven 

The following table reflects the combined market share of Prince William Hospital and its 
competitors in the Northern Virginia Market’s primary and secondary service areas for calendar years 2015, 
2016 and 2017 and for the first nine months ended September 30, 2018. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 
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Northern Virginia Market Primary and Secondary Service Areas 
Prince William and Two Contiguous Counties 

Name of Hospital 2015 2016 2017 

Nine 
Months 
Ended 

September 
30, 2018 

Inova Hospitals1 56.1% 56.1% 55.7% 54.4% 
Sentara Northern Virginia Medical      
Center 

8.6 8.8 8.8 7.8 

Prince William Hospital2 7.8 7.6 7.7 6.8 
Reston Hospital Center 7.3 7.4 7.3 6.7 
Virginia Hospital Center 11.4 10.7 11.1 15.5 
Others3 8.8 9.4 9.4 8.8 

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 
________________ 
1  Includes Inova hospitals in Fairfax County as well as Inova hospitals in surrounding areas. 
2  Includes Novant Health UVA Health System Prince William Medical Center and Novant Health UVA Health 
System Haymarket Medical Center. 
3  Includes Novant Health UVA Health System Culpeper Medical Center which is an affiliate of Prince William 
Hospital but not a Member of the Combined Group. 
Source:  Truven 

ACCREDITATION 

Each of the Health System’s acute care hospital facilities, including those facilities operated by the 
Members of the Combined Group, is certified for Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement and accredited 
by The Joint Commission.  In addition, the hospitals are licensed by the Division of Health Service 
Regulation, North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services or the Virginia Department of 
Health, as applicable.  The Health System’s hospitals are members of the North Carolina Healthcare 
Association or the Virginia Hospital & Healthcare Association, as applicable, as well as the American 
Hospital Association and the Voluntary Hospital Association. 

RESEARCH AND EDUCATION 

Novant Health is committed to supporting the physicians at its hospitals and in the Novant Medical 
Group, Inc. clinical research projects.  Novant Health supports clinical research through a corporate 
research office and corporate Institutional Review Board. Both of these departments support research 
efforts across the Health System. The corporate structure provides an integrated approach to clinical 
research for the Health System’s clinical investigators. The research team consists of clinical research nurse 
coordinators, clinical research coordinators, regulatory administrators, clinical research assistants, financial 
support and leadership. The clinical research team in the Greater Winston-Salem Market works with the 
Health System’s heart and vascular, neurosciences, oncology, women’s health, hospital based medicine, 
and community based medicine service lines  in the investigation of new devices and therapies for 
indications as disparate as carotid artery disease to cardiac rhythm disturbances.  Forsyth Medical Group, 
LLC physicians collaborate with local trial management groups to conduct clinic-based research, testing 
new therapies and pharmaceuticals and providing the latest in disease management and treatment. At the 
Derrick L. Davis Cancer Center, preventive and therapeutic cancer clinical trials are offered in cooperation 
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with the National Institutes of Health and the National Cancer Institute and pharmaceutical sponsors. 
Upwards of 500 new patients participate each year as volunteers in clinical research programs. 

The clinical research team in the Greater Charlotte Market also works with the Health System’s 
heart and vascular, neurosciences, oncology, women’s health, hospital based medicine, and community 
based medicine service lines to investigate research protocols that will lead to better medical practice.  
Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center is a primary research site for many pharmaceutical and medical 
device companies in such areas as cardiology, neuroscience, pediatrics and oncology.  A large number of 
the medical staff participates in national research trials as co-investigators.  In 2015, Novant’s Charlotte-
based pediatric hematology and oncology practice affiliated with St. Jude and became the St. Jude Affiliate 
Clinical at Novant Health Hemby Children’s Hospital. It is the only St. Jude affiliate clinic in the Carolinas. 
The affiliation with St. Jude offers patients the latest research and newest treatments doctors can prescribe.  
The Presbyterian Cancer Center and Novant Health Charlotte Orthopedic Hospital support medical staff in 
multiple clinical research protocols.  Mid Carolina Cardiology with its very active cardiovascular research 
program has joined Novant Medical Group, Inc., adding substantially to the research presence in the Greater 
Charlotte Market.  Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center also works with many colleges, universities 
and professional organizations to provide a variety of health care educational programs. 

At Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center, residents and medical students in obstetrics and 
gynecology are trained through a joint program with Wake Forest University Baptist Medical Center.  This 
partnership also results in numerous clinical research protocols focused on pregnant women and newborns, 
conducted in Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center’s mother/baby units. 

EMPLOYEES 

As of March 31, 2019, the Health System employed approximately 26,700 full-time equivalent 
employees (“FTEs”), of which approximately 24,000 were employed by Members of the Combined Group 
(including Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center, LLC).  None of the Health System’s employees are 
represented by collective bargaining organizations.  Management of Novant believes that the salary levels 
and benefits packages for its employees are competitive.  Novant has been effective in recruiting and 
retaining key clinical staff during a time when the nation is experiencing a well-documented shortage of 
nurses, pharmacists and other professionals. 

Focusing on a culture of diversity and inclusion is central to Novant Health’s values.  The Health 
System has implemented policies and procedures and has provided resources throughout the organization 
to drive this initiative.  For leaders and team members, Novant Health provides awareness training in 
addition to various other learning forums such as team member meetings, workshops, retreats, web chats, 
business resource groups and Diversity and Inclusion Month celebrations. 

Novant Health has been named one of the top 10 hospitals and health systems in the nation by 
DiversityInc, the country’s leading source for advancing and recognizing excellence in diversity 
management.  The Health System was also named the fourth best organization in the nation and second 
among U.S. hospital systems in the 2017 Diversity MBA magazine rankings for “Best Places for Women & 
Diverse Managers to Work.” Diversity MBA is a national leadership organization integrating diversity and 
inclusion with talent management. 
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INSURANCE AND LITIGATION 

Insurance Overview 

In 2016, Novant Health established Novant Health Casualty, LLC (“NHC”) as a captive insurance 
company under the laws and regulatory guidance of North Carolina.  NHC is acknowledged by the North 
Carolina Captive Insurance Association as a captive member in good standing.  NHC was formed for the 
purpose of providing a number of various types of insurance coverage, to include but not limited to, 
professional liability coverage for physicians employed or credentialed by affiliates of Novant Health, 
healthcare professional liability, general liability, deductible reimbursement programs, pollution liability, 
employee stop loss liability and offer opportunity for funding of additional coverages as indicated by the 
operations of Novant Health. 

NHC accomplishes this purpose through two captive cells:  Physicians Insurance Protected Cell 
(“PIPC”) and Trinova Insurance Protected Cell (“TIPC”).  The functions of each of the cells and the NHC 
parent company are overseen and managed by separate individual boards of directors for NHC, PIPC and 
TIPC. 

Underlying this captive insurance structure is the existence of the Novant Health Self-Insured Trust 
(“NHSIT”), which provides for self-insured retentions for Novant Health owned non-profit entities, funded 
by actuarial evaluation and overseen by the NHSIT Board of Directors.  For additional detail, please see 
section titled “Professional Liability Insurance” below. 

The captive insurance policies issued by PIPC and TIPC are “Claims Made” policies: 

PIPC.  The primary insurance policies issued by PIPC to Novant Health affiliates covering a 
physician employed by such affiliates provides for coverage of the physician with limits of $1,000,000 per 
occurrence and $3,000,000 annual aggregate. Each policy is subject to a self-insured retention of $500,000.  
This retention layer is insured by the NHSIT. 

Additionally, a second PIPC policy has been issued to cover physicians employed by Novant Health 
affiliates with limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence and $3,000,000 annual aggregate.  This second PIPC 
policy is subject to a $50,000 PIPC retention and is re-insured through Berkley Insurance for the remaining 
$950,000.  The purpose of this second policy is to address physician liability which could occur within a 
skilled nursing or long-term care facility not managed or owned by Novant Health or its affiliate entities. 

TIPC.  Each insurance policy issued for coverage of a Novant Health exposure is issued with the 
approval of the Board of Directors and the North Carolina Department of Insurance.  The premium for each 
issued insurance policy is assessed and determined by a third party actuarial service and issued to the TIPC 
entity for payment.  TIPC provides coverages for Novant Health exposures that include a for-profit or joint 
venture exposure or affiliation exposure.  TIPC also provides policies for Novant Health employee stop 
loss, storage tank liability and a property deductible reimbursement policy for small facilities that 
experience property loss up to $10,000 per occurrence.  TIPC may also provide policy issuance for smaller 
liability policies of organizations not covered commercially, or in addition to commercial coverage.  Tail 
liabilities for former entities and affiliates may be contained within TIPC.  Historically, issued physician 
policies for non-employed physicians provides limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence and $3,000,000 annual 
aggregate.  The limits for the non-employed physicians do not include any excess coverages from NHSIT 
or excess layers. 

The insurance premiums paid to PIPC by each affiliate of Novant Health are determined by third-
party actuarial services.  The insurance premiums paid to TIPC by each non-employed physician are 
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determined by TIPC based on the then-current pricing available in the physician medical professional 
liability insurance market, with consideration given to the historical performance and exposures of the non-
employed physician as determined by TIPC in connection with its underwriting process. 

Professional Liability Insurance 

Novant Health utilizes the NHSIT for professional and general liability claims asserted on or after 
April 1, 1989.  The NHSIT is the vehicle through which professional and general liability coverage is 
provided for all non-profit Novant Health-owned facilities and staff, and through which the deductibles for 
employed physicians, employment practices liability and directors and officers liability claims are funded.  
As of December 31, 2018, the NHSIT fund had assets of approximately $56,400,000 and related liabilities 
of approximately $58,100,000.  Self-insurance is limited to $3,000,000 per occurrence and $20,000,000 
annual aggregate with an inner aggregate of $2,000,000 per claim, $4,000,000 aggregate.  The NHSIT is 
funded annually at an expected level, discounted based upon actuarial projections which are approved by 
the Board of Directors of NHSIT.  To date, there has been no discounting of expected losses and funding 
is at 100% of expected losses.  The insurance premiums to be paid to NHSIT by each affiliate of Novant 
Health are determined by third-party actuarial services. 

Claims exceeding the above limits for Novant Health and its affiliates are covered by four excess 
insurance policies, which became effective October 1, 2001.  Each of the four layers provides limits of 
$25,000,000 per occurrence, and $25,000,000 annual aggregate.  SOMPO/Endurance Specialty Insurance 
Company, Ltd.  (Bermuda) provides the primary excess layer, followed by Ironshore Specialty Insurance 
Company (US Domestic), Allied World Assurance Companies, Ltd. (Bermuda), and AXA XL (Bermuda), 
respectively, for total company limits of excess equaling $100,000,000. 

Members of the Novant Health medical staff are required to carry professional liability insurance 
with coverage limits of not less than $1,000,000 per claim/$3,000,000 aggregate. 

General Insurance 

Property.  The Health System’s properties are insured by Zurich Insurance (US Domestic) on a 
replacement value basis for fire and extended coverage perils in a total amount of $1,500,000,000 per 
occurrence with various deductibles and sub-limits. 

Directors & Officers.  Directors & Officers (“D&O”) coverage for Novant Health is provided by 
five layers of coverage, providing a total of $60,000,000 in annual limit.  D&O coverage does include 
coverage for executive professional liability exposure of Novant Health with a separate retention and full 
limits. The primary carrier is Beazley Insurance Company, which provides $15,000,000 in limit, followed 
by National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh PA (AIG) for $15,000,000 excess of $15,000,000, 
Markel American Insurance Company $10,000,000 excess of $30,000,000, Navigators Insurance Company 
$10,000,000 excess of $40,000,000 and Allied World Assurance Company Ltd.  $10,000,000 excess of 
$50,000,000, for a total combined coverage limit of $60,000,000. 

Workers Compensation.  Workers compensation coverage for North Carolina is maintained 
through an actuarially funded self-insurance program with an annual stop loss coverage beginning at 
$750,000 with statutory limits.  For MedQuest and all of Novant’s South Carolina and Virginia based 
employees, workers compensation coverage is provided through commercial policies with Sentry Insurance 
Company.  There is currently one existing Virginia facility that has maintained coverage through a 
guaranteed program commercial coverage with MEMIC, set to transition to Sentry Insurance Company in 
2019. 
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Auto/Emergency Auto.  Automobile liability coverage is provided by Sentry Insurance Company 
with limits of liability of $1,000,000 per occurrence.  Emergency automobile coverage is provided through 
Markel Insurance Company with limits of liability of $2,000,000 per occurrence. 

Other Coverage.  Various other coverage and policies exist that cover other exposures of the 
organization such as fiduciary liability, cyber risk, employee dishonesty/crime, helipad liability, and 
additional package policies for organizational elements which require additional or separate coverage based 
upon the business arrangement or management of the entities.  Lines of coverage such as employer liability, 
automobile, and critical care transport are included within the excess lines described above. 

Litigation 

On November 26, 2018, a nurse employed by a Novant Health subsidiary filed a complaint in the 
United States District Court for the Western District of North Carolina alleging violations of the Fair Labor 
Standards Act (“FLSA”) and the North Carolina Wage and Hour Act (“NCWHA”).  Plaintiff contends she 
was not paid for work performed during meal breaks and was not paid a proper overtime rate, and she seeks 
to bring her claims on behalf of a putative collective and class of allegedly similarly situated medical 
workers who have worked at any Novant Health affiliated facility since November 26, 2015.  Plaintiff has 
not filed a motion for conditional certification of the FLSA collective and has not moved for certification 
of the NCWHA class.   Novant Health believes there are meritorious defenses to the underlying claims and 
to the certification of a class or collective and intends to defend this matter vigorously.  This matter is in its 
early stages, and Novant Health cannot predict the outcome or potential adverse financial impact at this 
time. 

Except as described above, there is no litigation pending or, to the knowledge of Novant’s 
management, threatened, which, if decided adversely to Novant or one of its affiliates, including the 
Members of the Combined Group, could have a material adverse effect on the business, operations, 
financial position or properties of Novant or any one of its affiliates, including the Members of the 
Combined Group.  Furthermore, there is no litigation pending or, to the knowledge of Novant’s 
management, threatened, involving professional liability claims in which the amount sought by the plaintiff 
exceeds applicable professional liability insurance policy coverage limits. 
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PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 800 Green Valley Road, Suite 500, Greensboro, NC 27408
T: (336) 665 2700, F: (336) 665 2699, www.pwc.com/us

Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of
Novant Health, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Novant Health, Inc. and Affiliates 
(the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and 
the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in net assets and of cash flows for the years 
then ended.  

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; 
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audits.  
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Company's 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Novant Health, Inc. and Affiliates as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
and the results of their operations, their changes in net assets and their cash flows for the years then ended 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

March 29, 2019



Novant Health, Inc. and Affiliates
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2018 and 2017 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

�

(in thousands of dollars) 2018 2017

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 228,653$ 408,698$
Accounts receivable, net 570,074 518,502
Short-term investments 485,452 300,071
Current portion of assets limited as to use 20,896 18,713
Receivable for settlement with third-party payors 13,240 21,232
Other current assets 201,183 197,048

Total current assets 1,519,498 1,464,264

Assets limited as to use 180,031 181,140
Long-term investments 2,156,877 2,314,684
Property and equipment, net 2,173,021 2,018,908
Intangible assets and goodwill, net 323,091 325,916
Investments in affiliates 50,083 43,476
Deferred tax asset 10,725 4,594
Other assets 109,231 111,089

Total assets 6,522,557$ 6,464,071$

Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt 305,095$ 67,609$
Short-term borrowings 87,558 88,049
Accounts payable 210,925 194,738
Accrued liabilities 400,144 414,351
Estimated third-party payor settlements 35,547 39,706

Total current liabilities 1,039,269 804,453

Long-term debt, net of current portion 1,060,877 1,343,676
Deferred tax liability 5,928 1,158
Derivative financial instruments 36,370 44,832
Employee benefits and other liabilities 341,213 340,074

Total liabilities 2,483,657 2,534,193

Commitments and contingencies

Net assets
Without donor restrictions - attributable to Novant Health 3,877,651 3,778,254
Without donor restrictions - noncontrolling interests 83,716 77,639

Total net assets without donor restrictions 3,961,367 3,855,893

With donor restrictions 77,533 73,985
Total net assets 4,038,900 3,929,878
Total liabilities and net assets 6,522,557$ 6,464,071$

Assets

Liabilities and Net Assets



Novant Health, Inc. and Affiliates
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

�

(in thousands of dollars) 2018 2017

Operating revenues
Net patient service revenues 4,697,425$ 4,319,314$
Other revenue 288,451 276,078

Total operating revenues 4,985,876 4,595,392

Operating expenses
Salaries and employee benefits 2,736,346 2,543,037
Supplies and other 1,657,375 1,568,236
Depreciation expense 246,780 237,957
Amortization expense 2,854 3,004
Interest expense 70,318 68,719

Total operating expenses 4,713,673 4,420,953
Operating income 272,203 174,439

Non-operating (expense) income
Investment (loss) income (160,509) 307,847
Income tax benefit (expense) 530 (3,028)
Other net periodic pension costs (18,212) (1,388)

Excess of revenues over expenses 94,012$ 477,870$

Other changes in net assets without donor restrictions
Change in funded status of defined benefit plans 3,064 (739)
Unrealized gain on derivative financial instruments 9,787 7,330
Purchase of noncontrolling interest - (9,800)
Other changes in net assets without donor restrictions (1,389) (7,057)

Increase in net assets without donor restrictions 105,474 467,604
Net assets with donor restrictions
Contributions and investment income 12,246 20,568
Net assets released from restrictions for operations (8,698) (6,631)

Increase in net assets with donor restrictions 3,548 13,937
Increase in total net assets 109,022 481,541

Net assets, beginning of year 3,929,878 3,448,337
Net assets, end of year 4,038,900$ 3,929,878$



Novant Health, Inc. and Affiliates
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 

(in thousands of dollars)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities
Increase in net assets 109,022$ 481,541$
Adjustments to reconcile changes in net assets to net cash 
 provided by operating activities

Depreciation, amortization, and accretion 249,739 244,278
Gain on sale of real estate (3,534) (3,997)
Actuarial loss on pension and postretirement benefits 19,063 684
Change in funded status of defined benefit plans (3,064) 739
Share of earnings in affiliates, net of distributions (12,599) (1,688)
Net realized and unrealized losses (gains) on assets limited as to use 

and investments 203,400 (282,612)
Change in fair value of interest rate swaps (8,462) (5,473)
Contributions restricted for capital (6,296) (10,288)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of assets acquired

and liabilities assumed
Accounts receivable (88,370) (32,589)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (8,168) 74,560
Deferred taxes, net (1,361) (1,595)
Other assets and liabilities, net (14,140) (6,702)

Net cash provided by operating activities 435,230 456,858

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures (390,843) (286,213)
Proceeds from sales of long-term investments 1,516,947 1,548,043
Purchase of long-term investments (1,549,561) (1,582,752)
Proceeds from sales of short-term investments 680,178 495,034
Purchase of short-term investments (863,874) (534,421)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 6,594 5,535
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates (1,519) (8,898)
Other investing activities (2,659) (4,524)

Net cash used in investing activities (604,737) (368,196)

Cash flows from financing activities
Principal payments on long-term debt (82,832) (141,650)
Proceeds from issuance of bonds, net of deferred issuance costs - 113,235
Proceeds from sale of accounts receivable, net 37,788 34,333
Cash (payments on) proceeds from repurchase agreements, net (483) 4,513
Cash proceeds from revolving credit facility 31,500 49,000
Cash paid for consolidated entities - (9,800)
Other financing activities 3,489 9,417

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (10,538) 59,048
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (180,045) 147,710

Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of year 408,698 260,988
End of year 228,653$ 408,698$



Novant Health, Inc. and Affiliates
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, continued
Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

(in thousands of dollars)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

�

2018 2017

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Interest paid 73,474$ 69,914$
Income taxes paid 1,635 5,988

Supplemental disclosure of noncash operating activities
Settlement of patient receivables and other liabilities 204 475

Supplemental disclosure of noncash financing and
 investing activities
Property and equipment financed through current liabilities 58,778 50,150
Contribution of business 14,600 -



Novant Health, Inc. and Affiliates
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2018 and 2017

(in thousands of dollars)
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1. Reporting Entity

Novant Health, Inc. (“Novant Health” or the “Company”) is a nonprofit, integrated health care
network of physician clinics, outpatient centers and hospitals that serves patients and communities
in North Carolina, Virginia and South Carolina.  Novant Health consists of over 1,500 physicians
and 28,000 team members at over 500 locations, including 15 medical centers and hundreds of
outpatient facilities and physician clinics. Headquartered in Winston-Salem, North Carolina,
Novant Health is committed to making healthcare remarkable for patients and communities,
serving more than 5 million patients annually.  Novant Health and its affiliates serve their
communities with programs including health education, home health care, prenatal clinics,
community clinics and immunization services.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of
accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all affiliates controlled by Novant
Health.  All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.  Investments in
affiliates in which the Company does not have control or has a 50% or less interest are accounted
for by either the equity or cost method.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting periods.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Significant estimates include, but are not limited to, accounts receivable price concessions, third-
party payor settlements, goodwill and intangible asset valuation and subsequent recoverability,
useful lives of intangible assets and property and equipment, medical and professional liability and
other self-insurance accruals, and pension related assumptions.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The fair value of financial instruments approximates the carrying amount reported in the
consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, investments other than alternatives,
assets limited as to use and interest rate swaps.  More information can be found in Note 7, Fair
Value Measurements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three
months or less, excluding amounts limited as to use by board designation, donors or trustees.
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Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable consist primarily of amounts owed by various governmental agencies, 
insurance companies and patients. Novant Health manages these receivables by regularly 
reviewing the accounts and contracts and by recording appropriate price concessions. Amounts the 
Company receives for treatment of patients covered by governmental programs and third-party 
payors as well as directly from patients are subject to both explicit and implicit price concessions.  
The Company estimates these price concessions using contractual agreements, discount policies, 
and historical experience.  Novant Health records price concessions in the period of service based 
on the analysis and consideration of these factors.  

Other Current Assets
Other current assets include inventories (which primarily consist of hospital and medical supplies 
and pharmaceuticals), prepaid expenses and other receivables.  Inventory costs are determined 
primarily using the average cost method and are stated at the lower of cost or market value.

Investments 
Investments are classified as trading securities.  All investments are designated as trading at the 
time of acquisition.  Accordingly, unrealized gains and losses on investments are included in 
excess of revenues over expenses, unless the income or loss is restricted by donor or law.  Long-
term investments are classified as noncurrent assets as the Company does not expect to use these 
funds to meet its current liabilities.  

Investments in equity and debt securities with readily determinable fair values are measured at fair 
value in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  The Company also invests in alternative 
and private equity investments through limited partnerships and limited liability corporations 
(“LLCs”).  These investments are recorded using the equity method of accounting (which 
approximates fair value) with the related earnings reported as investment income in the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements.  The values provided by the respective 
partnership or LLC are based on market value or other estimates that require varying degrees of 
judgment.  Because these investments are not readily marketable, the estimated value is subject to 
additional uncertainty and, therefore, may differ from the value that would have been used had a 
market for such investments existed.  Such differences could be material.  The Company believes
the carrying amount of these investments is a reasonable estimate of fair value. 

Investments are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, market and credit risks.  Due to the 
level of risk associated with certain investment securities and the level of uncertainty related to
changes in the value of investment securities, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in 
risks in the near term would materially affect the investment balances included in the consolidated 
financial statements.

Assets Limited as to Use
Assets limited as to use primarily include assets held by trustees and assets designated for specific 
purposes by the Board of Trustees.
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Derivatives
The Company selectively enters into interest rate protection agreements to mitigate changes in 
interest rates on variable rate borrowings.  The notional amounts of such agreements are used to 
measure the interest to be paid or received and do not represent the amount of exposure to loss.  
None of these agreements are used for speculative or trading purposes.

Derivatives are recognized on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value.  The accounting for 
changes in the fair value of a derivative instrument depends on whether it has been designated and 
qualifies as part of a hedging relationship and further, on the type of hedging relationship.  The 
Company formally documents the hedging relationships at inception of the contract for derivative 
transactions, including identifying the hedge instruments and hedged items, as well as the risk 
management objectives and strategies for entering into the hedge transaction.  At inception and on 
a quarterly basis thereafter, the Company assesses the effectiveness of derivatives used to hedge 
transactions.  If a cash flow hedge is deemed highly effective, the change in fair value is recorded 
as an other change in net assets without donor restrictions.  The change in fair value of all 
derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting is also recognized in excess of revenues over 
expenses.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost, if purchased, or at fair value at the date of donation, 
if donated.  Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the 
related assets.  Leasehold improvements are amortized over the life of the lease or the useful life 
of the asset, whichever is shorter.

Following is a summary of the estimated useful lives used in computing depreciation:

Buildings 30–40 years
Machinery and equipment 3–15 years
Software 3–10 years
Furniture and fixtures 7–14 years

Certain facilities and equipment held under capital leases are classified as property and equipment 
and amortized on the straight-line method over the period of the lease term or the estimated useful 
life of the asset, whichever is shorter.  The related obligations are recorded as liabilities.  
Amortization of equipment under capital lease is included in depreciation expense.

Maintenance and repairs of property and equipment are expensed in the period incurred.  
Replacements or improvements that increase the estimated useful life of an asset are capitalized.  
The Company also capitalizes the cost of software developed for internal use.  Assets that are 
sold, retired or otherwise disposed of are removed from the respective asset cost and accumulated 
depreciation accounts and any gain or loss is included in the results of operations.

Operating leases are accounted for in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
(“GAAP”), which requires the recognition of fixed rental payments, including rent escalations, on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  
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Under the terms of the 1984 deed in which the Forsyth County Board of County Commissioners 
conveyed the assets of Forsyth Memorial Hospital (the “Hospital”) to Novant Health, Novant Health 
is required to operate the Hospital as a community general hospital open to the general public, and 
if Novant Health is dissolved, a successor nonprofit corporation approved by the Forsyth County 
Board of County Commissioners must carry out the terms and conditions of this conveyance. If 
these terms are not met, all ownership rights to the Hospital shall revert to the County, including the 
buildings and land together with the personal property and equipment associated with the Hospital 
with a net book value of approximately $221,940 at December 31, 2018. 

Gifts of long-lived assets such as land, buildings, or equipment are excluded from excess of 
revenues over expenses and are reported as unrestricted support unless explicit donor stipulations 
specify how the donated assets must be used.  Gifts of long-lived assets with explicit restrictions 
that specify how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to 
acquire long-lived assets are reported as restricted support.  Absent explicit donor stipulations 
about how long those long-lived assets must be maintained, expirations of donor restrictions are 
reported when the donated or acquired long-lived assets are placed in service.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets of 
acquired companies.  Intangible assets generally represent the acquisition date fair value of certain 
rights or relationships obtained in such business acquisitions.

The Company considers certificates of need, which are required by certain states prior to the 
acquisition of high cost capital items, to be indefinite-lived intangible assets.  The Company also 
has intangible assets with identifiable useful lives related to business acquisitions.  These assets 
include business relationships and corporate trade names.  In accordance with GAAP, the 
Company amortizes the cost of these intangible assets with identifiable useful lives down to their 
estimated residual value.

Following is a summary of the estimated useful lives used in computing amortization:

On an annual basis, Novant Health tests goodwill and indefinite-lived assets for impairment. If it is 
more likely than not that the indefinite-lived asset is impaired, additional testing for impairment is 
required.  GAAP prescribes that impairment for indefinite-lived intangibles is evaluated by 
comparing the fair value of the asset with its carrying amount.  If the carrying amount exceeds the 
fair value, an impairment loss is recognized as the amount of that excess.  

Business relationships 26 years
Corporate trade name 29 years



Novant Health, Inc. and Affiliates
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2018 and 2017

(in thousands of dollars)

1�

Impairment tests are performed at the reporting unit level for units that have goodwill.  If it is more 
likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of the reporting 
unit, additional impairment testing is not required.  If it is more likely than not that the carrying value 
of the reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, additional testing for impairment is 
required.  GAAP prescribes a two-step process for testing for goodwill impairments after applying 
the qualitative assessment.  The first step is to determine if the carrying value of the reporting unit 
with goodwill is less than the related fair value of the reporting unit.  The fair value of the reporting 
unit is determined through use of discounted cash flow methods and/or market based multiples of 
earnings and sales methods.  If the carrying value of the reporting unit is less than the fair value of 
the reporting unit, the goodwill is not considered impaired.  If the carrying value is greater than the
fair value, the potential for impairment of goodwill exists.  The goodwill impairment is determined by 
allocating the current fair value of the reporting unit among the assets and liabilities based on a 
purchase price allocation methodology as if the reporting unit was being acquired in a business 
combination.  The fair value of the goodwill is implied from this allocation and compared to the 
carrying value with an impairment loss recognized if the carrying value is greater than the implied 
fair value.  

Investments in Affiliates
Investments in entities which Novant Health does not control, but in which it has a substantial 
ownership interest and can exercise significant influence, are accounted for using the equity 
method.  Investments in entities of 20% or less and where there are no qualitative indicators of 
significant influence are accounted for using the cost method.

Other Assets
Other assets consist of notes and pledges receivable, insurance receivables, prepaid pension 
costs and the cash surrender value of insurance policies.  

Compensated Absences
The Company’s employees earn vacation days at varying rates depending on years of service.  
Vacation time accumulates up to certain limits, at which time no additional vacation hours can be 
earned.  Provided this hourly limit is not met, employees can continue to accumulate vacation 
hours and time can be carried over to future years.  Accrued vacation time is included in accrued 
liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans
Our defined benefit plans are measured using actuarial techniques that reflect management’s 
assumptions for discount rate, investment returns on plan assets, salary increases, expected 
retirement, mortality, employee turnover and future increases in healthcare costs. We determine 
the discount rate (which is required to be the rate at which the projected benefit obligation could be 
effectively settled as of the measurement date) with the assistance of actuaries, who calculate the 
yield on a theoretical portfolio of high-grade corporate bonds (rated Aa or better) with cash flows 
that are designed to match our expected benefit payments in future years. Our expected rate of 
return is a judgmental matter which is reviewed on an annual basis and revised as appropriate.

The accounting guidance related to employers’ accounting for defined benefit pension and other 
postretirement plans requires recognition in the balance sheet of the funded status of these plans. 
We use mark-to-market (“MTM”) accounting and immediately recognize changes in the fair value of 
plan assets and actuarial gains or losses in our operating results annually in the fourth quarter.
The remaining components of pension and postretirement healthcare expense, primarily service 
and interest costs and the expected return on plan assets, are recorded on a quarterly basis.
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Self-Insurance Reserves
The Company is self-insured for certain employee health benefit options, workers’ compensation 
and malpractice.  These costs are accounted for on an accrual basis to include estimates of future 
payments for claims incurred.

Net Assets  
Net assets without donor restrictions include undesignated amounts as well as amounts designated 
by the board for a specific purpose.  Net assets with donor restrictions are held by related 
foundations and consist primarily of amounts contributed to foundations by donors with purpose 
restrictions.  The Company also has net assets with donor restrictions that are perpetual in nature.  
Earnings on these assets are available for use as specified by the donors.  

Contributions Received
Unconditional promises to give cash and other assets are reported at fair value at the date the 
promise is received.  Conditional promises to give and indications of intentions to give are reported 
at fair value at the date the gift is received or the condition is met.  The gifts are reported as net 
assets with donor restrictions if they are received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the 
donated assets.  When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends 
or purpose restriction is met, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified as net assets 
without donor restrictions and reported in the consolidated statements of operations and changes 
in net assets as net assets released from restrictions, which is included in other operating revenue.  
Donor-restricted contributions whose restrictions are met within the same year as received are 
reported as net assets without donor restrictions in the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements.

Statement of Operations
All activities of Novant Health deemed by management to be ongoing, major and central to the 
provision of healthcare services are reported as operating revenue and expenses.  Other activities 
are deemed to be non-operating and include investment (loss) income, income tax benefit 
(expense) and other net periodic pension costs. 

Novant Health receives supplemental Medicaid payments from the state of North Carolina through 
a federally approved disproportionate share program (“Medicaid DSH”).  During 2012, the federal 
government approved an amendment to the Medicaid DSH plan.  This amendment, referred to as 
the Medicaid Gap Assessment Program (“GAP”), provides a new funding model whereby hospitals 
are assessed an amount based on a percentage of their costs and are then paid supplemental 
amounts in an effort to reduce Medicaid losses.  Novant Health records GAP payments received as 
net patient service revenue and GAP assessments paid as other operating expense on the 
consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.  These supplemental payments 
are recognized in income when earned, if reasonably estimable and deemed collectible.  There can 
be no assurance that this program will not be discontinued or materially modified.  During 2018,
Novant Health received $138,733 and paid $69,754 for the GAP program. During 2017, Novant 
Health received $156,623 and paid $75,518 for the GAP program.

The consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets include excess of revenues 
over expenses.  Changes in net assets without donor restrictions which are excluded from excess 
of revenues over expenses include changes in funded status of defined benefit plans, purchase of 
noncontrolling interest and unrealized gains on derivative financial instruments that apply hedge 
accounting.
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Other Revenue
Other revenue consists primarily of earnings from investments in affiliates accounted for using the 
equity method of accounting, pharmacy revenue and contributions.

Income Taxes
Novant Health is classified as a nonprofit organization pursuant to Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code and is exempt from income taxes on revenue earned from its tax-exempt purposes.  
Novant Health also operates various for-profit subsidiaries which operate in service lines that are 
complimentary to the Company’s tax-exempt purpose.  Income from activities that are determined 
by IRS regulations to be unrelated to the tax-exempt purposes as well as income from activities of 
for-profit subsidiaries of the Company are subject to federal and state taxation.

The Company provides for income taxes using the asset and liability method.  This approach 
recognizes the amount of federal, state and local taxes payable or refundable for the current year, 
as well as deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences of events recognized
in the consolidated financial statements and income tax returns.  Deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities are adjusted to recognize the effects of changes in tax laws or enacted tax rates in the 
period in which such laws or rates are enacted. 

A valuation allowance is required when it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred 
tax assets will not be realized.  Realization is dependent on generating sufficient future taxable 
income.

Reclassifications
Certain balances in the prior fiscal year have been reclassified to conform to the presentation 
adopted in the current fiscal year.

3. Revenue Recognition and Accounts Receivable

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncement
Beginning in May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued several
Accounting Standards Updates which established Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (the “standard”).  This standard supersedes existing revenue recognition requirements
and seeks to eliminate most industry-specific guidance under current GAAP.  The core principle of
the new guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services.
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The Company adopted the new standard on January 1, 2018, using the full retrospective transition 
method.  Adoption of the standard impacted Novant Health’s reported results as follows:

As Reported As Adjusted Adoption Impact

Net patient services revenues 4,532,188$ 4,319,314$ (212,874)$
Provision for bad debts (212,874) - 212,874

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Provision for bad debts 212,874 - (212,874)
Change in accounts receivable (245,463) (32,589) 212,874

Year Ended December 31, 2017

Consolidated Statement of Operations and Changes in Net Assets

Adoption of the standard had no impact on the Company’s 2017 opening net assets.  This new 
standard requires new disclosures about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and 
cash flows arising from contracts with customers.  The applicable disclosures are included in this 
footnote.

Net Patient Service Revenue
Net patient service revenue is reported at the amount that reflects the consideration to which 
Novant Health expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient care.  These amounts are 
due from patients, third-party payors (including health insurers and government programs) and 
others.  Generally, the Company bills the patient and third-party payors several days after the 
services are performed and/or the patient is discharged from the facility.  Revenue is recognized as 
performance obligations are satisfied. 

Performance obligations are determined based on the nature of the services provided by the 
Company. Revenue for performance obligations satisfied over time is recognized based on actual 
charges incurred in relation to total expected or actual charges.  Novant Health believes that this 
method provides a faithful depiction of the transfer of services over the term of the performance 
obligation based on the inputs needed to satisfy the obligation.  Generally, performance obligations 
satisfied over time relate to patients in our hospitals receiving inpatient acute care services.  The 
Company measures the performance obligation from admission into the hospital to the point when 
it is no longer required to provide services to that patient, which is generally at the time of 
discharge.  Revenue for performance obligations satisfied at a point in time is recognized when 
goods or services are provided and the Company does not believe it is required to provide 
additional goods or services to the patient.

Because all of its performance obligations relate to contracts with a duration of less than one year, 
the Company has elected to apply the practical expedient provided in FASB ASC 606-10-50-14(a) 
and, therefore, is not required to disclose the aggregate amounts of the transaction price allocated 
to performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting 
period.  These performance obligations are primarily related to inpatient acute care services at the 
end of the reporting period.  The performance obligations for these contracts are generally 
completed when the patients are discharged, which generally occurs within days or weeks of the 
end of the reporting period.
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Novant Health determines the transaction price based on standard charges for goods and services 
provided, reduced by contractual adjustments provided to third-party payors, discounts provided to 
uninsured patients in accordance with Novant Health’s policies, and/or implicit price concessions 
provided to uninsured patients.  The Company determines its estimates of contractual adjustments 
and discounts based on contractual agreements, its discount policies and historical experience.  
The Company determines its estimate of implicit price concessions based on historical collection 
experience.

Agreements with third-party payors typically provide for payments at amounts less than established 
charges.  For services provided under Medicare and Medicaid programs, inpatient acute care 
services rendered to program beneficiaries are paid at prospectively determined rates per 
diagnosis.  These rates vary according to a patient classification system that is based on clinical, 
diagnostic and other factors.  Inpatient non-acute services, certain outpatient services, and defined 
capital and medical education costs related to beneficiaries are paid based on a cost 
reimbursement methodology.  Outpatient services are paid at a prospectively determined rate.  
Physician services are paid based upon established fee schedules.  Novant Health is reimbursed 
for cost reimbursable items at a tentative rate with final settlement determined after submission of 
annual cost reports by Novant Health and audits thereof by the fiscal intermediary.  Payment 
arrangements with commercial insurance carriers include prospectively determined rates per 
discharge, discounts from established charges, and prospectively determined daily rates. 

Laws and regulations concerning government programs, including Medicare and Medicaid, are 
complex and subject to interpretation.  Compliance with such laws and regulations may also be 
subject to future government review and interpretation as well as significant regulatory action, 
including fines, penalties, and potential exclusion from the related programs.  There can be no 
assurance that regulatory authorities will not challenge Novant Health’s compliance with these laws 
and regulations, and it is not possible to determine the impact (if any) such claims or penalties 
would have upon the Company.  In addition, the contracts the Company has with commercial 
payors also provide for retroactive audit and review of claims.

Cost report settlements under reimbursement agreements with Medicare and Medicaid for 
retroactive adjustments due to audits, reviews or investigations are considered variable 
consideration and are included in the determination of the estimated transaction price for providing 
patient care.  These settlements are estimated based on the terms of the payment agreement with 
the payor, correspondence from the payor and the Company’s historical experience.  Estimated 
settlements are adjusted in future periods as final settlements are determined.  There is a 
reasonable possibility that recorded estimates will changes by a material amount in the near term.  
Adjustments arising from a change in the transaction price were not significant in 2018 and 2017.
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Generally patients who are covered by third-party payors are responsible for related deductibles 
and coinsurance, which vary in amount.  Novant Health also provides services to uninsured 
patients.  The transaction price for both uninsured patients as well as insured patients with 
deductibles and coinsurance is estimated based on historical experience and current market 
conditions.  The initial estimate of the transaction price is determined by reducing the standard 
charge by any contractual adjustments, discounts and implicit price concessions.  Subsequent 
changes to the estimate of the transaction price are generally recorded as adjustments to patient 
service revenue in the period of the change.  For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
additional revenue of $49,800 and $21,500, respectively, was recognized due to changes in its 
estimates of implicit price concessions, discounts and contractual adjustments for performance 
obligations satisfied in prior years. Subsequent changes that are determined to be the results of an 
adverse change in the patient’s ability to pay are recorded as bad debt expense.  Bad debt 
expense is reported as a component of supplies and other in the consolidated statements of 
operations and changes in net assets and was not significant for the years ended December 31, 
2018 and 2017. 

The composition of net patient service revenues by payor and type of service is as follows:

 Acute Care 
Facilities 

 Outpatient 
Locations  Total 

Medicare 973,440$ 404,555$ 1,377,995$
Medicaid 320,627 68,735 389,362
Managed care 1,815,581 918,141 2,733,722
Other 110,135 34,684 144,819
Self pay 19,259 32,268 51,527
Total 3,239,042$ 1,458,383$ 4,697,425$

December 31, 2018

 Acute Care 
Facilities 

 Outpatient 
Locations  Total 

Medicare 864,254$ 370,413$ 1,234,667$
Medicaid 337,420 64,855 402,275
Managed care 1,660,734 849,536 2,510,270
Other 99,412 34,462 133,874
Self pay 11,419 26,809 38,228
Total 2,973,239$ 1,346,075$ 4,319,314$

December 31, 2017

Novant Health has elected the practical expedient allowed under FASB ASC 606-10-32-18 and 
does not adjust the promised amount of consideration from patients and third-party payors for the 
effects of a significant financing component due to the Company’s expectation that the period 
between the time the service is provided to a patient and the time that the patient or a third-party 
payor pays for that service will be one year or less.  However, the Company does, in certain 
instances, enter into payment agreements with patients that allow payments in excess of one year.  
For those cases, the financing component is not deemed to be significant to the contract.
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Novant Health has a program of factoring certain patient receivables with recourse to a third-party.  
Novant Health is obligated to repurchase factored receivables upon occurrence of certain 
conditions of the program.  Accordingly, the Company accounts for the factoring as a secured
borrowing.  The factored receivables are recorded at their estimated net realizable value and are 
shown as other assets in the consolidated balance sheets.  An offsetting liability, representing 
Novant Health’s potential recourse for these receivables, is part of employee benefits and other 
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.  As of December 31, 2018, the factored notes and the 
related liabilities were $49,017 and $61,545, respectively. As of December 31, 2017, the factored 
notes and the related liabilities were $43,653 and $55,191, respectively. 

Other Revenue
In addition to patient service revenue, Novant Health also recognizes revenue related to other, non-
patient related transactions.  These transactions primarily include retail pharmacy revenue, 
revenue from management services agreements, revenue from pay-for-performance contracts, and 
rental income.  Revenue from these transactions is recognized when obligations under the terms of 
the respective contract are satisfied.  Revenue from these transactions is measured as the amount 
of consideration the Company expects to receive from those services. The Company recognizes 
rental income on a straight-line basis over the lease term in accordance with ASC 840-10, Leases. 

4. Charity Care and Community Benefit

In accordance with Novant Health’s mission to improve the health of its communities one person at
a time, Novant Health facilities accept patients regardless of their ability to pay. At acute facilities,
uninsured patients qualify for a full write-off of their bills if their household income is at or below
300% of the federal poverty level. Novant Health also offers a catastrophic discount for patients
with an account balance greater than $5, flexible payment plans, and discounts for uninsured
patients who do not qualify for the charity care program. In addition to these programs for
hospitals, Novant Health physician groups and outpatient centers also have charity care programs
to assist patients in need. The Company’s approximate cost of providing care to indigent patients
was $154,698 and $138,927 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Novant Health estimates the costs of providing traditional charity care using each facility’s estimated
ratio of costs to charges. Funds received from gifts or grants to subsidize charity services provided
were $1,940 and $2,270 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

In addition to providing charity care to uninsured patients, Novant Health also provides services to
beneficiaries of public programs and various other community health services intended to improve
the health of the communities in which the Company operates. Novant Health uses the following
four categories to identify the resources utilized for the care of persons who are underserved and
for providing community benefit programs to the needy:

• Traditional charity care, which includes the cost of services provided to persons who cannot
afford health care because of inadequate resources and who are uninsured.

• Unpaid cost of Medicare, which represents the unpaid cost of services provided to persons
through the government program for individuals age 65 and older as well as those that
qualify for federal disability benefits.

• Unpaid cost of Medicaid, which represents the unpaid cost of services provided to persons
covered by the government program for medically indigent patients.
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• Community benefit programs consist of the unreimbursed costs of certain programs and
services for the general community, mainly for indigent patients but also for people with
chronic health risks. Examples of these programs include health promotion and education,
free clinics and screenings, and other community services.

5. Other Current Assets

Other current assets consist of the following at December 31:

2018 2017

Inventory 94,320$ 90,869$
Prepaids 43,761 45,217
Other receivables 63,102 60,962

201,183$ 197,048$

6. Assets Limited as to Use and Investments

Short-Term Investments
Novant Health holds certain investments that are short-term in nature and have original maturity
dates ranging from three to twelve months.  Short-term investments consist of the following at
December 31:

2018 2017

Certificates of deposit 10,364$ 10,218$
Fixed income - government securities 475,088 289,853

485,452$ 300,071$

Assets Limited as to Use
The designation of assets limited as to use is as follows: 

Current Long-Term Current Long-Term
Portion Portion Portion Portion

Under general and professional liability
 funding arrangement held by trustee 11,419$ 44,956$ 12,229$ 43,613$
Designated by board to service benefit plans 9,477 135,075 6,484 137,527

20,896$ 180,031$ 18,713$ 181,140$

2018 2017

Assets limited as to use are invested primarily in cash and cash equivalents and corporate, U.S. 
government and U.S. agency debt obligations.
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Long-Term Investments
Investments are reported at either fair value, the equity method of accounting or at net asset value 
per share (“NAV”) as a practical expedient.  The composition of long-term investments is as 
follows:

On Equity
At Fair Value Method At NAV Total

Cash and cash equivalents 64,697$ -$ -$ 64,697$
U.S. equities 492,205 25,553 123,693 641,451
International equities 302,876 - 114,562 417,438
Fixed income - government securities 201,336 - - 201,336
Fixed income - corporate and other 11,213 65,826 - 77,039
Hedge funds - 372,776 - 372,776
Private equity - 36,009 - 36,009
Emerging markets 5,015 - 151,769 156,784
Real estate and other 20,009 169,338 - 189,347

1,097,351$ 669,502$ 390,024$ 2,156,877$ 

On Equity
At Fair Value Method At NAV Total

Cash and cash equivalents 125,777$ -$ -$ 125,777$
U.S. equities 491,394 30,572 207,130 729,096
International equities 330,348 60,604 159,147 550,099
Fixed income - government securities 189,197 - - 189,197
Fixed income - corporate and other 12,736 56,682 10,149 79,567
Hedge funds - 314,661 - 314,661
Private equity - 6,198 - 6,198
Emerging markets 1,435 - 163,166 164,601
Real estate and other 46,213 109,275 - 155,488

1,197,100$ 577,992$ 539,592$ 2,314,684$ 

December 31, 2018

December 31, 2017

Long-term investments carried at NAV may be redeemed or liquidated only after giving notice to 
the fund manager.  The notice period ranges from 5 to 30 days.  These investments have been 
reported at NAV by each fund as a practical expedient to estimate their fair value.  Novant Health 
has the ability to redeem its interests at or near the financial statement date.  Novant Health 
defines near term as within 90 days of the financial statement date.
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The Company’s investments in hedge funds include limited partnerships, limited liability 
corporations, and off-shore investment funds.  The underlying investments of the limited 
partnerships and limited liability corporations include, among others, futures and forward contracts, 
options, and securities sold short, intended to hedge against changes in the market value of 
investments.  These financial instruments may result in loss due to changes in the market (market 
risk) and are less liquid than the Company’s other investments.

The Company’s investments in hedge funds represent 17.3% and 13.6% of total long-term 
investments held at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.  These instruments may contain 
elements of both credit and market risk.  Such risks include, but are not limited to, limited liquidity, 
absence of oversight, dependence upon key individuals, emphasis on speculative investments 
(both derivatives and nonmarketable investments), and nondisclosure of portfolio composition.  

Novant Health is obligated under certain investment agreements to periodically advance additional 
funding up to specified levels.  As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, Novant Health had future 
commitments of $196,031 and $121,952, respectively, for which capital calls had not been 
exercised.  

Investment (loss) income for assets limited as to use and investments is comprised of the following 
for the years ended December 31: 

2018 2017

Income (loss)
Interest and dividend income 42,891$ 25,235$
Net realized gains 123,142 111,997
Net unrealized (losses) gains (326,542) 170,615

(160,509)$ 307,847$

Investment income is shown net of related expenses on the consolidated statements of operations 
and changes in net assets.  Investment related administrative expenses were $7,176 and $5,382 
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
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Liquidity and Availability
As of December 31, 2018, Novant Health has a working capital of $480,229 and average days 
cash on hand of 232. 

Financial assets at year-end:

Cash and cash equivalents 228,653$
Accounts receivable, net 570,074
Short-term investments 485,452
Assets limited as to use 200,927
Receivable for settlement with third-party payor 13,240
Other current assets 63,102
Long-term investments 2,156,877
Other assets 36,154

Total financial assets 3,754,479$

Less amounts not available:
Donor restricted funds 77,533
Assets limited as to use 200,927
Long-term investments with liquidity horizons greater than one year 241,217
Pledges receivable 10,987

Financial assets not available to be used within one year 530,664$

Financial assets available to meet general expenditures within one year 3,223,815$

As part of the Company’s liquidity management plan, cash in excess of daily requirements is 
invested in either money market funds, short-term investments or long-term investments.  
Investment decisions are made based on anticipated liquidity needs, such that financial assets are 
available as general expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations come due.  Additionally, Novant 
Health maintains a $200,000 line of credit, as discussed in Note 13, Long-Term Debt.  As of 
December 31, 2018, $119,500 was available on the line of credit.  

As of December 31, 2018, the Company was in compliance with financial covenants as discussed 
in Note 13, Long-Term Debt.
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7. Fair Value Measurements

Novant Health categorizes, for disclosure purposes, assets and liabilities measured at fair value in
the financial statements based upon whether the inputs used to determine their fair values are
observable or unobservable.  Observable inputs are inputs which are based on market data
obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity.  Unobservable inputs are inputs that
reflect the reporting entity’s own assumptions about pricing the asset or liability, based on the best
information available in the circumstances.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value
hierarchy.  In such cases, an asset’s or liability’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the
lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement of the asset or liability.  The
Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its
entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the asset or liability.

Novant Health follows the three-level fair value hierarchy to categorize these assets and liabilities
recognized at fair value at each reporting period, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure such
fair values.  Level inputs are defined as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities on the
reporting date.  Investments classified in this level generally include exchange-traded 
equity securities, futures, pooled short-term investment funds, options and exchange-
traded mutual funds.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted market prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.  If the asset or liability has a specified 
(contractual) term, a Level 2 input must be observable for substantially the full term of the 
asset or liability.  Investments classified in this level generally include fixed income 
securities, including fixed income government obligations; asset-backed securities; 
certificates of deposit; derivatives; as well as certain U.S. and international equities which 
are not traded on an active exchange.

Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable for the asset or liability.  Investments classified in this level 
generally include investments in preferred stock. 

Assets and liabilities classified as Level 1 are valued using unadjusted quoted market prices for 
identical assets or liabilities in active markets.  Novant Health uses techniques consistent with the 
market approach and income approach for measuring fair value of its Level 2 assets and liabilities.  
The market approach is a valuation technique that uses prices and other relevant information 
generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities.  The 
income approach generally converts future amounts (cash flows or earnings) to a single present 
value amount (discounted).
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As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Level 1 and Level 2 assets and liabilities listed in the fair 
value hierarchy tables below utilize the following valuation techniques and inputs:

Certificates of deposit
The fair value of certificates of deposit is based on cost plus accrued interest.  Significant 
observable inputs include security cost, maturity, and relevant short-term interest rates.

Fixed income and debt securities
The fair value of investments in fixed income and debt securities is primarily determined using 
techniques that are consistent with the market approach.  Significant observable inputs include 
benchmark yields, reported trades, observable broker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads, and security 
specific characteristics, such as early redemption options.

U.S. equities, international equities, emerging markets and other exchange-traded funds
The fair value of investments in U.S. equities, international equities, emerging markets and other 
exchange-traded funds are primarily determined using either quoted prices in active markets or the 
calculated net asset value.  The values for underlying investments are fair value estimates 
determined by external fund managers based on operating results, balance sheet stability, growth, 
and other business and market sector fundamentals. The investments in Level 2 may be 
redeemed or liquidated on a daily basis with no notice.  

Derivatives
The fair value of derivative contracts is primarily determined using techniques consistent with the 
market approach.  Significant observable inputs to valuation models include interest rates, credit 
spreads, volatilities and maturity.

During 2018 and 2017, there were no transfers between Level 1 and 2.
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The following table summarizes fair value measurements, by level, at December 31, 2018 for all 
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the financial 
statements:

Quoted prices Significant  
in active other Significant 

markets for observable unobservable
identical assets inputs  inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

Assets
Short-term investments: 

Certificates of deposit -$ 10,364$ -$ 10,364$
Fixed income - government securities - 475,088 - 475,088
Total short-term investments - 485,452 - 485,452

Assets limited as to use:
Cash and cash equivalents 8,981 - - 8,981
U.S. equities 118,606 - - 118,606
International equities 4,892 - - 4,892
Fixed income - government securities 12,307 41,967 - 54,274
Fixed income - corporate and other 886 13,288 - 14,174
Total assets limited as to use 145,672 55,255 - 200,927

Long-term investments:
Cash and cash equivalents 64,697 - - 64,697
U.S. equities 492,205 - - 492,205
International equities 302,085 791 - 302,876
Fixed income - government securities - 201,336 - 201,336
Fixed income - corporate and other 8,884 2,329 - 11,213
Emerging markets 5,015 - - 5,015
Other exchange-traded funds 20,009 - - 20,009
Total long-term investments 892,895 204,456 - 1,097,351

Total assets at fair value 1,038,567$ 745,163$ -$ 1,783,730$

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities 9,282$ -$ -$ 9,282$
Derivative financial instruments - 36,370 - 36,370
Deferred compensation liabilities 131,404 - - 131,404
Total liabilities at fair value 140,686$ 36,370$ -$ 177,056$

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using
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The following table summarizes fair value measurements, by level, at December 31, 2017 for all 
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the financial 
statements:

Quoted prices Significant  
in active other Significant 

markets for observable unobservable
identical assets inputs  inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

Assets
Short-term investments: 

Certificates of deposit -$ 10,218$ -$ 10,218$
Fixed income - government securities - 289,853 - 289,853
Total short-term investments - 300,071 - 300,071

Assets limited as to use:
Cash and cash equivalents 8,361 - - 8,361
U.S. equities 121,602 - - 121,602
International equities 5,053 - - 5,053
Fixed income - government securities 10,749 38,397 - 49,146
Fixed income - corporate and other 384 15,307 - 15,691
Total assets limited as to use 146,149 53,704 - 199,853

Long-term investments:
Cash and cash equivalents 125,777 - - 125,777
U.S. equities 491,394 - - 491,394
International equities 330,348 - - 330,348
Fixed income - government securities - 189,197 - 189,197
Fixed income - corporate and other 10,308 2,428 - 12,736
Emerging markets 1,435 - - 1,435
Other exchange-traded funds 46,213 - - 46,213
Total long-term investments 1,005,475 191,625 - 1,197,100

Total assets at fair value 1,151,624$ 545,400$ -$ 1,697,024$

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities 6,289$ -$ -$ 6,289$
Derivative financial instruments - 44,832 - 44,832
Deferred compensation liabilities 133,745 - - 133,745
Total liabilities at fair value 140,034$ 44,832$ -$ 184,866$

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using
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8. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following at December 31:

2018 2017

Land and land improvements 352,710$ 289,897$
Leasehold improvements 198,465 175,673
Buildings and building improvements 2,062,319 1,932,255
Equipment 1,908,274 1,795,520
Equipment under capital lease obligations 2,355 2,108
Software 510,757 496,704
Construction-in-progress 216,545 195,802

5,251,425 4,887,959

Less:  Accumulated depreciation (3,078,404) (2,869,051)
2,173,021$ 2,018,908$

Novant Health reviews long-lived assets for recoverability as required when events and changes in 
circumstances indicate that its carrying value may not be recoverable.  No impairment charges 
were recorded in 2018 or 2017.

At December 31, 2018 and 2017, land and buildings with a net book value of $18,609 and $21,393,
respectively, were leased to various unrelated health care organizations, with terms ranging from 
six months to five years. Depreciation expense and capital lease related amortization expense for 
the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 amounted to $246,780 and $237,957, respectively.  
Accumulated amortization for buildings and equipment under capital lease obligations was $1,827
and $1,527 at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Construction contracts of approximately 
$588,564 exist for the expansion of existing hospitals and facility renovations. At December 31, 
2018, the remaining commitment on these contracts was $280,906. 

On June 27, 2009, Novant Health sold a portfolio of 22 medical office buildings to a third-party real 
estate investor. The combined selling price of the buildings was $122,280. Novant Health is leasing 
space in each of the buildings from the buyer. The transaction was recorded as a sale-leaseback 
and resulted in a total gain of $59,889. Novant Health recognized gains from this transaction of 
$3,650 and $3,997 in 2018 and 2017, respectively. The remaining deferred gain of $22,332 will be 
recognized over the average life of Novant Health’s lease agreements with the buyer.
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9. Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Intangible assets consist of the following at December 31:

Gross Accumulated Net
Intangible Amortization Intangible

Balance at December 31, 2018
Unamortized intangible assets

Certificates of need 70,416$ -$ 70,416$
Total unamortized intangible assets 70,416 - 70,416

Amortized intangible assets
Business relationships 45,300 (19,065) 26,235
Corporate trade name and other intangibles 27,188 (7,772) 19,416

Total amortized intangible assets 72,488 (26,837) 45,651
Total intangible assets 142,904$ (26,837)$ 116,067$

Balance at December 31, 2017
Unamortized intangible assets

Certificates of need 70,416$ -$ 70,416$
Total unamortized intangible assets 70,416 - 70,416

Amortized intangible assets
Business relationships 45,300 (17,287) 28,013
Corporate trade name and other intangibles 27,188 (6,725) 20,463

Total amortized intangible assets 72,488 (24,012) 48,476
Total intangible assets 142,904$ (24,012)$ 118,892$

Amortization expense related to intangible assets was $2,825 and $2,971 for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.  Estimated annual amortization expense for intangible 
assets for the years 2019 through 2023 is approximately $2,716 per year.
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The following table summarizes the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended
December 31:

2018 2017

As of January 1
Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization 244,587$ 208,621$
Accumulated impairment losses (37,563) (14,760)

207,024 193,861
Goodwill reclassified from assets held for sale - 13,163

207,024 207,024

As of the end of the period
Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization 244,587 244,587
Accumulated impairment losses (37,563) (37,563)

207,024$ 207,024$

Novant Health reviews long-lived assets for recoverability as required when events and changes in 
circumstances indicate that its carrying value may not be recoverable.  

The Company tests goodwill and indefinite-lived assets for impairment on an annual basis. No
impairment charges to amortizable intangible assets were recorded as a result of this review in 
2018 or 2017. Our impairment tests presume stable or improving results at certain Novant Health 
reporting units which are based on the implementation of programs and initiatives that are 
designed to achieve projected results.  If these projections are not met, or in the future negative 
trends occur which would impact our future outlook, further impairments of goodwill and other 
intangible assets may occur.  Future restructuring of our markets that could potentially change our 
reporting units could also result in future impairments of goodwill.

10. Investments in Affiliates

Novant Health has noncontrolling interests in fourteen healthcare related entities.  The Company’s
ownership interests in the entities range from 8.0% to 51.0%. These investments are accounted
for using either the cost or equity method.

In October 2018, Novant Health contributed its Winston-Salem rehabilitation business to its
investee, Novant Health Rehabilitation Hospital.  The other partner contributed cash equal to the
fair value of the contributed business.  As a result of this contribution, the Company recognized a
$14,600 gain for the difference between the fair value and the book value of the business.
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A summary of investments, ownership percentages, investment amounts and the Company’s share 
of earnings for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Advanced Services 23% 23% 24,916$ 23,680$ 1,691$ 1,926$
Novant Health Rehabilitation Hospital 50% 50% 13,288 - (1,279) -
Providence Plaza LLC 30% 30% 4,548 4,521 224 216
Provider-Lead Patient-Centered Care of NC 9% 9% 2,918 2,918 - -
Other Various Various 4,413 12,357 (591) 867

50,083$ 43,476$ 45$ 3,009$

of Investee
Investee

% Ownership Investment Balance
Share of Earnings

The following table presents summarized financial information related to investments in the above 
noncontrolled entities as of December 31:

2018 2017

Assets 234,662$ 194,838$
Liabilities 95,801 55,091
Equity 138,861 139,747
Total revenue 136,904 194,742
Total expenses 137,552 187,187
Net (loss) income (648) 7,555
Novant Health's share of net (loss) income 45 3,009

11. Other Assets

Other assets consist of the following at December 31:

2018 2017

Notes receivable and other 61,808$ 56,182$
Cash surrender value of insurance policies 25,167 24,257
Pledges receivable 10,987 17,019
Reinsurance receivables 8,632 9,552
Prepaid pension costs 2,637 4,079

109,231$ 111,089$
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12. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following at December 31:

2018 2017

Accrued compensation 287,478$ 263,348$
Payroll taxes and withholdings 3,814 20,284
Interest 8,693 9,815
Postretirement benefit liability 1,350 1,345
Pension liability 251 223
Other accrued liabilities 60,255 84,152
Self-insurance

Employee medical claims liability 22,128 17,966
Malpractice and workers' compensation liability 16,175 17,218

400,144$ 414,351$

13. Long-Term Debt

Following is a summary of long-term debt at December 31:

2018 2017

Tax-exempt revenue bonds 770,095$ 787,150$
Taxable revenue bonds 500,000 500,000
Taxable variable rate demand bonds - 44,800

Total bonds 1,270,095 1,331,950
Borrowings on revolving credit facility 80,500 49,000
Capital lease obligations and other notes payable 17,214 31,919

1,367,809 1,412,869

Unamortized premium or discount, net 5,164 6,035
Unamortized debt issuance costs, net (7,001) (7,619)

1,365,972 1,411,285

Less:  Current maturities (305,095) (67,609)
1,060,877$ 1,343,676$
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Tax-Exempt Revenue Bonds
Novant Health has tax-exempt financing agreements through conduit issuers.  These bonds are 
comprised of the following at December 31:

2018 2017

Series 2013 A and B Current Interest Term Bonds and Serial Bonds, 
 bearing interest at rates ranging from 3.0% to 5.0% payable semi-annually
 and maturing through 2046; principal payments began in 2014 269,320$ 274,750$

Series 2010 A Current Interest Term Bonds and Serial Bonds, bearing 
 interest at rates ranging from 4.0% to 5.3% payable semi-annually
 and maturing through 2043; principal payments begin in 2023 264,165 264,165

Series 2008 A, B and C Variable Rate Demand Bonds, bearing interest
 at variable rates payable monthly and maturing through 2028;
 principal payments began in 2009 101,610 113,235

Series 2004 A and B Variable Rate Demand Bonds, bearing interest
 at variable rates payable monthly and maturing through 2034;
 principal payments begin in 2025 135,000 135,000

770,095$ 787,150$

In 2003, Novant Health entered into a new Master Trust Indenture (the “Agreement”).  The 
Agreement authorizes the creation of a Combined Group, which consists of the members of the 
Obligated Group and the Restricted Affiliates.  Novant Health and two of its affiliates that operate 
tertiary care hospitals, Novant Health Forsyth Medical Center and Novant Health Presbyterian 
Medical Center, are the members of the Obligated Group.  The members of the Obligated Group 
are jointly and severally liable for the payment of all obligations under the Agreement.  The 
Company’s Restricted Affiliates, which include certain other subsidiaries of the Company, are not 
directly obligated to pay obligations under the Agreement, but the members of the Obligated Group 
have covenanted in the Agreement to cause the Restricted Affiliates to provide funds to the 
members of the Obligated Group to pay obligations under the Agreement.  All bonds issued by 
Novant Health are collateralized by the Obligated Group.

The bond agreements provide for early redemption periods of the bonds prior to mandatory 
redemption, subject to a premium, generally ranging from 0.0% to 2.0%, as defined in the 
agreements.  In accordance with the bond indenture agreements, the bonds are general, 
unsecured obligations of Novant Health.  The bond indentures require Novant Health to cause the 
Restricted Affiliates to comply with certain covenants, including the maintenance of a minimum 
debt service coverage ratio and a minimum number of days cash on hand.  As of December 31, 
2018 and 2017, Novant Health is in compliance with these bond covenants.

The Series 2004 A and B Variable Rate Demand Bonds are collateralized by a standby purchase 
agreement (“SBPA”) issued by JP Morgan Chase Bank National Association.  The SBPA expires 
January 31, 2021.  If the SBPA should be used to fund tenders due to a failed remarketing, 
repayment in quarterly installments over three years is required.  As a result, the Company has 
classified $36,818 of the 2004 bonds as current at December 31, 2018 and 2017. 
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In March 2011, the documents related to the Series 2008 A, B and C Variable Rate Demand Bonds
were amended to allow the conversion of the bonds to bank direct purchase index floating rate 
bonds.  In December 2017, the Series 2008 A, B, and C Variable Rate Demand Bonds were 
refinanced. Subsequent to the refinancing, the direct purchase agreements have a term of seven 
years and will expire in December 2024.

Taxable Revenue Bonds
On September 23, 2009, Novant Health issued $350,000 of taxable fixed rate bonds (the “2009 A
Bonds”).  $250,000 of these bonds bear interest at a rate of 5.85% and mature in 2019.  The 
remaining $100,000 of these bonds matured in 2014.  Proceeds of the 2009 A Bonds were used to 
refinance a portion of the Company’s revolving credit facility in January 2010.

On April 23, 2013, Novant Health issued $250,000 of taxable fixed rate bonds (the “2013 C 
Bonds”).  The 2013 C Bonds bear interest at a rate of 4.37% and mature in 2043.  Proceeds of the 
2013 C Bonds were used for eligible purposes, including the refinancing of long-term debt.

The taxable revenue bonds are subject to the same covenant requirements that are included in the 
bond agreements for the tax-exempt revenue bonds.

Taxable Variable Rate Demand Bonds
In 1997, Novant Health issued Taxable Variable Rate Demand Bonds, totaling $87,800, 
collateralized by an irrevocable letter of credit issued by Wachovia Bank of North Carolina, N.A.  
The irrevocable letter of credit is collateralized by the bonds, all income, earnings, profits, interest, 
premium or other payments on the bonds, and all proceeds arising from the sale, exchange or 
collection of the bonds.  Interest on the bonds is payable on a quarterly basis.  Mandatory sinking 
fund requirements began in 2001.  At December 31, 2017, the rate of interest on the variable 
bonds was 1.56%. These bonds were called and repaid in May 2018 and the irrevocable letter of 
credit was cancelled. 

Other Long-Term Debt
Other long-term debt consists of a promissory note related to the redemption of a membership 
interest and various loans and notes on buildings and capital leases, bearing interest at rates 
ranging from 3.49% to 12.15%.

Scheduled maturities of all long-term debt are as follows:

Years Ending December 31
2019 268,296$
2020 18,456
2021 20,141
2022 99,874
2023 25,799
Thereafter 935,243

1,367,809$

Novant Health capitalized $3,122 and $3,126 of interest in 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Revolving Credit Facility
On June 13, 2013, Novant Health entered into a $200,000 Senior Revolving Credit Facility.  In 
March 2017, the Senior Revolving Credit Facility was amended and is available through March 27, 
2022. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, $119,500 and $151,000, respectively, was available for 
borrowing.  The line of credit bears interest at variable rates.  At December 31, 2018, interest rates 
on the outstanding loans range from 3.23% to 3.38%

Debt Issuance Costs
Unamortized debt issuance costs are presented in the consolidated balance sheets as a direct 
deduction from the carrying value of the associated debt.  Debt issuance costs are amortized using 
the effective interest method over the life of the related debt agreement and instruments.  

14. Short-Term Borrowings

Short-term borrowings consist primarily of securities repurchase transactions.  Securities
repurchase transactions are conducted by the Company under a standardized securities industry
master agreement, amended to suit the specificities of each respective counter-party.  These
agreements generally provide detail as to the nature of the transaction, including provisions for
payment netting, established parameters concerning the ownership and custody of the collateral
securities, including the right to substitute collateral during the term of the agreement, and provide
for remedies in the event of default by either party.  The Company’s securities repurchase
agreements are accounted for as a secured borrowing and are reported in the consolidated
balance sheets as short-term borrowings. The Company posts collateral in the form of U.S.
treasury and agency securities and receives an amount equal to approximately 98% of the fair
value of the securities to be repurchased during January 2019 at interest rates ranging from 2.25%
to 2.47%.  At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the fair value amounts outstanding were $87,558 and
$88,041, respectively.  Interest rates on the outstanding balances at December 31, 2018 were
2.70%. The maturity dates of the agreements range from one to three weeks.

15. Interest Rate Swaps

As of August 18, 2008, concurrent with the 2008 bond issuance, Novant Health entered into two
interest rate swap agreements to hedge the variable interest rates of the 2008 bonds.  The swaps
are based on an aggregate notional amount of $101,610.  Novant Health receives a variable rate
which is tied to 68% of LIBOR, and pays a fixed rate of 3.679% and 3.621% for the $74,600 and
$27,010 notional amounts, respectively.  The swaps have been designated as cash flow hedges
and are carried on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value.  These swaps qualified for hedge
accounting and were assessed for effectiveness at the time the contracts were entered into and
were assessed for effectiveness on an ongoing basis at each quarter end using the hypothetical
derivative method.  In the fourth quarter of 2018, the hedging relationship ceased to be highly
effective and hedge accounting was discontinued.

In July 2006, Novant Health entered into a floating-to-fixed swap agreement with a notional amount
of $135,000 and a term of 28 years to hedge the floating rate 2004 bonds.  Novant Health receives
a variable rate which is tied to 64.8% of LIBOR plus 12 basis points and pays a fixed interest rate
of 3.8%.  The swap has been designated as a cash flow hedge and is carried on the consolidated
balance sheets at fair value.  This swap qualifies for hedge accounting and was assessed for
effectiveness at the time the contract was entered into and is assessed for effectiveness on an
ongoing basis at each quarter end using the hypothetical derivative method.
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Effective January 1, 2018, Novant Health adopted the provisions of ASU 2017-12, Derivatives and 
Hedging (Topic 815), Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedge Activities.  With this 
adoption, the ineffective portion of the change in the fair value of the interest rate swap is no longer 
recognized in excess of revenue over expenses and is instead recognized, along with the portion of 
unrealized gains and losses related to the effective portion of the swaps, in net assets without 
donor restrictions.  During 2017, unrealized gains and losses related to the effective portion of the 
swaps were recognized as a change in net assets without donor restrictions and gains or losses 
related to ineffective portions were recognized in excess of revenues over expenses as interest 
expense.  

The following table summarizes the fair value as presented in the consolidated balance sheets as 
derivative financials instruments for the Company’s interest rate swaps as of December 31:

2018 2017

Interest rate swaps designated as hedged instruments 28,187$ 44,832$
Interest rate swaps not designated as hedged instruments 8,183 -

Total derivative financial liabilities 36,370$ 44,832$

The following table summarizes the effect of the interest rate swaps on the consolidated 
statements of operations and changes in net assets for the years ended December 31: 

Statement of Operations and Changes in Net Assets Location

2018 2017 2018 2017
Derivatives designated as hedged instruments
Change in fair value of hedged interest rate swaps 9,378$ 7,330$ -$ -$
Hedge ineffectiveness - - - (1,857)

Derivatives not designated as hedged instruments
Change in fair value of non-hedged interest rate swaps - - (916) -
Reclassification of net assets into earnings - - (409) -

9,378$ 7,330$ (1,325)$ (1,857)$

Amount of Gain 
Recognized in Change 
in Net Assets without 

Donor Restrictions

Amount of Loss 
Recognized in Excess 

of Revenues Over 
Expenses
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16. Employee Benefits and Other Liabilities

Employee benefits and other liabilities consist of the following at December 31:

2018 2017

Deferred gains 41,834$ 58,808$
Self-insurance malpractice and workers' compensation,
 net of current portion 56,195 58,775
Deferred compensation liability 131,404 133,745
Employee benefits and other 75,633 65,459
Postretirement benefit liability, net of current portion 18,790 20,710
Pension liability, net of current portion 17,357 2,577

341,213$ 340,074$

17. Income Taxes

The provision for federal and state income taxes is as follows:

2018 2017

Current tax expense 
Federal 337$ 4,752$
State 493 964

830 5,716

Deferred tax expense (benefit)
Federal (1,584) (2,687)
State 224 (1)

(1,360) (2,688)
(530)$ 3,028$
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The components of deferred taxes are as follows:
2018 2017

Deferred tax assets
Loss carryforwards 22,303$ 25,395$
Deferred charge for intercompany transfer 7,975 9,304
Allowance for doubtful accounts 804 1,019
Accrued expenses 1,118 1,302
Property and equipment (529) 544
Other (8) 278

Total deferred tax assets 31,663 37,842

Deferred tax liabilities
Intangible assets (6,991) (6,960)

Total deferred tax liabilities (6,991) (6,960)

Valuation allowance (19,875) (27,446)
Net deferred tax asset 4,797$ 3,436$

GAAP requires that deferred tax assets be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than 
not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.  The ultimate realization of 
deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods 
in which those temporary differences are deductible.  In making this determination, management 
considers all available positive and negative evidence affecting specific deferred tax assets, 
including the Company’s past and anticipated future performance, reversal of deferred tax 
liabilities, length of carryback and carryforward periods and implementation of tax planning 
strategies.

Objective positive evidence is necessary to support a conclusion that a valuation allowance is not 
needed for all or a portion of deferred tax assets when significant negative evidence exists.
Cumulative losses in recent years are the most compelling form of negative evidence considered 
by management in this determination.  For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017,
management has determined that based on all available evidence, a valuation allowance of 
$19,875 and $27,446, respectively, is appropriate.

As of December 31, 2018, the Company had approximately $90,505 of federal and $61,468 of 
state loss carryforwards available to reduce taxable income.  The loss carryforwards expire through 
2038. In addition, at December 31, 2018, the Company had approximately $3,854 of federal and 
$1,706 of state contribution carryforwards available to reduce taxable income.

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax legislation commonly 
referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“Tax Act”). The Tax Act makes broad and complex 
changes to the U.S. tax code including, but not limited to, reducing the corporate tax rate 
from 35% to 21% and repealing the corporate alternative minimum tax effective January 1, 2018.
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Income tax (benefit) expense reported in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in 
net assets is shown below:

2018 2017

Federal taxes (1,247)$ 2,065$
State income taxes 717 963

Income tax (benefit) expense (530)$ 3,028$

The Company is required to evaluate uncertain tax positions.  This evaluation includes a 
quantification of tax risk in areas such as unrelated business taxable income and the taxation of our 
for-profit subsidiaries.  This evaluation did not have a material effect on the Company’s 
consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets for the years ended 
December 31, 2018 and 2017. 

18. Employee Benefit Plans and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

Certain Novant Health affiliates participate in the Pension Restoration Plan of Novant Health, Inc.
(the “Novant Plan”), a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all the
affiliates’ employees of record as of December 1998. Participation is limited to vested employees
as of December 31, 1998. Effective January 1, 2008, and July 1, 2009, the Company assumed two
noncontributory defined benefit plans, the Pension Plan for the Employees of Rowan Regional
Medical Center (the “Rowan Plan”) and the Prince William Hospital Corporation Cash Balance
Pension Plan (the “Prince William Plan”), respectively. Participation in the Rowan Plan was closed
to new entrants and the accrued benefits were frozen as of December 31, 2003. Participation in the
Prince William Plan was closed to new entrants and the accrued benefits were frozen as of April 1,
2010. The assets of the plans are primarily invested in fixed income securities (both U.S.
Government and Corporate debt) and cash and cash equivalents.

On February 20, 2018, the Novant Health Board of Trustees decided to cease all future accruals
and terminate the Novant Plan effective April 30, 2018. This termination resulted in a curtailment
which decreased the pension liability by $5,900.  Also, the Company recorded an additional $3,637
in pension expense related to plan amendments as a result of the Plan termination. Both of these
items were recorded in other net periodic pension costs in the consolidated statements of
operations and changes in net assets.  The Novant Health Board of Trustees also decided to
terminate the Rowan Plan and the Prince William Plan as of April 30, 2018. The termination of
these two plans did not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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In the year of termination, Novant Health expects to record additional expense in the consolidated 
statements of operations and changes in net assets.  The amount is dependent primarily on lump 
sum take rates and changes in discount rates between year-end and the final termination of the 
Plans.  Also upon termination, if required, the Company will provide additional funding to the Plans.  
As the Company moves to plan termination accounting, a deviation in the annuity purchase rate 
and plan benefit discount rate of 25 basis points would require additional estimated expense 
between $2,000 and $13,300 to be recorded in our consolidated statements of operations and 
changes and net assets.  Any additional expense would be recorded in other net periodic pension 
costs in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.

Certain Novant Health affiliates have supplemental retirement income plans covering highly
compensated employees. These are nonqualified plans which are not subject to ERISA funding 
requirements. As such, Novant Health intends only to fund the plans in amounts equivalent to the 
plans’ annual benefit payments. During 2013, the Company implemented a new supplemental 
retirement income plan that covers certain highly compensated employees. This plan acts as a 
defined contribution plan and annual funding requirements are determined under provisions of the 
plan. Some of these plans are non-qualified deferred compensation plans which provide certain 
individuals meeting specific criteria with the ability to defer compensation. The assets of these 
plans are held in a rabbi trust, which restricts access to the assets. The assets of these plans, 
along with the associated liabilities, are recorded as current and long-term assets limited as to use, 
accrued liabilities, and employee benefits and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

Novant Health also provides fixed dollar amounts for health care and life insurance benefits to 
certain retired employees. Covered employees may become eligible for these benefits if they meet 
minimum age and service requirements, and if they are eligible for retirement benefits. Novant 
Health has the right to modify or terminate these benefits.

Information regarding benefit obligations, plan assets, funded status, expected cash flows and net 
periodic benefit cost follows within this footnote.
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The Company’s primary investment objective for the defined benefit plans (“the Plans”) is to invest 
the plan assets so that they will generate sufficient cash flows needed to fund future payments as 
they come due. Given the funded status of the Plans, they are invested 100% in a portfolio of 
diversified fixed income assets whose overall characteristics closely match that of the Plans’ 
liabilities.

Novant Health’s pension plan asset allocation and target allocation by asset category at December 
31, 2018 are as follows:

Target Percentage of
Range Plan Assets

Fixed income securities 85–100% 98.5%
Cash and other 0–4% 1.5%

100.0%

Asset Category

The fair values of the Company’s plan assets at December 31, 2018, by asset category are as 
follows:

Quoted prices in Significant 
active markets for Significant other unobservable
identical assets observable inputs  inputs

At NAV (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

Fixed income securities 139,950$ -$ 123,657$ -$ 263,607$
Cash and other - 3,904 - - 3,904

Total fair value of the
 Company's plan assets 139,950$ 3,904$ 123,657$ -$ 267,511$

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

The fair values of the Company’s plan assets at December 31, 2017, by asset category are as 
follows:

Quoted prices in Significant 
active markets for Significant other unobservable
identical assets observable inputs  inputs

At NAV (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

Fixed income securities 176,302$ -$ 117,965$ -$ 294,267$
Cash and other - 4,006 - - 4,006

Total fair value of the
 Company's plan assets 176,302$ 4,006$ 117,965$ -$ 298,273$

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using
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Amounts expected to be amortized from unrestricted net assets into net periodic benefit cost during 
the year ending December 31, 2019 are as follows:

Actuarial net gain (61)$ (104)$

Postretirement
 Benefit Healthcare 

Plans Benefit Plans

Defined

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost were as follows:

2018 2017 2018 2017

Discount rate 3.30% - 3.54% 3.65% - 4.06% 3.30% - 3.55% 3.65% - 4.05%
Expected return on plan assets 3.50% 4.00% N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase(1) N/A 5.00% N/A N/A
Health care cost trend on covered charges N/A N/A 9.0% in 2018 9.5% in 2017

grading to grading to
5.0% in 2025 5.0% in 2025

(1) The compensation increase does not apply to the Rowan Plan or the Prince William Plan as benefits under these plans were frozen at
December 31, 2017.

Postretirement
Defined Benefit Plans Healthcare Benefit Plans

In developing the expected return on plan assets, the Company considers the plan assets’ 
historical actual return, targeted asset allocations, and the anticipated future economic environment 
and long-term performance of individual asset classes, based on the Company’s investment 
strategy.  While appropriate consideration is given to recent and historical investment performance, 
the assumption represents management’s best estimate of the long-term prospective return.  

In addition to these plans, Novant Health sponsors a number of defined contribution plans.  
Contributions are determined under various formulas.  Costs related to such plans amounted to 
$82,206 and $75,503 in 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Certain Novant Health consolidated affiliates participate in cafeteria plans which provide certain 
benefits, including basic medical and dental coverage, long-term disability benefits, reimbursement 
of supplemental dependent care expenses and group life insurance benefits.  The affiliates 
contribute predetermined amounts for each full-time and part-time employee, which is allocated to 
the various benefit options in accordance with the participant’s election.  Affiliate contributions to 
these plans were approximately $264,877 in 2018 and $234,150 in 2017. 
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19. Noncontrolling Interests

The following table reconciles the carrying amounts of the Company’s controlling interest and the
noncontrolling interests for net assets without donor restrictions:

Controlling Noncontrolling 
Total Interest Interests

Balance at January 1, 2017 3,388,289$ 3,291,669$ 96,620$

Excess (deficit) of revenues over expenses 477,870 487,956 (10,086)
Change in funded status of defined benefit plans (739) (739) -
Unrealized gain on derivative financial instruments 7,330 7,330 -
Purchase of noncontrolling interest (9,800) - (9,800)
Other changes in net assets without donor restrictions (7,057) (7,962) 905
Balance at December 31, 2017 3,855,893 3,778,254 77,639

Excess of revenues over expenses 94,012 88,122 5,890
Change in funded status of defined benefit plans 3,064 3,064 -
Unrealized gain on derivative financial instruments 9,787 9,787 -
Other changes in net assets without donor restrictions (1,389) (1,576) 187
Balance at December 31, 2018 3,961,367$ 3,877,651$ 83,716$

20. Professional and General Liability Insurance Coverage

Novant Health is self-insured for professional and general liability exposures up to certain limits.
The Company has umbrella policies in place above those limits.  The provision for estimated
medical malpractice claims includes estimates of the ultimate costs for reported claims and claims
incurred but not reported.  Novant Health also participates in a self-insured program for workers’
compensation and is self-insured for certain health benefits options.  A portion of these self-insured
professional liabilities is funded through a revocable trust fund operated by Novant Health. At
December 31, 2018 and 2017, undiscounted professional and general liability loss reserves of
$72,370 and $75,993, respectively, are included in current liabilities and employee benefits and
other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.  Expenses related to these plans amounted to
$12,469 and $14,870 in 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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21. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company and its affiliates are presently involved in various personal injury, regulatory
investigations, tort actions and other claims and assessments arising out of the normal course of
business.  Management believes that Novant Health has adequate legal defenses, self-insurance
reserves and/or insurance coverage for these asserted claims, as well as any unasserted claims
and does not believe these claims will have a material effect on the Company’s operations or
financial position. The health care industry is subject to numerous laws and regulations of federal,
state and local governments.  These laws and regulations include, but are not necessarily limited
to, matters such as licensure, accreditation, government health care program participation
requirements, reimbursement for patient services, and Medicare and Medicaid fraud and abuse.  In
recent years, government activity has increased with respect to investigations and allegations
concerning possible violations of fraud and abuse statutes and regulations by health care
providers.  Violations of these laws and regulations could result in expulsion from government
health care programs together with the imposition of significant fines and penalties, as well as
significant repayments for patient services previously billed.

At December 31, 2018, the Company had guarantees for payment of the indebtedness of certain
equity method investees.  The maximum potential amount of future payments under these
agreements was approximately $33,490.  These guarantees extend until December 2025 based on
the payment schedule of the underlying debt instruments.  At December 31, 2018, no liability has
been recorded in the consolidated balance sheet for the Company’s obligations under these
guarantees.

22. Operating Leases

Certain operating properties and equipment are leased under noncancelable operating leases.
Total rental expense under operating leases was $91,956 and $95,602 in 2018 and 2017,
respectively.  Future minimum rentals under noncancelable operating leases with terms of more
than one year are as follows:

Years Ending December 31
2019 93,244$
2020 82,429
2021 72,235
2022 61,568
2023 51,671
Thereafter 118,835

479,982$
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Novant Health leases six plots of land to a third-party under long-term ground lease agreements.  
Total rental income under these lease agreements was $1,240 and $1,207 in 2018 and 2017,
respectively.  The future rental income related to the ground leases are as follows:

Years Ending December 31
2019 1,263$
2020 1,286
2021 1,309
2022 1,333
2023 1,369
Thereafter 83,869

90,429$

23. Concentrations of Credit Risk

Novant Health provides services primarily to the residents of various counties within North
Carolina, South Carolina and Virginia without collateral or other proof of ability to pay.  Most
patients are local residents who are insured partially or fully under third-party payor arrangements.

The mix of receivables from patients and third-party payors at December 31 is as follows:

2018 2017

Medicare 24.2% 25.4%
Medicaid 5.4% 5.8%
Other third-party payors 64.6% 63.3%
Patients 5.8% 5.5%

100.0% 100.0%

Novant Health places the majority of its cash and investments with corporate and financial 
institutions.  Novant Health maintains cash balances in excess of FDIC insured limits; however, the 
Company has not experienced any losses on such deposits.
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26. Significant Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments – Overall (Subtopic 825-
10), Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.  This guidance
requires equity investments to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in
net income and simplifies the impairment assessment of equity investments without readily
determinable fair values.  This guidance was effective for Novant Health on January 1, 2019 with
prospective application and a cumulative-effect adjustment at the date of adoption.  Because the
Company’s equity investments have historically been measured at fair value, the adoption of this
guidance had no impact on Novant Health’s consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) and has subsequently
issued supplemental and/or clarifying ASUs (collectively “ASC 842”).  Under ASC 842, lessees will
recognize a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability for all leases other than leases
that meet the definition of a short-term lease. The liability will be equal to the present value of future
minimum lease payments. The asset will be based on the liability, subject to adjustment for certain
costs. The recognition, measurement, and presentation of expenses and cash flows arising from a
lease by a lessee will depend on its classification as a finance or an operating lease.  Leases will
be classified based on criteria similar to those applied in current lease accounting.

The new standard was effective for Novant Health on January 1, 2019 and the Company plans to
adopt ASC 842 in the first quarter of 2019.  Novant Health will use the cumulative-effect approach,
without adjusting prior periods and will recognize the cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening
balance of net assets.  The Company has elected the package of practical expedients permitted by
the standard, which among other things, allows the carryforward of the historical lease
classification.  Novant Health also plans to elect the practical expedient that allows lessees to
choose not to separate lease and non-lease components for most asset classes.  The Company
has made an accounting policy election to keep leases with an initial term of 12 months or less off
the balance sheet and will recognize those lease payments on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The Company is now finalizing the configuration and testing of our lease accounting technology
system, gathering new lease contracts and abstracting key financial data, and finalizing revisions
needed to our processes and internal controls.

Adoption of the standard will result in recognition of significant lease assets and lease liabilities,
however, this guidance is not expected to materially affect our consolidated operating results or
liquidity. The standard is not expected to impact our debt covenant compliance under the current
agreements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230),
Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments.  This standard provides additional
guidance related to the presentation and classification of certain items in the statement of cash
flows for which there is diversity in practice.  The provisions of this guidance are effective for
Novant Health on January 1, 2019 with early adoption permitted and retrospective application,
unless it is impracticable.  This guidance is not expected to materially impact Novant Health’s
consolidated financial statements.
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In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230), 
Restricted Cash.  This guidance requires that a statement of cash flows explain the change during 
the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash and restricted cash 
equivalents.  This guidance was effective for the Company on January 1, 2019 and requires a 
retrospective transition method.  The adoption of this guidance will change the beginning and 
ending balances on the statement of cash flows, but is not expected to significantly change cash 
flows from operating, investing and financing activities.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment. The 
new guidance eliminates the requirement to calculate the implied fair value of goodwill (i.e., Step 2 
of the current goodwill impairment test) to measure a goodwill impairment charge. Instead, entities 
will record an impairment charge based on the excess of a reporting unit’s carrying amount over its 
fair value (i.e., measure the charge based on the current Step 1). This guidance is effective for 
Novant Health on January 1, 2022. We are evaluating the provisions of this guidance to determine 
how goodwill impairment testing will be impacted and whether to elect to adopt this guidance prior 
to the stated effective date. The adoption of this guidance would only impact Novant Health’s 
consolidated financial statements in situations where there is impairment of a reporting unit.

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-08, Not–for-Profit Entities (Topic 958), Clarifying the 
Scope and the Accounting Guidance for Contributions Received and Contributions Made.  This 
guidance was intended to assist entities in evaluating whether transactions should be accounted 
for as contributions or exchange transactions and whether a contribution is conditional.  This 
guidance was effective for the Company on January 1, 2019 on a modified prospective basis. This 
guidance is not expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of 
Novant Health.  

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other – Internal-Use 
Software (Subtopic 350-40), Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud 
Computing Arrangement that is a Service Contract.  This guidance aligns the requirements for 
capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with 
the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use 
software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal-use software license).  The guidance 
also requires that the capitalized costs be expensed over the term of the hosting arrangement and 
that the expense and cash flows of the capitalized expense be presented in the same place on the
statement of operations and statement of cash flows, respectively.  Similarly, the capitalized costs 
are required to be presented on the balance sheets in the same line item that a prepayment of the 
fees of the associated hosting arrangement would be presented.  This guidance will be effective for 
Novant Health on January 1, 2020 and may be applied either retrospectively or prospectively to all 
implementation costs incurred after the date of adoption.  We are currently evaluating the impact of 
adopting this guidance on Novant Health’s consolidated financial statements.  
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PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 800 Green Valley Road, Suite 500, Greensboro, NC 27408
T: (336) 665 2700, F: (336) 665 2699, www.pwc.com/us

Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of 
Novant Health, Inc.

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Novant Health, Inc. and Affiliates as of 
December 31, 2018 and for the year then ended and our report thereon appears on page 1 of this 
document.  That audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements taken as a whole. The Schedule of Cost of Community Benefit Programs as of December 31, 
2018 is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the consolidated 
financial statements.  The information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and 
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial 
statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling 
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated 
financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements themselves and other additional 
procedures, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In 
our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated 
financial statements taken as a whole.

March 29, 2019 
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The net cost of providing care to indigent patients and community benefit programs is as follows:

2018

Traditional charity care 154,698$
Unpaid cost of Medicare 516,815
Unpaid cost of Medicaid 141,770
Community benefit programs 70,427

883,710$

As discussed in Note 2 in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, Novant Health received 
supplemental Medicaid payments during 2018.  These amounts are included in the community benefit 
amount for 2018.



PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 800 Green Valley Road, Suite 500, Greensboro, NC 27408
T: (336) 665 2700, F: (336) 665 2699, www.pwc.com/us

Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of 
Novant Health, Inc.

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Novant Health, Inc. and Affiliates as of 
December 31, 2018 and for the year then ended and our report thereon appears on page 1 of this 
document.  That audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements taken as a whole. The consolidating information is the responsibility of management and was 
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
consolidated financial statements. The consolidating information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures, 
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements 
themselves and other additional procedures, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America. In our opinion, the consolidating information is fairly stated, in all material 
respects, in relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.  The consolidating 
information is presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated financial statements 
rather than to present the financial position, results of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows of 
the individual companies and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements.  Accordingly, 
we do not express an opinion on the financial position, results of operations, changes in net assets and 
cash flows of the individual companies.   

March 29, 2019 
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(in thousands of dollars)
Combined 

Group
Unrestricted 

Affiliates Eliminations Total

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 142,480$ 86,173$ -$ 228,653$
Accounts receivable, net 498,832 71,242 - 570,074
Short-term investments 485,293 159 - 485,452
Current portion of assets limited as to use 9,477 11,419 - 20,896
Receivable for settlement with third-party payors 10,314 2,926 - 13,240
Other current assets 171,210 39,083 (9,110) 201,183

Total current assets 1,317,606 211,002 (9,110) 1,519,498

Assets limited as to use 135,075 44,956 - 180,031
Long-term investments 1,872,533 284,344 - 2,156,877
Property and equipment, net 1,756,701 416,320 - 2,173,021
Intangible assets and goodwill, net 242,051 81,040 - 323,091
Investments in affiliates 100,304 25,137 (75,358) 50,083
Deferred tax asset - 10,725 - 10,725
Other assets 90,455 18,776 - 109,231

Total assets 5,514,725$ 1,092,300$ (84,468)$ 6,522,557$

Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt 303,790$ 1,305$ -$ 305,095$
Short-term borrowings 87,558 - - 87,558
Accounts payable 187,637 26,147 (2,859) 210,925
Accrued liabilities 346,103 54,041 - 400,144
Estimated third-party payor settlements 31,582 3,965 - 35,547
Due to (from) related organizations (346,180) 346,180 - -

Total current liabilities 610,490 431,638 (2,859) 1,039,269

Long-term debt, net of current portion 1,045,276 15,601 - 1,060,877
Deferred tax liability - 5,928 - 5,928
Derivative financial instruments 36,370 - - 36,370
Employee benefits and other liabilities 284,711 56,502 - 341,213

Total liabilities 1,976,847 509,669 (2,859) 2,483,657
Net assets

Without donor restrictions - attributable to Novant Health 3,535,689 485,609 (143,647) 3,877,651
Without donor restrictions - noncontrolling interests - 21,678 62,038 83,716

Total net assets without donor restrictions 3,535,689 507,287 (81,609) 3,961,367
With donor restrictions 2,189 75,344 - 77,533

Total net assets 3,537,878 582,631 (81,609) 4,038,900
Total liabilities and net assets 5,514,725$ 1,092,300$ (84,468)$ 6,522,557$

Assets

Liabilities and Net Assets
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(in thousands of dollars)
Combined 

Group
Unrestricted 

Affiliates Eliminations Total

Operating revenues
Net patient service revenues 4,203,329$ 494,096$ -$ 4,697,425$ 
Other revenue 152,203 193,563 (57,315) 288,451

Total operating revenues 4,355,532 687,659 (57,315) 4,985,876
Operating expenses
Salaries and employee benefits 2,447,707 295,499 (6,860) 2,736,346
Supplies and other 1,343,438 358,541 (44,604) 1,657,375
Depreciation expense 211,207 35,573 - 246,780
Amortization expense 2,285 569 - 2,854
Interest expense 60,653 9,665 - 70,318

Total operating expenses 4,065,290 699,847 (51,464) 4,713,673

Operating income (loss) 290,242 (12,188) (5,851) 272,203
Non-operating (expense) income
Investment loss (139,243) (21,266) - (160,509)
Income tax (expense) benefit (515) 1,045 - 530
Other net periodic pension costs (16,021) (2,191) - (18,212)

Excess (deficit) of revenues over expenses 134,463$ (34,600)$ (5,851)$ 94,012$
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Obligated Restricted Combined
(in thousands of dollars) Group Affiliates Eliminations Group Total

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 120,856$ 21,624$ -$ 142,480$
Accounts receivable, net 356,215 142,617 - 498,832
Short-term investments 485,293 - - 485,293
Current portion of assets limited as to use 9,477 - - 9,477
Receivable for settlement with third-party payors 4,477 5,837 - 10,314
Other current assets 138,017 33,193 - 171,210

Total current assets 1,114,335 203,271 - 1,317,606

Assets limited as to use 134,453 622 - 135,075
Long-term investments 1,872,533 - - 1,872,533
Property and equipment, net 1,300,975 455,726 - 1,756,701
Intangible assets and goodwill, net 49,243 192,808 - 242,051
Investments in affiliates 189,898 (2,940) (86,654) 100,304
Other assets 86,072 21,042 (16,659) 90,455

Total assets 4,747,509$ 870,529$ (103,313)$ 5,514,725$ 

Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt 303,182$ 608$ -$ 303,790$
Short-term borrowings 87,558 - - 87,558
Accounts payable 172,266 15,371 - 187,637
Accrued liabilities 231,598 114,505 - 346,103
Estimated third-party payor settlements 24,776 6,806 - 31,582
Due to (from) related organizations (586,047) 239,867 - (346,180)

Total current liabilities 233,333 377,157 - 610,490

Long-term debt, net of current portion 901,190 160,745 (16,659) 1,045,276
Derivative financial instruments 36,370 - - 36,370
Employee benefits and other liabilities 256,362 28,349 - 284,711

Total liabilities 1,427,255 566,251 (16,659) 1,976,847

Net assets
Without donor restrictions - attributable to Novant Health 3,320,243 302,100 (86,654) 3,535,689
With donor restrictions 11 2,178 - 2,189

Total net assets 3,320,254 304,278 (86,654) 3,537,878
Total liabilities and net assets 4,747,509$ 870,529$ (103,313)$ 5,514,725$ 

Assets

Liabilities and Net Assets
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Obligated Restricted Combined
(in thousands of dollars) Group Affiliates Eliminations Group Total

Operating revenues
Net patient service revenues 2,596,386$ 1,606,943$ -$ 4,203,329$ 
Other revenue 126,517 51,999 (26,313) 152,203

Total operating revenues 2,722,903 1,658,942 (26,313) 4,355,532
Operating expenses
Salaries and employee benefits 1,334,330 1,113,377 - 2,447,707
Supplies and other 902,804 466,947 (26,313) 1,343,438
Depreciation expense 132,583 78,624 - 211,207
Amortization expense - 2,285 - 2,285
Interest expense 38,407 22,246 - 60,653

Total operating expenses 2,408,124 1,683,479 (26,313) 4,065,290
Operating income (loss) 314,779 (24,537) - 290,242

Non-operating (expense) income 
Investment (loss) income (139,276) 33 - (139,243)
Income tax expense (515) - - (515)
Other net periodic pension costs (14,225) (1,796) - (16,021)

Excess (deficit) of revenues over expenses 160,763$ (26,300)$ -$ 134,463$



Novant Health, Inc.
Notes to Consolidating or Combining Supplemental Schedules
December 31, 2018

��

1. Consolidated Financial Statements Reporting Entity

Novant Health, Inc. (“Novant Health” or the “Company”) is a nonprofit, integrated health care network of 
physician clinics, outpatient centers and hospitals that serves patients and communities in North Carolina, 
Virginia and South Carolina.  Novant Health consists of nearly 1,500 physicians and 28,000 team 
members at approximately 500 locations, including 15 medical centers and hundreds of outpatient 
facilities and physician clinics.  Headquartered in Winston-Salem, North Carolina, Novant Health is 
committed to making healthcare remarkable for patients and communities, serving more than 5 million 
patients annually.  Novant Health and its affiliates serve their communities with programs including health 
education, home health care, prenatal clinics, community clinics and immunization services.  

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Novant Health, Inc. Consolidating Balance Sheet and Consolidating Statement of Operations 
(which Combines the Information of the Combined Group and Unrestricted Affiliates)

The Total column reconciles to the consolidated financial statements of Novant Health, Inc. and includes 
the accounts of all affiliates controlled by Novant Health, Inc.  The Total is comprised of the Combined 
Group (as described below, which is comprised of the Obligated Group and Restricted Affiliates) and the 
Unrestricted Affiliates, which represent affiliates not meeting the definition of the Obligated Group or 
Restricted Affiliates as defined below.  

The Eliminations column represents the elimination of intercompany transactions and balances between 
the Combined Group and the Unrestricted Affiliates.

The consolidating balance sheet and consolidating statement of operations are otherwise prepared in 
accordance with accounting policies described in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. These schedules are not intended to be a presentation in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, as a result of the exclusion of all required 
disclosures.

Combined Group Combining Balance Sheet and Statement of Operations

As noted in footnote 13 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company is subject to a Master 
Trust Indenture (the “Agreement”) which authorizes the creation of a Combined Group, which consists of 
the members of the Obligated Group and the Restricted Affiliates. 

The members of the Obligated Group are jointly and severally liable for the payment of all obligations 
under the Agreement. The members of the Obligated Group are Novant Health and its two affiliates that 
operate tertiary care hospitals, Forsyth Memorial Hospital, Inc. d/b/a Novant Health Forsyth Medical 
Center and The Presbyterian Hospital d/b/a Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center, both of which 
are North Carolina nonprofit corporations. In the accompanying Combined Group combining balance 
sheet and combining statement of operations, the Obligated Group column presents information of the 
aforementioned entities. 
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Restricted Affiliates represent entities that are not directly obligated to pay obligations under the 
Agreement, but the members of the Obligated Group have covenanted in the Agreement to cause the 
Restricted Affiliates to provide funds to the members of the Obligated Group to pay obligations under the 
Agreement.  The Company has designated twelve of its affiliates as Restricted Affiliates. Seven of these 
Restricted Affiliates, Medical Park Hospital, Inc. d/b/a Novant Health Medical Park Hospital, Community 
General Health Partners, Inc. d/b/a Novant Health Thomasville Medical Center, Presbyterian Medical 
Care Corp. d/b/a Novant Health Matthews Medical Center, Brunswick Community Hospital d/b/a Novant 
Health Brunswick Medical Center, Presbyterian Orthopaedic Hospital, LLC d/b/a Novant Health Charlotte 
Orthopaedic Hospital, Prince William Hospital Corporation d/b/a Novant Health UVA Prince William 
Medical Center, and Prince William Health System, operate, or maintain a significant investment in, 
hospitals. The other five Restricted Affiliates, Carolina Medicorp Enterprises, Inc., Forsyth Medical Group, 
LLC, Foundation Health Systems Corp., Novant Medical Group, Inc. f/k/a Presbyterian Regional 
Healthcare Corp. and Salem Health Services, Inc., provide, or invest in subsidiaries or joint ventures 
which provide health care and ancillary services. All of the members of the Combined Group, except 
Salem Health Services, Inc., are exempt from federal and state income taxation.

The Eliminations column represents the elimination of intercompany transactions and balances between 
the Obligated Group and the Restricted Affiliates.

The Combined Group combining balance sheet and combining statement of operations are otherwise 
prepared in accordance with accounting policies described in the accompanying notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. These schedules are not intended to be a presentation in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, as a result of the exclusion of 
all required disclosures.
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Brief descriptions of the Master Indenture, Supplemental Master Indenture No. 28, the Trust 
Agreement and the Loan Agreement are included hereafter in this Appendix C.  Such descriptions do not 
purport to be comprehensive or definitive; all references herein to the Master Indenture, Supplemental 
Master Indenture No. 28, the Trust Agreement and the Loan Agreement are qualified in their entirety by 
reference to each such document. 

DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS 

The following is a summary of the definitions of certain terms contained in the Loan Agreement, 
the Trust Agreement, the Master Indenture or Supplemental Master Indenture No. 28 and used in this 
Official Statement: 

“Accountant” means a firm of independent certified public accountants that is a member of the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (or its successor organization) and that is licensed to 
practice in the state in which the Member of the Combined Group is located with respect to which such 
accountants are performing the service in question. 

“Act” means the Health Care Facilities Finance Act, Chapter 131A of the General Statutes of 
North Carolina, as amended, or any successor statute. 

“Agreement” or “Loan Agreement” means the Loan Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2019, 
between the Commission and Novant, including all amendments or supplements thereto as therein 
permitted. 

 “Audited Financial Statements” means consolidated and/or combined financial statements of 
Novant and its affiliates for a Fiscal Year, prepared in accordance with GAAP, which have been audited 
and reported upon by an Accountant.  If any Restricted Affiliate is an Outside Restricted Affiliate or any 
Member of the Obligated Group is an Outside Member of the Obligated Group, “Audited Financial 
Statements” means (i) the financial statements described in the previous sentence and (ii) consolidated 
and/or combined financial statements of (A) each Outside Restricted Affiliate and its affiliates and (B) 
each Outside Member of the Obligated Group and its affiliates, in each such case for the same period as 
Novant’s financial statements (or a period of the same duration ended no earlier than the last day of the 
sixth month preceding, and no later than the last day of the sixth month following, the last day of the 
period covered by Novant’s financial statements), prepared in accordance with GAAP, which have been 
audited and reported upon by an Accountant.  In either case, Audited Financial Statements will also 
include, in an additional information section, unaudited consolidating and/or combining financial 
statements for the same period that present the financial position and results of operations of the Members 
of the Combined Group separately from those of any Person that is not an Obligated Group Member or a 
Restricted Affiliate.  All unaudited financial statements under this definition shall be derived from books, 
records and accounts that were audited in connection with the preparation of the audited financial 
statements with respect to which such unaudited financial statements are included in a supplemental 
section. 

“Balloon Indebtedness” means Indebtedness having a stated maturity date more than one (1) year 
from the date of its incurrence and twenty-five percent (25%) or more of the principal payments of which 
are due in a single year, which portion of the principal is not required by the documents pursuant to which 
such Indebtedness is issued to be amortized by redemption prior to such year. 

“Beneficial Owner” means the Person in whose name a Bond is recorded as beneficial owner of 
such Bond by the Securities Depository or a Participant or an Indirect Participant on the records of such 
Securities Depository, Participant or Indirect Participant, as the case may be, or such Person’s subrogee. 
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“Bond Counsel” means a firm of attorneys knowledgeable and experienced in the law relating to 
municipal securities and the law relating to federal and State taxation of interest thereon and approved by 
the Commission. 

“Board Resolution” means, with respect to any Person, a copy of a resolution certified by a 
Person responsible for maintaining the records of the Governing Body of such Person to have been duly 
adopted by the Governing Body of such Person and to be in full force and effect on the date of such 
certification and delivered to the Master Trustee. 

“Bond Fund” means the North Carolina Medical Care Commission Health Care Facilities 
Revenue Bonds (Novant Health Obligated Group), Series 2019A Bond Fund, created and so designated 
by the Trust Agreement and consisting of the Interest Account and the Sinking Fund Account. 

“Bonds” means the North Carolina Medical Care Commission Health Care Facilities Revenue 
Bonds (Novant Health Obligated Group), Series 2019A. 

“Bond Trustee” means the Bond Trustee at the time serving as such under the Trust Agreement, 
whether original or successor. 

“Bond Year” means the period commencing on November 1 of any year and ending on 
October 31 of the next succeeding year, except that the initial Bond Year shall be the period commencing 
on the Closing Date and ending on October 31, 2019. 

“Book Entry Bonds” means Bonds for which a Securities Depository or its nominee is the Holder. 

“Book Entry System” means a book entry system established and operated for the recordation of 
Beneficial Owners of the Bonds pursuant to the Trust Agreement. 

“Business Day” means any day on which banks in the city in which the corporate trust office of 
the Bond Trustee is located are open for commercial banking purposes. 

“Closing” or “Closing Date” means, with respect to the Loan Agreement and the Trust 
Agreement, the date on which the Loan Agreement and the Trust Agreement become legally effective, the 
same being the date on which the Bonds are delivered against payment therefor. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and all regulations promulgated 
thereunder. 

“Combined Group” means all Obligated Group Members and all Restricted Affiliates. 

“Commission” means the North Carolina Medical Care Commission of the Department of Health 
and Human Services of the State of North Carolina, and any successor thereto. 

“Commission Bonds” means any Related Bonds issued by the Commission or the issuance of 
which was subject to approval by the LGC. 

“Commission Representative” means each of the persons at the time designated to act on behalf 
of the Commission in a written certificate furnished to Novant and the Bond Trustee, which certificate 
will contain the specimen signature(s) of such person(s) and will be signed on behalf of the Commission 
by its Chairman or Vice Chairman. 
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“Construction Account” means the account in the Construction Fund created and so designated 
by the Trust Agreement. 

“Construction Fund” means the North Carolina Medical Care Commission Health Care Facilities 
Revenue Bonds (Novant Health Obligated Group), Series 2019A Construction Fund, created and so 
designated by the Trust Agreement and consisting of the Issuance Account, the Construction Account and 
the Revolving Fund Account. 

“Consultant” means a firm or firms which is not, and no member, stockholder, director, officer, 
trustee or employee of which is, an officer, director, trustee or employee of any Member of the Combined 
Group or any affiliate, and which is a professional management consultant of national repute for having 
the skill and experience necessary to render the particular report required by the provision in which such 
requirement appears and which is acceptable to the Commission. 

“Cost”, as applied to the Project, means, without intending thereby to limit or restrict any proper 
definition of such word under the Act, all items of cost set forth in the Trust Agreement. 

“Coverage Ratio” means, with respect to any period, the ratio determined by dividing Income 
Available for Debt Service for such period by the Long-Term Debt Service Requirement for such period. 

“Credit Facility” means, with respect to any Master Obligation or Related Bonds, any insurance 
policy, surety bond, letter of credit, line of credit or other form of credit enhancement issued by a bank, 
trust company, national banking association, insurance company or other financial services company or 
entity in favor of the holders of such Master Obligations or Related Bonds for the purpose of providing a 
source of funds for the payment of all or a portion of the Obligated Group’s obligations under such 
Master Obligation or Related Bonds. 

“Daily Cash Expenses” means the total operating expenses of the Combined Group, less any bad 
debts and all depreciation and amortization (including any non-cash impairment charges), divided by the 
number of days in the applicable fiscal period. 

“Days’ Cash on Hand” means the amount, expressed in number of days, calculated by dividing 
(i) the sum of all unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and liquid investments (including board-designated 
funds) not subject to any lien, pledge or security interest in favor of any secured party that is held by the 
Members of the Combined Group at the end of the applicable fiscal period, by (ii) Daily Cash Expenses.  
In computing the Days’ Cash on Hand, there will be excluded therefrom (i) the outstanding principal 
balance of any short-term borrowings including, without limitation, draws on lines of credit regardless of 
the maturity date of the line of credit, (ii) the outstanding principal balance of accounts receivable 
financings or factoring and (iii) funds or investments subject to any restrictions (other than board-imposed 
restrictions), permanent or temporary, regardless of whether such funds or investments are considered 
restricted for purposes of GAAP. 

“Defeasance Obligations” means, to the extent permitted by law, (i) noncallable Government 
Obligations, (ii) evidences of ownership of a proportionate interest in specified Government Obligations, 
which Government Obligations are held by a bank or trust company organized and existing under the 
laws of the United States of America or any state thereof in the capacity of custodian, (iii) Defeased 
Municipal Obligations, and (iv) evidences of ownership of a proportionate interest in specified Defeased 
Municipal Obligations, which Defeased Municipal Obligations are held by a bank or trust company 
organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America or any state thereof in the capacity 
of custodian. 
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“Defeased Municipal Obligations” means obligations of state or local government municipal 
bond issuers which are rated in the highest rating category by S&P and Moody’s, provision for the 
payment of the principal of and interest on which shall have been made by deposit with a trustee or 
escrow agent of (i) noncallable Government Obligations or (ii) evidences of ownership of a proportionate 
interest in specified noncallable Government Obligations, which Government Obligations are held by a 
bank or trust company organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America or any state 
thereof in the capacity of custodian, and the maturing principal of and interest on such Government 
Obligations or evidences of ownership, when due and payable, shall provide sufficient money to pay the 
principal of, premium, if any, and interest on such obligations of state or local government municipal 
bond issuers. 

“Derivative Agreement” means (i) any contract known as or referred to or which performs the 
function of an interest rate swap agreement, currency swap agreement, forward payment conversion 
agreement or futures contract; (ii) any contract providing for payments based on levels of, or changes or 
differences in, interest rates, currency exchange rates, or stock or other indices; (iii) any contract to 
exchange cash flows or payments or series of payments; (iv) any type of contract called, or designed to 
perform the function of, interest rate floors or caps, options, puts or calls or to hedge or minimize any type 
of financial risk, including, without limitation, payment, currency, rate or other financial risk; and (v) any 
other type of contract or arrangement that the Member of the Combined Group entering into such contract 
or arrangement determines is to be used, or is intended to be used, to manage or reduce the cost of 
Indebtedness, to convert any element of Indebtedness from one form to another, to maximize or increase 
investment return, to minimize investment return risk or to protect against any type of financial risk or 
uncertainty. 

“Derivative Agreement Counterparty” means, with respect to a Derivative Agreement, the Person 
that is identified in such agreement as the counterparty to, or contracting party with, the Member of the 
Combined Group that is party to such agreement. 

“Derivative Indebtedness” means Indebtedness or any portion thereof with respect to which a 
Member of the Combined Group shall have entered into a Derivative Agreement. 

“Electronic Means” means telephone, telecopy, telegraph, telex, internet, facsimile transmission 
or any other similar means of electronic communication. Any communication by telephone as an 
Electronic Means shall be promptly confirmed in writing or by one of the other means of electronic 
communication authorized in this definition. 

“Eminent Domain” means the eminent domain or condemnation power by which all or any part 
of the Property may be taken for public use or any agreement that is reached in lieu of proceedings to 
exercise such power. 

“Escrow Obligations” means (a) with respect to any Master Obligations which secure a series of 
Related Bonds, the obligations permitted to be used to defease such series of Related Bonds under the 
Related Bond Indenture and (b) with respect to Master Obligations for which there are no Related Bonds, 
unless otherwise provided in the Supplemental Master Indenture for such Master Obligations, the 
following: 

(1) direct obligations of, or obligations the timely payment of the principal of and interest on 
which is fully and unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America 
(“Government Obligations”); 
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(2) evidences of direct ownership of a proportionate or individual interest in future principal 
or interest payments on specified Government Obligations, which Government 
Obligations are held by a bank or trust company organized and existing under the laws of 
the United States of America or any state thereof in the capacity of custodian pursuant to 
the terms of a custody agreement with respect to which there exists an Opinion of 
Counsel to the effect that the Government Obligations are not available to satisfy 
creditors of the custodian; 

(3) obligations issued by or on behalf of states or political subdivisions, (A) provision for the 
payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on which shall have been made 
by irrevocable deposit with a bank or trust company in the capacity of trustee or escrow 
agent of cash or obligations described in (1) or (2) above, the maturing principal of and 
interest on which, when due and payable (without further investment or reinvestment of 
either the principal amount thereof or the interest earnings therefrom), shall provide 
sufficient money to pay the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on 
such obligations issued by or on behalf of states or political subdivisions and (B) which 
obligations are rated at the time of acquisition for the purposes of the Master Indenture in 
the highest rating category by one or more of the Rating Agencies; and  

(4) obligations issued by or on behalf of states or political subdivisions that are rated in the 
highest rating category by one or more of the Rating Agencies and not rated below the 
highest rating category by any Rating Agency at the time of acquisition of such 
obligations for the purposes of the Master Indenture. 

“Event of Default” means, with respect to the Loan Agreement, each of those events set forth in 
the Loan Agreement and summarized under the caption “SUMMARY OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT – 
Defaults and Remedies” herein, with respect to the Trust Agreement, each of those events set forth in the 
Trust Agreement and summarized under the caption “SUMMARY OF THE TRUST AGREEMENT – 
Events of Default” herein, and, with respect to the Master Indenture, “event of default” means each of the 
events set forth in the Master Indenture and summarized under the caption “SUMMARY OF THE 
MASTER INDENTURE – Events of Default” herein. 

“Financial Statements” means the unaudited consolidating and/or combining financial statements 
of Novant and its affiliates set forth in an additional information section in the Audited Financial 
Statements and covering the same period as the Audited Financial Statements that present the financial 
position and results of operations of the Members of the Combined Group separately from those of any 
affiliate of Novant that is not a Member of the Combined Group.  If any Restricted Affiliate is an Outside 
Restricted Affiliate or any Member of the Obligated Group is an Outside Member of the Obligated 
Group, “Financial Statements” means (i) the financial statements described in the previous sentence, 
(ii) the unaudited consolidating and/or combining financial statements of (A) each Outside Restricted 
Affiliate and its affiliates and (B) each Outside Member of the Obligated Group and its affiliates, and set 
forth in an additional information section in the Audited Financial Statements of such Member of the 
Combined Group and its affiliates and covering the same period as such Audited Financial Statements, 
that present the financial position and results of operations of the Members of the Combined Group 
separately from those of any affiliate of the Outside Restricted Affiliate or the Outside Member of the 
Obligated Group that is not a Member of the Combined Group.  If not otherwise contained in the financial 
statements described in this definition, “Financial Statements” includes a separate schedule prepared by 
Novant that presents the consolidated and/or combined financial position and results of operations of the 
Combined Group.  Notwithstanding any provision of this definition to the contrary, if Novant and all of 
its affiliates that are included in the Audited Financial Statements of Novant and its affiliates are 
Members of the Combined Group and there are no Outside Members of the Obligated Group and no 
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Outside Restricted Affiliates, then “Financial Statements” shall mean the Audited Financial Statements of 
Novant and its affiliates.  All unaudited financial statements under this definition shall be derived from 
books, records and accounts that were audited in connection with the preparation of the audited financial 
statements with respect to which such unaudited financial statements are included in a supplemental 
section. 

“Fiscal Year” means an annual period or, in connection with a change in the fiscal year of 
Novant, such shorter or longer period adopted by Novant as the accounting period used for preparation of 
the Audited Financial Statements required to be delivered pursuant to the Master Indenture. 

“Fitch” means Fitch, Inc., a Delaware corporation, its successors and assigns, and if such 
corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating 
agency, “Fitch” shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency 
designated by the Commission with the approval of Novant, by notice to the Bond Trustee. 

“Forsyth” means Forsyth Memorial Hospital, Inc., a private, nonprofit corporation duly 
incorporated and validly existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of North Carolina, with its 
principal place of business in Winston-Salem, North Carolina, and any successor or successors thereto. 

“GAAP” means accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as they 
exist on the date of applicability thereof and applied on a consistent basis. 

“Governing Body” means, with respect to any Person, the board of directors or board of trustees 
of such Person or any duly authorized committee of that board, or if there be no board of trustees or board 
of directors, then the Person or body which pursuant to law or the organizational documents of such 
Person is vested with powers similar to those vested in a board of trustees or a board of directors. 

“Governmental Restrictions” means federal, state or other applicable governmental laws or 
regulations affecting any Member of the Combined Group and its health care facilities placing restrictions 
and limitations on the (i) fees and charges to be fixed, charged and collected by any Member of the 
Combined Group or (ii) the amount or timing of the receipt of such revenues. 

“Government Obligations” means direct obligations of, or obligations the timely payment of 
principal and interest on which are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America. 

“Guaranty” means any obligation of any Member of the Combined Group guaranteeing in any 
manner, directly or indirectly, any obligation of any Person that is not a Member of the Combined Group, 
which obligation of such other Person would, if such obligation were the obligation of a Member of the 
Combined Group, constitute Indebtedness under the Master Indenture. 

“Holder” means, as applicable, the registered owner of any Master Obligation issued and 
Outstanding under the Master Indenture, as shown on the registration books maintained by the Master 
Trustee pursuant to the terms of the Master Indenture, or a person in whose name a Bond is registered in 
the registration books provided for in the Trust Agreement. 

“Income Available for Debt Service” means, with respect to any period, the excess of revenue 
over expenses (plus unrestricted contributions to the extent not included in such computation) of the 
Combined Group, to which shall be added depreciation, amortization and interest expense, all as 
determined on a consolidated and/or combined basis in accordance with GAAP; provided, however, that 
(1) no determination thereof shall take into account any gain or loss resulting from either the 
extinguishment of Indebtedness or the sale, exchange or other disposition of capital assets constituting 
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property, plant and equipment not made in the ordinary course of business; (2) no determination thereof 
shall take into account any gains or losses resulting from the periodic valuation of investments or 
Derivative Agreements that do not involve the sale, transfer or other disposition of any such investment or 
Derivative Agreement or the termination of any Derivative Agreement; (3) no determination thereof shall 
take into account the financial results of any affiliate of any Member of the Combined Group that is not a 
Member of the Combined Group; (4) no determination thereof shall take into account any nonrecurring 
items of an extraordinary nature which do not involve the receipt, expenditure or transfer of assets; 
(5) with respect to Derivative Indebtedness, any amount of regularly scheduled payments made by a 
Member of the Combined Group to a Derivative Agreement Counterparty shall be treated as an interest 
expense and any amount of regularly scheduled payments made by a Derivative Agreement Counterparty 
to a Member of the Combined Group shall offset interest expense and shall not be included in revenue; 
and (6) any payment made by any Member of the Combined Group under a Guaranty shall be treated as 
an interest expense.   

“Indebtedness” means any indebtedness of a Person for the repayment of borrowed money 
(including capital leases, installment purchase contracts and guarantees of indebtedness) which is shown 
as a liability on the balance sheet of such Person or which is properly capitalized on the balance sheet of 
such Person in accordance with GAAP (including indebtedness evidenced by Master Obligations issued 
under the Master Indenture and indebtedness not evidenced by Master Obligations under the Master 
Indenture); provided, however, that Indebtedness shall not include obligations of any Member of the 
Combined Group to another Member of the Combined Group. 

“Independent” means, with respect to any Person, a Person who (1) is in fact independent, 
(2) does not have any direct financial interest or any material indirect financial interest in any Member of 
the Combined Group or in any affiliate of any Member of the Combined Group, and (3) is not connected 
with any Member of the Combined Group or with any affiliate of any Member of the Combined Group as 
an officer, employee, promoter, trustee, partner, director or person performing similar functions.  
Whenever it is provided in the Master Indenture that any Independent Person’s opinion or certificate shall 
be furnished to the Master Trustee, such opinion or certificate shall state that the signer has read this 
definition and that the signer is Independent within the meaning hereof. 

“Indirect Participant” means a broker-dealer, bank or other financial institution for which the 
Securities Depository holds Bonds as a securities depository through a Participant. 

“Interest Account” means the account in the Bond Fund created and so designated by the Trust 
Agreement. 

“Interest Payment Date” means November 1, 2019 and each May 1 and November 1 thereafter, to 
and including November 1, 2052. 

“Internal Revenue Code” or “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and, 
when appropriate, any statutory predecessor or successor thereto, and all applicable regulations (whether 
proposed, temporary or final) thereunder and any applicable official rulings, announcements, notices, 
procedures and judicial determinations relating to the foregoing. 

“Investment Grade” means that rating of any of the Rating Agencies or any other rating agency of 
national recognition acceptable to the LGC with a rating then in effect with respect to any Related Bond 
which represents the lowest rating any of such rating agencies recognizes as being investment grade. 
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“Investment Obligations” means any investment to the extent from time to time permitted by 
applicable law, including but not limited to Sections 131A-14 and 159-30 of the General Statutes of North 
Carolina, as amended, or any successor statutes. 

“Issuance Account” means the account in the Construction Fund created and so designated by the 
Trust Agreement. 

“Issuance Costs” means all issuance costs, within the meaning of Section 147(g) of the Code, 
incurred in connection with the Bonds, as more fully described in the Trust Agreement. 

“Letter of Representations” means, when all the Bonds are Book Entry Bonds, the Blanket Letter 
of Representations dated February 28, 2019 executed by the Commission and delivered to DTC and any 
amendments thereto or successor blanket agreements between the Commission and any successor 
Securities Depository, relating to a system of Book Entry Bonds to be maintained by such Securities 
Depository with respect to any bonds, notes or other obligations issued by the Commission. 

“LGC” or “Local Government Commission” means the Local Government Commission of North 
Carolina, a division of the Department of the State Treasurer, and any successor or successors thereto. 

“Liquidity Testing Date” means the last day of the second quarter of each Fiscal Year and the last 
day of each Fiscal Year. 

“Loan” means the loan of the proceeds of the Bonds made by the Commission to Novant pursuant 
to the Loan Agreement. 

“Loan Repayments” means those payments so designated by and set forth in the Loan 
Agreement. 

“Long-Term Debt Service Requirement” means, for any period, the aggregate of the payments to 
be made in respect of principal and interest (whether or not separately stated) on outstanding Long-Term 
Indebtedness of the Combined Group during such period; provided, however, that (i) with respect to 
Balloon Indebtedness, such calculation shall not take into account any principal installment of Balloon 
Indebtedness due in such period, whether at maturity or pursuant to a mandatory redemption requirement, 
in any case where a Member of the Combined Group has designated prior to the due date of such 
principal available funds for the payment of such principal or has received a binding commitment to 
refinance such principal; (ii) with respect to Derivative Indebtedness, the interest on such Indebtedness 
shall be calculated by adding (x) the amount of interest paid by a Member of the Combined Group on 
such Derivative Indebtedness pursuant to its terms and (y) the amount of regularly scheduled payments 
made by such Member of the Combined Group pursuant to the Derivative Agreement and subtracting 
(z) the amount of regularly scheduled payments made by the Derivative Agreement Counterparty 
pursuant to the Derivative Agreement and (iii) any payment made by any Member of the Combined 
Group under a Guaranty during such period shall be included in the Long-Term Debt Service 
Requirement. 

“Long-Term Indebtedness” means Indebtedness having a stated maturity date or dates longer than 
one (1) year from the date of its incurrence. 

“Management Consultant” means a nationally recognized firm of Independent professional 
management consultants or an Independent management organization knowledgeable in the operation of 
health care facilities and having a favorable reputation for skill and experience in the field of health care 
management consultation. 
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“Master Indenture” means the Master Trust Indenture (Amended and Restated), dated as of 
June 1, 2003, by and among Novant, Forsyth, Presbyterian and Wachovia Bank, National Association, 
succeeded by Regions Bank, as Master Trustee, including any amendments and supplements thereto. 

“Master Obligations” means the Existing Master Obligations (as defined in the Master Indenture) 
and Master Obligations issued, authenticated and delivered under the Master Indenture concurrently with 
or after the date on which the Master Indenture becomes effective. 

“Master Trustee” means Regions Bank, or any successor trustee under the Master Indenture. 

“Member of the Combined Group” means, at any time, each of the Obligated Group Members 
and each of the Restricted Affiliates. 

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under 
the laws of the State of Delaware, its successors and assigns, and if such corporation shall be dissolved or 
liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “Moody’s” shall be 
deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the Commission 
with the approval of Novant, by notice to the Bond Trustee. 

“Mortgage” means any mortgage, deed of trust, lien, security interest, charge or encumbrance on 
or in any property of any Member of the Combined Group. 

“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 

 “Novant” means Novant Health, Inc., a private, nonprofit corporation duly incorporated and 
validly existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of North Carolina, with its principal place of 
business in Winston-Salem, North Carolina, and any successor or successors thereto. 

“Novant Representative” means each of the persons at the time designated to act on behalf of 
Novant in a written certificate furnished to the Commission and the Bond Trustee, which certificate shall 
contain the specimen signature(s) of such person(s) and shall be signed on behalf of Novant by the 
President or Executive Vice President of Novant. 

“Obligated Group” means all Obligated Group Members. 

“Obligated Group Member” or “Member of the Obligated Group” means, initially, Novant, 
Forsyth and Presbyterian and, thereafter, any other Person which shall join the Obligated Group pursuant 
to the Master Indenture and not including any Person which shall have withdrawn from the Obligated 
Group pursuant to the Master Indenture. 

“Obligated Group Representative” means any Person at the time designated to act on behalf of 
the Obligated Group in a written certificate furnished to the Master Trustee, which certificate shall 
contain a specimen signature of such Person and shall be signed on behalf of the Obligated Group by the 
President of Novant or by his designee. 

“Officer’s Certificate” means, with respect to the Loan Agreement, a certificate signed by a 
Commission Representative or Novant Representative, as the case may be. 

“Officer’s Certificate” means, with respect to the Master Indenture, with respect to any Person, a 
certificate signed by the chair of its Governing Body, its president, any of its vice presidents or another 
executive officer of such Person, and delivered to the Master Trustee; provided, however, with respect to 
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a certificate signed by an individual in his capacity as an Obligated Group Representative, “Officer’s 
Certificate” means a certificate signed by such individual in such capacity. 

“Officer’s Certificate” means, with respect to the Trust Agreement, a certificate signed by an 
Obligated Group Representative or a Novant Representative, as the case may be. 

“Opinion of Bond Counsel” means a written opinion of any legal counsel acceptable to the 
Master Trustee who is nationally recognized as expert in matters pertaining to the validity of obligations 
of governmental issuers and the exemption from federal income taxation of interest on such obligations. 

“Opinion of Counsel” means, when used with respect to the Trust Agreement and the Loan 
Agreement, an opinion in writing signed by an attorney or firm of attorneys reasonably acceptable to the 
Bond Trustee, who may be counsel for the Commission, Novant or other counsel. 

“Opinion of Counsel” means, when used with respect to the Master Indenture, a written opinion 
of any legal counsel acceptable to the Master Trustee and, without limitation, may include independent 
legal counsel for the Master Trustee, the Obligated Group, any Related Bond Issuer or any Related Bond 
Trustee. 

“Outside Member of the Obligated Group” means a Member of the Obligated Group that is not an 
affiliate of Novant under GAAP. 

“Outside Restricted Affiliate” means a Restricted Affiliate that is not an affiliate of any Obligated 
Group Member under GAAP. 

“Outstanding” means, when used with reference to Bonds, as of a particular date, all Bonds 
theretofore issued under the Trust Agreement, except: 

(1) Bonds theretofore cancelled by the  Bond Trustee or delivered to the Bond 
Trustee for cancellation; and 

(2) Bonds for the payment of which money, Defeasance Obligations, or a 
combination of both, sufficient to pay, on the date when such Bonds are to be paid or redeemed, 
the principal amount of or the Redemption Price of, and the interest accruing to such date on, the 
Bonds to be paid or redeemed, has been deposited with the Bond Trustee in trust for the Holders 
of such Bonds; Defeasance Obligations shall be deemed to be sufficient to pay or redeem Bonds 
on a specified date if the principal of and the interest on such Defeasance Obligations, when due, 
will be sufficient to pay on such date the Redemption Price of, and the interest accruing on, such 
Bonds to such date; 

(3) Bonds in exchange for or in lieu of which other Bonds have been issued; and 

(4) Bonds deemed to have been paid in accordance with the Trust Agreement. 

“Outstanding” means, when used with respect to the Master Indenture:  

(a) when used with respect to Master Obligations, as of the date of determination, all Master 
Obligations theretofore authenticated and delivered under the Master Indenture, except: 

(1) Master Obligations theretofore cancelled by the Master Trustee or delivered to 
the Master Trustee for cancellation; 
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(2) Master Obligations for whose payment or redemption money or Escrow 
Obligations in the necessary amount are deposited with the Master Trustee or any paying agent in 
trust for the holders of such Master Obligations, provided that, if such Master Obligations are to 
be redeemed, notice of such redemption is duly given pursuant to the Master Indenture or 
provision therefor satisfactory to the Master Trustee is made; 

(3) Master Obligations issued in connection with the issuance of a series of Related 
Bonds, to the extent that such Related Bonds are discharged and no longer deemed outstanding 
under the Related Bond Indenture; 

(4) Master Obligations in exchange for or in lieu of which other Master Obligations 
are authenticated and delivered under the Master Indenture; and 

(5) Master Obligations alleged to be destroyed, lost or stolen which are paid as 
provided in the Master Indenture. 

(b) when used in connection with Indebtedness other than Master Obligations, all such 
Indebtedness except Indebtedness with respect to which the obligation to make payments is discharged 
and no longer deemed outstanding in accordance with the terms of the instrument or instruments creating, 
securing or evidencing such Indebtedness;  

provided, however, that Master Obligations owned or held by or for the account of any Member of the 
Combined Group or any subsidiary or controlled affiliate of any Member of the Combined Group shall 
not be deemed Outstanding for the purpose of any consent or other action or any calculation of 
Outstanding Master Obligations provided for in the Articles of the Master Indenture entitled “Defaults 
and Remedies,” “The Master Trustee” and “Supplemental Master Indentures,” and the Members of the 
Combined Group as registered owners of such Master Obligations shall not be entitled to consent or take 
any action provided for in such Articles. 

“Participant” means a broker-dealer, bank or other financial institution for which the Securities 
Depository holds Bonds as a securities depository. 

“Paying Agent” means the Master Trustee and any other commercial bank or trust institution 
organized under the laws of any state of the United States of America or any national banking association 
designated pursuant to the Master Indenture or any Supplemental Master Indenture as paying agent for 
any series of Master Obligations at which the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on 
such Master Obligations shall be payable. 

“Person” means any natural person, firm, joint venture, association, partnership, trust, 
corporation, limited liability company, joint stock corporation, unincorporated organization, public body, 
agency or political subdivision thereof or any other similar entity. 

“Presbyterian” means The Presbyterian Hospital, a private, nonprofit corporation duly 
incorporated and validly existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of North Carolina, with its 
principal place of business in Charlotte, North Carolina, and any successor or successors thereto. 

“Principal Property” means any facility or property of a Member of the Combined Group 
(including all real property and fixtures comprising any such facility and all related revenues generated by 
and attributable to any such facility), wherever situated and whether now owned or hereafter acquired, 
and which the Governing Body of Novant by Board Resolution (1) determines is a material part of the 
primary operations of any Member of the Combined Group, and (2) designates as a Principal Property 



 

 C-12

under the Master Indenture.  After any facility or property is so designated as a Principal Property, the 
Governing Body of Novant by Board Resolution may at any time thereafter declare that such facility or 
property is no longer designated as a Principal Property. 

“Project” means the Project described in Exhibit A to the Loan Agreement, including any 
modifications thereof, substitutions therefor or additions thereto and excluding deletions therefrom. 

“Property” means any and all rights, titles and interests in and to any and all assets of Novant and 
its affiliates, whether real or personal, tangible or intangible and wherever situated. 

“Rating Agency” means, as of any date, each of Fitch, if the Bonds are then rated by Fitch, 
Moody’s, if the Bonds are then rated by Moody’s, and S&P, if the Bonds are then rated by S&P, and, if 
any such entities shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities 
rating agency, any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the Commission 
with the approval of an Obligated Group Representative by notice to the Master Trustee. 

“Rebate Requirement” means Rebate Requirement as defined in the Tax Certificate. 

“Redemption Fund” means the North Carolina Medical Care Commission Health Care Facilities 
Revenue Bonds (Novant Health Obligated Group), Series 2019A Redemption Fund, created and so 
designated by the Trust Agreement. 

“Redemption Price” means, with respect to Bonds or a portion thereof, the principal amount of 
such Bonds or portion thereof plus the applicable premium, if any, payable upon redemption thereof in 
the manner contemplated in accordance with its terms, the terms of the Series Resolution providing for 
the issuance thereof and the Trust Agreement. 

“Related Bond Indenture” means any indenture, bond resolution or similar instrument pursuant to 
which any series of Related Bonds is issued. 

“Related Bond Issuer” means any issuer of a series of Related Bonds. 

“Related Bond Trustee” means any trustee under any Related Bond Indenture and any successor 
trustee thereunder or, if no trustee is appointed under a Related Bond Indenture, the Related Bond Issuer. 

“Related Bonds” means (i) any revenue bonds or similar obligations issued by any state of the 
United States or any municipal corporation or other political subdivision formed under the laws thereof or 
any constituted authority, agency or instrumentality of any of the foregoing empowered to issue 
obligations on behalf thereof, the proceeds of which are loaned or otherwise made available to any 
Member of the Combined Group in consideration, whether in whole or in part, of the execution, 
authentication and delivery of a Master Obligation or Master Obligations to such governmental issuer, 
and (ii) any bonds, notes or similar obligations issued by any Member of the Combined Group, the 
payment obligations with respect to which are evidenced by the execution, authentication and delivery of 
a Master Obligation or Master Obligations. 

“Related Loan Document” means the document or documents (including, without limitation, any 
loan agreement, lease financing agreement, installment sales contract or other financing agreement) 
pursuant to which any proceeds of any Related Bonds are made available to or for the benefit of any 
Member of the Combined Group. 
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“Required Payments under the Agreement” means the payments so designated by and set forth in 
the Loan Agreement. 

“Restricted Affiliate” means any Person that is subject to the control of an Obligated Group 
Member as set forth in the Master Indenture and which the Governing Body of such Obligated Group 
Member and the Governing Body of Novant by Board Resolution designate as a Restricted Affiliate 
under the Master Indenture.  After any Person is so designated as a Restricted Affiliate, the Governing 
Body of the Obligated Group Member that controls and so designated such Restricted Affiliate and the 
Governing Body of Novant by Board Resolution may at any time thereafter declare that such Person is no 
longer designated as a Restricted Affiliate.  Anything hereinabove in this definition notwithstanding, 
except for the designation of the initial Restricted Affiliates as set forth in the Master Indenture, any 
designation of a Person as a Restricted Affiliate by a Member of the Obligated Group and any de-
designation of any Restricted Affiliate so that such Restricted Affiliate shall no longer be a Restricted 
Affiliate shall be subject to the provisions of the Master Indenture described under the caption 
“SUMMARY OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Restrictions on Transactions.” 

“Revolving Fund Account” means the account in the Construction Fund created and so 
designated by the Trust Agreement. 

“S&P” means S&P Global Ratings, a division of Standard & Poor’s Financial Services, LLC, or 
its successors and their assigns, and if S&P shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the 
functions of a securities rating agency, “S&P” shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized 
securities rating agency designated by the Commission with the approval of Novant, by notice to the 
Bond Trustee. 

“Securities Depository” means The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York or other 
recognized securities depository selected by the Commission, which maintains a book-entry system in 
respect of the Bonds, and shall include any substitute for or successor to the securities depository initially 
acting as Securities Depository. 

“Securities Depository Nominee” means, as to any Securities Depository, such Securities 
Depository or the nominee of such Securities Depository in whose name there shall be registered on the 
registration books maintained by the Bond Trustee certificates to be delivered to such Securities 
Depository or its custodian and immobilized during the continuation with such Securities Depository of 
participation in its book-entry system. 

“Series Resolution” means the resolution of the Commission providing for the issuance of the 
Bonds that is required to be adopted prior to the issuance of the Bonds by the Trust Agreement. 

“Series 2019A Obligation” means the Master Obligation, Series 2019A issued, authenticated and 
delivered under the Master Indenture and Supplemental Master Indenture No. 28, which was delivered to 
the Commission as evidence of the Loan and which was assigned by the Commission to the Bond Trustee 
as security for the Bonds. 

“Sinking Fund Account” means the account in the Bond Fund created and so designated by the 
Trust Agreement. 

“Sinking Fund Requirement” means, with respect to the Term Bonds for any Bond Year, the 
principal amount fixed or computed as provided in the Trust Agreement for the retirement of such Term 
Bonds by purchase or redemption on November 1 of the following Bond Year.  The aggregate amount of 
such Sinking Fund Requirements for the Term Bonds, together with the amount due upon the final 
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maturity of such Term Bonds, shall be equal to the aggregate principal amount of the Term Bonds.  The 
Sinking Fund Requirements for the Term Bonds shall begin in the Bond Year set forth in the Trust 
Agreement and shall end with the Bond Year immediately preceding the maturity of such Term Bonds 
(such final installment being payable at maturity and not redeemed).  Any principal amount of Term 
Bonds retired by operation of the account designated the Sinking Fund Account under the Trust 
Agreement by purchase in excess of the total amount of the Sinking Fund Requirement for such Term 
Bonds to and including such November 1, shall be credited against and reduce the future Sinking Fund 
Requirements for such Term Bonds in such manner as shall be specified in an Officer’s Certificate of a 
Novant Representative filed with the Bond Trustee pursuant to the Trust Agreement. 

“State” means the State of North Carolina. 

“Supplemental Master Indenture” means an indenture amending or supplementing the Master 
Indenture entered into pursuant to the Master Indenture. 

“Supplemental Master Indenture No. 28” means Supplemental Master Trust Indenture No. 28, 
dated as of July 1, 2019, by and among Novant, Forsyth, Presbyterian and the Master Trustee. 

“Tax Certificate” means the Tax Certificate and Agreement executed by the Commission and 
Novant in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. 

“Term Bonds” means the Bonds that are stated to mature on November 1, 2049 and 2052. 

“Total Required Payments” means the sum of the Loan Repayments and the Required Payments 
under the Agreement. 

“Transaction” means (i) after the date on which the Master Indenture becomes effective, the 
admission to, or withdrawal from, the Combined Group of any Person (but not the withdrawal of a Person 
from the Obligated Group simultaneously with the designation of such Person as a Restricted Affiliate or 
the de-designation of a Person as a Restricted Affiliate simultaneously with the admission of such Person 
to the Obligated Group); (ii) any consolidation, merger, conveyance or transfer pursuant to the provisions 
of the Master Indenture; and (iii) any transfer by any Member of the Combined Group of any property of 
any kind, real or personal, tangible or intangible or mixed, to any Person that is not a Member of the 
Combined Group other than (1) transfers of property that, in the judgment of the Member of the 
Combined Group transferring the property, has become or is inadequate, obsolete, worn out, unsuitable, 
or unprofitable; (2) transfers of property for which the transferor shall receive, as consideration for such 
transfer, cash, services or property equal to the fair market value of the asset so transferred, such fair 
market value to be determined by the Member of the Combined Group transferring the property; and (3) 
in addition to transfers mentioned in clauses (1) and (2) above, transfers of property the book value of 
which in any fiscal year is not greater than 10% of the unrestricted net assets of the Combined Group, as 
shown on the Financial Statements for the most recent Fiscal Year for which Financial Statements are 
available. 

“Trust Agreement” means the Trust Agreement securing the Bonds, dated as of July 1, 2019, by 
and between the Commission and Regions Bank, as Bond Trustee, including any trust agreement 
amendatory thereof or supplemental thereto. 
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SUMMARY OF THE MASTER INDENTURE 

Authorization, Amount and Designation of Master Obligations 

Any Member of the Obligated Group may issue Master Obligations in one or more series, subject 
to the provisions of the Master Indenture and the provisions of any Supplemental Master Indenture 
authorizing the issuance of Master Obligations.  No Member of the Obligated Group may issue a Master 
Obligation without the prior approval of Novant; the approval of the other Members of the Combined 
Group is not required.  No Master Obligations may be issued under the Master Indenture except in 
accordance with the provisions of the Master Indenture.  The total principal amount of Master 
Obligations, the number of Master Obligations and the series of Master Obligations that may be issued 
under the Master Indenture are not limited, except with respect to any series of Master Obligations as 
provided in the Supplemental Master Indenture providing for the issuance thereof, and except as limited 
by law. 

Security for Master Obligations 

Except as permitted in the Master Indenture and provided for in any Supplemental Master 
Indenture, all Master Obligations issued and Outstanding under the Master Indenture are direct, general 
and unsecured, joint and several obligations of the Members of the Obligated Group and are equally and 
ratably secured by the Master Indenture. 

Master Obligations may be issued to evidence and secure any type of Indebtedness, including, 
without limitation, any Indebtedness issued or incurred as notes, bonds or other forms of debt obligation.  
If any Indebtedness is not issued directly in the form of a Master Obligation, a Master Obligation may be 
issued under the Master Indenture as evidence and security for the payment of such Indebtedness in lieu 
of directly issuing such Indebtedness as a Master Obligation. 

Any series of Master Obligations may be secured by additional security (including, without 
limitation, liens on property, security interests in accounts receivable, security interests in debt service or 
depreciation reserves or similar funds, or a Credit Facility), so long as any liens created in connection 
therewith are permitted under the Master Indenture.  Such security need not extend to any other 
Indebtedness (including any other Master Obligations or series of Master Obligations) unless required 
under the Master Indenture.  The Supplemental Master Indenture pursuant to which any Master 
Obligation is issued may provide for such security and permit realization upon such security solely for the 
benefit of the Master Obligations entitled thereto in a manner not inconsistent with the intent of the 
Master Indenture; provided that, except as otherwise expressly provided in the Master Indenture, all 
Master Obligations will be equally and ratably secured by the Master Indenture.   

Performance of Covenants 

Each Member of the Obligated Group will (a) faithfully perform at all times any and all 
covenants, undertakings, stipulations and provisions contained in the Master Indenture and in each and 
every Master Obligation; and (b) exercise any and all control it may have with respect to its Restricted 
Affiliates to cause each Restricted Affiliate to comply with the terms and conditions of the Master 
Indenture which are applicable to such Restricted Affiliate and of the Related Loan Documents, if any, to 
which such Restricted Affiliate is a party. 
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Payment of Master Obligations 

(a) Payment of Principal, Premium, Interest and Other Amounts.  Each Member of the 
Obligated Group will be jointly and severally obligated for the due and punctual payment of the principal 
of, premium, if any, and interest on all Master Obligations, and any other payments, including the 
purchase price of Related Bonds tendered for purchase pursuant to the terms of a Related Bond Indenture 
or Related Loan Document, required by the terms of such Master Obligations, on the dates, at the times 
and at the places and in the manner provided in such Master Obligations, the applicable Supplemental 
Master Indenture and the Master Indenture, when and as the same become payable, whether at maturity, 
upon call for redemption, by acceleration of maturity or otherwise. 

(b) Payments by Restricted Affiliates.  Each Member of the Obligated Group agrees to 
exercise any and all control or rights it may have with respect to its Restricted Affiliates to cause each 
Restricted Affiliate to pay, loan or otherwise transfer to such Obligated Group Member (1) such amounts 
as are necessary to duly and punctually pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on all 
Outstanding Master Obligations or portions thereof the proceeds of which were loaned or otherwise made 
available to such Restricted Affiliate or that were otherwise issued for the benefit of such Restricted 
Affiliate and any other payments, including the purchase price of Related Bonds tendered for purchase 
pursuant to the terms of a Related Bond Indenture or Related Loan Document, required by the terms of 
such Master Obligations, on the dates, at the times and at the places and in the manner provided in such 
Master Obligations, the applicable Supplemental Master Indenture and the Master Indenture, when and as 
the same become payable, whether at maturity, upon call for redemption, by acceleration of maturity or 
otherwise, and (2) such amounts as are otherwise necessary to enable the Members of the Obligated 
Group to comply with the provisions of the Master Indenture described in paragraph (a) above with 
respect to the other Master Obligations. 

(c) Obligations Absolute and Unconditional.  The obligations of each Obligated Group 
Member under the Master Indenture are absolute and unconditional and will remain in full force and 
effect until all Master Obligations are paid or provision is made for such payment, and each Member of 
the Obligated Group is required to perform such obligations without notice or demand, and without 
abatement, deduction, set off, counterclaim, recoupment, discrimination or defense or any right of 
termination or cancellation arising from any circumstances whatsoever, whether now existing or hereafter 
arising, and regardless of the invalidity of any portion of the Master Indenture, and, to the extent 
permitted by law, each Obligated Group Member waives the provisions of any statute or other law now or 
hereafter in effect contrary to any of its obligations, covenants or agreements under the Master Indenture 
or which releases or purports to release such Obligated Group Member therefrom. 

Maintenance of Legal Existence 

Except as otherwise expressly provided in the Master Indenture, each Member of the Obligated 
Group is required to, and, with respect to its Restricted Affiliates, cause each Restricted Affiliate to, 
(1) preserve its corporate or other separate legal existence, (2) preserve all its rights and licenses to the 
extent necessary or desirable in the operation of its business and affairs, and (3) be and remain qualified 
to do business and conduct its affairs in each jurisdiction where its ownership of property or the conduct 
of its business or affairs requires such qualification; provided, however, that no Member of the Obligated 
Group or any Restricted Affiliate is required to preserve any right or license no longer, in the judgment of 
its Governing Body, desirable in the conduct of its business and the loss of which is not disadvantageous 
in any material respect to the Holders of the Master Obligations. 
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Liens 

No Member of the Obligated Group will, or will permit any of its Restricted Affiliates to, create 
or incur or permit to be created or incurred or to exist any Mortgage on any Principal Property securing 
any Indebtedness of any Member of the Combined Group, except the following: 

(a) Mortgages on any Principal Property of a Member of the Combined Group that 
secure all Outstanding Master Obligations equally and ratably (together, if Novant so determines, 
with any other Indebtedness of a Member of the Combined Group); or 

(b) Mortgages on any Principal Property of a Member of the Combined Group at the 
effective date of the Master Indenture or existing at the time any Person becomes a Member of 
the Combined Group; provided that no such Mortgage (or the amount of Indebtedness secured 
thereby) may be increased, extended, renewed or modified to apply to any Principal Property of a 
Member of the Combined Group not subject to such Mortgage on such date unless such Mortgage 
as so increased, extended, renewed or modified is otherwise permitted under the Master 
Indenture; or 

(c) Mortgages on property of a Person existing at the time such Person is merged 
into or consolidated with any Member of the Combined Group, at the time any Person becomes a 
Member of the Combined Group or at the time of a sale, lease or other disposition of the 
properties of a Person as an entirety or substantially as an entirety to any Member of the 
Combined Group which property becomes part of a Principal Property that secures Indebtedness 
that is assumed by a Member of the Combined Group as a result of any such merger, 
consolidation or acquisition; provided, that no such Mortgage may be increased, extended, 
renewed, or modified after such date to apply to any Principal Property of any Member of the 
Combined Group not subject to such Mortgage on such date unless such Mortgage as so 
increased, extended, renewed or modified is otherwise permitted under the Master Indenture; or 

(d) Mortgages on any Principal Property of a Member of the Combined Group to 
secure any Indebtedness incurred for the purpose of financing all or any part of the purchase price 
or the cost of constructing or improving the property subject to such Mortgage; provided, that 
such Mortgage will not apply to any property theretofore owned by a Member of the Combined 
Group, other than any theretofore unimproved real property on which the property so constructed 
or the improved property is located; or 

(e) Mortgages on any Principal Property of a Member of the Combined Group 
securing any Indebtedness if at the time of incurrence of such Indebtedness and after giving effect 
to all Mortgages permitted by the provisions of the Master Indenture described in this 
subparagraph, the aggregate amount of such Indebtedness secured by Mortgages pursuant to the 
provisions of the Master Indenture described in this subparagraph, including Indebtedness 
attributable to capital leases and sale-and-leaseback transactions existing at such time (other than 
sale-and-leaseback transactions entered into prior to the date of the Master Indenture and sale-
and-leaseback transactions the proceeds of which have been applied in accordance with the 
provisions of the Master Indenture described under clause (b) of the caption “Limitation on Sale 
and Leaseback Transactions” below), does not at the time exceed 15% of the book value of the 
Principal Properties of the Members of the Combined Group, as shown in the Financial 
Statements for the most recent Fiscal Year for which Financial Statements are available; or 

(f) Mortgages on any Principal Property of a Member of the Combined Group 
owned immediately prior to, and which Mortgage is created as a result of, any consolidation or 
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merger by such Member of the Combined Group, or upon any sale, conveyance or lease of all or 
substantially all the property of a Member of the Combined Group to any other Person, if, prior to 
such consolidation, merger, sale, conveyance or lease, the Obligated Group Members by an 
indenture supplemental to the Master Indenture secure the due and punctual payment of the 
principal of and premium, if any, and interest, if any, on all Outstanding Master Obligations 
(together with, if Novant so determines, any other Indebtedness of the Members of the Combined 
Group ranking equally with the Master Obligations) by a Mortgage, the lien of which, upon 
completion of said merger, consolidation, sale, conveyance or lease, will rank prior to the lien of 
such mortgage of such other Person on assets owned by Members of the Combined Group 
immediately prior to such merger, consolidation, sale, conveyance or lease; or 

(g) any other Mortgages on any Principal Property expressly permitted by the Master 
Indenture or approved in writing by the Holders of not less than 66 2/3% in aggregate principal 
amount of the Master Obligations Outstanding. 

The principal amount of Indebtedness in the form of a “capital lease” (defined below) or a “sale-
and leaseback” transaction (defined below) will be deemed to be the amount, as of the date of 
determination, at which the aggregate “net rentals” (defined below) due and to become due under such 
capital lease or sale and leaseback would be reflected as a liability on the balance sheet of the lessee 
determined in accordance with GAAP.  “Capital lease” means any lease of real or personal property that 
is capitalized on the balance sheet of the lessee under GAAP.  “Net rentals” means the aggregate amount 
of fixed rents (including as such all payments which the lessee is obligated to make to the lessor on 
termination of the lease or surrender of the Principal Property other than upon termination of the lease for 
a default thereunder) payable by the lessee under such lease, excluding any amounts required to be paid 
by the lessee (whether or not designated as rents or additional rents) on account of maintenance, repairs, 
insurance, taxes, utility, and similar charges, and after excluding any portion of rentals based on a 
percentage of sales made by the lessee.  Net rentals for any future period under any so called “percentage 
lease” will be computed on the basis of the amount reasonably estimated to be payable thereunder for 
such period, but in any event not less than the amount paid or payable thereunder during the immediately 
preceding period of the same duration as such future period; provided that the amount estimated to be 
payable under any such percentage lease will in all cases recognize any change in the applicable 
percentage called for by the terms of such lease. 

Limitation on Sale and Leaseback Transactions 

No Member of the Obligated Group will, or will permit any of its Restricted Affiliates to, enter 
into any arrangement with any Person for the leasing by a Member of the Combined Group (except for 
leases for a term of not more than three years and for leases of a Principal Property or any portion thereof, 
which has been sold, for use in connection with the winding up or termination of the business conducted 
on such Principal Property, and except a lease from one Member of the Combined Group to another) of 
any Principal Property, which Principal Property has been or is intended to be sold or transferred by a 
Member of the Combined Group to such Person (herein referred to as a “sale and leaseback” transaction), 
unless: 

(a) such Member of the Combined Group would be entitled, pursuant to the 
provisions of the Master Indenture described under the caption “Liens” above, to incur 
Indebtedness secured by a Mortgage on such Principal Property without equally and ratably 
securing the Master Obligations, or 

(b) such Member of the Combined Group will (and in any such case such Member of 
the Obligated Group covenants that it will and it will cause its Restricted Affiliates to) apply an 
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amount equal to the fair value of such Principal Property so leased (as determined by its 
Governing Body) to the retirement (other than by payment at maturity or to satisfy the mandatory 
requirements of any sinking, purchase or analogous fund or prepayment provision), within 120 
days of the effective date of any such sale and leaseback transaction, of Master Obligations or 
other Indebtedness of a Member of the Combined Group, or to the purchase, improvement or 
construction of properties which are Principal Properties; provided, that the amount to be applied 
to the retirement of such Master Obligations or other Indebtedness will be reduced by (1) the 
principal amount of any Master Obligations delivered within 120 days after such sale or transfer 
to the Master Trustee for retirement and cancellation, and (2) the principal amount of other 
Indebtedness voluntarily retired by a Member of the Combined Group within 120 days after such 
sale or transfer; and promptly after the expiration of such 120-day period an Obligated Group 
Representative has delivered to the Master Trustee an Officer’s Certificate setting forth in 
reasonable detail all material facts necessary to show compliance with the provisions of the 
Master Indenture described under this caption. 

Consolidation, Merger, Conveyance or Transfer 

No Member of the Obligated Group will consolidate with or merge into any other Person or sell, 
lease, convey or otherwise transfer its property substantially as an entirety to any Person, unless the 
following conditions are met: 

(a) such merger, consolidation, conveyance or transfer will be on such terms as will 
fully preserve the lien and security of the Master Indenture, if any such lien and security has 
heretofore been granted, and the rights and powers of the Master Trustee and the Holders of the 
Master Obligations under the Master Indenture; 

(b) the Person formed by such consolidation or into which a Member of the 
Obligated Group is merged or the Person which acquires by conveyance or transfer a Member of 
the Obligated Group’s property substantially as an entirety will be a corporation or other legal 
entity organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America or any state thereof 
and will execute and deliver to the Master Trustee a written instrument or Supplemental Master 
Indenture in form satisfactory to the Master Trustee, and containing an assumption by such 
successor corporation of the due and punctual payment of the principal of (and premium, if any) 
and interest on all the Master Obligations and the performance and observance of every covenant 
and condition of the Master Indenture to be performed or observed by Members of the Obligated 
Group; 

(c) the Master Trustee receives an Officer’s Certificate to the effect that immediately 
after such transaction, and after giving effect thereto, such Member of the Obligated Group or 
such successor corporation, as the case may be, will not be in non-compliance with any of the 
terms, covenants, agreements or conditions contained in the Master Indenture; 

(d) the Master Trustee receives an Opinion of Counsel to the effect that (1) such 
consolidation, merger, conveyance or transfer and any such assumption and Supplemental Master 
Indenture comply with the provisions of the Master Indenture described under this caption, (2) all 
conditions precedent in the Master Indenture relating to such transaction have been complied with 
and that it is proper for the Master Trustee under the Master Indenture to join in the execution of 
any instrument required to be executed and delivered as described under this caption; (3) the 
Person which is the surviving entity meets the conditions contained in the Master Indenture and is 
liable on all Master Obligations Outstanding under the Master Indenture, as if such Master 
Obligations were originally issued by such Person; and (4) under then existing law such merger, 
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consolidation, sale or conveyance will not subject any Master Obligations to the registration 
provisions of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (or that such Master Obligations have been 
so registered if registration is required); and 

(e) if all amounts due or to become due on any Related Bonds that bear interest that 
is not includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes have not been fully paid to the 
owners thereof, the Master Trustee receives an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that, under 
then existing law the consummation of such merger, consolidation, sale or conveyance, would not 
cause the interest payable on such Related Bonds to become includable in gross income for 
federal income tax purposes. 

Upon any consolidation or merger or any conveyance or transfer of a Member of the Obligated 
Group’s property substantially as an entirety in accordance with the provisions of the Master Indenture 
described under this caption, and upon the assumption by the successor corporation or other entity, by 
supplemental indenture, executed and delivered to the Master Trustee and satisfactory in form to the 
Master Trustee, of the due and punctual payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest, if 
any, on all of the Master Obligations and the due and punctual performance of all of the covenants and 
conditions of the Master Indenture to be performed by a Member of the Obligated Group, the successor 
corporation or other entity formed by such consolidation or into which such Member of the Obligated 
Group is merged or to which such conveyance or transfer is made will succeed to, and be substituted for, 
and may exercise every right and power of, such Member of the Obligated Group under the Master 
Indenture with the same effect as if such successor corporation or other entity had been named as a 
Member of the Obligated Group in the Master Indenture, and such Member of the Obligated Group, if it 
is not the successor, will thereupon be relieved of any further obligation or liabilities under the Master 
Indenture or upon the Master Obligations, and such Obligated Group Member as the predecessor 
corporation may thereupon or at any time thereafter be dissolved, wound up or liquidated.  Such successor 
corporation or other entity thereupon may cause to be signed, and may issue either in its own name or in 
the name of its predecessor Obligated Group Member any or all of the Master Obligations of any series 
issuable under the Master Indenture which theretofore have not been signed by such Obligated Group 
Member and delivered to the Master Trustee; and, upon the order of such successor corporation or other 
entity instead of such Obligated Group Member and subject to all the terms, conditions and limitations in 
the Master Indenture prescribed, the Master Trustee will authenticate and deliver Master Obligations of 
any series which previously have been signed and delivered by the officers of such Obligated Group 
Member to the Master Trustee for authentication, and any Master Obligations which such successor 
corporation or other entity thereafter will cause to be signed and delivered to the Master Trustee for that 
purpose.  All the Master Obligations of any series so issued will in all respects have the same legal rank 
and benefit under the Master Indenture as the Master Obligations theretofore or thereafter issued in 
accordance with the terms of the Master Indenture as though all of such Master Obligations had been 
issued at the date of the execution thereof. 

Anything in the previous paragraph notwithstanding, any merger, sale, consolidation or 
conveyance that is subject to the conditions of the Master Indenture as described under this caption will 
also be subject to the provisions of the Master Indenture described under the caption “Restrictions on 
Transactions” below. 

Rate Covenant 

Each Obligated Group Member will, and will cause each of its Restricted Affiliates to, establish, 
maintain and collect such rates, fees and charges for the use of and services furnished by or through its 
facilities as will produce in each Fiscal Year, or with respect to a Fiscal Year of less or greater than 
twelve months in the twelve-month period beginning on the first day of such Fiscal Year, a Coverage 
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Ratio equal to 1.20.  In calculating the Coverage Ratio, for any Member of the Combined Group that has 
a fiscal year that ends on a date other than the date on which the Fiscal Year of Novant ends (the 
“Novant’s Fiscal Year End”), Income Available for Debt Service and Long-Term Debt Service 
Requirement will be determined (A) in the case where such Member’s fiscal year ends within three 
months (before or after) of Novant’s Fiscal Year End, based on such Member’s Financial Statements, 
with necessary adjustments to delete intercompany transactions between Members of the Combined 
Group that are reflected on the financial statements of one Member but not on the financial statements of 
the other due to the difference in fiscal years and (B) in other cases, based on such Member’s unaudited 
financial statements for the twelve-month period ending on Novant’s Fiscal Year End, adjusted to reflect 
any year-end or audit adjustments that are material to any portion of such twelve-month period which is 
part of the most recent fiscal year of such Member for which audited financial statements are available. 

If at any time the Coverage Ratio is less than 1.20, the Members of the Obligated Group covenant 
immediately to retain a Management Consultant to make recommendations to increase the Coverage 
Ratio in the following Fiscal Year to the level required or, if in the opinion of such Management 
Consultant the attainment of such level is impracticable, to the highest level attainable.  Each Obligated 
Group Member covenants that it will, and that it will exercise the control it has with respect to its 
Restricted Affiliates to cause the Restricted Affiliates to, follow the recommendations of the Management 
Consultant, to the extent permitted by law.  So long as a Management Consultant is retained and the 
Members of the Obligated Group follow, and cause the Restricted Affiliates to follow, the 
recommendations of the Management Consultant to the extent permitted by law, the provisions of the 
Master Indenture described under this caption will be deemed to have been complied with even if the 
Coverage Ratio is less than 1.20; provided, however, that the revenues and other available funds of the 
Combined Group are not less than the amount required in cash to pay the total operating expenses of the 
Combined Group and to pay the debt service on all Indebtedness of the Combined Group for such Fiscal 
Year. 

If a report of a Management Consultant is delivered to the Master Trustee, which report states 
that Governmental Restrictions have been imposed which make it impossible for the coverage 
requirement in the first paragraph under this caption to be met, then such coverage requirement will be 
reduced to the maximum coverage permitted by such Governmental Restrictions but in no event less than 
1.00. 

Each Obligated Group Member will, and will cause each of its Restricted Affiliates to, require the 
prompt payment of accounts for service rendered by or through its facilities and will promptly take 
whatever action is legally permissible to enforce and collect delinquent charges and to promptly pay all of 
its obligations (whether or not evidenced by Master Obligations).  Each Obligated Group Member will, 
and will cause each of its Restricted Affiliate to, from time to time as often as necessary, revise the rates, 
fees and charges aforesaid in such manner as may be necessary or proper to produce revenues sufficient 
to cover the obligations described under this caption and otherwise under the provisions of the Master 
Indenture. 

Financial Statements and Other Information 

Each Obligated Group Member will keep, and will cause its Restricted Affiliates to keep, proper 
books of record and account, in which full and correct entries are made of all dealings or transactions of 
or in relation to its properties, business and affairs in accordance with GAAP.  Novant will furnish to the 
Master Trustee, as soon as practicable after they are available but in no event more than 120 days after the 
last day of each Fiscal Year, the Audited Financial Statements and Financial Statements for such Fiscal 
Year.  Each Obligated Group Member will cooperate, and will cause its Restricted Affiliates to cooperate, 
with Novant with respect to the requirements of the Master Indenture described under this caption. 
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Each Obligated Group Member will at any and all times, upon the written request of the Master 
Trustee and at the expense of such Obligated Group Member, permit the Master Trustee by its 
representatives to inspect its properties, books of account, records, reports and other papers, and, to the 
extent necessary to determine compliance with any of the terms and provisions of the Master Indenture, 
its Restricted Affiliates, except donor records, patient records, personnel records, and any other 
confidential records, and to take copies and extracts therefrom, and will afford and procure a reasonable 
opportunity to make any such inspection, and each Member of the Obligated Group will furnish to the 
Master Trustee any and all information as the Master Trustee may reasonably request, with respect to the 
performance by such Member of the Obligated Group of its covenants in the Master Indenture. 

Statement as to Compliance 

The Obligated Group Members will deliver to the Master Trustee, within 120 days after the end 
of each Fiscal Year, (a) an Officer’s Certificate of an Obligated Group Representative stating, as to the 
signer thereof, that 

(i) a review of the activities of the Members of the Obligated Group during such 
Fiscal Year and of performance under the Master Indenture has been made under his supervision, 
and 

(ii) to the best of his knowledge, based on such review, the Members of the 
Obligated Group have fulfilled all their obligations under the Master Indenture throughout such 
Fiscal Year, or, if there has been a default in the fulfillment of any such obligation, specifying 
each such default known to him and the nature and status thereof; and 

(b) a report of an Accountant stating the Coverage Ratio for such Fiscal Year and stating 
whether, to the best knowledge of the signers of such report, any Member of the Obligated Group is in 
non-compliance with any covenant applicable to it contained in the Master Indenture or in any agreement 
entered into in connection with the issuance of Related Bonds (including, without limitation, covenants to 
comply with Rule 15c2-12 issued under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended), and, if so, 
specifying each such incident of non-compliance of which the signers of such report may have knowledge 
and what action is being taken to cure such non-compliance. 

Waiver of Certain Covenants 

Any Obligated Group Member may omit in any particular instance to comply with any covenant 
or condition set forth in the Master Indenture (other than those described under the captions “Payment of 
Master Obligations” and “Maintenance of Legal Existence” and in subparagraph (g) under the caption 
“Liens” above) if before or after the time for such compliance the Holders of a majority or, in the case of 
the provisions of the Master Indenture described in subparagraph (g) under the caption “Liens” above, 
sixty-six and two-thirds (66 2/3%), in principal amount of all Master Obligations then Outstanding, shall 
either waive such compliance in such instance or generally waive compliance with such covenant or 
condition, but no such waiver will extend to or affect such covenant or condition except to the extent so 
expressly waived and, until such waiver becomes effective, the obligations of the Members of the 
Obligated Group and the duties of the Master Trustee in respect of any such covenant or condition shall 
remain in full force and effect; provided, however, that, in the event any Commission Bonds are 
Outstanding, the prior written consent of the Commission and the LGC to such waiver is required. 
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Restrictions on Transactions 

So long as any Commission Bonds remain Outstanding, in the event that for any Fiscal Year the 
Coverage Ratio is less than 2.00 (the “coverage requirement”) and until the completion of the Audited 
Financial Statements for the subsequent Fiscal Year in which the coverage requirement is demonstrated to 
have been met, prior to the occurrence of any Transaction, the Members of the Obligated Group are 
required to deliver to the LGC, the Commission and the Master Trustee an Officer’s Certificate of an 
Obligated Group Representative to the effect that all Related Bonds then Outstanding would continue to 
be rated Investment Grade; provided, however, that no such Officer’s Certificate is required to be 
delivered if the LGC and the Commission have approved such Transaction.  

Liquidity Covenant 

Each Member of the Obligated Group agrees to conduct its business and to cause each of its 
Restricted Affiliates to conduct its business so that, on each Liquidity Testing Date, the Combined Group, 
on a consolidated and/or combined basis, has not less than 75 Days’ Cash on Hand.  If the number of 
Days’ Cash on Hand as of a Liquidity Testing Date is less than 75, the Obligated Group Representative 
will, not later than 30 days after receipt of the financial statements disclosing such deficiency, deliver a 
management report setting forth in reasonable detail the reasons for such deficiency and adopting a 
specific plan setting forth the steps to be taken to achieve the required Days’ Cash on Hand by the next 
succeeding Liquidity Testing Date.  If the Combined Group has not achieved 75 Days’ Cash on Hand by 
the next succeeding Liquidity Testing Date, the Obligated Group Representative will, not later than 60 
days after receipt of the financial statements disclosing such deficiency, obtain a Management 
Consultant’s report setting forth in detail the reasons for such deficiency and a specific plan setting forth 
the steps designed to achieve 75 Days’ Cash on Hand by the second succeeding Liquidity Testing Date. 

Each Member of the Obligated Group will, and will cause each of its Restricted Affiliates to, 
follow the Management Consultant’s recommendations and plan delivered pursuant to the provisions of 
the Master Indenture described in the preceding paragraph, except to the extent that (1) any of the 
Management Consultant’s recommendations conflict with law or existing contracts, (2) the 
implementation of such recommendations would have an adverse effect on the validity of the Related 
Bonds or the exclusion of interest on the Related Bonds from the gross income of the owners thereof for 
purposes of federal income taxation or (3) the Governing Bodies of the respective Members of the 
Obligated Group determine by resolution that such recommendations are unreasonable, impractical or 
unfeasible.  So long as the Members of the Obligated Group retain a Management Consultant and so long 
as each Member of the Obligated Group follows, and causes each of its Restricted Affiliates to follow, 
such Management Consultant’s recommendations and plan to the fullest extent feasible, the provisions of 
the Master Indenture described under this caption will be deemed to have been complied with and the 
failure to achieve Days’ Cash on Hand of not less than 75 will not constitute an event of default under the 
Master Indenture.  Notwithstanding any provision of the Master Indenture described under this caption to 
the contrary, it will be an event of default under the Master Indenture if the number of Days’ Cash on 
Hand as of any Liquidity Testing Date is 50 or below. 

Admission of Obligated Group Members 

A Person may become an Obligated Group Member upon satisfaction of the following 
conditions: 

(a) the Person proposing to become an Obligated Group Member executes and 
delivers to the Master Trustee an instrument which evidences the agreement of such Person while 
such Person is an Obligated Group Member (i) jointly and severally to assume or guarantee on 
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the terms provided by the Master Indenture described under the caption “Payment of Master 
Obligations” above the obligation to pay all Master Obligations then Outstanding and thereafter 
incurred and (ii) to observe and perform the obligations of an Obligated Group Member set forth 
in the Master Indenture; 

(b) an Obligated Group Representative has delivered to the Master Trustee an 
Officer’s Certificate which states that (i) each Member of the Obligated Group has consented to 
the inclusion of such Person as an Obligated Group Member by Board Resolution; (ii) such 
admission and such instrument comply with the Master Indenture and that all conditions 
precedent provided in the Master Indenture relating to such admission have been complied with 
and (iii) immediately after giving effect to such admission, no event of default under the Master 
Indenture has occurred and is continuing; 

(c) an Obligated Group Representative has delivered to the Master Trustee an 
Opinion of Counsel which states that such admission and such instrument comply with the 
provisions of the Master Indenture, that such instrument constitutes a legal, valid and binding 
obligation of such Person enforceable in accordance with its terms subject to customary 
exceptions, and that all conditions precedent provided in the Master Indenture relating to such 
admission have been complied with; and 

(d) if all amounts due or to become due on any Related Bonds that bear interest that 
is not includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes have not been fully paid to the 
owners thereof, an Obligated Group Representative has delivered to the Master Trustee an 
Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that, under then existing law, such admission would not 
cause the interest payable on such Related Bonds to become includable in gross income for 
federal income tax purposes. 

In addition, the conditions precedent provided in the Master Indenture described under the 
caption “Additional Conditions to the Admission or Withdrawal of a Person to the Obligated Group” 
below, to the extent applicable, relating to the admission of any Person to the Obligated Group must be 
complied with to the satisfaction of the Master Trustee.  

Obligated Group Members 

Upon any Person becoming an Obligated Group Member as provided in the Master Indenture and 
described under the caption “Admission of Obligated Group Members” above: 

(a) the Master Trustee may pursue any remedies consequent upon a default against 
any Obligated Group Member, or all of them, without notice to, demand upon or joinder of (and 
without in any way releasing) any of the others, or against any one or more or all of them at the 
same time or at different times; 

(b) any right of contribution or right acquired by subrogation by any Obligated 
Group Member against any other Obligated Group Member arising out of the payment of 
Indebtedness will be subordinated in time and right to the rights of the Master Trustee and the 
Holders; and 

(c) each Obligated Group Member will be deemed to have irrevocably designated 
each of the Obligated Group Representatives as its attorney-in-fact with full power of substitution 
to perform, satisfy and discharge every obligation, covenant, duty or liability to be performed on 
the part of the Obligated Group Member under the Master Indenture, to exercise any right, 
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privilege or power under the Master Indenture or in respect of any Master Obligation, and to 
execute and deliver in the name and on behalf of such Obligated Group Member any instrument 
required or permitted to be executed by such Obligated Group Member under the Master 
Indenture.  

Withdrawal of Obligated Group Members 

Any Obligated Group Member may, upon 30 days’ prior written notice to the Master Trustee, 
withdraw as an Obligated Group Member, and the Master Trustee, upon request of such Obligated Group 
Member and at such withdrawing Obligated Group Member’s expense, will execute and deliver an 
appropriate instrument releasing such Obligated Group Member from any liability or obligation under the 
provisions of the Master Indenture provided that: 

(a) the withdrawing Obligated Group Member has requested such release by Board 
Resolution; 

(b) either the withdrawing Obligated Group Member does not have any Master 
Obligations Outstanding, or each remaining Obligated Group Member confirms the obligation of 
such remaining Obligated Group Member to repay any Master Obligations of such withdrawing 
Obligated Group Member Outstanding after such withdrawal; 

(c) an Obligated Group Representative has delivered to the Master Trustee an 
Officer’s Certificate which states that (i) each remaining Obligated Group Member has by Board 
Resolution consented to such withdrawal, (ii) all conditions precedent provided in the Master 
Indenture relating to such withdrawal have been complied with and (iii) immediately after giving 
effect to such withdrawal, no event of default under the Master Indenture has occurred and is 
continuing; 

(d) an Obligated Group Representative has delivered to the Master Trustee an 
Opinion of Counsel which states that all conditions precedent provided in the Master Indenture 
relating to such withdrawal have been complied with; and 

(e) if all amounts due or to become due on any Related Bonds that bear interest that 
is not includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes have not been fully paid to the 
owners thereof, an Obligated Group Representative has delivered to the Master Trustee an 
Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that, under then existing law, such withdrawal would not 
cause the interest payable on such Related Bonds to become includable in gross income for 
federal income tax purposes. 

In addition, the conditions precedent provided in the Master Indenture and described under the 
caption “Additional Conditions to the Admission or Withdrawal of a Person to the Obligated Group” 
below, to the extent applicable, relating to the withdrawal of any Person from the Obligated Group must 
be complied with to the satisfaction of the Master Trustee. 

The withdrawing Obligated Group Member, prior to or simultaneously with its withdrawal, is 
required to de-designate each of its Restricted Affiliates. 

Any Person that has withdrawn from the Obligated Group may again become a Member of the 
Obligated Group in accordance with the provisions of the Master Indenture described under the caption 
“Admission of Obligated Group Members” above or become a Restricted Affiliate in accordance with the 
provisions of the Master Indenture. 



 

 C-26

Additional Conditions to the Admission or Withdrawal of a Person to the Obligated Group 

So long as any Commission Bonds are Outstanding, the Obligated Group Members will not 
permit any Person to be admitted to or withdraw from the Obligated Group unless (i)(A) the Coverage 
Ratio for the most recent period for which Financial Statements are available was not less than 2.00; or 
(B) the Obligated Group Members have delivered to the Commission and the LGC an Officer’s 
Certificate to the effect that after such admission or withdrawal, all Commission Bonds then Outstanding 
would continue to be rated Investment Grade by each Rating Agency then maintaining a rating on such 
Bonds; or (C) the LGC and the Commission have approved such admission or withdrawal in writing; and 
(ii) after giving effect to such admission or withdrawal, there exists no Mortgage on any Principal 
Property of a Member of the Combined Group that is not expressly permitted by the provisions of the 
Master Indenture described under the caption “Liens” above. 

In the event any admission to or withdrawal from the Obligated Group pursuant to the provisions 
of the Master Indenture described under clause (i)(A) of the first paragraph under this caption, an 
Obligated Group Representative is required to deliver to the Auditor and Advisor to the Commission, or 
to the officer succeeding to his duties, within thirty (30) days after the date on which such admission or 
withdrawal occurs, an Officer’s Certificate (i) setting forth the Coverage Ratio, as calculated pursuant to 
the provisions of the Master Indenture described under the first paragraph under the caption “Rate 
Covenant” above, for the most recent Fiscal Year for which Audited Financial Statements are available, 
assuming such admission or withdrawal had occurred at the beginning of such Fiscal Year, and (ii) if such 
Coverage Ratio is less than 2.00, setting forth the measures to be taken to increase the Coverage Ratio or 
the reasons it is either unable to do so or it is in the Obligated Group’s best interest to maintain the 
Coverage Ratio at the level determined pursuant to the provisions of the Master Indenture described in 
this paragraph.  The Commission or the Executive Committee of the Commission may waive the 
requirements of the Master Indenture described in this paragraph at any time without notice to or consent 
of the Holders. 

Control of Restricted Affiliates 

Each Obligated Group Member is required at all times to either (a) maintain, directly or 
indirectly, control of each of its Restricted Affiliates, including the power to direct the management, 
policies, disposition of assets and actions of such Restricted Affiliate to the extent required to cause such 
Restricted Affiliate to comply with the terms and conditions of the Master Indenture, whether through the 
ownership of voting securities, by contract, partnership interests, membership, reserved powers, or the 
power to appoint members, trustees or directors or otherwise, or (b) execute and have in effect such 
contracts or other agreements that are, in the Opinion of Counsel to such Obligated Group Member, 
sufficient for such Obligated Group Member to cause such Restricted Affiliate to comply with the terms 
and conditions of the Master Indenture.  A copy of each such Opinion of Counsel will be delivered to the 
Master Trustee and, so long as any Commission Bonds are Outstanding, the Commission. 

Events of Default 

The term “event of default” means any one of the following events: 

(a) default in the payment of any interest on any Master Obligation when such 
interest becomes due and payable; or 

(b) default in the payment of the principal of (or premium, if any, on) any Master 
Obligation when the same becomes due and payable (whether at maturity, upon proceedings for 
redemption, by acceleration or otherwise); or 
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(c) default in the performance, or breach, of any covenant or agreement of the 
Members of the Obligated Group in the Master Indenture (other than a covenant or agreement a 
default in the performance or breach of which is specifically described elsewhere under this 
caption), and continuance of such default or breach for a period of 60 days after there has been 
given to the Obligated Group Members by the Master Trustee or to the Obligated Group 
Members and the Master Trustee by the Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal 
amount of the Master Obligations Outstanding, a written notice specifying such default or breach 
and requiring it to be remedied; provided, however, that if such default cannot be fully remedied 
within such 60 day period, but can reasonably be expected to be fully remedied, such default will 
not constitute an event of default if the Members of the Obligated Group shall immediately upon 
receipt of such notice commence the curing of such default and shall thereafter prosecute and 
complete the same with due diligence and dispatch; or 

(d) the entry of a decree or order by a court having jurisdiction in the premises for 
relief in respect of any Member of the Obligated Group, or adjudging any Member of the 
Obligated Group a bankrupt or insolvent, or approving as properly filed a petition seeking 
reorganization, adjustment or composition of or in respect of any Member of the Obligated Group 
under the United States Bankruptcy Code or any other applicable federal or state law, or 
appointing a custodian, receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator (or other similar 
official) of or for any Member of the Obligated Group or any substantial part of its property, or 
ordering the winding up or liquidation of its affairs, and the continuance of any such decree or 
order unstayed and in effect for a period of 60 consecutive days; or 

(e) the commencement by any Member of the Obligated Group of a voluntary case, 
or the institution by it of proceedings to be adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent, or the consent by 
it to the institution of bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings against it, or the filing by it of a 
petition or answer or consent seeking reorganization, arrangement or relief under the United 
States Bankruptcy Code or any other applicable federal or state law, or the consent or 
acquiescence by it to the filing of any such petition or the appointment of or taking possession by 
a custodian, receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator (or other similar official) of any 
Member of the Obligated Group or any substantial part of its property, or the making by it of an 
assignment for the benefit of creditors, or the admission by it in writing of its inability or its 
failure to pay its debts generally as they become due, or the taking of corporate action by any 
Member of the Obligated Group in furtherance of any such action.  

Acceleration of Maturity; Rescission and Annulment 

If an event of default occurs and is continuing, then and in every such case the Master Trustee 
may, and if requested by the Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Master 
Obligations Outstanding shall, by written notice to the Obligated Group Members, declare the principal of 
all the Master Obligations and the interest accrued thereon to be due and payable immediately, by notice 
in writing to the Obligated Group Members (and to the Master Trustee, if given by Holders), and upon 
any such declaration such principal and interest shall become immediately due and payable. 

At any time after such a declaration of acceleration has been made, but before any judgment or 
decree for payment of money due on any Master Obligations has been obtained by the Master Trustee as 
provided in the Master Indenture, the Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the 
Master Obligations Outstanding may, by written notice to the Obligated Group Members and the Master 
Trustee, rescind and annul such declaration and its consequences if: 
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(a) the Members of the Obligated Group have deposited with the Master Trustee a 
sum sufficient to pay (1) all overdue installments of interest on all Master Obligations; (2) the 
principal of (and premium, if any, on) any Master Obligations which have become due otherwise 
than by such declaration of acceleration and interest thereon at the rate or rates prescribed 
therefor in such Master Obligations; (3) interest upon overdue installments of interest at the rate 
or rates prescribed therefor in the Master Obligations; (4) all sums paid or advanced by the 
Master Trustee under the Master Indenture and the reasonable compensation, expenses, 
disbursements and advances of the Master Trustee, its agents and counsel; and 

(b) all events of default, other than the non payment of the principal of Master 
Obligations which have become due solely by such declaration of acceleration, have been cured 
or have been waived as provided in the Master Indenture.  

Exercise of Remedies by the Master Trustee 

Upon the occurrence and continuance of any event of default under the Master Indenture, unless 
the same is waived as provided in the Master Indenture, the Master Trustee will have the following rights 
and remedies, in addition to any other rights and remedies provided under the Master Indenture or by law: 

(a) Right to Bring Suit, Etc.  The Master Trustee may pursue any available remedy at 
law or in equity by suit, action, mandamus or other proceeding to enforce the payment of the 
principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Master Obligations Outstanding, including 
interest on overdue principal (and premium, if any) and on overdue installments of interest, and 
any other sums due under the Master Indenture, to realize on or to foreclose any of its interests or 
liens under the Master Indenture, to enforce and compel the performance of the duties and 
obligations of the Members of the Obligated Group as set forth in the Master Indenture and to 
enforce or preserve any other rights or interests of the Master Trustee under the Master Indenture 
or otherwise existing at law or in equity. 

(b) Exercise of Remedies at Direction of Holders.  If requested in writing to do so by 
the Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of Master Obligations 
Outstanding and if indemnified as provided in the Master Indenture, the Master Trustee is 
obligated to exercise such one or more of the rights and remedies conferred by the Master 
Indenture as the Master Trustee deems most expedient in the interests of the Holders of the 
Master Obligations. 

(c) Enforcement Without Possession of Master Obligations.  All rights of action 
under the Master Indenture or any of the Master Obligations may be enforced and prosecuted by 
the Master Trustee without the possession of any of the Master Obligations or the production 
thereof in any suit or other proceeding relating thereto, and any such suit or proceeding instituted 
by the Master Trustee will be brought in its own name as trustee of an express trust.  Any 
recovery of judgment will, after provision for the payment of the reasonable compensation, 
expenses, disbursements and advances of the Master Trustee, its agents and counsel, and subject 
to certain other provisions of the Master Indenture, be for the equal and ratable benefit of the 
Holders of the Master Obligations in respect of which such judgment has been recovered. 

(d) Restoration of Positions.  If the Master Trustee or any Holder has instituted any 
proceeding to enforce any right or remedy under the Master Indenture by suit, foreclosure, the 
appointment of a receiver, or otherwise, and such proceeding has been discontinued or abandoned 
for any reason, or has been determined adversely to the Master Trustee or to such Holders, then 
and in every case the Members of the Obligated Group, the Master Trustee and the Holders will, 
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subject to any determination in such proceedings, be restored to their former positions and rights 
under the Master Indenture, and thereafter all rights and remedies of the Master Trustee and the 
Holders will continue as though no such proceeding had been instituted.   

Limitation on Suits by Holders 

No Holder of any Master Obligation will have any right to institute any proceeding, judicial or 
otherwise, under or with respect to the Master Indenture, or for the appointment of a receiver or trustee or 
for any other remedy under the Master Indenture, unless: 

(a) such Holder has previously given written notice to the Master Trustee of a 
continuing event of default; 

(b) the Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Master 
Obligations Outstanding have made written request to the Master Trustee to institute proceedings 
in respect of such event of default in its own name as Master Trustee under the Master Indenture; 

(c) such Holder or Holders have offered to the Master Trustee indemnity as provided 
in the Master Indenture against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred in compliance 
with such request; 

(d) the Master Trustee for 60 days after its receipt of such notice, request and offer of 
indemnity has failed to institute any such proceeding; and 

(e) no direction inconsistent with such written request has been given to the Master 
Trustee during such 60 day period by the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the 
Outstanding Master Obligations;  

it being understood and intended that no one or more Holders will have any right in any manner whatever 
by virtue of, or by availing of, any provision of the Master Indenture to affect, disturb or prejudice the lien 
of the Master Indenture, if any, or the rights of any other Holders, or to obtain or to seek to obtain priority 
or preference over any other Holders or to enforce any right under the Master Indenture, except in the 
manner provided therein and for the equal and ratable benefit of all the Holders of Outstanding Master 
Obligations. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision in the Master Indenture, however, any 
Holder will have the right which is absolute and unconditional to receive payment of the principal of (and 
premium, if any) and interest on such Master Obligation on the respective stated maturities expressed in 
such Master Obligation (or, in the case of redemption, on the redemption date) and nothing contained in 
the Master Indenture will affect or impair the right of any Holder to institute suit for the enforcement of 
any such payment. 

Control of Proceedings by Holders 

The Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Master Obligations Outstanding 
will have the right, during the continuance of an event of default, 

(a) to require the Master Trustee to proceed to enforce the Master Indenture, either 
by judicial proceedings for the enforcement of the payment of the Master Obligations and the 
foreclosure of the Master Indenture, or otherwise; and 
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(b) to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any 
remedy available to the Master Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred upon the 
Master Trustee under the Master Indenture, provided that: (1) such direction is not in conflict 
with any rule of law or the Master Indenture, (2) the Master Trustee may take any other action 
deemed proper by the Master Trustee which is not inconsistent with such direction, and (3) the 
Master Trustee does not determine that the action so directed would be unjustly prejudicial to the 
Holders not taking part in such direction.  

Acceptance of Trusts; Certain Duties and Responsibilities 

The Master Trustee accepts and agrees to execute the trusts imposed upon it by the Master 
Indenture, but only upon the terms and conditions set forth in the Master Indenture.  If an event of default 
has occurred and is continuing, the Master Trustee will exercise such of the rights and powers vested in it 
by the Master Indenture, and use the same degree of care and skill in their exercise, as a prudent person 
would exercise or use under the circumstances.  

Supplemental Master Indentures without Consent of Holders 

Without the consent of the Holders, the Members of the Obligated Group and the Master Trustee 
may from time to time enter into one or more Supplemental Master Indentures for any of the following 
purposes: 

(a) to correct or amplify the description of property, if any, at any time subject to the 
lien of the Master Indenture, or better to assure, convey and confirm unto the Master Trustee 
property, if any, subject or required to be subjected to the lien of the Master Indenture, if any, or 
to subject any property to the lien of the Master Indenture; or 

(b) to add to the conditions, limitations and restrictions on the authorized amount, 
terms or purposes of issue, authentication and delivery of Master Obligations or of any series of 
Master Obligations, as set forth in the Master Indenture, additional conditions, limitations and 
restrictions thereafter to be observed; or 

(c) to authorize the issuance of any series of Master Obligations and make such other 
provisions as provided in the Master Indenture; or 

(d) to modify or eliminate any of the terms of the Master Indenture; provided, 
however, that: (1) such Supplemental Master Indenture must expressly provide that any such 
modifications or eliminations will become effective only when there is no Master Obligation 
Outstanding of any series created prior to the execution of such Supplemental Master Indenture; 
and (2) the Master Trustee may, in its discretion, decline to enter into any such Supplemental 
Master Indenture which, in its opinion, may not afford adequate protection to the Master Trustee 
when the same becomes operative; or 

(e) to evidence the succession of another corporation to any Member of the 
Obligated Group and the assumption by any such successor of the covenants of such Member of 
the Obligated Group contained in the Master Indenture and the Master Obligations; or 

(f) to add to the covenants of the Members of the Obligated Group or to the rights, 
powers and remedies of the Master Trustee for the benefit of the Holders of all or any series of 
Master Obligations or to surrender any right or power conferred by the Master Indenture upon the 
Members of the Obligated Group; or 
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(g) to cure any ambiguity, to correct or supplement any provision in the Master 
Indenture which may be inconsistent with any other provision in the Master Indenture or to make 
any other provisions, with respect to matters or questions arising under the Master Indenture, 
which is not inconsistent with the provisions of the Master Indenture, provided such action will 
not adversely affect the interests of the Holders; or 

(h) to modify, eliminate or add to the provisions of the Master Indenture to such 
extent as is necessary to effect the qualification of the Master Indenture under the Trust Indenture 
Act of 1939, as then amended, or under any similar federal statute hereafter enacted, or to permit 
the qualification of any Master Obligations for sale under the securities laws of the United States 
or any state of the United States; or 

(i) to make any change which, in the judgment of the Master Trustee, does not 
materially adversely affect the Holders and, in the opinion of each Related Bond Trustee, does 
not materially adversely affect the owners of the Related Bonds with respect to which it acts as 
trustee, including, without limitation, any modification, amendment or supplement to the Master 
Indenture or any indenture supplemental thereto in such a manner as to establish or maintain the 
exclusion of interest on any Related Bonds under a Related Bond Indenture from federal gross 
income under applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code.  

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Master Indenture described under this caption, so long as 
any Commission Bonds are Outstanding, the provisions described under the caption “Restrictions on 
Transactions” may not be amended without the prior written consent of the LGC. 

Supplemental Master Indentures with Consent of Holders 

With the consent of the Holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the 
Master Obligations then Outstanding affected by such Supplemental Master Indenture, the Members of 
the Obligated Group and the Master Trustee may enter into an indenture or indentures supplemental to the 
Master Indenture for the purpose of adding any provisions to or changing in any manner or eliminating 
any of the provisions of the Master Indenture or of modifying in any manner the rights of the Holders; 
provided, however, that no such Supplemental Master Indenture will, without the consent of the Holder of 
each Outstanding Master Obligation affected thereby, 

(a) change the stated maturity of the principal of, or any installment of interest on, 
any Master Obligation, or reduce the principal amount thereof or the interest thereon or any 
premium payable upon the redemption thereof, or change any place of payment where, or the 
coin or currency in which, any Master Obligation, or the interest thereon is payable, or impair the 
right to institute suit for the enforcement of any such payment on or after the stated maturity 
thereof (or, in the case of redemption, on or after the redemption date); or 

(b) reduce the percentage in principal amount of the Outstanding Master Obligations, 
the consent of whose Holders is required for any such Supplemental Master Indenture, or the 
consent of whose Holders is required for any waiver provided for in the Master Indenture of 
compliance with certain provisions of the Master Indenture or certain defaults under the Master 
Indenture and their consequences; or 

(c) modify the obligation of the Members of the Obligated Group to make payment 
on or provide funds for the payment of any Master Obligation; or 
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(d) modify any of the provisions of the Master Indenture described under this 
caption, except to increase any percentage provided thereby or to provide that certain other 
provisions of the Master Indenture cannot be modified or waived without the consent of the 
Holder of each Master Obligation affected thereby; or 

(e) permit the creation of any lien ranking prior to or on a parity with the lien of the 
Master Indenture, if any such lien is created after the date thereof, with respect to any property 
subject to the Master Indenture or terminate the lien of the Master Indenture on any property at 
any time subject to the Master Indenture or deprive the Holder of any Master Obligation of the 
security afforded by the lien of the Master Indenture. 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Master Indenture described under this caption, so long as 
any Commission Bonds are Outstanding, the provisions described under the caption “Restrictions on 
Transactions” may not be amended without the prior written consent of the LGC.  

Payment, Discharge and Defeasance of Master Obligations 

The Master Obligations of a particular series or a portion of such series (subject to the provisions 
of the Master Indenture described under the caption “Satisfaction of Related Bonds” below) will be 
deemed to be paid and discharged and no longer Outstanding under the Master Indenture and will cease to 
be entitled to any lien, benefit or security under the Master Indenture if the Obligated Group Members 
have paid or provided for the payment of the entire indebtedness on such Master Obligations in any one 
or more of the following ways: 

(a) by paying or causing to be paid the principal of (including premium, if any) and 
interest on such Master Obligations, as and when the same become due and payable;   

(b) by delivering such Master Obligations to the Master Trustee for cancellation; or 

(c) by depositing with the Master Trustee or other Paying Agent, in trust, moneys or 
Escrow Obligations or a combination of moneys and Escrow Obligations in an amount, together 
with the income or increment to accrue thereon, without consideration of any reinvestment 
thereof, sufficient to pay or redeem (when redeemable) and discharge the indebtedness on such 
Master Obligations at or before their respective maturity dates (including the payment of the 
principal of, premium, if any, and interest payable on such Master Obligations to the maturity or 
redemption date thereof), provided that, if any such Master Obligations are to be redeemed prior 
to the maturity thereof, notice of such redemption is given in accordance with the requirements of 
the Master Indenture or provisions satisfactory to the Master Trustee are made for the giving of 
such notice. 

The foregoing notwithstanding, the liability of the Members of the Obligated Group in respect of 
such Master Obligations will continue, but the Holders thereof will thereafter be entitled to payment only 
out of the moneys or Escrow Obligations deposited with the Master Trustee as aforesaid.  Moneys so 
deposited with the Master Trustee as described under this caption will constitute a separate trust fund for 
the benefit of the Persons entitled thereto.  Such moneys will be applied by the Master Trustee to the 
payment (either directly or through any Paying Agent, as the Master Trustee may determine) to the 
Persons entitled thereto, of the principal (and premium, if any) and interest for whose payment such 
moneys have been deposited with the Master Trustee.   
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Satisfaction and Discharge of Master Indenture 

The Master Indenture and the lien, if any, rights and interests created thereby will cease, 
determine and become null and void (subject to the provisions of the Master Indenture described under 
the caption “Satisfaction of Related Bonds” below and except as to any surviving rights of transfer or 
exchange of Master Obligations provided for in the Master Indenture) if the following conditions are met: 

(a) the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on all Master Obligations is paid or 
is deemed to be paid and discharged by meeting the conditions of the Master Indenture described 
under the caption “Payment, Discharge and Defeasance of Master Obligations” above; and 

(b) the Obligated Group Members have paid or caused to be paid all other sums 
payable under the Master Indenture by the Obligated Group Members with respect to such Master 
Obligations. 

Satisfaction of Related Bonds 

The provisions of the Master Indenture described under the captions “Payment, Discharge and 
Defeasance of Master Obligations” and “Satisfaction and Discharge of Master Indenture” above 
notwithstanding, any Master Obligation which secures a Related Bond will not be deemed paid and will 
continue to be entitled to the lien, if any, benefit and security under the Master Indenture unless and until 
such Related Bond ceases to be entitled to any lien, benefit or security under the Related Bond Indenture 
pursuant to the provisions thereof. 
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SUMMARY OF SUPPLEMENTAL MASTER INDENTURE NO. 28 

Details of the Series 2019A Obligation 

The Supplemental Master Indenture No. 28 authorizes the issuance of the Series 2019A 
Obligation and specifies the form and details thereof, including the time and manner of payments of 
principal and interest with respect thereto and prepayment provisions.  The Supplemental Master 
Indenture No. 28 and the Series 2019A Obligation are structured so as to require that payments 
thereunder are made at such times and in such amounts as to provide for the timely payment of the 
principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds. 

Withdrawal of Forsyth, Novant and Presbyterian from the Obligated Group 

Notwithstanding any provision of the Master Indenture to the contrary, so long as the Series 
2019A Obligation and the Bonds are Outstanding, Forsyth, Novant and Presbyterian may not withdraw 
from the Obligated Group. 

Withdrawal of Presbyterian Medical Care Corp. and Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center, 
LLC from the Combined Group 

Notwithstanding any provision of the Master Indenture to the contrary, Novant covenants and 
agrees that, so long as the Series 2019A Obligation remains Outstanding under the Master Indenture and 
any Series 2019A Bonds remain Outstanding under the Series 2019A Trust Agreement, it will not permit 
Presbyterian Medical Care Corp. or Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center, LLC to cease to be a 
member of the Combined Group unless the portion of the Series 2019A Bonds used to finance facilities 
operated by Presbyterian Medical Care Corp. or Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center, LLC, as 
applicable, has been paid or defeased.  The amount of the Series 2019A Bonds then outstanding to be paid 
or defeased shall be determined by multiplying the then outstanding principal amount of the Series 2019A 
Bonds by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be equal to the original cost of any assets financed or 
refinanced with the Series 2019A Bonds that will be operated by Presbyterian Medical Care Corp. or 
Novant Health Mint Hill Medical Center, LLC, as applicable, immediately after such withdrawal, and the 
denominator of which shall be equal to the greater of (i) the original aggregate principal amount of the 
Series 2019A Bonds or (ii) the issue price of the Series 2019A Bonds as determined under Section 148 of 
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.  Novant will deliver to the Master Trustee and the 
Commission a report satisfactory to the Commission setting forth the amount of the payment or 
defeasance and supporting calculations. 
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SUMMARY OF THE TRUST AGREEMENT 

Various Funds and Accounts Created by the Trust Agreement 

The Trust Agreement creates the following funds: 

1. the Construction Fund, 

2. the Bond Fund, and 

3. the Redemption Fund. 

The Trust Agreement creates three separate accounts in the Construction Fund, which accounts 
are designated the “Construction Account,” the “Issuance Account” and the “Revolving Fund Account.”  
The Trust Agreement also creates two separate accounts in the Bond Fund, which accounts are designated 
the “Interest Account” and the “Sinking Fund Account.”  The Trust Agreement also authorizes the 
creation of any temporary fund necessary for the Bond Trustee to create in order to accomplish the 
application of the Bond proceeds in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Agreement. 

Money in each of the aforementioned funds and accounts (other than the Revolving Fund 
Account) will be held in trust by the Bond Trustee and will be subject to a lien and charge in favor of the 
Holders of the Bonds until paid out or transferred as provided in the Trust Agreement.  The Revolving 
Fund Account will be held by Novant.   

Construction Fund 

Payment of the Cost of the Project will be made from the Construction Fund.  All issuance costs, 
within the meaning of Section 147(g) of the Code, incurred in connection with the Bonds to be paid from 
the initial proceeds of the Bonds will be paid only from the Issuance Account (collectively, “Issuance 
Costs”).  All money received by the Commission from any source for Issuance Costs will be deposited 
immediately upon its receipt to the credit of the Issuance Account.  Other items which constitute Costs of 
the Project but are not Issuance Costs may be paid from the Issuance Account.  Items which constitute 
Costs of the Project, excluding Issuance Costs, will be paid from the Construction Account. 

Requisitions signed by a Novant Representative will be filed with the Bond Trustee before 
payments from the Construction Fund are made in accordance with the Trust Agreement.  Upon receipt of 
such requisition, the Bond Trustee will pay the obligations set forth in such requisition out of money in 
the Construction Fund.   

In addition, upon receipt of a requisition signed by a Novant Representative, the Bond Trustee 
will transfer from the Construction Account to the Revolving Fund Account at one time or from time to 
time, a sum or sums aggregating not more than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) to be used by Novant as 
a revolving fund for the payment of items of Cost, other than Issuance Costs, that cannot conveniently be 
paid as otherwise provided in the Trust Agreement.  

When the Project is completed, which fact is required to be evidenced to the Bond Trustee by an 
Officer’s Certificate of a Novant Representative delivered to the Bond Trustee and the Commission 
pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the balance in the Construction Fund, if any, will be applied by the 
Bond Trustee for any purpose, including the payment of principal of the Bonds, permitted by the Act 
which, in the opinion of Bond Counsel, will not cause interest on the Bonds to become includable in the 
gross income of the Holders thereof for federal income tax purposes pursuant to the provisions of the 
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Code.  In the event such opinion is not delivered to the Bond Trustee, the balance in the Construction 
Fund will be transferred by the Bond Trustee to the Interest Account.      

Deposits to the Bond Fund 

The Bond Trustee will deposit all amounts received as Loan Repayments in the following order, 
subject to credits provided in the Trust Agreement: 

(i) into the Interest Account, beginning on October 25, 2019, and continuing on the 
25th day of each April and October thereafter, that amount which is equal to the interest payable 
on the Bonds on the next ensuing Interest Payment Date; 

(ii) into the Sinking Fund Account, beginning on October 25, 2047 and continuing 
on the 25th day of each October thereafter, that amount which shall be equal to the amount 
required to retire the Term Bonds to be called by mandatory redemption or to be paid at maturity 
on the next ensuing November 1 in accordance with the Sinking Fund Requirement therefor; and 

(iii) to the credit of the Interest Account or the Redemption Fund, as applicable, any 
amount that may from time to time be required to enable the Bond Trustee to pay the interest on 
and Redemption Price of Bonds as and when Bonds are called for redemption other than 
mandatory redemption in accordance with the Sinking Fund Requirement therefor. 

To the extent that investment earnings are credited to the Interest Account or the Sinking Fund 
Account in accordance with the Trust Agreement or amounts are credited thereto as a result of the 
application of Bond proceeds or a transfer of investment earnings on any other fund or account held by 
the Bond Trustee, or otherwise, future deposits to such accounts will be reduced by the amount so 
credited, and the Loan Repayments due from Novant following the date upon which such amounts are 
credited will be reduced by the amounts so credited. 

All amounts received by the Bond Trustee as principal of or interest accruing on Bonds that have 
been accelerated pursuant to the Trust Agreement will be deposited in the Bond Fund and applied in 
accordance with the Trust Agreement.  

Bond Fund Accounts 

If the Bonds are not in a Book Entry System, not later than 10:00 A.M. on each Interest Payment 
Date, or date for the payment of defaulted interest, or date upon which Bonds are to be redeemed, the 
Bond Trustee shall withdraw from the Interest Account and remit by mail, or to the extent permitted by 
the Trust Agreement, by wire transfer the amount required for paying interest on such Bonds when due 
and payable. 

If the Bonds are in a Book Entry System, at such time as to enable the Bond Trustee to make 
payments of interest on the Bonds in accordance with any existing agreement between the Bond Trustee 
and any Securities Depository, the Bond Trustee will withdraw from the Interest Account and remit by 
wire transfer, in Federal Reserve or other immediately available funds, the amounts required to pay to any 
Holder which is a Securities Depository Nominee interest on the Bonds on the next succeeding Interest 
Payment Date; provided, however, that in no event will such wire transfer be made later than 10:00 A.M. 
on each Interest Payment Date. 

In the event the balance in the Interest Account on the 25th day of the month next preceding an 
Interest Payment Date or date upon which Bonds are to be redeemed is insufficient for the payment of 
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interest becoming due on the Bonds on the next ensuing Interest Payment Date or date upon which Bonds 
are to be redeemed, the Bond Trustee will notify Novant of the amount of the deficiency.  Upon 
notification, Novant will immediately deliver to the Bond Trustee an amount sufficient to cure the same. 

Money held for the credit of the Sinking Fund Account will be applied during each Bond Year to 
the retirement of Term Bonds then Outstanding as provided in the Trust Agreement. 

In the event the balance in the Sinking Fund Account on the 25th day of October in any year is 
insufficient for the payment of the Sinking Fund Requirement on the Term Bonds on the next ensuing 
November 1, the Bond Trustee will notify Novant of the amount of such deficiency.  Upon notification, 
Novant will, not later than two Business Days prior to such November 1, deliver to the Bond Trustee an 
amount sufficient to cure the same. 

Redemption Fund 

Money held for the credit of the Redemption Fund will be applied to the purchase or redemption 
of Bonds as provided in the Trust Agreement.  The expenses in connection with the purchase or 
redemption of Bonds are required to be paid by Novant as part of the Required Payments under the 
Agreement. 

Investment of Money 

Money held for the credit of all funds and accounts (other than the Revolving Fund Account) 
created under the Trust Agreement will be invested and reinvested by the Bond Trustee to the extent 
practicable in Investment Obligations in accordance with the written instructions of Novant as provided in 
the Trust Agreement, subject to the yield restrictions set forth in the Tax Certificate.  Any such 
Investment Obligations are required to mature not later than the respective dates when the money held for 
the credit of such funds or accounts will be required for the purposes intended. 

Investment Obligations credited to any fund or account established under the Trust Agreement 
will be held by or under the control of the Bond Trustee and while so held will be deemed at all times to 
be part of such fund or account in which such money was originally held.  Interest accruing on such 
Investment Obligations and any profit or loss realized upon the disposition or maturity of such investment 
will be credited to or charged against such fund or account; provided, however, that the interest accruing 
on any Investment Obligations credited to the Bond Fund and any profit realized or any loss realized upon 
the maturity or disposition of such Investment Obligations prior to the completion of the Project, as 
evidenced in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Agreement, shall be credited to, or charged 
against, the Construction Account.  Any interest accruing and any profit realized or loss resulting from 
such investment subsequent to such completion of the Project shall be credited to, or charged against, the 
fund or account of which it is a part.  The Bond Trustee will sell at the market price available or reduce to 
cash a sufficient amount of such Investment Obligations whenever it is necessary so to do in order to 
provide moneys to make any payment or transfer of moneys from any such fund or account.  The Bond 
Trustee will not be liable or responsible for any loss resulting from any such investment or liquidation of 
investments.  

Events of Default 

Each of the following events is an Event of Default under the Trust Agreement: 

(a) payment of any installment of interest on any Bond is not made by the 
Commission when the same has become due and payable; or 
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(b) payment of the principal or the redemption premium, if any, of any Bond is not 
made by the Commission when the same has become due and payable, whether at maturity or by 
proceedings for redemption or pursuant to a Sinking Fund Requirement or otherwise; or 

(c) default in the due and punctual performance of any other of the covenants, 
conditions, agreements and provisions contained in the Trust Agreement or any agreement 
supplemental thereto and such default continues for thirty (30) days or such further time as may 
be granted in writing by the Bond Trustee after receipt by the Commission, of a written notice 
from the Bond Trustee specifying such default and requiring the same to be remedied; provided, 
however, that if such performance requires work to be done, action to be taken, or conditions to 
be remedied, which by their nature cannot reasonably be done, taken, or remedied, as the case 
may be, within such 30-day period or other period, no Event of Default will be deemed to have 
occurred or to exist if, and so long as, the Commission commences such performance within such 
period and diligently and continuously prosecutes the same to completion; or 

(d) an “Event of Default” has occurred under the Loan Agreement, and such “Event 
of Default” has not been remedied or waived.  

Remedies on Default 

Upon the happening and continuance of any Event of Default, the Bond Trustee may, and upon 
the written request of the Holders of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal 
amount of Bonds then Outstanding shall, by notice in writing to the Commission and Novant, declare the 
principal of all Bonds then Outstanding (if not then due and payable) to be due and payable immediately, 
and upon such declaration the same shall become and be immediately due and payable, anything 
contained in the Bonds or in the Trust Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding.  Such declaration may 
be rescinded under the circumstances specified in the Trust Agreement.   

Upon the happening and continuance of any Event of Default, then and in every such case the 
Bond Trustee may, and upon the written request of the Holders of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) 
in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding, subject to the indemnification provisions of the 
Trust Agreement, shall, proceed to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the Holders under the 
laws of the State or under the Trust Agreement by such suits, actions or special proceedings in equity or at 
law, or by proceedings in the office of any board or officer having jurisdiction, either for the specific 
performance of any covenant or agreement contained in the Trust Agreement or in aid or execution of any 
power granted in the Trust Agreement or for the enforcement of any proper legal or equitable remedy, as 
the Bond Trustee, being advised by counsel chosen by the Bond Trustee, deems most effectual to protect 
and enforce such rights. 

In the enforcement of any remedy under the Trust Agreement, the Bond Trustee will be entitled 
to sue for, enforce payment of and receive any and all amounts then or during any Event of Default 
becoming and remaining due from the Commission for principal, interest or otherwise under any of the 
provisions of the Trust Agreement or of the Bonds, together with interest on overdue payments of 
principal at the rate or rates of interest payable on any Bonds Outstanding and all fees, costs and expenses 
of collection and of all proceedings under the Trust Agreement, without prejudice to any other right or 
remedy of the Bond Trustee or of the Holders and to recover and enforce any judgment or decree against 
the Commission, but solely as provided in the Trust Agreement, for any portion of such amounts 
remaining unpaid and interest, costs and expenses as above described, and to collect (but solely from  
money available for such purposes), in any manner provided by law, the money adjudged or decreed to be 
payable.  
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Pro-Rata Application of Funds 

Anything in the Trust Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, if at any time the money in the 
Bond Fund is not sufficient to pay the interest on or the principal of the Bonds as the same becomes due 
and payable (either by their terms or by acceleration of maturities under the Trust Agreement), such 
money, together with any money then available or thereafter becoming available for such purpose, 
whether through the exercise of the remedies provided for in the Trust Agreement or otherwise, will,  
after the payment of any fees and expenses due the Bond Trustee under the Trust Agreement, be applied, 
subject to the provisions of the Trust Agreement, as follows: 

(a) if the principal of all Bonds has not become or has not been declared due and 
payable, all such money in the Bond Fund will be applied: 

first:  to the payment to the persons entitled thereto of all installments of interest 
on Bonds then due and payable in the order in which such installments became due and 
payable and, if the amount available is not sufficient to pay in full any particular 
installment, then to the payment, ratably according to the amounts due on such 
installment, to the persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference 
except as to any difference in the respective rates of interest specified in such Bonds; 

second:  to the payment to the person entitled thereto of the unpaid principal of 
any Bonds that has become due and payable (other than Bonds called for redemption for 
the payment of which money is held pursuant to the Trust Agreement), in the order of 
their due dates, and, if the amount available is not sufficient to pay in full the principal of 
Bonds due and payable on any particular date, then to the payment ratably according to 
the amount of such principal due on such date, to the persons entitled thereto without 
discrimination or preference; and 

third:  to the payment of the interest on and the principal of Bonds, to the 
purchase and retirement of Bonds, and to the redemption of Bonds, all in accordance with 
the provisions of the Trust Agreement. 

(b) If the principal of all Bonds has become or has been declared due and payable, all 
such money will be applied to the payment of principal and interest then due upon the Bonds to 
the persons entitled thereto without preference or priority of principal over interest or interest 
over principal, or of any installment of interest over any other installment of interest or any Bond 
over any other Bond ratably, according to the amounts due respectively for principal and interest, 
to the persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference. 

(c) If the principal of all Bonds has been declared due and payable and if such 
declaration thereafter has been rescinded and annulled under the Trust Agreement, then, subject 
to the provisions of the Trust Agreement described in paragraph (b) above in the event that the 
principal of all Bonds later becomes due and payable or be declared due and payable, the money 
then remaining in and thereafter accruing to the Bond Fund will be applied in accordance with the 
provisions of the Trust Agreement described in paragraph (a) above. 

Whenever money is to be applied by the Bond Trustee pursuant to the Trust Agreement, such 
money will be applied by the Bond Trustee at such times and from time to time, as the Bond Trustee in its 
sole discretion determines, having due regard for the amount of such money available for such application 
and the likelihood of additional money becoming available for such application in the future; the setting 
aside of such money, in trust for the proper purpose, will constitute proper application by the Bond 
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Trustee, and the Bond Trustee will incur no liability whatsoever to the Commission, to any Holder or to 
any other person for any delay in applying any such money so long as the Bond Trustee acts with 
reasonable diligence, having due regard for the circumstances, and ultimately applies the same in 
accordance with such provisions of the Trust Agreement as may be applicable at the time of application 
by the Bond Trustee.  Whenever the Bond Trustee exercises such discretion in applying such money, it 
will fix the date (which shall be an Interest Payment Date unless the Bond Trustee deems another date 
more suitable) upon which application is to be made and upon such date interest on the amounts of 
principal to be paid on such date will cease to accrue.  The Bond Trustee is required to give notice by first 
class mail, postage prepaid, to all Holders of the fixing of any such date, and will not be required to make 
payment to the Holder of any Bonds until such Bonds are surrendered to the Bond Registrar for 
cancellation if fully paid. 

Notice of Default 

The Bond Trustee will promptly notify Novant, the Commission and the LGC of the occurrence 
of any Event of Default.  Subject to certain provisions of the Trust Agreement, the Bond Trustee is 
required to mail to the Master Trustee and to all Holders at their addresses as they appear on the 
registration books written notice of the occurrence of any Event of Default within thirty (30) days after 
the Bond Trustee receives notice of the same. 

Except upon the happening of an Event of Default with respect to the payment of the principal of 
and interest on or redemption premium on Bonds when due, the Bond Trustee may withhold notice of any 
Event of Default to Holders if, in its opinion, such withholding is in the interest of the Holders.  The Bond 
Trustee will not be subject to any liability to any Holder by reason of its failure to send any such notice. 

Removal of Bond Trustee 

The Bond Trustee may be removed (i) at any time, by an instrument or concurrent instruments in 
writing, executed by the Holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then 
Outstanding and filed with the Commission or (ii) so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is 
continuing, by an instrument executed by Novant, subject to the prior written consent of the Commission, 
not less than sixty (60) days before such removal is to take effect as stated in said instrument or 
instruments. 

The Bond Trustee may also be removed at any time for acting or proceeding in violation of, or for 
failing to act or proceed in accordance with, any provisions of the Trust Agreement with respect to the 
duties and obligations of the Bond Trustee by any court of competent jurisdiction upon the application of 
the Commission or the Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then 
Outstanding. 

Appointment of Successor Bond Trustee 

If at any time the Bond Trustee resigns, is removed, is dissolved or otherwise becomes incapable 
of acting, or the bank or trust company acting as Bond Trustee is taken over by any governmental official, 
agency, department or board, the position of Bond Trustee will thereupon become vacant.  If the position 
of Bond Trustee becomes vacant for any reason, Novant will recommend and the Commission will 
appoint a Bond Trustee to fill such vacancy.   

A successor Bond Trustee will not be required if the Bond Trustee sells or assigns substantially 
all of its trust business and the vendee or assignee continues in the trust business, or if a transfer of the 
trust department of the Bond Trustee is required by operation of law, provided that such vendee, assignee 
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or transferee (i) is a bank or trust company duly authorized to exercise corporate trust powers and subject 
to examination by federal or state authority, (ii) is in good standing, (iii) has a combined capital, surplus 
and undivided profits, either directly or by a guarantee of a corporation related to the Bond Trustee, 
aggregating not less than One Hundred Million Dollars ($100,000,000) and (iv) is approved by the 
Commission and Novant.   

The Commission will cause the Bond Trustee to mail notice of any such appointment made by it, 
postage prepaid, to all Holders. 

At any time within one (1) year after any such vacancy has occurred, the Holders of not less than 
twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding, by an instrument or 
concurrent instruments in writing, executed by such Holders and filed with the Commission, may 
nominate a successor Bond Trustee, which the Commission shall appoint and which shall supersede any 
Bond Trustee theretofore appointed by the Commission. 

If no appointment of a successor Bond Trustee is made pursuant to the provisions described 
above, any Holder under the Trust Agreement or any retiring Bond Trustee may apply to any court of 
competent jurisdiction to appoint a successor Bond Trustee.  Such court may thereupon, after such notice, 
if any, as such court may deem proper and prescribe, appoint a successor Bond Trustee. 

Any successor Bond Trustee appointed shall (i) be a bank or trust company which is duly 
authorized to exercise corporate trust powers and subject to examination by federal or state authority, 
(ii) be in good standing, (iii) have a combined capital, surplus and undivided profits aggregating not less 
than One Hundred Million Dollars ($100,000,000) and (iv) be approved by the Commission and Novant. 

Any corporation into which the Bond Trustee may be merged or converted or with which it may 
be consolidated, or any corporation resulting from any merger, conversion or consolidation to which the 
Bond Trustee shall be a party, or any corporation succeeding to all or any material part of the corporate 
trust business of the Bond Trustee that includes the Trust Agreement, shall be the successor of the Bond 
Trustee under the Trust Agreement without the execution or filing of any paper of any further act on the 
part of any Person, anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, provided that such successor Bond 
Trustee shall be eligible to serve as Bond Trustee under the provisions of the Trust Agreement. 

Compensation and Indemnification of Bond Trustee 

Subject to the provisions of any contract between the Commission and the Bond Trustee relating 
to the compensation of the Bond Trustee, the Commission will pay or require Novant to pay to the Bond 
Trustee reasonable compensation for all services performed by it under the Trust Agreement and also all 
its reasonable expenses, charges and other disbursements and those of its attorneys, agents and employees 
incurred in and about the administration and the performance of its powers and duties under the Trust 
Agreement and will require Novant to indemnify and save the Bond Trustee harmless against any 
liabilities that it may incur in the proper exercise and performance of its powers and duties under the Trust 
Agreement.  If the Commission fails to cause any payment required by the Trust Agreement to be made, 
the Bond Trustee may make such payment from any money in its possession under the provisions of the 
Trust Agreement and will be entitled to a preference therefor over any Bonds Outstanding under the Trust 
Agreement. 
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Execution of Instruments by Holders 

Any request, direction, consent or other instrument in writing required or permitted by the Trust 
Agreement to be signed or executed by any Holder may be in any number of concurrent instruments of 
similar tenor and may be signed or executed by such Holders or their attorneys or legal representatives.  
In connection with the initial offering and sale of any Bonds, the underwriters (or their representative) of 
such Bonds shall be deemed to be the initial Holders thereof or, if such Bonds so provide, may be 
appointed as attorney-in-fact by the initial purchasers of such Bonds for the purpose of consenting to any 
request, direction, consent or other instrument to be signed and executed by the Holders. 

Holders of Bonds Deemed Holders of Series 2019A Obligation 

In the event that any request, direction or consent is requested or permitted by the Master 
Indenture of the registered owners of Master Obligations issued thereunder, including the Series 2019A 
Obligation, the Holders of Bonds then Outstanding will be deemed to be registered owners of the Series 
2019A Obligation for the purpose of any such request, direction or consent in the proportion that the 
aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding held by each such Holder of Bonds bears to the 
aggregate principal amount of all Bonds then Outstanding.  

Modification of the Trust Agreement 

The Commission and the Bond Trustee may, from time to time and at any time, enter into 
agreements supplemental to the Trust Agreement, without the consent of or notice to any Holder, to effect 
any one or more of the following:  (a) cure any ambiguity or defect or omission, correct or supplement 
any provision in the Trust Agreement or any supplemental trust agreement to the Trust Agreement, 
(b) grant to or confer upon the Bond Trustee for the benefit of the Holders any additional rights, remedies, 
powers, authority or security that may lawfully be granted to or conferred upon the Holders or the Bond 
Trustee which are not contrary to or inconsistent with the Trust Agreement as then in effect or to subject 
to the pledge and lien of the Trust Agreement additional revenues, properties or collateral, including 
Defeasance Obligations, (c) add other conditions, limitations and restrictions to the Trust Agreement, 
which are not contrary to or inconsistent with the Trust Agreement as then in effect, (d) add other 
covenants and agreements to be observed by the Commission to the Trust Agreement or surrender any 
right or power reserved to or conferred upon the Commission under the Trust Agreement, which are not 
contrary to or inconsistent with the Trust Agreement as then in effect, (e) comply with any federal or state 
securities law, (f) make any other change that is determined by the Bond Trustee, who may rely upon an 
Opinion of Counsel, to be not materially adverse to the interests of the Holders, (g) if all of the Bonds are 
Book Entry Bonds, amend, modify, alter or replace the Letter of Representations as provided in the Trust 
Agreement or other provisions relating to Book Entry Bonds, and (h) facilitate the issuance and delivery 
of certificated Bonds to Beneficial Owners if the book entry system for the Bonds is discontinued. 

The Trust Agreement may be amended in any particular by the Holders of not less than a majority 
in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding; provided, however, that nothing contained 
in the Trust Agreement will permit (a) an extension of the maturity of the principal of or the interest on 
any Bonds without the consent of the Holders of such Bonds, (b) a reduction in the principal amount of or 
the redemption premium or the rate of interest on any Bonds without the consent of the Holders of such 
Bonds, (c) the creation of a pledge of receipts and revenues to be received by the Commission under the 
Loan Agreement superior to the pledge created by the Trust Agreement without the consent of the 
Holders of all Bonds Outstanding, (d) a preference or priority of any Bond over any other Bond without 
the consent of the Holders of all Bonds Outstanding, or (e) a reduction in the aggregate principal amount 
of Bonds required for consent to such supplemental trust agreement  without the consent of the Holders of 
all Bonds Outstanding. 
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Defeasance 

When, among other things, the principal, premium, if any, and interest due upon all of the Bonds 
is paid or sufficient money or Defeasance Obligations, or a combination of money and Defeasance 
Obligations, are held by the Bond Trustee for such purpose, then the right, title and interest of the Bond 
Trustee in the funds and accounts created by the Trust Agreement will cease and the Bond Trustee will 
release the Trust Agreement. 

No Recourse Against Members, Officers or Employees of Commission or LGC 

The members, officers and employees of the Commission and the LGC are not personally liable 
for any costs, losses, damages or liabilities caused or incurred by the Commission or the LGC in 
connection with the Trust Agreement, the Loan Agreement, or any Bond or for the payment of any sum or 
for the performance of any obligation under the Trust Agreement, the Loan Agreement or any Bond. 

 
SUMMARY OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT 

Security for the Loan 

As security for Novant’s direct, general and unconditional obligation to repay the Loan, Novant 
has executed and delivered to the Commission the Series 2019A Obligation.  The Series 2019A 
Obligation is issued under and secured by the Master Indenture and the Supplemental Master Indenture 
No. 28.  The Master Indenture provides that any Member of the Obligated Group may incur additional 
indebtedness, including the issuance of Master Obligations, pursuant to the Master Indenture. 

Total Required Payments 

Novant is required to make Required Payments under the Agreement when due.  Loan 
Repayments are to be paid, when due and payable, to the Bond Trustee for deposit in the Bond Fund or 
the Redemption Fund, as the case may be.  Required Payments under the Agreement are to be paid by 
Novant directly, when due and payable, to the persons, firms, governmental agencies and other entities 
entitled to such payments. 

Loan Repayments 

Loan Repayments are required to be sufficient in the aggregate to repay the Loan together with 
interest thereon and to pay in full, when due (whether by maturity, redemption, acceleration or otherwise), 
all Bonds issued under the Trust Agreement, together with the total interest and redemption premium, if 
any, thereon.  Novant is required to repay the Loan in installments as provided in the Loan Agreement, 
each installment being deemed a Loan Repayment.  Novant may prepay all or any part of the Loan as 
provided in the Loan Agreement. 

Required Payments Under the Agreement 

(a) Novant will pay, when due and payable, as Required Payments under the Agreement, the 
following costs and expenses, exclusive of costs and expenses payable from the proceeds of the Bonds: 

(i) the fees and other costs payable to the Master Trustee and the Bond Trustee; 

(ii) all costs incurred in connection with the purchase or redemption of Bonds to the 
extent money is not otherwise available therefor; 
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(iii) the fees and other costs incurred for services of such attorneys, management 
consultants and accountants as are employed to make examinations, provide services, render 
opinions or prepare reports required under the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture, 
Supplemental Master Indenture No. 28 or the Trust Agreement; 

(iv) all costs incurred by the Commission or the Bond Trustee in connection with the 
discontinuation of or withdrawal from any book-entry system for the Bonds or any transfer from 
one book-entry system to another including, without limitation, the printing and issuance of 
additional or substitute Bonds in connection with such withdrawal, discontinuance or transfer; 

(v) reasonable fees and other costs that Novant is obligated to pay, not otherwise 
paid under the Loan Agreement or the Trust Agreement, incurred by the Commission in 
connection with its administration and enforcement of, and compliance with, the Loan Agreement 
or the Trust Agreement, including, but not limited to, the administration fee presently imposed by 
the Commission, which Novant acknowledges may be increased from time to time, in an annual 
amount equal to .02% of the Bonds Outstanding on June 30 of each calendar year, which annual 
amount shall be a minimum of $500 per annum, but shall not exceed $10,000 per annum and is 
payable July 15 of each calendar year commencing July 15, 2019, and reasonable attorneys’ fees; 
provided, however, that the current formula and the current minimum and maximum amounts 
stated above are subject to change at any time by the Commission; and  

(vi) fees and other costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds to the 
extent such fees and other costs are not paid from the proceeds of the Bonds. 

(b) Novant will also cause to be paid, at the times described in the Tax Certificate, the Rebate 
Requirement to the United States of America.  Novant further agrees to pay all costs incurred by the 
Commission in connection with the filing of Internal Revenue Service Form 8038-T with respect to the 
Bonds. 

No Set-Off 

The obligation of Novant to make the Loan Repayments, all Required Payments under the 
Agreement and all payments under the Series 2019A Obligation and to perform and observe the other 
agreements in the Loan Agreement is absolute and unconditional.  Novant will pay without abatement, 
diminution, or deduction (whether for taxes or otherwise) all such amounts regardless of any cause or 
circumstance whatsoever including, without limitation, any defense, set-off, recoupment or counterclaim 
that Novant may have or assert against the Commission or the Bond Trustee or any other Person.  
Nothing contained in the Loan Agreement shall prevent Novant from enforcing any such right in a 
separate proceeding. 

Special Covenants 

The Loan Agreement provides that Novant will comply with, and with respect to the Restricted 
Affiliates, it will exercise such control as it may have with respect to the Restricted Affiliates to cause the 
Restricted Affiliates to comply with, each covenant, condition and agreement in the Master Indenture and 
in the Loan Agreement applicable to the Restricted Affiliates.  The Loan Agreement also sets forth certain 
other agreements of Novant with respect to:  examination of books and records by the Bond Trustee and 
the Commission; furnishing the Bond Trustee and the MSRB with financial statements and certain other 
information required to be furnished under the Master Indenture to the Master Trustee; the execution and 
delivery of supplements, amendments and other corrective instruments as may reasonably be required 
with respect to the performance of the Loan Agreement; inspection of property of Novant and the 
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Restricted Affiliates by the Commission, the Bond Trustee and the Holders of not less than 25% in 
aggregate principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds; withdrawal from the Obligated Group; secondary 
market disclosure; and certain other agreements. 

Novant also covenants that, if the Coverage Ratio for any Fiscal Year is not greater than 2.0, 
Novant will file with the Commission, together with the cumulative unaudited quarterly financial 
statements of the Combined Group for the current Fiscal Year, a report from Novant’s management 
setting forth (i) the measures being taken and to be taken by the Combined Group, and the results of any 
such measures taken, to increase the Coverage Ratio or the reasons why Novant’s management has 
determined that it is in the Combined Group’s best interest to maintain the Coverage Ratio at the current 
level and (ii) an estimate of the Coverage Ratio based on an estimate of the Income Available for Debt 
Service for the current Fiscal Year determined by annualizing the figures available for the period from the 
beginning of the current Fiscal Year to the end of the quarter reflected in the accompanying quarterly 
financial statements and the fraction of the Long-Term Debt Service Requirement corresponding to the 
same period considered for purposes of estimating the Income Available for Debt Service.  Such reports 
from Novant’s management are required until the Coverage Ratio for the current or any subsequent Fiscal 
Year, based on the Long-Term Debt Service Requirement and the actual Income Available for Debt 
Service for such Fiscal Year, is greater than 2.0.  If a report of a Consultant is delivered to the Master 
Trustee, which report states that governmental restrictions have been imposed which make it impossible 
for the coverage requirement described in the first sentence of this paragraph to be met, then such 
coverage requirement will be reduced to the maximum coverage permitted by such governmental 
restrictions but in no event less than 1.0 until such governmental restrictions are changed, modified or 
reduced.  The Commission may waive, or agree to a modification of, such requirements at any time 
without notice to or consent of the Holders. 

In addition, so long as any Bonds are Outstanding, the Master Indenture may not be amended in 
any manner that would require the consent of the Holders of Master Obligations, and the Master Trustee 
may not be removed, without the prior written consent of the Commission.   

Defaults and Remedies 

Events of Default are defined in the Loan Agreement to include:   

(a)   failure of Novant to make, or cause to be made, any payment required by the Loan 
Agreement or the Series 2019A Obligation when due, whether at maturity, redemption, acceleration or 
otherwise,  

(b)  failure of Novant to perform, observe or comply with any covenant, condition or 
agreement on its part under the Loan Agreement (other than a failure to make any payment described in 
clause (a) of this sentence), including any covenant, condition or agreement in the Master Indenture 
applicable to any Member of the Obligated Group and incorporated by reference in the Loan Agreement, 
and such failure continues for a period of thirty (30) days after the date on which written notice of such 
failure, requiring the same to be remedied, has been given to Novant by the Bond Trustee, or to Novant 
and the Bond Trustee by the Holders of at least twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount 
of the Bonds then Outstanding; provided, however, that if such performance, observation or compliance 
requires work to be done, action to be taken or conditions to be remedied, which by their nature cannot 
reasonably be done, taken or remedied, as the case may be, within such 30 day period, no Event of 
Default will be deemed to have occurred or to exist if, and so long as, Novant commences such 
performance, observation or compliance within such period and diligently and continuously prosecutes 
the same to completion, or  
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(c)  the Master Trustee has declared the aggregate principal amount of the Series 2019A 
Obligation and all interest due thereon immediately due and payable in accordance with the Master 
Indenture. 

Upon the happening of an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement, the Commission may take 
the following remedial steps:  (i) in the case of an Event of Default described in clause (a) in the 
preceding paragraph, whatever action at law or in equity is necessary or desirable to collect the payments 
then due; (ii) in the case of an Event of Default described in clause (b) in the preceding paragraph, 
whatever action at law or in equity is necessary or desirable to enforce performance, observance or 
compliance by Novant with any covenant, condition or agreement by Novant under the Loan Agreement; 
and (iii) in the case of an Event of Default described in clause (c) in the preceding paragraph, take such 
action, or cease such action, as the Master Trustee directs, but only to the extent such directions are 
consistent with the provisions of the Master Indenture.  

Prepayment of Loan 

Novant has the option to prepay, together with accrued interest to the date of prepayment and, if 
applicable, redemption premium, all or any portion of the unpaid aggregate principal amount of the Loan 
and the Series 2019A Obligation in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Trust Agreement 
applicable to the Bonds.  Such prepayment will be made by Novant taking, or causing the Commission to 
take, the actions required (i) for payment of the Bonds, whether by redemption or purchase prior to 
maturity or by payment at maturity, or (ii) to effect the purchase, redemption or payment at maturity of 
less than all of the Bonds according to their terms. 

Novant has the option to prepay all or a portion of the unpaid aggregate amount of the Loan and 
the Series 2019A Obligation, together with accrued interest to the date of prepayment, from amounts 
received by Novant as insurance proceeds with respect to any casualty loss or failure of title or as 
condemnation awards, provided that any such prepayment will be not less than $100,000, upon damage or 
destruction of all or any part (if damage or destruction of such part causes the Property to be 
impracticable to operate, as evidenced by an Officer’s Certificate filed with the Commission and the Bond 
Trustee) of any Property constituting land, buildings or equipment by fire or casualty, or loss of title to or 
use of all or any part of any Property constituting land, buildings or equipment as a result of the failure of 
title or as a result of Eminent Domain proceedings or proceedings in lieu thereof.  Novant also has the 
option to prepay all of the unpaid aggregate amount of the Loan and the Series 2019A Obligation, 
together with accrued interest to the date of prepayment, upon the occurrence of certain changes in law 
described in the Loan Agreement, to such extent that in the opinion of the board of trustees of Novant 
(expressed in a resolution) and in the opinion of an independent management consultant, both filed with 
the Commission and the Bond Trustee, (i) the Loan Agreement is impossible to perform without 
unreasonable delay or (ii) unreasonable burdens or excessive liabilities not being imposed on the date of 
the Loan Agreement are imposed on Novant. 

Subject to the provisions of the Master Indenture, the provisions of the Loan Agreement will not 
be construed to prohibit Novant from applying insurance proceeds with respect to any casualty loss or 
condemnation awards or payments in lieu thereof to the optional prepayment of the Loan and the Series 
2019A Obligation in accordance with the provisions of the Loan Agreement described in the first 
paragraph under this caption.  

To make any such prepayment described above under this caption, a Novant Representative will 
give written notice to the Commission and the Bond Trustee which will specify therein (i) the date of the 
intended prepayment of the Loan and the Series 2019A Obligation, which will not be less than forty (40) 
days (or such shorter period as agreed to by the Bond Trustee) from the date the notice is mailed, (ii) the 
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aggregate principal amount of the Bonds to be purchased, redeemed or paid at maturity and the date or 
dates on which the purchase, redemption or payment is to occur, (iii) the source of the money that will be 
used by Novant to make such prepayment of the Loan and the Series 2019A Obligation, and (iv) subject 
to the requirements of the Trust Agreement, the maturities of the Bonds to be called. 

Any notice of prepayment may state that the prepayment to be effected is conditioned to the same 
extent and in the same manner that a notice of optional redemption of Bonds may be conditioned pursuant 
to the Trust Agreement. 

Members, Officers and Employees of Commission, Novant and LGC Not Liable 

Neither the members, officers and employees of the Commission or the LGC nor the members of 
the board of trustees or the officers and employees of Novant will be personally liable for any costs, 
losses, damages or liabilities caused or subsequently incurred by Novant or any officer, director or agent 
thereof in connection with or as a result of the Loan Agreement. 

Amendment of Loan Agreement 

The Loan Agreement may be amended, without the consent of or notice to any of the Holders, to 
cure any ambiguity or formal defect or omission therein or in any supplement thereto, to correct or 
supplement any provisions in the Loan Agreement which may be inconsistent with any other provisions 
therein or make any other provisions with respect to matters which do not materially or adversely affect 
the interest of the Holders; to grant or confer upon the Bond Trustee for the benefit of the Holders any 
additional rights, remedies, powers, authority or security that may lawfully be granted to or conferred 
upon the Holders or the Trustee; or to add conditions, limitations and restrictions on Novant to be 
observed thereafter.  Any other amendments to the Loan Agreement require the approval of the Holders 
of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding. 

Tax Exemption Covenant 

Novant covenants that it will not take, will cause each other Member of the Obligated Group not 
to take and will exercise such control as it may have with respect to the Restricted Affiliates to cause each 
Restricted Affiliate not to take, any action which will, or fail or to exercise such control as it may have 
with respect to the Restricted Affiliates to not allow any Restricted Affiliate to fail to take any action 
which failure will, cause interest on the Bonds to become includable in the gross income of the Holders 
for federal income tax purposes pursuant to the provisions of the Code and regulations promulgated 
thereunder; provided, however, that  the Commission will have no obligation to pay any amounts 
necessary to comply with this covenant other than from money received by the Commission from Novant 
for such purposes.  Novant agrees to perform, or cause to be performed, the covenants set forth in the Tax 
Certificate, which covenants are incorporated in the Loan Agreement by reference. 
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ROBINSON, BRADSHAW & HINSON, P.A. : robinsonbradshaw.com 
Charlotte Office : 101 N. Tryon St., Ste. 1900, Charlotte, NC 28246 : 704.377.2536 

July __, 2019 
 
North Carolina Medical Care Commission      
Raleigh, North Carolina        
 

Re: $306,985,000 North Carolina Medical Care Commission Health Care Facilities Revenue 
Bonds (Novant Health Obligated Group), Series 2019A 

 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 

 
We have acted as bond counsel to the North Carolina Medical Care Commission (the 

“Commission”) in connection with the issuance by the Commission of the referenced bonds (the 
“Bonds”).  In such capacity, we have examined such law and such certified proceedings and other 
documents as we have deemed necessary to render this opinion.  

 
The Bonds are issued pursuant to Chapter 131A of the General Statutes of North Carolina, as 

amended, and a Trust Agreement dated as of July 1, 2019 (the “Trust Agreement”) between the 
Commission and Regions Bank, as bond trustee (the “Bond Trustee”).  The Commission will lend the 
proceeds of the Bonds to Novant Health, Inc. (the “Parent Corporation”) under a Loan Agreement dated 
as of July 1, 2019 (the “Loan Agreement”) between the Commission and the Parent Corporation.  The 
Bonds are secured by, among other things, payments to be made by the Parent Corporation on Master 
Obligation, Series 2019A dated as of the date of delivery of the Bonds (the “Series 2019A Obligation”) 
issued by the Parent Corporation to the Commission under the Master Trust Indenture (Amended and 
Restated) dated as of June 1, 2003 (as supplemented, the “Master Indenture”) among the Parent 
Corporation, Forsyth Memorial Hospital, Inc. (“Forsyth”), The Presbyterian Hospital (“Presbyterian”) and 
Wachovia Bank, National Association, succeeded by Regions Bank, as master trustee (the “Master 
Trustee”), as evidence of the obligation of the Parent Corporation to repay the loan of the proceeds of the 
Bonds and assigned by the Commission to the Bond Trustee as security for the payment of the Bonds.  As 
provided in the Master Indenture, each Member of the Obligated Group (as defined in the Master 
Indenture) is jointly and severally liable for the Series 2019A Obligation and all other Obligations (as 
defined in the Master Indenture) issued under the Master Indenture.  As of the date hereof, the Parent 
Corporation, Forsyth and Presbyterian are the only Members of the Obligated Group.  
 

As to questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied upon representations of the 
Commission and the Parent Corporation contained in various documents, certified proceedings and other 
certifications of public officials furnished to us, and certifications furnished to us by and on behalf of the 
Parent Corporation without undertaking to verify the same by independent investigation. 

 
Based on the foregoing, we are of the opinion that, under existing law: 
 
1. The Bonds have been duly authorized and executed by the Commission and are valid and 

binding limited obligations of the Commission, payable in accordance with their terms from payments to 
be made by the Parent Corporation or any other Member of the Obligated Group pursuant to the Series 
2019A Obligation and the Loan Agreement, certain funds held by the Bond Trustee under the Trust 
Agreement and certain other sources.   
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2. The Trust Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by the 

Commission and is a valid and binding obligation of the Commission, enforceable against the 
Commission.  The Trust Agreement creates a valid lien on the rights and property described in the 
granting clauses thereof. 

 
3. The Loan Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by the 

Commission and the Parent Corporation, and is a valid and binding obligation of the Commission and the 
Parent Corporation, enforceable against the Commission and the Parent Corporation. 

 
4. The Master Indenture has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by the Parent 

Corporation, Forsyth and Presbyterian and is a valid and binding obligation of the Parent Corporation, 
Forsyth and Presbyterian enforceable against the Parent Corporation, Forsyth and Presbyterian.  The 
Series 2019A Obligation has been duly authorized, executed and issued and is a valid and binding 
obligation of the Parent Corporation, enforceable against the Parent Corporation. 

 
5. Interest on the Bonds is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes 

and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax.  The opinion set 
forth in the preceding sentence is subject to the condition that the Commission and the Members of the 
Combined Group (as defined in the Master Indenture) using the proceeds of the Bonds comply with all 
requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), that must be satisfied 
subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds in order that interest thereon be, and continue to be, excludable 
from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  The Commission and the Parent Corporation have 
covenanted to comply with, and the Parent Corporation has covenanted to cause Presbyterian, Forsyth and 
its Restricted Affiliates (as defined in the Master Indenture) to comply with, all such requirements.  
Failure to comply with certain of such requirements may cause interest on the Bonds to be included in 
gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactively to the date of issuance of the Bonds.  In 
rendering the opinion set forth in the first sentence of this paragraph, we have relied on the opinion of 
Womble Bond Dickinson (US) LLP, Raleigh, North Carolina, special counsel to the Combined Group, 
that each of the Parent Corporation, Forsyth, Presbyterian and Presbyterian Medical Care Corp. has been 
determined by the Internal Revenue Service to be an organization that is exempt from federal income 
taxes under Section 501(a) of the Code by virtue of being an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) 
of the Code. 

  
6. Interest on the Bonds is exempt from State of North Carolina income taxes. 
 
The rights of the holders of the Bonds and the enforceability of the Bonds, the Trust Agreement, 

the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture and the Series 2019A Obligation are limited by bankruptcy, 
insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium, and other similar laws affecting 
creditors’ rights generally and by equitable principles, whether considered at law or in equity. 

 
We express no opinion herein (a) regarding the accuracy, adequacy, or completeness of the 

Official Statement relating to the Bonds, or (b) except as stated above, regarding federal, state, or local 
tax consequences arising with respect to the Bonds. 

 
In rendering this opinion, we have relied upon the opinion of Womble Bond Dickinson (US) LLP 

with respect to the due authorization, execution, delivery and issuance, as the case may be, by the Parent 
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Corporation of the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture and the Series 2019A Obligation and by 
Forsyth and Presbyterian of the Master Indenture. 

 
This opinion is given as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to revise or supplement 

this opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our attention or any changes 
in law that may hereafter occur. 
 

 

 

Respectfully submitted,  
 
 
[to be signed “Robinson, Bradshaw & Hinson, P.A.”] 
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BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM 

General.  The information provided under this caption, “General,” has been provided by the 
Depository Trust Company (which we refer to as “DTC”).  No representation is made by us, Novant, the 
Bond Trustee or the underwriters as to the accuracy or adequacy of such information provided by DTC or 
as to the absence of material adverse changes in such information subsequent to the date hereof. 

DTC, New York, New York, will act as securities depository for the Bonds.  The Bonds will be 
issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co., DTC’s partnership nominee.  
One fully registered Bond certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Bonds, each in the aggregate 
principal amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC. 

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized 
under the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York 
Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of 
the New York Uniform Commercial Code and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions 
of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 
3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues and money 
market instruments from over 100 countries that DTC’s participants (which we refer to as “Direct 
Participants”) deposit with DTC.  DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants 
of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities through electronic computerized book-
entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical 
movement of securities certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers 
and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations.   

DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (which we 
refer to as “DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation 
and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies.  DTCC is owned 
by the users of its regulated subsidiaries.  Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as 
both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations 
that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or 
indirectly (which we refer to as “Indirect Participants”).  DTC has an S&P rating of AA+.  The DTC 
Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  More 
information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 

Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, 
which will receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records.  The ownership interest of each actual owner 
of a Bond (which we refer to as a “beneficial owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect 
Participants’ records.  Beneficial owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their 
purchase.  Beneficial owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of 
the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant 
through which the beneficial owner entered into the transaction.  Transfers of beneficial ownership 
interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect 
Participants acting on behalf of beneficial owners.  Beneficial owners will not receive certificates 
representing their ownership interests in the Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry only 
system for the Bonds is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are 
registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as requested by 
an authorized representative of DTC).  The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name 
of Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as requested by an authorized representative of DTC) effect no 
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change in beneficial ownership.  DTC has no knowledge of the actual beneficial owners of the Bonds.  
DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Bonds are 
credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners.  The Direct and Indirect Participants will 
remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 
Participants to Indirect Participants and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to beneficial 
owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory 
requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Beneficial owners of Bonds may wish to take certain 
steps to augment transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Bonds, such as 
redemptions, defaults and proposed amendments to the security documents. 

Redemption notices will be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the Bonds are being redeemed, DTC’s 
practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant to be redeemed. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to 
Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI procedures.  Under its 
usual procedures, DTC mails an “Omnibus Proxy” to us as soon as possible after the record date.  The 
“Omnibus Proxy” assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose 
accounts the Bonds are credited on the record date identified in a listing attached to the “Omnibus Proxy.” 

Principal, premium and interest payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co. (or such 
other nominee as requested by an authorized representative of DTC).  DTC’s practice is to credit Direct 
Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the Bond 
Trustee or us on each payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records.  
Payments by Direct and Indirect Participants to beneficial owners will be governed by standing 
instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in 
bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Direct and Indirect 
Participant and not of us, DTC, Novant or the Bond Trustee, subject to any statutory or regulatory 
requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Payment of principal, premium and interest to Cede 
& Co. (or such other nominee as requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility 
of the Bond Trustee.  Disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of 
DTC and disbursement of such payments to the beneficial owners will be the responsibility of the Direct 
Participants and Indirect Participants. 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Bonds at any time 
by giving reasonable notice to the Bond Trustee and us.  Under such circumstances, in the event that a 
successor depository is not obtained, Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered. We may 
decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor 
securities depository).  In that event, Bond certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC. 

Limitation.  For so long as the Bonds are registered in the name of DTC or its nominee, Cede & 
Co., we and the Bond Trustee will recognize only DTC or its nominee, Cede & Co., as the registered 
owner of the Bonds for all purposes, including payments, notices and voting.  So long as Cede & Co. is 
the registered owner of the Bonds, references in this official statement to registered owners of the Bonds 
shall mean Cede & Co. and shall not mean the beneficial owners of the Bonds. 

Because DTC is treated as the owner of the Bonds for substantially all purposes under the Trust 
Agreement and the Loan Agreement, beneficial owners may have a restricted ability to influence in a 
timely fashion remedial action or the giving or withholding of requested consents or other directions.  In 
addition, because the identity of beneficial owners is unknown to us, the Bond Trustee, Novant or DTC, it 
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may be difficult to transmit information of potential interest to beneficial owners in an effective and 
timely manner.  Beneficial owners should make appropriate arrangements with their broker or dealer 
regarding distribution of information regarding the Bonds that may be transmitted by or through DTC. 

Under the Trust Agreement, payments made by the Bond Trustee to DTC or its nominee shall 
satisfy Novant’s obligations under the Loan Agreement or the Series 2019A Obligation to the extent of 
the payments so made. 

Neither Novant, the Bond Trustee nor we have any responsibility or obligation with respect to: 

 the accuracy of the records of DTC, its nominee or any Direct Participant or Indirect 
Participant with respect to any beneficial ownership interest in any Bonds; 

 the delivery to any Direct Participant or Indirect Participant or any other person, other 
than a registered owner as shown in the bond register kept by the Bond Trustee, of any 
notice with respect to any Bond including, without limitation, any notice of redemption 
with respect to any Bond; 

 the payment to any Direct Participant or Indirect Participant or any other person, other 
than a registered owner as shown in the bond register kept by the Bond Trustee, of any 
amount with respect to the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, any Bond; or 

 any consent given by DTC or its nominee as registered owner. 

Prior to any discontinuation of the book-entry only system hereinabove described, we and the 
Bond Trustee may treat Cede & Co. (or such other nominee of DTC) as, and deem Cede & Co. (or such 
other nominee) to be, the absolute registered owner of the Bonds for all purposes whatsoever, including, 
without limitation: 

 the payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds; 

 giving notices of redemption and other matters with respect to the Bonds; 

 registering transfers with respect to the Bonds; and 

 the selection of Bonds for redemption. 
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